LANGLANDS CORRESPONDENCE FOR ISOCRYSTALS AND THE EXISTENCE OF CRYSTALLINE COMPANIONS FOR CURVES

TOMOYUKI ABE

Contents

Introduction	922
Conventions and notation	925
1. Preliminaries	926
1.1. Review of arithmetic \mathcal{D} -modules	926
1.2. Ind-categories	932
1.3. Constructible t-structures	937
1.4. Extension of scalars and Frobenius structures	941
1.5. Trace map	948
2. Arithmetic \mathscr{D} -modules for algebraic stacks	960
2.1. Definition of the derived category of \mathscr{D}^{\dagger} -modules for stacks	961
2.2. Cohomological functors	970
2.3. Six functor formalism for admissible stacks	983
2.4. Miscellaneous results on cohomology theory	999
3. Cycle classes, correspondences, and ℓ -independence	1009
3.1. Generalized cycles and correspondences	1009
3.2. Independence of ℓ	1016
4. Langlands correspondence	1021
4.1. Preliminaries	1021
4.2. Langlands correspondence	1023
4.3. Proof of the theorem	1025
4.4. A few applications	1045
Appendix A	1047
A.1. Beilinson–Drinfeld gluing of the derived category	1047
A.2. Some properties of algebraic stacks	1048
A.3. Lefschetz fixed point theorem	1050
A.4. Čebotarev density (after N. Tsuzuki)	1051
A.5. Gabber–Fujiwara ℓ -independence	1052
Acknowledgments	1053
References	1053

Received by the editors January 27, 2015, and, in revised form, April 25, 2016, August 31, 2016, and November 14, 2017.

²⁰¹⁰ Mathematics Subject Classification. Primary 14F30, 11R39; Secondary 11S37.

This work is supported by Grant-in-Aid for Research Activity Start-up 23840006, Grant-in-Aid for Young Scientists (B) 25800004, and Grant-in-Aid for Young Scientists (A) 16H05993.

TOMOYUKI ABE

INTRODUCTION

The Weil conjectures were finally proven by P. Deligne in the 1970s, culminating in the theory of weights for ℓ -adic cohomology in his celebrated paper [De1]. In that paper, Deligne made the following conjecture on the existence of *compatible* systems:

Conjecture ([De1, 1.2.10]). Soient X normal connexe de type fini sur \mathbb{F}_p , et \mathscr{F} un faisceau lisse irréducible dont le déterminant est défini par un caractère d'ordre fini du groupe fondamental.

(ii) Il existe un corps de nombres $E \subset \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_{\ell}$ tel que le polynôme $\det(1 - F_x t, \mathscr{F})$ pour $x \in |X|$, soit à coefficients dans E.

(v) Pour E convenable (peut-être plus grand qu'en (ii)), et chaque place non archimédienne λ première à p, il existe un E_{λ} -faisceau compatible à \mathscr{F} (mêmes valeurs propres des Frobenius).

(vi) Pour λ divisant p, on espère des petits camarades cristallins.

Part (vi) is written vaguely because a good theory of *p*-adic cohomology was not available at the time Deligne conjectured it. R. Crew made this conjecture more precise in [Cr, 4.13] after P. Berthelot's foundational works in *p*-adic cohomology theory. This conjecture has been one of the driving forces in developing a *p*-adic cohomology theory over fields of positive characteristic parallel to the ℓ -adic cohomology theory (e.g., introduction of [Ch]).

When X is a curve, all parts of the the conjecture except for (vi) are consequences of the Langlands correspondence, which was proven by V. Drinfeld in the rank 2 case and by L. Lafforgue in the higher rank case. Moreover, Deligne and Drinfeld proved all parts of the conjecture except for (vi) for any smooth scheme X as a consequence of the Langlands correspondence. In this paper, we prove part (vi) of the conjecture when X is a curve. In fact, we prove a stronger result: a correspondence between irreducible overconvergent F-isocrystals with finite determinant on an open dense subscheme of X and cuspidal automorphic representations of the function field of X with finite central character (see Theorem 4.2.2). Finally, in Theorem 4.4.5, we prove the converse of Deligne's conjecture when X is smooth using the techniques of Deligne and Drinfeld in [EK] and [Dr] assuming the Bertini-type conjecture in 4.4.2: for any overconvergent F-isocrystal over a smooth scheme, there exists an ℓ -adic companion for any $\ell \neq p$.

Our strategy of proof is similar to the ℓ -adic case. First, we apply the product formula for epsilon factors, which was proven in the p-adic setting by Abe and A. Marmora in [AM]. By using Deligne's principe de récurrence, the product formula for epsilon factors reduces one to associating an isocrystal to a cuspidal automorphic representation (cf. [A2]). Finally, we use the moduli spaces of shtukas to establish the Langlands correspondence for isocrystals as was done by Drinfeld and Lafforgue in the ℓ -adic case. In order to apply the methods of Drinfeld and Lafforgue, we construct a six functor formalism for suitable p-adic cohomology theory for certain algebraic stacks.

Before explaining our construction, let us review the history of attempts to construct a six functor formalism in the *p*-adic setting. For a more detailed overview of the history, we refer the reader to [I], [Ke3]. The first *p*-adic cohomology defined for an arbitrary separated scheme of finite type over a perfect field of characteristic *p* was proposed by Berthelot during the 1980s (called rigid cohomology). He also defined a theory of coefficients for rigid cohomology, called overconvergent F-isocrystals: these can be seen as a p-adic analogue of vector bundles with an integrable connection. One can see from this analogy that it is not reasonable to expect a six functor formalism in the style of A. Grothendieck in the framework of overconvergent F-isocrystals. In order to remedy this, and in the analogy with the complex situation, Berthelot introduced the theory of arithmetic \mathcal{D} -modules. We refer to [Ber4] for a beautiful survey by the founder himself. In the *p*-adic case, the theory is very complicated since we need to deal with differential operators of infinite order unlike the complex situation. As a result, many of the foundational properties had been left as conjectures. Among these conjectures, the most important one concerns the preservation of finiteness properties of the arithmetic \mathscr{D} -modules under various cohomological operations. A big step toward this problem was the introduction of overholonomic modules by D. Caro, which potentially bypasses Berthelot's original strategy to construct the six functor formalism. His work was successful in proving stability for most of the standard cohomological operations, but the finiteness of overconvergent F-isocrystals was still unresolved. A breakthrough was achieved by K. S. Kedlaya in his resolution of Shiho's conjecture, or the proof of the semistable reduction theorem [Ke5]. This extremely powerful theorem enabled us to answer many tough questions in the theory of arithmetic \mathscr{D} -modules: a finiteness result by Caro and N. Tsuzuki (cf. [CT]), an analogue of Weil II by Abe and Caro (cf. [AC1]), and many more. Even though we do not explicitly use Kedlaya's theorem in the proof of the Langlands correspondence for isocrystals, the main theorem of this paper can be seen as another application of Kedlaya's result. In previous works ([CT, AC1] etc.), Kedlaya's result was used to develop a theory of arithmetic \mathscr{D} -modules for "realizable schemes". We refer to §1.1 for a detailed overview. In particular, quasi-projective schemes are included in this framework. However, to construct the isocrystals corresponding to cuspidal automorphic representations, the category of quasi-projective schemes is too restricted. A large part of this paper is devoted to constructing a theory of arithmetic \mathcal{D} modules for *admissible stacks*. In particular, we end our search, since Monsky and Washnitzer, for a *p*-adic six functor formalism for separated schemes of finite type over a perfect field.

Our construction of a six functor formalism is more or less formal: making full use of the existence of the formalism in a local situation, we glue. Even though we do not axiomatize, it can be carried out for any cohomology theory over a field admitting a reasonable six functor formalism locally. First, let us explain the construction in the case of schemes. As we have already mentioned, for *realizable schemes* (e.g., quasi-projective schemes) we already have the formalism thanks to works of Caro and others. For a realizable scheme X, we denote by $D_{hol}^{b}(X)$ the associated triangulated category with t-structure, and by Hol(X) its heart. The category Hol(X) is analogous to the category of perverse sheaves in the philosophy of the Riemann-Hilbert correspondence. When X is a scheme of finite type over k, we are able to take a finite open covering $\{U_i\}$ by realizable schemes, and define Hol(X) by gluing $\{Hol(U_i)\}$. The first difficulty is to define the derived category. A starting point of our construction is an analogy with Beilinson's equivalence proven in [AC2]

$$D^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathrm{Hol}(X)) \xrightarrow{\sim} D^{\mathrm{b}}_{\mathrm{hol}}(X),$$

where X is a realizable scheme. This equivalence suggests defining the derived category naively by $D^{b}(Hol(X))$ for general scheme X. The next problem is to construct the cohomological functors. To do this, we construct cohomological functors for finite morphisms and projections separately and combine these for the general case. Let us explain the method in the easier case where $f: X \to Y$ is a finite morphism between realizable schemes. In that case the pushforward f_+ is an exact functor, so we can define $f_+: \operatorname{Hol}(X) \to \operatorname{Hol}(Y)$ by gluing, and we consider the associated derived functor to get the functor between derived categories. The definition of $f^{!}$ is more technical. When the morphism f is between realizable schemes, by using some general nonsense, we are able to show that $f^{!}$ is the right derived functor of $\mathscr{H}^0 f^!$ using the fact that $(f_+, f^!)$ is an adjoint pair and f_+ is exact. Thus, for a general finite morphism f, we define $\mathcal{H}^0 f^!$ by gluing, and we define the functor between derived categories by taking the right derived functor. Since the category Hol(X) does not possess enough injectives, we need techniques of Ind-categories to overcome this deficit. Even though the construction is more involved, we can define the cohomological functors for projections $X \times Y \to Y$ using similar ideas. Since any morphism between separated schemes of finite type can be factored into a closed immersion and a projection, we may define the cohomological operations in complete generality by composition.

For an algebraic stack \mathfrak{X} , we use a simplicial technique to construct the derived category $D^{\mathrm{b}}_{\mathrm{hol}}(\mathfrak{X})$: take a presentation $X \to \mathfrak{X}$, and consider the simplicial algebraic space $X_{\bullet} := \mathrm{cosk}_0(X \to \mathfrak{X})$. The derived category of \mathfrak{X} should coincide with that of X_{\bullet} with suitable conditions on the cohomology. Since \mathscr{D} -modules behave like perverse sheaves, there are minor differences with the analogous construction in the ℓ -adic setting (cf. [LO]). However, the construction is mostly parallel. Now, we would like to construct the cohomological operations for algebraic stacks in a manner similarly to that for schemes described above. However, in general, morphisms between algebraic stacks cannot be written as a composition of finite morphisms and projections. In this paper, we restrict our attention to admissible stacks, i.e., algebraic stacks whose diagonal morphisms are finite.

This formalism is especially used to show the ℓ -independence of the traces of actions of correspondences on cohomology groups. This is then used to calculate the traces of elements of certain Hecke algebra acting of cohomology groups of the moduli spaces of shtukas. We refer to §4.2 for a more detailed explanation of the proof of the main theorem.

Let us give an overview of the organization of this paper. We begin with collecting known results concerning arithmetic \mathscr{D} -modules in §1.1, and the subsection contains few new facts. In §1.2, we show some elementary properties of Ind-categories. In §1.3, we introduce a t-structure corresponding to constructible sheaves in the spirit of the Riemann-Hilbert correspondences. This t-structure is useful when we construct various types of trace maps. In arithmetic \mathscr{D} -module theory, the coefficient categories are K-additive where K is a complete discrete valuation field whose residue field is k. However, for the Langlands correspondence it is convenient to work with $\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p$ -coefficients. Passing from K-coefficients to \overline{K} -coefficients is rather formal, and some generality is developed in §1.4. We conclude the first section in §1.5 by constructing the trace maps for flat morphisms in the style of [SGA4]. This foundational property had been lacking in the theory of arithmetic \mathscr{D} -modules, and it plays an important role in the proof of the ℓ -independence type theorem, which is the main theme in §3.

In §2, we develop a theory for algebraic stacks. Most of the properties used in this section are formal in the six functor formalism, and almost no knowledge of arithmetic \mathscr{D} -modules is required. In §2.1 we define the triangulated category of holonomic complexes for algebraic stacks. Some cohomological operations for algebraic stacks are introduced in §2.2. In §2.3, we restrict our attention to so-called *admissible stacks*. Any morphism between admissible stacks can be factorized into morphisms which have already been treated in §2.2, and our construction of six functor formalism for these types of stacks is completed. We show basic properties of the operations in this subsection. The final subsection §2.4 is complementary, and we collect some facts which are needed in the proof of the Langlands correspondence.

In §3, we show an ℓ -independence type theorem of the trace of the action of a correspondence on cohomology groups. With the trace formalism developed in §1.5, even though there are some differences since we are dealing with algebraic stacks, our task is to translate the proof of [KS] in our language.

In the final section, $\S4$, we show the Langlands correspondence. In order to be friendly to readers who are only interested in $\S4$, the section begins with reviewing *p*-adic theory as well as recalling some notation of this paper. We state the main theorem and explain the idea of the proof in the second subsection. The actual proof is written in the third subsection, and we conclude the paper with some well-known applications.

Conventions and notation.

0.0.1. In this paper, we usually use Roman fonts (e.g., X) for schemes, script fonts (e.g., \mathscr{X}) for formal schemes, and Gothic fonts (e.g., \mathfrak{X}) for algebraic stacks. When we write $(-)^{(\prime)}$ it means "(-) (resp. $(-)^{\prime}$)". Throughout this paper, we fix a prime number p. When a discrete valuation field K is fixed and its residue field is finite, we often denote by $\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p$ an algebraic closure of K. Throughout this paper, we fix a universe \mathbb{U} .

0.0.2. For the terminologies of algebraic stacks, we follow [LM]. Especially, any scheme, algebraic space, or algebraic stack is assumed quasi-separated. For an algebraic stack \mathfrak{X} , we denote by \mathfrak{X}_{sm} the category of affine schemes over \mathfrak{X} such that the structural morphism $X \to \mathfrak{X}$ is smooth. Morphisms between $X, Y \in \mathfrak{X}_{sm}$ are smooth morphisms $X \to Y$ over \mathfrak{X} . Recall that a *presentation* of \mathfrak{X} is a smooth surjective morphism $\mathcal{X} \to \mathfrak{X}$ from an algebraic space \mathcal{X} . Finite morphisms or universal homeomorphisms between algebraic stacks are always assumed representable.

0.0.3. When $d \geq 0$ is an integer, smooth morphisms between algebraic stacks of relative dimension d are understood to be equidimensional. Let $P: \mathcal{X} \to \mathfrak{X}$ be a smooth morphism from an algebraic space to an algebraic stack. Then the continuous function $\dim(P): \mathcal{X} \to \mathbb{N}$ is defined in [LM, (11.14)]. This function is called the *relative dimension of* P and is sometimes denoted by $d_{\mathcal{X}/\mathfrak{X}}$.

0.0.4. Let X be a topological space, and let $\pi_0(X)$ be the set of connected components of X. Let $d: \pi_0(X) \to \mathbb{Z}$ be a map. For any connected component Y of X, assume that a category \mathcal{C}_Y endowed with an autofunctor $T_Y: \mathcal{C}_Y \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathcal{C}_Y$ is attached, and $\mathcal{C}_X \cong \prod_{Y \in \pi_0(X)} \mathcal{C}_Y$ via which T_X is identified with $(T_Y)_{Y \in \pi_0(X)}$. For $M \in \mathcal{C}_X$, we define $T^d(M)$ as follows: Let $M = (M_Y)_{Y \in \pi_0(X)} \in \prod \mathcal{C}_Y$. Then

TOMOYUKI ABE

 $T^d(M) := (T^{d(Y)}M_Y)_Y$. We may take the autofunctor T to be the shift functor or the Tate twist functor. When T = [1] (resp. T = (1)), the functor T^d is denoted by [d] (resp. (d)).

1. Preliminaries

1.1. Review of arithmetic \mathscr{D} -modules. Let us briefly recall the status of the theory of arithmetic \mathscr{D} -modules. Let s be a positive integer, and put $q := p^s$. Let R be a complete discrete valuation ring whose residue field, which is assumed to be a perfect field of characteristic p, is denoted by k. Put $K := \operatorname{Frac}(R)$. We moreover assume that the s-th absolute Frobenius homomorphism $\sigma \colon k \xrightarrow{\sim} k$ sending x to x^q lifts to an automorphism $R \xrightarrow{\sim} R$ also denoted by σ .

1.1.1. **Definition** ([AC1, 1.1.3]). A scheme over k is said to be *realizable* if it can be embedded into a proper smooth formal scheme over Spf(R). We denote by Real(k/R) the full subcategory of the category of k-schemes Sch(k) consisting of realizable schemes.

For a realizable scheme X, the triangulated category of holonomic complexes $D^{\mathrm{bol}}_{\mathrm{hol}}(X/K)$, endowed with a t-structure, is defined. Let us recall the construction. Let \mathscr{P} be a proper smooth formal scheme over $\mathrm{Spf}(R)$. Then the category of overholonomic $\mathscr{D}^{\dagger}_{\mathscr{P},\mathbb{Q}}$ -modules (without Frobenius structure) is defined by Caro in [Ca2]. We denote by $\mathrm{Hol}(\mathscr{P})$ its thick full subcategory generated by overholonomic $\mathscr{D}^{\dagger}_{\mathscr{P},\mathbb{Q}}$ -modules which can be endowed with s'-th Frobenius structure for some positive integer s' divisible by s (but we do not consider the Frobenius structure). The objects of $\mathrm{Hol}(\mathscr{P})$ are called holonomic modules. By definition, $D^{\mathrm{b}}_{\mathrm{hol}}(\mathscr{D}^{\dagger}_{\mathscr{P},\mathbb{Q}})$ is the full subcategory of $D^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathscr{D}^{\dagger}_{\mathscr{P},\mathbb{Q}})$ whose cohomology complexes are holonomic. Of course, this subcategory is triangulated by [KSc, 13.2.7].

Now, let $X \hookrightarrow \mathscr{P}$ be an embedding into a proper smooth formal scheme, whose existence is assured since X is a realizable scheme. Then $D^{\mathrm{b}}_{\mathrm{hol}}(X/K)$ is the subcategory of $D^{\mathrm{b}}_{\mathrm{hol}}(\mathscr{P})$ which is supported on X. This category does not depend on the choice of the embedding up to canonical equivalence, and it is well-defined. Moreover, the t-structure is compatible with this equivalence (cf. [AC1, 1.2.8]). The heart of the triangulated category is denoted by $\mathrm{Hol}(X/K)$. For further details of this category, one can refer to [AC1, §1.1, §1.2] and [AC2, §1]. In [AC2], $\mathrm{Hol}(X/K)$ and $D^{\mathrm{b}}_{\mathrm{hol}}(X/K)$ are denoted by $\mathrm{Hol}_F(X/K)$ and $D^{\mathrm{b}}_{\mathrm{hol},F}(X/K)$, respectively.

Remark. In [AC2], the category $\operatorname{Hol}_F(X/K)$ is introduced using the category of "overholonomic modules *after any base change*", whereas, here, we simply used the category of overholonomic modules to define $\operatorname{Hol}(X/K)$. Since overholonomic modules with Frobenius structure are overholonomic modules after any base change by [AC2, 1.2], the categories $\operatorname{Hol}_F(X/K)$ in [AC2] and $\operatorname{Hol}(X/K)$ defined above are the same. However, to prove that $\operatorname{Hol}(X)$ is a noetherian category (cf. [AC2, 1.5]), it is convenient to work in the category of overholonomic modules after any base change.

1.1.2. **Remark.** Lifting $R \xrightarrow{\sim} R$ of the Frobenius automorphism of k is not unique in general. Let $\sigma' \colon R \xrightarrow{\sim} R$ be another lifting. Let \mathscr{X} be a smooth formal scheme over R. We denote by $\mathscr{X}^{\sigma^{(\prime)}} := \mathscr{X} \otimes_{R \nearrow \sigma^{(\prime)}} R$. Locally on \mathscr{X} , we have the following

commutative diagram over Spf(R):



where F and F' denote liftings of the relative *s*-th Frobenius. For a $\mathscr{D}^{\dagger}_{\mathscr{X},\mathbb{Q}}$ -module \mathscr{M} , we have

$$F^*(\mathscr{M}^{\sigma}) \cong F^*(G^*\mathscr{M}^{\sigma'}) \cong F'^*(\mathscr{M}^{\sigma'})$$

where $\mathscr{M}^{\sigma^{(\prime)}}$ denotes the $\mathscr{D}^{\dagger}_{\mathscr{X}^{\sigma^{(\prime)}},\mathbb{Q}}$ -module defined by changing base using $\sigma^{(\prime)}$. This shows that endowing \mathscr{M} with a Frobenius structure with respect to σ is equivalent to endowing \mathscr{M} with a Frobenius structure with respect to σ' . Thus, our category $\operatorname{Hol}(X/K)$ does not depend on the choice of σ . However, the category of modules with Frobenius structure *does* depend on the choice. For example, assume k is algebraically closed, and consider σ and σ' . Put

$$K_0^{(\prime)} := \{ x \in K \mid \sigma^{(\prime)}(x) = x \}.$$

We may take σ , σ' so that K_0 and K'_0 are not the same. Consider the unit object K in Hol(Spf(R)). Endow it with a Frobenius structure $\Phi^{(\prime)}$ with respect to $\sigma^{(\prime)}$. Then

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{F^{(\prime)}-\operatorname{Hol}(X/K)}((K,\Phi^{(\prime)}),(K,\Phi^{(\prime)})) \cong K_0^{(\prime)}.$$

Thus, we do not have an equivalence of categories between F-Hol(X/K) and F'-Hol(X/K) compatible with the forgetful functors to Hol(X/K).

1.1.3. The six functors have already been defined for realizable schemes. For details one can refer to [AC1], [AC2]. For the convenience of the reader, we collect known results. Let $f: X \to Y$ be a morphism in Real(k/R). Then we have the triangulated functors

$$f_!, f_+ \colon D^{\mathrm{b}}_{\mathrm{hol}}(X/K) \to D^{\mathrm{b}}_{\mathrm{hol}}(Y/K), \qquad f^!, f^+ \colon D^{\mathrm{b}}_{\mathrm{hol}}(Y/K) \to D^{\mathrm{b}}_{\mathrm{hol}}(X/K).$$

These functors satisfy the following fundamental properties of six functor formalism:

- (1) $D_{\text{hol}}^{\text{b}}(X/K)$ is a closed symmetric monoidal category, namely it is equipped with the tensor product \otimes and the unit object K_X with which it forms a symmetric monoidal category (sometimes called commutative tensor category as in [KSc, 4.2.16]), and \otimes has the left adjoint functor $\mathcal{H}om$. The adjoint functor $\mathcal{H}om$ is denoted sometimes by $\mathcal{H}om_X$ for clarification, and it is called the *internal hom* (cf. [AC1, 1.1.6, Appendix]).
- (2) f^+ is monoidal, namely it commutes with \otimes and preserves the unit object.
- (3) Given composable morphisms f and g, there exists a canonical isomorphism $(f \circ g)^+ \cong g^+ \circ f^+$. We associate $D^{\rm b}_{\rm hol}(X/K)$ to $X \in {\rm Real}(k/R)$, and with this pullback and the canonical isomorphisms for compositions, we have the fibered category over ${\rm Real}(k/R)$. Moreover, we have a similar fibered category for $f^!$ as well (cf. [AC1, 1.3.14], checking of the category being fibered readily follows from the construction of the functor).
- (4) (f^+, f_+) and $(f_!, f^!)$ are adjoint pairs (cf. [AC1, 1.3.14 (viii)]).
- (5) We have a morphism of functors $f_! \to f_+$ compatible with transitivity isomorphisms of composition. This morphism is an isomorphism when f is proper (cf. [AC1, 1.3.7, 1.3.14 (vi)]).

- (6) When j is an open immersion, there exists the isomorphism j⁺ → j[!] compatible with the transition isomorphism of the composition of two open immersions (cf. [V2, II.3.5]).
- (7) Let Vec_K be the abelian category of K-vector spaces, and we denote by $D_{\operatorname{fin}}^{\operatorname{b}}(\operatorname{Vec}_K)$ the derived category consisting of bounded complexes of K-vector spaces whose cohomologies are finite dimensional. There exists a canonical equivalence of monoidal categories $\mathbb{R}\Gamma \colon D_{\operatorname{hol}}^{\operatorname{b}}(\operatorname{Spec}(k)/K) \xrightarrow{\sim} D_{\operatorname{fin}}^{\operatorname{b}}(\operatorname{Vec}_K)$. For $X \to \operatorname{Spec}(k)$ in $\operatorname{Real}(k/R)$, we put $\mathbb{R}\operatorname{Hom}(-,-) := \mathbb{R}\Gamma \circ f_+ \circ \mathcal{Hom}(-,-)$. Note that we have an isomorphism $\mathbb{R}^i\operatorname{Hom}(\mathscr{F},\mathscr{G}) \cong \operatorname{Hom}(\mathscr{F},\mathscr{G}[i])$ for $\mathscr{F}, \mathscr{G} \in D_{\operatorname{hol}}^{\operatorname{b}}(X)$.
- (8) Consider the following cartesian diagram of schemes:
- (1.1.3.1) $\begin{array}{c} X' \xrightarrow{g'} X \\ f' \downarrow & \Box & \downarrow f \\ Y' \xrightarrow{g} Y. \end{array}$

Assume that the schemes are realizable. Then we have a canonical isomorphism $g^+f_! \cong f'_!g'^+$ compatible with compositions. When f is proper (resp. open immersion), this isomorphism is the base change homomorphism defined by the adjointness of (f^+, f_+) (resp. $(f_!, f^!)$) via the isomorphism of (5) (resp. (6) (cf. [AC1, 1.3.14 (vii)]).

- (9) We have a canonical isomorphism $f_! \mathscr{F} \otimes \mathscr{G} \cong f_! (\mathscr{F} \otimes f^+ \mathscr{G})$ (cf. [AC1, Appendix]).
- (10) Let i be a closed immersion in Real(k/K), and let j be the open immersion defined by the complement. Then we have a canonical distinguished triangle of functors

$$j_!j^! \to \mathrm{id} \to i_+i^+ \xrightarrow{+1},$$

where the first and second morphisms are adjunction morphisms.

Before recalling several more properties, let us show the following lemma:

Lemma. Let $\iota: X \to X'$ be a universal homeomorphism in Real(k/R). Then the adjoint pair $(\iota_+, \iota^!)$ induces an equivalence between $D^{\text{b}}_{\text{hol}}(X/K)$ and $D^{\text{b}}_{\text{hol}}(X'/K)$, and we have a canonical isomorphism $\iota^+ \cong \iota^!$. Moreover, assume we are given the following commutative diagram where ι and ι' are universal homeomorphisms:



Then $f_+^{(\prime)}$, $f_!^{(\prime)}$, $f^{(\prime)+}$, and $f^{(\prime)!}$ commute canonically with $\iota^{(\prime)+} \cong \iota^{(\prime)!}$.

Proof. The first equivalence is nothing but [AC1, 1.3.12]. Since $\iota_! \xrightarrow{\sim} \iota_+$ by (5) above, we have $\iota^+ \cong (\iota_!)^{-1} \cong (\iota_+)^{-1} \cong \iota^!$. Commutation results follows by transitivity of pushforwards and pullbacks.

This result can be applied in particular when f is the relative Frobenius morphism (see the remark below). We need some more properties, which may not be regarded as standard properties of six functor formalism:

(11) For X in Real(k/R), let $X^{\sigma} := X \otimes_{k \nearrow \sigma} k$. Then we have a pullback $\sigma^* : D^{\rm b}_{\rm hol}(X/K) \xrightarrow{\sim} D^{\rm b}_{\rm hol}(X^{\sigma}/K)$, which is exact, and all the cohomological functors commute canonically with this pullback. (This follows easily from the definition of the cohomological functors; see also [Ber3, 4.5].)

Now, for a separated scheme of finite type over k, we denote by $\operatorname{Isoc}^{\dagger}(X/K)$ the thick full subcategory of the category of overconvergent isocrystals on X generated by those which can be endowed with the s'-th Frobenius structure for some s|s'. We caution that our notation is slightly different from the standard one as in [Ber1, 2.3.6]. In fact, by his notation, Berthelot simply means the category of overconvergent isocrystals, and Frobenius structure does not play any role in his definition.

(12) Let X be a realizable scheme such that X_{red} is a smooth realizable scheme of dimension $d: \pi_0(X) \to \mathbb{N}$ (cf. 0.0.3). Then there exists a fully faithful functor $\text{sp}_+: \text{Isoc}^{\dagger}(X/K) \to \text{Hol}(X/K)$ called the *specialization functor*. We denote the essential image¹ of sp_+ shifted by -d by $\text{Sm}(X/K) \subset$ $\text{Hol}(X/K)[-d] \subset D^{\text{bol}}_{\text{hol}}(X/K)$ (cf. [Ca5, 4.2.2]).

Remark. (i) Let $F: X \to X$ be the s-th absolute Frobenius endomorphism. Combining (11) and the lemma above applied to the s-th relative Frobenius morphism $F_{X/k}: X \to X^{\sigma}$, we get an equivalence of categories

$$F^* := F^+_{X/k} \circ \sigma^* \colon D^{\mathrm{b}}_{\mathrm{hol}}(X/K) \to D^{\mathrm{b}}_{\mathrm{hol}}(X/K).$$

This pullback is nothing but the one used in [Ber3, Definition 4.5]. For a cohomological functor $C: D^{\rm b}_{\rm hol}(X/K) \to D^{\rm b}_{\rm hol}(Y/K)$, we say that C commutes with a Frobenius pullback if there exists a canonical isomorphism $C \circ F^* \cong F^* \circ C$.

(ii) Let $F: X \to X'$ be the relative Frobenius morphism. For $\mathscr{M} \in D^{\mathrm{b}}_{\mathrm{hol}}(X')$, the lemma above yields a canonical isomorphism $\alpha: F_{+}F^{!}\mathscr{M} \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathscr{M}$. On the other hand, when X and X' can be lifted to smooth formal schemes $\mathscr{X}, \mathscr{X}'$, [Ber3, 4.2.4] gives us another isomorphism $\beta: F_{+}F^{!}\mathscr{M} \cong \mathscr{M}$, since $F^{\flat}\mathscr{D}^{\dagger}_{\mathscr{X}'} \cong F^{*}\mathscr{D}^{\dagger}_{\mathscr{X}'} \otimes \omega_{\mathscr{X}/\mathscr{X}'}$ by [Ber3, 2.4.4]. These two isomorphisms coincide. Indeed, to see this, it suffices to check the coincidence for $\mathscr{M} = \mathcal{O}_{\mathscr{X}'}$. By left-to-right conversion, it suffices to check for $\mathscr{M} = \omega_{\mathscr{X}'}$ and $F_{+}, F^{!}$ the corresponding functors for right modules. The homomorphism α is nothing but the adjunction map, and this is by definition Virrion's trace map $\operatorname{Tr}^{\operatorname{Vir}}: F_{*}(\omega_{\mathscr{X}} \otimes_{\mathscr{D}^{\dagger}_{\mathscr{X}}} F^{*}\mathscr{D}^{\dagger}_{\mathscr{X}'}) \to \omega_{\mathscr{X}'}$ defined in [V1, III.7.1]. By [V1, III.5.4], this map can be characterized as the unique map γ such that the following diagram commutes:

$$F_*\omega_{\mathscr{X}} \longrightarrow F_*(\omega_{\mathscr{X}} \otimes_{\mathscr{D}_{\mathscr{X}}^{\dagger}} F^*\mathscr{D}_{\mathscr{X}'}^{\dagger}),$$

$$\operatorname{Tr}_F \bigvee_{\omega_{\mathscr{X}'}} \bigvee_{\gamma} \bigvee_{\gamma}$$

where Tr_F is the homomorphism induced by the trace map of Hartshorne [Ber3, 2.4.2]. Thus, it suffices to check that the diagram is commutative when $\gamma = \beta$. By construction of the equivalence of [Ber3, 4.2.4], β is defined by taking limit to [Ber3, (2.5.6.2)]. It is not hard to check the commutativity using [A1, 1.5] and the description of Garnier [A1, (2.2.1)] of the isomorphism [Ber3, 2.5.2]. The details are left to the reader.

¹In [Ca5], the essential image is denoted by Isoc^{††}(X/K).

(iii) The identification of (ii) shows that the commutation isomorphisms $F^! \circ f_+ \cong f_+ \circ F^!$, defined by the lemma and by [Ber4, 4.3.9], coincide.

1.1.4. We also have the duality formalism. Let $p: X \to \operatorname{Spec}(k)$ be the structural morphism of a realizable scheme. We put $K_X^{\omega} := p^!(K)$ and call it the *dualizing* complex. We put $\mathbb{D}_X := \mathcal{H}om(-, K_X^{\omega})$ and call it the *dual functor*. For $\mathscr{F} \in D^{\mathrm{b}}_{\mathrm{hol}}(X/K)$, we have

$$\begin{aligned} (\star) \qquad & \operatorname{Hom}(\mathbb{D}_X\mathscr{F}, \mathbb{D}_X\mathscr{F}) \cong \operatorname{Hom}(\mathbb{D}_X\mathscr{F} \otimes \mathscr{F}, K_X^{\omega}) \\ & \cong \operatorname{Hom}(\mathscr{F} \otimes \mathbb{D}_X\mathscr{F}, K_X^{\omega}) \cong \operatorname{Hom}(\mathscr{F}, \mathbb{D}_X \mathbb{D}_X \mathscr{F}). \end{aligned}$$

The identity in the abelian group on the left-hand side induces a homomorphism $\mathscr{F} \to \mathbb{D}_X \mathbb{D}_X \mathscr{F}$.

Lemma. The induced homomorphism of functors $id \to \mathbb{D}_X \circ \mathbb{D}_X$ is an isomorphism.

Proof. We already know that $\mathrm{id} \cong \mathbb{D}_X \circ \mathbb{D}_X$ by [V2, II.3.5], even though the isomorphism may not be equal to the one in the claim. Let us show that the given homomorphism in the lemma is actually an isomorphism using this Virrion's isomorphism. By *dévissage*, it suffices to check the equivalence for holonomic modules. We recall that objects of $\mathrm{Hol}(X/K)$ have finite length by [AC2, 1.5]. Thus, we only need to show the lemma for irreducible modules \mathscr{F} . By Virrion's result, $\mathbb{D}_X \mathbb{D}_X(\mathscr{F})$ is irreducible as well, and it remains to show that the homomorphism is not 0. If this were 0, the corresponding element of the left-hand side of (*) should also be 0, which is a contradiction.

This isomorphism induces a canonical isomorphism $\mathcal{H}om(\mathscr{F},\mathscr{G}) \cong \mathbb{D}_X(\mathscr{F} \otimes \mathbb{D}_X(\mathscr{G}))$ for \mathscr{F},\mathscr{G} in $D^{\mathrm{b}}_{\mathrm{hol}}(X/K)$. This can be seen by a similar argument to [Ha, V.2.6].

1.1.5. Let $f: X \to Y$ be a morphism between realizable schemes, and $\mathscr{F}, \mathscr{F}' \in D^{\mathrm{b}}_{\mathrm{hol}}(X)$. Since f^+ is monoidal, we have the canonical isomorphism $f^+((-) \otimes (-)) \cong f^+(-) \otimes f^+(-)$. By taking the adjoint, we have the homomorphism $f_+(-) \otimes f_+(-) \to f_+((-) \otimes (-))$. This induces a homomorphism

$$f_+ \operatorname{Hom}_X(\mathscr{F}, \mathscr{F}') \otimes f_+(\mathscr{F}) \to f_+(\operatorname{Hom}_X(\mathscr{F}, \mathscr{F}') \otimes \mathscr{F}) \to f_+(\mathscr{F}'),$$

where the second homomorphism is the evaluation map. Taking the adjoint, we have the homomorphism

$$f_+ \mathcal{H}om_X(\mathscr{F}, \mathscr{F}') \to \mathcal{H}om_Y(f_+(\mathscr{F}), f_+(\mathscr{F}'))$$

Now, let $\mathscr{G} \in D^{\mathrm{b}}_{\mathrm{hol}}(Y)$. When f is proper, 1.1.3 (5) and the adjointness of the pair $(f_{!}, f^{!})$ induce a homomorphism

$$(\star) \qquad f_{+} \mathcal{H}om_{X}(\mathscr{F}, f^{!}\mathscr{G}) \to \mathcal{H}om_{Y}(f_{+}\mathscr{F}, \mathscr{G}).$$

Proposition. This homomorphism is an isomorphism.

Proof. For an open subscheme U of X, we denote by $j_U : U \hookrightarrow X$ the open immersion. Let p_Z be the structural morphism of a scheme Z, and let $\mathscr{M} \in D^{\mathrm{b}}_{\mathrm{hol}}(X)$. Assume that $p_{U+}(j_U^+\mathscr{M}) = 0$ for any U. Then $\mathscr{M} = 0$. Indeed, for any closed point $i_x : x \hookrightarrow X$, put $U_x := X \setminus \{x\}$, and we have the localization triangle

$$i_x^!(\mathscr{M}) \to p_{X+}(\mathscr{M}) \to p_{U_x+}j_{U_x}^+(\mathscr{M}) \xrightarrow{+1}$$
.

930

By assumption, we have $i_x^!(\mathscr{M}) = 0$. By [AC1, 1.3.11], $\mathscr{M} = 0$.

By the construction, the homomorphism in question is compatible with restriction to open subschemes. Thus, the observation above reduces to checking that the induced homomorphism $p_{Y+}f_+ \mathcal{H}om_X(\mathscr{F}, f^!\mathscr{G}) \to p_{Y+} \mathcal{H}om_Y(f_+\mathscr{F}, \mathscr{G})$ is isomorphic. Via the isomorphism 1.1.3 (7), this homomorphism is nothing but the canonical homomorphism $\operatorname{Hom}_X(\mathscr{F}, f^!\mathscr{G}) \to \operatorname{Hom}_Y(f_+\mathscr{F}, \mathscr{G})$ of the adjoint pair $(f_+, f^!)$.

Let $j: U \to X$ be an open immersion. Then there exists a unique homomorphism

$$(\star\star) \qquad \qquad \mathcal{H}om(j_!\mathscr{F},\mathscr{G}) \to j_+\mathcal{H}om(\mathscr{F},j^!\mathscr{G})$$

such that its restriction to U is the identity. This is an isomorphism since we know that these two objects are isomorphic abstractly by [AC1, A.7]. Let $f: X \to Y$ be a morphism between realizable schemes. This morphism factorizes in Real(k/R) as

 $X \xrightarrow{j} \overline{X} \xrightarrow{\overline{f}} Y$, where j is an open immersion and \overline{f} is proper. We define

$$f_{+} \mathcal{H}om_{X}(\mathscr{F}, f^{!}\mathscr{G}) \xrightarrow{\sim} j_{+} \mathcal{H}om(\overline{f}_{+}\mathscr{F}, j^{!}\mathscr{G}) \xleftarrow{\sim} (\star\star) \mathcal{H}om_{Y}(f_{!}\mathscr{F}, \mathscr{G})$$

It is standard to check that this does not depend on the choice of the factorization. Using this isomorphism, we may prove the following two more isomorphisms, which we record here for future use:

$$\mathcal{H}om(\mathscr{F}, f_{+}\mathscr{G}) \cong f_{+} \mathcal{H}om(f^{+}\mathscr{F}, \mathscr{G}), \qquad f^{!} \mathcal{H}om(\mathscr{F}, \mathscr{G}) \cong \mathcal{H}om(f^{+}\mathscr{F}, f^{!}\mathscr{G}).$$

1.1.6. Consider the cartesian diagram (1.1.3.1). We assume that the schemes are realizable. Then we define the base change homomorphism $g'^+ \circ f^! \to f'^! \circ g^+$ to be the adjunction of the following composition:

$$f'_! \circ g'^+ \circ f^! \xleftarrow{\sim} g^+ \circ f_! \circ f^! \xrightarrow{\operatorname{adj}_{f'}} g^+$$

By definition, the following diagram is commutative, which we will use later:

$$\begin{array}{c} g^+ f_! f^! \xrightarrow{\sim} f'_! g'^+ f^! \longrightarrow f'_! f'^! g^+ \\ \text{adj}_f \bigvee & & & \downarrow \text{adj}_{f'} \\ g^+ \underbrace{\qquad} g^+ \underbrace{\qquad} g^+. \end{array}$$

1.1.7. For realizable schemes X_1 , X_2 and $\mathscr{M}_1 \in D^{\mathrm{b}}_{\mathrm{hol}}(X_1)$, $\mathscr{M}_2 \in D^{\mathrm{b}}_{\mathrm{hol}}(X_2)$, we put $\mathscr{M}_1 \boxtimes \mathscr{M}_2 := p_1^+(\mathscr{M}_1) \otimes p_2^+(\mathscr{M}_2)$, where $p_i \colon X_1 \times X_2 \to X_i$ denotes the *i*-th projection. This functor is called the *exterior tensor product*.

Now, let $f^{(\prime)} \colon X^{(\prime)} \to Y^{(\prime)}$ be a morphism of realizable schemes, and take an object $\mathscr{M}^{(\prime)}$ in $D^{\mathrm{b}}_{\mathrm{hol}}(X^{(\prime)}/K)$. We have the canonical isomorphism

$$(f \times f')^+ ((-) \boxtimes (-)) \cong f^+(-) \boxtimes f'^+(-)$$

since f^+ and f'^+ are monoidal. By taking the adjoint, we have a homomorphism

$$f_+(\mathscr{M}) \boxtimes f'_+(\mathscr{M}') \to (f \times f')_+(\mathscr{M} \boxtimes \mathscr{M}').$$

Proposition. This homomorphism is an isomorphism.

Proof. When f and f' are immersions, the proposition is essentially contained in the proof of [AC1, 1.3.3 (i)]. Thus, we may assume f and f' to be smooth proper and $X^{(\prime)}$, $Y^{(\prime)}$ can be lifted to proper smooth formal schemes $\mathscr{X}^{(\prime)}$, $\mathscr{Y}^{(\prime)}$. In this situation, we have the canonical isomorphism

$$f^{!}(-) \boxtimes f^{\prime !}(-) \cong (f \times f^{\prime})^{!} ((-) \boxtimes (-)),$$

and by taking the adjunction of [V1], we have the homomorphism

$$\rho \colon (f \times f')_+ \big(\mathscr{M} \boxtimes \mathscr{M}' \big) \to f_+(\mathscr{M}) \boxtimes f'_+(\mathscr{M}').$$

The homomorphism in the statement is the dual of this homomorphism. Thus, it suffices to show that ρ is an isomorphism. Let $f_n^{(\prime)}: X_n^{(\prime)} \to Y_n^{(\prime)}$ be a smooth morphism of relative dimension $d^{(\prime)}$ between proper smooth schemes over R/π^{n+1} where π is a uniformizer of R. For perfect $\mathscr{D}^{(m)}$ -complexes on $X_n^{(\prime)}$ and $Y_n^{(\prime)}$, we have the homomorphism $\rho_n: (f_n \times f'_n)_+((-) \boxtimes (-)) \to f_{n+}(-) \boxtimes f'_{n+}(-)$ by similar construction to ρ , and it suffices to show that ρ_n is an isomorphism since $D^{\mathrm{b}}_{\mathrm{coh}}(\widehat{\mathscr{D}}_{\mathscr{X}}^{(m)}) = D_{\mathrm{perf}}(\widehat{\mathscr{D}}_{\mathscr{X}}^{(m)})$ by [Ber3, 4.4.8]. By [Ha, VII.4.1], the following diagram commutes:

where the vertical homomorphisms are trace maps, and ω denotes the canonical bundle sheaf. The commutativity shows that ρ_n is nothing but the homomorphism induced by the isomorphism

$$\mathscr{D}_{Y_n \times Y'_n \leftarrow X_n \times X'_n}^{(m)} \cong \mathscr{D}_{Y_n \leftarrow X_n}^{(m)} \boxtimes \mathscr{D}_{Y'_n \leftarrow X'_n}^{(m)}$$

(cf. [A1, Lemma 4.5 (ii)]), and we get the proposition by using the Künneth formula for quasi-coherent sheaves. $\hfill \Box$

1.1.8. Finally, we recall the following result:

Theorem ([AC2]). Let X be a realizable scheme. Then the canonical functor $D^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathrm{Hol}(X/K)) \to D^{\mathrm{b}}_{\mathrm{hol}}(X/K)$ induces an equivalence of triangulated categories.

In the current formalism, the cycle class map is missing. We shall construct trace maps and a cycle class formalism in the coming subsections, which are important tools in showing the ℓ -independence type result.

1.2. Ind-categories.

1.2.1. Lemma. Let \mathcal{A}, \mathcal{B} be abelian categories, and assume \mathcal{A} has enough injective objects. Let $F: \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{B}$ be a left exact functor, and assume that we have an adjoint pair (G, F) such that G is exact. Then for $M \in D^+(\mathcal{A})$ and $N \in D(\mathcal{B})$, we have

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{D(\mathcal{A})}(G(N), M) \cong \operatorname{Hom}_{D(\mathcal{B})}(N, \mathbb{R}F(M))$$

Proof. By the exactness of G, F sends injective objects to injective objects. Thus, for a complex of injective objects $I^{\bullet} \in C^{+}(\mathcal{A})$ and a complex $N^{\bullet} \in C(\mathcal{B})$, it suffices to show that

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{K(\mathcal{A})}(G(N^{\bullet}), I^{\bullet}) \cong \operatorname{Hom}_{K(\mathcal{B})}(N^{\bullet}, F(I^{\bullet})).$$

By the adjointness, we have $\operatorname{Hom}^{\bullet}(G(N^{\bullet}), I^{\bullet}) \cong \operatorname{Hom}^{\bullet}(N^{\bullet}, F(I^{\bullet}))$ in $C(\operatorname{Ab})$ where $\operatorname{Hom}^{\bullet}$ is the functor defined in [Ha, I.6]. Since $\operatorname{Hom}_{K(\mathcal{A})} = \mathscr{H}^{0}\operatorname{Hom}^{\bullet}$, we get the isomorphism. \Box

Remark. The proof also shows that if moreover \mathcal{B} has enough injectives, we have

$$\mathbb{R}\mathrm{Hom}_{D(\mathcal{A})}(G(N), M) \cong \mathbb{R}\mathrm{Hom}_{D(\mathcal{B})}(N, \mathbb{R}F(M))$$

1.2.2. Let us collect some facts on Ind-categories. Let \mathcal{A} be a category. Let \mathcal{A}^{\wedge} be the category of presheaves on \mathcal{A} , and let $h_{\mathcal{A}} : \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{A}^{\wedge}$ be the canonical embedding. Then $\operatorname{Ind}(\mathcal{A})$ is the full subcategory of \mathcal{A}^{\wedge} consisting of objects which can be written as a filtrant small inductive limit of the image of $h_{\mathcal{A}}$. By definition, $h_{\mathcal{A}}$ induces a functor $\iota_{\mathcal{A}} : \mathcal{A} \to \operatorname{Ind}(\mathcal{A})$. We sometimes abbreviate this as ι . Since $h_{\mathcal{A}}$ is fully faithful by the Yoneda lemma [KSc, 1.4.4], $\iota_{\mathcal{A}}$ is fully faithful as well. For details see [KSc, §6].

Now, we assume that \mathcal{A} is an abelian category. We have the following properties:

- (1) The category $\operatorname{Ind}(\mathcal{A})$ is abelian, and the functor $\iota_{\mathcal{A}}$ is exact. Moreover, $\operatorname{Ind}(\mathcal{A})$ admits small inductive limits, and small filtrant inductive limits are exact (cf. [KSc, 8.6.5]).
- (2) Assume A to be essentially small. Then Ind(A) is a Grothendieck category, and in particular, it possesses enough injectives and admits small projective limits (cf. [KSc, 8.6.5, 9.6.2, 8.3.27]).
- (3) The category \mathcal{A} is a thick subcategory of $\operatorname{Ind}(\mathcal{A})$ by [KSc, 8.6.11]. This in particular shows that any direct factor of objects of \mathcal{A} is in \mathcal{A} , since a direct factor is the kernel of a projector.
- (4) Let $X_{\bullet} \colon I \to \mathcal{A}$ be an inductive system. Since $\iota_{\mathcal{A}}$ is fully faithful, if $\varinjlim \iota_{\mathcal{A}}(X_i)$ is in the essential image of $\iota_{\mathcal{A}}$, then $\varinjlim X_i$ exists in \mathcal{A} and $\varinjlim \iota_{\mathcal{A}}(X_i) \xrightarrow{\sim} \iota_{\mathcal{A}}(\varinjlim X_i)$.

Now, let $F: \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{B}$ be an additive functor between abelian categories. Then it extends uniquely to an additive functor $IF: \operatorname{Ind}(\mathcal{A}) \to \operatorname{Ind}(\mathcal{B})$ such that IFcommutes with arbitrary small filtrant inductive limits by [KSc, 6.1.9]. Since a small direct sum can be written as a filtrant inductive limit of finite sums, IF commutes with small direct sums as well. We have the following additional properties:

- (5) If F is left (resp. right) exact, IF is also (cf. [KSc, 8.6.8]).
- (6) Let $G: \mathcal{B} \to \mathcal{C}$ be another additive functor between abelian categories. Then $I(G \circ F) \cong IG \circ IF$ (cf. [KSc, 6.1.11]).

If there is nothing to be confused, by abuse of notation, we denote IF simply by F.

Remark. In general $\iota_{\mathcal{A}}$ does not commute with inductive limits (cf. [KSc, 6.1.20]), and in [KSc], inductive limits in Ind(\mathcal{A}) are distinguished by using " \varinjlim ". In this paper, we simply denote this limit by \varinjlim if no confusion can arise, and when we use inductive limits, it is understood to be taken in Ind(\mathcal{A}), not in \mathcal{A} , unless otherwise stated.

1.2.3. Lemma. Let \mathcal{A} , \mathcal{B} be abelian categories, and assume that \mathcal{B} admits small filtrant inductive limits. Then the restriction functor yields an equivalence $\operatorname{Fct}^{\mathrm{il},\mathrm{add}}(\operatorname{Ind}(\mathcal{A}),\mathcal{B}) \xrightarrow{\sim} \operatorname{Fct}^{\mathrm{add}}(\mathcal{A},\mathcal{B})$, where the target (resp. source) is the category of additive functors (resp. of additive functors which commute with small filtrant inductive limits).

Proof. This is a reorganization of [KSc, 6.3.2]; see also [SGA4, I, 8.7.3]. The quasiinverse is the functor sending F to $\sigma_{\mathcal{B}} \circ IF$, where $\sigma_{\mathcal{B}} \colon \text{Ind}(\mathcal{B}) \to \mathcal{B}$ is the functor taking the inductive limit (cf. [KSc, 6.3.1]).

1.2.4. Let \mathcal{A}, \mathcal{B} be abelian categories, and assume moreover that \mathcal{A} is a *noether*ian category (i.e., an essentially small category whose objects are noetherian, cf. [Ga, II.4]). Let $f_*: \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{B}$ be a left exact functor. Recall that $\operatorname{Ind}(\mathcal{A})$ has enough injectives (cf. 1.2.2 (2)). Thus, If_* can be derived to get $\mathbb{R}f_*: D^+(\operatorname{Ind}(\mathcal{A})) \to D^+(\operatorname{Ind}(\mathcal{B}))$, by abuse of notation. We also recall that the canonical functor $\iota_{\mathcal{A}}: D^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathcal{A}) \to D^{\mathrm{b}}_{\mathcal{A}}(\operatorname{Ind}(\mathcal{A}))$ gives an equivalence by [KSc, 15.3.1], and the same for \mathcal{B} .

Lemma. Let $f_*: \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{B}$ be a left exact functor as above. Then for any integer $i \geq 0$, $\mathbb{R}^i f_*: \operatorname{Ind}(\mathcal{A}) \to \operatorname{Ind}(\mathcal{B})$ commutes with an arbitrary small filtrant inductive limit.

Proof. Since we are assuming \mathcal{A} to be noetherian, $\operatorname{Ind}(\mathcal{A})$ is a locally noetherian category (cf. [Ga, II.4]), and by [Ga, II.4, Cor 1 of Thm 1], small filtrant inductive limits of injective objects in $\operatorname{Ind}(\mathcal{A})$ remain to be injective. Thus, we may apply [KSc, 15.3.3] to conclude the proof.

1.2.5. Recall that a δ -functor $\{f^i\}$ between abelian categories is called the *right* satellite of f^0 if $f^i = 0$ for i < 0, and it is universal among them (cf. [Gr, 2.2]).

Lemma. The composition functor $\{\mathbb{R}^i f_* \circ \iota\} \colon \mathcal{A} \to \operatorname{Ind}(\mathcal{A}) \to \operatorname{Ind}(\mathcal{B})$ is the right satellite functor of $If_* \circ \iota_{\mathcal{A}} \cong \iota_{\mathcal{B}} \circ f_*$.

Proof. Since $\{\mathbb{R}^i f_* \circ \iota\}$ is a right δ -functor, it remains to show that it is universal. Let $\{G^i\}: \mathcal{A} \to \operatorname{Ind}(\mathcal{B})$ be a right δ -functor with a morphism of functors $\iota_{\mathcal{B}} \circ f_* \to G^0$. By Lemma 1.2.3, $\{G^i\}$ extends uniquely to a collection of functors $\{\widetilde{G}^i\}: \operatorname{Ind}(\mathcal{A}) \to \operatorname{Ind}(\mathcal{B})$. Then $\{\widetilde{G}^i\}$ is a right δ -functor as well by [KSc, 8.6.6], with a morphism $If_* \to \widetilde{G}^0$. By the universal property of $\{\mathbb{R}^i f_*\}$, we get a morphism $\{\mathbb{R}^i f_*\} \to \{\widetilde{G}^i\}$, which induces the morphism $\varphi: \{\mathbb{R}^i f_* \circ \iota\} \to \{G^i\}$. Now, any morphism $\mathbb{R}^i f_* \circ \iota \to G^i$ extends uniquely to $\mathbb{R}^i f_* \to \widetilde{G}^i$ by Lemmas 1.2.4 and 1.2.3. Using [KSc, 8.6.6] again, $\{\mathbb{R}^i f_*\} \to \{\widetilde{G}^i\}$ is a morphism of δ -functors if φ is. Thus the uniqueness of φ follows, and we conclude that the δ -functor in question is universal.

1.2.6. Lemma. Let $f^* : \mathcal{B} \to \mathcal{A}$ be an exact functor such that (f^*, f_*) is an adjoint pair. Assume we are given a functor $f_+ : D^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathcal{A}) \to D^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathcal{B})$ such that (f^*, f_+) is an adjoint pair. Then $f_+ \cong \mathbb{R}f_* \circ \iota$ on $D^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathcal{A})$.

Proof. First, let us show that for $X \in \mathcal{A}$, $\mathscr{H}^i f_+(X) = 0$ for i < 0. If $f_+(X) \neq 0$, by the boundedness condition, there exists an integer d such that $\mathscr{H}^d f_+(X) \neq 0$ and $\mathscr{H}^i f_+(X) = 0$ for i < d. Assume d < 0. Then for any $Y \in \mathcal{B}$, we have

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{B}}(Y, \mathscr{H}^{d}f_{+}(X)) \cong \operatorname{Hom}_{D(\mathcal{B})}(Y, f_{+}(X)[d]) \cong \operatorname{Hom}_{D(\mathcal{A})}(f^{*}(Y), X[d]) = 0,$$

where the last equality holds since $\mathscr{H}^i(X[d]) = 0$ for $i \leq 0$. This contradicts the assumption, and thus, $\mathscr{H}^i f_+(X) = 0$ for i < 0. In the same way, we get that $(f^*, \mathscr{H}^0 f_+)$ is an adjoint pair, and in particular, $\mathscr{H}^0 f_+ \cong f_*$.

This shows that the collection of functors $\{\mathscr{H}^i f_+\}$ is a (right) δ -functor. Since $\{\mathscr{H}^i f_+\}$ is a δ -functor from \mathcal{A} to \mathcal{B} with the isomorphism $f_* \cong \mathscr{H}^0 f_+$, Lemma

1.2.5 yields a homomorphism $\{\mathbb{R}^i f_* \circ \iota\} \to \{\mathscr{H}^i f_+\}$ of δ -functors. For $X \in \mathcal{A}$, we have

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{D(\operatorname{Ind}(\mathcal{B}))}(f_{+}(X),\mathbb{R}f_{*}(X)) \cong \operatorname{Hom}_{D(\operatorname{Ind}(\mathcal{A}))}(f^{*}f_{+}(X),X)$$
$$\cong \operatorname{Hom}_{D(\mathcal{A})}(f^{*}f_{+}(X),X) \cong \operatorname{Hom}_{D(\mathcal{B})}(f_{+}(X),f_{+}(X)),$$

where we used the canonical equivalence $D^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathcal{A}) \xrightarrow{\sim} D^{\mathrm{b}}_{\mathcal{A}}(\mathrm{Ind}(\mathcal{A}))$ recalled in 1.2.4. Thus, the identity of $f_+(X)$ defines a homomorphism $\rho: f_+(X) \to \mathbb{R}f_*(X)$, which induces the isomorphism on \mathscr{H}^0 . By the universal property of a satellite functor, the composition $\{\mathbb{R}^i f_*(X)\} \to \{\mathscr{H}^i f_+(X)\} \xrightarrow{\rho} \{\mathbb{R}^i f_*(X)\}$ is the identity, which shows that $\mathbb{R}^i f_*(X)$ is a direct factor of $\mathscr{H}^i f_+(X)$. This shows that $\mathbb{R}^i f_*(X)$ is in \mathcal{B} by 1.2.2 (3) and $\mathbb{R}^i f_*(X) = 0$ for $i \gg 0$, which means that $\mathbb{R}f_*(X)$ is in $D^{\mathrm{b}}_{\mathcal{B}}(\mathrm{Ind}(\mathcal{B})) \xleftarrow{\sim} D^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathcal{B})$. Thus $\mathbb{R}f_*$ induces a functor from $D^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathcal{A})$ to $D^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathcal{B})$. For any $Y \in D^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathcal{B})$, we have

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{D(\mathcal{B})}(Y, \mathbb{R}f_*(X)) \cong \operatorname{Hom}_{D(\mathcal{A})}(f^*(Y), X) \cong \operatorname{Hom}_{D(\mathcal{B})}(Y, f_+(X)).$$

Thus $\mathbb{R}f_*(X) \xrightarrow{\sim} f_+(X)$ by the Yoneda lemma, as required.

1.2.7. Now, let us apply the preceding general results to the theory of arithmetic \mathscr{D} -modules. We use the notation of §1.1. First, we need:

Lemma. For a realizable scheme X, the category Hol(X/K) is noetherian and artinian.

Proof. Let X be a realizable variety. Then the category $\operatorname{Hol}(X/K)$ is essentially small. Indeed, to check this, it suffices to show that for a smooth formal scheme \mathscr{X} , the category of coherent $\mathscr{D}_{\mathscr{X},\mathbb{Q}}^{\dagger}$ -modules is essentially small. The verification is standard. Now, any object of $\operatorname{Hol}(X/K)$ is noetherian and artinian by [AC2, 1.5].

Definition. For a realizable scheme X, we put M(X/K) := Ind(Hol(X/K)). This is a Grothendieck category by 1.2.2 (2) and the lemma above.

1.2.8. Let $\phi: X \to Y$ be a smooth morphism equidimensional of relative dimension d between realizable schemes. We have the following functors via the equivalence of Theorem 1.1.8 compatible with Frobenius pullbacks:

$$\phi_+[-d]\colon D^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathrm{Hol}(X/K)) \rightleftharpoons D^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathrm{Hol}(Y/K))\colon \phi^+[d].$$

Lemma. We have an adjoint pair $(\phi^+[d], \phi_+[-d])$, and $\phi^+[d]$ is exact. The adjunction map is compatible with Frobenius pullbacks.

Proof. Since (ϕ^+, ϕ_+) is an adjoint pair, the adjointness follows. The exactness is by [AC1, 1.3.2 (i)].

We put $\phi_* := \mathscr{H}^0(\phi_+[-d]), \ \phi^* := \mathscr{H}^0(\phi^+[d])$. We have the right derived functor $\mathbb{R}\phi_* : D^+(M(X/K)) \to D^+(M(Y/K))$. By Lemma 1.2.6 together with the lemma above, $\phi_+[-d]$ is the right derived functor of ϕ_* , namely, $\phi_+[-d] \cong \mathbb{R}\phi_*$ on $D^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathrm{Hol}(X/K))$, which is a full subcategory of $D^+(M(X/K))$.

Now, let $\phi: X \to Y$ be a smooth morphism which may not be equidimensional. Then there exists a decomposition $X = \coprod X_i$ where X_i is an open subscheme of X such that the induced morphism $\phi_i: X_i \to Y$ is equidimensional. We put $\phi_* := \sum \phi_{i*}$ and $\phi^* := \sum \phi_i^*$. Note that when ϕ is an open immersion, then we have $\mathbb{R}\phi_* \cong \phi_+$. 1.2.9. Let $f\colon X\to Y$ be a finite morphism between realizable schemes. Consider the functors

$$f_! \xrightarrow{\sim} f_+ \colon D^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathrm{Hol}(X/K)) \rightleftharpoons D^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathrm{Hol}(Y/K)) \colon f^!$$

We have the following:

Lemma. The functors $f_! \xrightarrow{\sim} f_+$ are exact and $(f_+, f^!)$ is an adjoint pair compatible with Frobenius pullbacks.

Proof. The exactness is by [AC1, 1.3.13], and the other claims follow by 1.1.3. \Box

Now, we have the associated right derived functor $\mathbb{R}(\mathscr{H}^0 f^!): D^+(M(X/K)) \to D^+(M(Y/K))$. By Lemma 1.2.6 together with the lemma above, we have $f^! \cong \mathbb{R}(\mathscr{H}^0 f^!)$ on $D^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathrm{Hol}(Y/K))$.

1.2.10. Let X, Y be realizable schemes, and consider the projections $p: X \times Y \to Y$, $q: X \times Y \to X$. Let \mathscr{A} be an object in $\operatorname{Hol}(X/K)$. We have the functors:

$$p_{\mathscr{A}+}(-) := p_{+} \mathcal{H}om(q^{+}\mathscr{A}, -) \colon D^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathrm{Hol}(X \times Y/K))$$
$$\rightleftharpoons D^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathrm{Hol}(Y/K)) \colon \mathscr{A} \boxtimes (-) =: p_{\mathscr{A}}^{+}.$$

Now, assume that \mathscr{A} is endowed with Frobenius structure $\mathscr{A} \xrightarrow{\sim} F^*\mathscr{A}$. Then we have an isomorphism of functors $F^* \circ p_{\mathscr{A}^+} \cong p_{\mathscr{A}^+} \circ F^*$, and $F^* \circ p_{\mathscr{A}}^+ \cong p_{\mathscr{A}}^+ \circ F^*$. Thus, $p_{\mathscr{A}^+}$ and $p_{\mathscr{A}}^+$ are compatible with Frobenius pullbacks. We have:

Lemma. The functor $p_{\mathscr{A}}^+$ is exact, and $(p_{\mathscr{A}}^+, p_{\mathscr{A}}_+)$ is an adjoint pair. Moreover, if \mathscr{A} is endowed with Frobenius structure, the pair is compatible with Frobenius pullbacks.

Proof. The exactness of $p_{\mathscr{A}}^+$ follows from [AC1, 1.3.3 (ii)]. By definition (cf. [AC1, 1.1.8 (i)]), we have $q^+ \mathscr{A} \otimes p^+(-) \cong \mathscr{A} \boxtimes (-)$. Thus, we get

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{X \times Y} \left(p_{\mathscr{A}}^{+}(-), - \right) \cong \operatorname{Hom}_{X \times Y} \left(q^{+} \mathscr{A} \otimes p^{+}(-), - \right)$$
$$\cong \operatorname{Hom}_{X \times Y} \left(p^{+}(-), \mathcal{H}om(q^{+} \mathscr{A}, -) \right)$$
$$\cong \operatorname{Hom}_{Y} \left(-, p_{+} \mathcal{H}om(q^{+} \mathscr{A}, -) \right),$$

where the second and the last isomorphism holds by the adjunction properties (cf. 1.1.3). $\hfill \Box$

We put $p_{\mathscr{A}*} := \mathscr{H}^0 p_{\mathscr{A}+}, p_{\mathscr{A}}^* := \mathscr{H}^0 p_{\mathscr{A}}^+$. Once again, we get $p_{\mathscr{A}+} \cong \mathbb{R} p_{\mathscr{A}*}$ on $D^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathrm{Hol}(X \times Y/K)).$

1.2.11. **Lemma.** Let X be a realizable scheme, let $j: U \hookrightarrow X$ be an open immersion, and let $i: Z \hookrightarrow X$ be its complement. For an injective object \mathscr{I} in M(X/K), we have an exact sequence

$$0 \to \mathscr{H}^0i_+i^!(\mathscr{I}) \to \mathscr{I} \to \mathscr{H}^0j_+j^+(\mathscr{I}) \to 0.$$

Proof. Since $\mathscr{H}^0 i_+ i^!$ is a left exact functor, we may take its right derived functor, and this is denoted by $\mathbb{R}(\mathscr{H}^0 i_+ i^!)$. Let us put

$$F := \operatorname{Coker}(\operatorname{id} \to \mathscr{H}^0(j_+j^+)) \colon \operatorname{Hol}(X/K) \to \operatorname{Hol}(X/K).$$

We show that $\mathbb{R}^1(\mathscr{H}^0i_+i^!)(\mathscr{M}) \cong IF(\mathscr{M})$ for $\mathscr{M} \in M(X/K)$. Since $\mathscr{H}^0i^!$ is left exact and i_+ is exact, we have $\mathbb{R}^1(\mathscr{H}^0i_+i^!) \cong i_+\mathbb{R}^1(\mathscr{H}^0i^!)$. When $\mathscr{M} \in \operatorname{Hol}(X/K)$, we have the isomorphism by Lemma 1.2.9 and the localization triangle. Lemma 1.2.7 and Lemma 1.2.4 show that the functor $\mathbb{R}^1(\mathscr{H}^0i_+i^!)$ commutes with small

936

filtrant inductive limits. Thus, by Lemma 1.2.3, this isomorphism uniquely extends to the isomorphism we want. This shows that for an injective object \mathscr{I} , $IF(\mathscr{I}) = 0$, and we get the short exact sequence in the statement of the lemma.

1.3. Constructible t-structures. We need to introduce a t-structure on the triangulated category $D_{hol}^{b}(X/K)$ whose heart corresponds to the category of *constructible sheaves* in the philosophy of the Riemann-Hilbert correspondence. We keep the notation from §1.1.

1.3.1. Let X be a realizable scheme. For $\mathscr{M} \in \operatorname{Hol}(X/K)$, we define the *support*, denoted by $\operatorname{Supp}(\mathscr{M})$, to be the smallest closed subset $Z \subset X$ such that \mathscr{M} is 0 if we pull back to $X \setminus Z$. When X_{red} is smooth of dimension d, we say that a complex $\mathscr{M} \in D^{\mathrm{b}}_{\operatorname{hol}}(X/K)$ is *smooth* if $\mathscr{H}^{i}(\mathscr{M})[-d]$ is in $\operatorname{Sm}(X/K)$ for any *i* (cf. 1.1.3 (12)). Now, we define the following two full subcategories of $D^{\mathrm{b}}_{\operatorname{hol}}(X/K)$:

- ${}^{c}D^{\geq 0}$ consists of complexes \mathscr{M} such that $\dim(\operatorname{Supp}(\mathscr{H}^{n}(\mathscr{M}))) \leq n$ for any $n \geq 0$, and $\mathscr{H}^{n}(\mathscr{M}) = 0$ for any n < 0.
- ${}^{c}D^{\leq 0}$ consists of complexes \mathscr{M} such that $\mathscr{H}^{k}i^{+}_{W}(\mathscr{M}) = 0$ for any closed subscheme $i_{W} \colon W \hookrightarrow X$ and $k > \dim(W)$.

We note that the extension property holds, namely, for a triangle $\mathscr{M}' \to \mathscr{M} \to \mathscr{M}'' \xrightarrow{\pm 1}$, if \mathscr{M}' and \mathscr{M}'' are in ${}^{c}D^{\star}(X)$ ($\star \in \{\geq 0, \leq 0\}$), then \mathscr{M} is also.

Example. Let X be a smooth curve. Then ${}^{c}D^{\geq 0}$ consists of complexes \mathscr{M} such that $\mathscr{H}^{i}(\mathscr{M}) = 0$ for i < 0, and $\mathscr{H}^{0}(\mathscr{M})$ is supported on a finite union of points. The category ${}^{c}D^{\leq 0}$ consists of complexes \mathscr{N} such that $\mathscr{H}^{i}(\mathscr{N}) = 0$ for i > 1, and $\mathscr{H}^{0}i_{x}^{+}\mathscr{H}^{1}(\mathscr{M}) = 0$ for any closed point x. For example, $i_{x+}(K)$ and K_{X} (\cong sp₊($\mathcal{O}_{X,\mathbb{Q}})[-1]$ where $\mathcal{O}_{X,\mathbb{Q}}$ denotes the constant overconvergent isocrystal) are in both ${}^{c}D^{\geq 0}$ and ${}^{c}D^{\leq 0}$. For a smooth realizable scheme X, any object of Sm(X/K) (cf. 1.1.3 (12)) is in both $D^{\geq 0}$ and $D^{\leq 0}$. This can be checked by the right exactness of i^{+} (cf. [AC1, 1.3.2 (ii)]).

1.3.2. **Lemma.** Let $i: Z \hookrightarrow X$ be a closed immersion, and let $j: U \hookrightarrow X$ be its complement. Then i^+ , j_1 , i_+ , j^+ all preserve both ${}^{\circ}D^{\geq 0}$ and ${}^{\circ}D^{\leq 0}$.

Proof. Since $i_! \cong i_+$ and j^+ are exact by [AC1, 1.3.2], the verification is easy. Let us show the preservation for i^+ . Since the verification is Zariski local with respect to X, we may assume that X is affine. Then the verification is reduced to the case where Z is defined by a function $f \in \mathcal{O}_X$. In this case, we know that for any $\mathscr{M} \in \operatorname{Hol}(X), \, \mathscr{H}^k i^+ \mathscr{M} = 0$ for $i \neq 0, -1$.

Since i_W^+ is right exact by [AC1, 1.3.2 (ii)], the preservation for ${}^cD^{\leq 0}$ is easy. Let us show the preservation for ${}^cD^{\geq 0}$. By the extension property, it suffices to check for \mathscr{M} of the form $\mathscr{M} = \mathscr{N}[-n]$ such that $\mathscr{N} \in \operatorname{Hol}(X)$ and $\dim(\operatorname{Supp}(\mathscr{N})) \leq n$. By using the extension property again, this is reduced even to the case where \mathscr{N} is irreducible. In particular, we may assume that the support of \mathscr{N} is irreducible. In this case, we have two possibilities: $\operatorname{Supp}(\mathscr{N}) \subset Z$ or $\operatorname{Supp}(\mathscr{N}) \not\subset Z$. When $\operatorname{Supp}(\mathscr{N}) \subset Z$, we get $\mathscr{H}^{-1}i^+(\mathscr{M}) = 0$, and the other case follows since $\dim(\operatorname{Supp}(\mathscr{N}) \cap Z) < \dim(\operatorname{Supp}(\mathscr{N}))$.

Let us show the lemma for $j_!$ by using the induction on the dimension of X. When j is affine, the claim follows easily since $j_!$ is exact by [AC1, 1.3.13]. In general, take $\mathscr{M} \in {}^{c}D^{*}(U)$. Let $j': V \hookrightarrow U$ be an affine open dense subscheme, and let i' be the closed immersion into U defined by the complement. Consider the triangle $j'_1j'^+ \mathscr{M} \to \mathscr{M} \to i'_+i'^+ \mathscr{M} \xrightarrow{+1}$. Since $j \circ j'$ is affine, $j_!j'_!j'^+ \mathscr{M}$ is in $^cD^*(X)$, and $j_!i'_+i'^+ \mathscr{M}$ is in $^cD^*(X)$ as well by the induction hypothesis together with the lemma for i'^+ we have already treated. Using the extension property, we conclude.

1.3.3. **Proposition.** The categories ${}^{c}D^{\geq 0}$ and ${}^{c}D^{\leq 0}$ define a t-structure on $D^{b}_{hol}(X/K)$.

Proof. We put $D(X) := D_{\text{hol}}^{\text{b}}(X/K)$. Let U be an open subset of X, and let Z be its complement. Put $i: Z \hookrightarrow X$ and $j: U \hookrightarrow X$. For $\star \in \{ \geq 0, \leq 0 \}$, \mathscr{M} is in $^{c}D^{\star}(X)$ if and only if $i^{+}(\mathscr{M})$ and $j^{+}(\mathscr{M})$ are in $^{c}D^{\star}(Z)$ and $^{c}D^{\star}(U)$, respectively. This follows by the extension property and Lemma 1.3.2.

Now, we proceed as [KW, p.143]. We use the induction on the dimension of X. We may assume X to be reduced by Lemma 1.1.3. It suffices to check, for a smooth open affine subscheme $j: U \hookrightarrow X$ equidimensional of dimension dim(X), that the restriction of ${}^{c}D^{\geq 0}$ and ${}^{c}D^{\leq 0}$ to the subcategory

$$T(X,U) := \left\{ \mathscr{E} \in D(X) \mid \mathscr{H}^{i}(j^{+}\mathscr{E}) \text{ is smooth on } U \text{ for any } i \right\}$$

defines a t-structure, since $\bigcup_U T(X,U) = D(X)$. Let $i: Z \hookrightarrow X$ be the complement of U. By the observation above, $\mathscr{M} \in T(X,U)$ is in $^{c}D^{\star}(X)$ if and only if $j^{+}(\mathscr{M})$ and $i^{+}(\mathscr{M})$ are in $^{c}D^{\star}(U)$ and $^{c}D^{\star}(Z)$, respectively. We note that $^{c}D^{\star}(Z)$ defines a t-structure on D(Z) by induction hypothesis.

Let us check the axioms of the t-structure [BBD, 1.3.1]. Axiom (ii) is obvious, and axiom (iii) can be shown by a similar argument to [KW, pp.140, 141] using the t-structures of D(Z). Let us check (i). By *dévissage* using the localization triangle $j_!j^+ \to \mathrm{id} \to i_+i^+ \xrightarrow{+1}$ twice and by the induction hypothesis, we only have to show that $\mathrm{Hom}(i_+\mathscr{B}, j_!\mathscr{C}) = 0$ when $\mathscr{B} \in {}^{\mathrm{c}}D^{<0}(Z)$ and $\mathscr{C} \in {}^{\mathrm{c}}D^{\geq 0}(U)$ such that $\mathscr{H}^i(\mathscr{C})$ is smooth for any *i*. Then, $\mathscr{H}^{k-1}(i_+\mathscr{B}) = 0$ for $k > \dim(Z)$. On the other hand, $j_!$ is exact by [AC1, 1.3.13] since *j* is affine, and thus $\mathscr{H}^k(j_!\mathscr{C}) = 0$ for $k < \dim(U)$ by the smoothness of $\mathscr{H}^i(\mathscr{C})$, so the claim follows. \Box

Definition. The t-structure on $D^{\rm b}_{\rm hol}(X/K)$ defined in the proposition is called the *constructible t-structure*, and briefly, *c-t-structure*. The heart of the t-structure is denoted by $\operatorname{Con}(X/K)$, and it is called the category of *constructible modules*. The cohomology functor for this t-structure is denoted by ${}^{\circ}\mathcal{H}^{*}$.

Remark. Our constructible t-structure can be regarded as a generalization of *perverse t-structure* introduced in [Le] and also as a *p*-adic analogue of the t-structure defined in [Ka].

1.3.4. Lemma. Let $f: X \to Y$ be a morphism between realizable schemes.

(i) The functor f^+ is c-t-exact, and f_+ is left c-t-exact. Moreover, the pair $({}^{c}\mathcal{H}^{0}f^+, {}^{c}\mathcal{H}^{0}f_+)$ is an adjoint pair.

(ii) When f =: i is a closed immersion, i_+ is c-t-exact and ${}^{c}\mathcal{H}^{0}i^{!}$ is left c-t-exact. Moreover, $(i_+, {}^{c}\mathcal{H}^{0}i^{!})$ is an adjoint pair.

(iii) When f =: j is an open immersion, $j_{!}$ is c-t-exact, and $(j_{!}, j^{+})$ is an adjoint pair.

Proof. Claims (ii) and (iii) are nothing but Lemma 1.3.2, and we reproduced these for the record.

Let us show (i). We only need to show the exactness of f^+ . The verification is Zariski local, so we may assume X and Y to be realizable. Thus we can take the following commutative diagram:



where horizontal morphisms are closed immersions, Q is smooth, and f is smooth. By (ii), which we have already verified, it suffices to show the claim for $(i \circ f)^+$. By Lemma 1.3.2, we already know that i'^+ is c-t-exact. Thus, it remains to show that \tilde{f}^+ is c-t-exact, which we can check easily using [AC1, 1.3.2 (i)].

1.3.5. **Lemma.** Let X be an irreducible realizable scheme. Let \mathscr{M} be a constructible module on X such that $\operatorname{Supp}(\mathscr{M}) = X$. Then there exists an open dense subscheme $j: U \hookrightarrow X$ such that $j^+\mathscr{M}$ is in $\operatorname{Sm}(U/K)$. The rank of $j^+\mathscr{M}$ is called the generic rank of \mathscr{M} .

Proof. For any complex in $D^{\rm b}_{\rm hol}(X)$, there exists an open dense subscheme $j: U \hookrightarrow X$ such that the cohomology modules of $j^+ \mathscr{M}$ is smooth. \Box

1.3.6. Lemma. Let X be a realizable scheme. Then the category $\operatorname{Con}(X/K)$ is noetherian.

Proof. Since $\operatorname{Hol}(X/K)$ is essentially small by Lemma 1.2.7, so is $D^{\mathrm{b}}(\operatorname{Hol}(X))$. Since $\operatorname{Con}(X)$ is a full subcategory, it is also essentially small.

Let us show that the category is noetherian. It suffices to show the claim for each irreducible component of X, so we may assume X to be irreducible. Assume X is smooth, and let \mathscr{M} be a smooth constructible module on X. We claim that for any submodule \mathscr{N} of \mathscr{M} , there exists an open dense subscheme U such that \mathscr{N} is a nonzero smooth constructible module on U. Assume the contrary. Then there exists a nowhere dense closed subset $i: Z \hookrightarrow X$ such that we have the nonzero homomorphism $i_+i^+(\mathscr{N}) \to \mathscr{M}$. Shrinking X if necessary, we may assume that both X and Z are smooth and $i^+\mathscr{N}$ is smooth on Z. Taking the adjoint, we get a nonzero homomorphism $i^+\mathscr{N} \to i^!\mathscr{M}$. By [A1, 5.6], we have $i^!\mathscr{M} \cong i^+\mathscr{M}(-d)[-2d]$ where d is the codimension of Z in X, which is impossible.

We use noetherian induction on the support of \mathscr{M} . We may assume that X is reduced. Moreover, we may assume $\operatorname{Supp}(\mathscr{M}) = X$, otherwise, we can conclude by the induction hypothesis. Let \mathscr{M} be a constructible module, and let $\{\mathscr{M}_i\}_{i\in\mathbb{N}}$ be an ascending chain of submodules of \mathscr{M} . There exists N such that the generic rank (cf. Lemma 1.3.5) of \mathscr{M}_i is the same for any $i \geq N$. Since it suffices to show that the ascending chain $\{\mathscr{M}_i/\mathscr{M}_N\}_{i\geq N}$ is stationary in $\mathscr{M}/\mathscr{M}_N$, we may assume that $\operatorname{Supp}(\mathscr{M}_i) \subset \operatorname{Supp}(\mathscr{M})$ is nowhere dense. Let U be an open dense smooth subscheme of X such that \mathscr{M} is smooth on U. By what we have shown, \mathscr{M}_i is 0 on U. Let $i: Z \hookrightarrow X$ be the complement. Then by the c-t-exactness of i_+ and i^+ and the induction hypothesis, $\mathscr{M}_i \cong i_+ i^+ \mathscr{M}_i$ is stationary in $i_+ i^+ \mathscr{M}$, as required. \Box

Remark. Contrary to $\operatorname{Hol}(X/K)$, $\operatorname{Con}(X/K)$ is not artinian. Indeed, let X be a smooth realizable scheme, and take a descending sequence of open subschemes

 $X \supset U_1 \supseteq U_2 \supseteq \cdots$. Denote by $j_i: U_i \hookrightarrow X$ the inclusion. For any $\mathscr{M} \in \mathrm{Sm}(X/K)$, we have $\mathscr{M} \supset j_{1!}j_1^+(\mathscr{M}) \supseteq j_{2!}j_2^+(\mathscr{M}) \supseteq \cdots$, and the claim follows.

1.3.7. **Lemma.** Let X be a realizable scheme. For a closed point $x \in X$, denote by $i_x : \{x\} \to X$ the closed immersion.

(i) For $\mathscr{F} \in \operatorname{Con}(X)$, $\mathscr{F} = 0$ if and only if $i_x^+(\mathscr{F}) = 0$ for any closed point x. In particular, a homomorphism ϕ in $\operatorname{Con}(X)$ is 0 if and only if $i_x^+(\phi) = 0$ for any closed point x.

(ii) Let $f: s' \to s$ be a morphism of points (i.e., connected schemes of dimension 0 of finite type over k). Then f^+ is faithful and conservative.

Proof. For (i), use [AC1, 1.3.11], and (ii) is left to the reader.

1.3.8. Lemma. Let $f: X \to Y$ be a morphism of realizable schemes such that for any $y \in Y$, the dimension of the fiber $f^{-1}(y)$ is $\leq d$. Then for any $\mathscr{M} \in \operatorname{Con}(X)$, ${}^{c}\mathscr{H}^{i}f_{!}(\mathscr{M}) = 0$ for i > 2d and i < 0.

Proof. By Lemma 1.3.7, it suffices to show that for any closed point $y \in Y$, $i_y^+ \, \mathcal{H}^i f_!(\mathcal{M}) = 0$ for $i \notin [0, 2d]$. By the c-t-exactness of i_y^+ and base change, it is reduced to showing that $\mathcal{H}^i f_{y!}(\mathcal{M}) = 0$ for $i \notin [0, 2d]$ where $f_y \colon X \times_Y \{y\} \to \{y\}$. Since over a point, c-t-structure and the usual t-structure coincide, it remains to show that if X is a realizable scheme of dimension d, and $\mathcal{M} \in \operatorname{Con}(X)$, then $\mathcal{H}^i f_! \mathcal{M} = 0$ for $i \notin [0, 2d]$. We use the induction on the dimension of X. When the dimension of X is 0, then the verification is easy. This in particular implies that $f_!$ is c-t-exact when f is quasi-finite. Let us assume that the lemma holds for d < N. By Lemma 1.1.3, we may assume that X is reduced. By the c-t-exactness of Lemma 1.3.4 and the induction hypothesis, we may shrink X by its open dense subscheme. Thus, we may assume that there exists a finite morphism $g \colon X \to \mathbb{A}^N$. Since $g_! \mathcal{M}$ is constructible by the c-t-exactness of $g_!$ that we have already verified, it suffices to check the claim for $X = \mathbb{A}^N$. Shrinking X further, we may assume that there exists a divisor Z of $P := \mathbb{P}^N$ such that $X = P \setminus Z$ and $\mathcal{M} = \mathcal{N}[-N]$ where $\mathcal{N} \in \operatorname{Hol}(X)$ by Lemma 1.3.5. Then the lemma follows by the definition of $f_!$ as well as [Hu, 5.4.1].

1.3.9. **Lemma.** Let $\mathcal{M} \in \text{Con}(X)$, and let $\{u_i : U_i \hookrightarrow X\}$ be a finite open covering of X. Let $u_{ij} : U_i \cap U_j \hookrightarrow X$ be the immersion. Then the following sequence is exact in Con(X):

$$\bigoplus_{i,j} u_{ij!} u_{ij}^+ \mathscr{M} \to \bigoplus_i u_{i!} u_i^+ \mathscr{M} \to \mathscr{M} \to 0.$$

Proof. To check the exactness, it suffices to check it after taking i_x^+ for each closed point $x \in X$ by Lemma 1.3.7. By the commutativity of i_x^+ and $u_{\star!}$, the verification is just a combinatorial problem.

1.3.10. We use the category $\operatorname{Ind}(\operatorname{Con}(X))$ later. Let us prepare some properties of this category. Let $f: X \to Y$ be a morphism between realizable schemes. Since f^+ is c-t-exact, we have a functor $f^+: \operatorname{Ind}(\operatorname{Con}(Y)) \to \operatorname{Ind}(\operatorname{Con}(X))$.

Lemma. We use the notation of Lemma 1.3.7.

(i) Let $\mathscr{F} \in \text{Ind}(\text{Con}(X))$. Assume that $i_x^+ \mathscr{F} = 0$ for any closed point x of X. Then $\mathscr{F} = 0$. (ii) Let $g: s' \to s$ be a morphism of points. Then for $\mathscr{F} \in \text{Ind}(\text{Con}(s))$, $\mathscr{F} = 0$ if and only if $g^+(\mathscr{F}) = 0$. In particular, a homomorphism ϕ in Ind(Con(s)) is an isomorphism if and only if $g^+(\phi)$ is also.

Proof. Let us show (i). Write $\mathscr{F} = \varinjlim_{i \in I} \mathscr{F}_i$ where I is a small filtrant category and $\mathscr{F}_i \in \operatorname{Con}(X)$. Fix $i \in I$, and let $\mathscr{E}_j := \operatorname{Ker}(\mathscr{F}_i \to \mathscr{F}_j)$. Since $\operatorname{Con}(X)$ is noetherian by Lemma 1.3.6, there exists $j_0 \in I$ such that $\mathscr{E}_{j_0} = \mathscr{E}_j$ for any $j \ge j_0$. Now, we have $i_x^+(\mathscr{F}_i/\mathscr{E}_{j_0}) = i_x^+ \varinjlim_j (\mathscr{F}_i/\mathscr{E}_j) \hookrightarrow i_x^+ \mathscr{F} = 0$, thus $\mathscr{E}_{j_0} = \mathscr{F}_i$ by Lemma 1.3.7. This shows that the homomorphism $\mathscr{F}_i \to \mathscr{F}_{j_0}$ is 0, and the claim follows.

Let us show (ii). Let $\mathscr{F} = \varinjlim \mathscr{F}_i$ where I is a small filtrant and $\mathscr{F}_i \in \operatorname{Con}(s)$. For each $i \in I$, there exists $j \in I$ such that $g^+ \mathscr{F}_i \to g^+ \mathscr{F}_j$ is 0. Thus, by Lemma 1.3.7, we get that $\mathscr{F}_i \to \mathscr{F}_j$ is 0 as well.

1.4. Extension of scalars and Frobenius structures. So far, the coefficient categories we have treated (e.g., $\operatorname{Hol}(X/K)$ or $D^{\mathrm{b}}_{\mathrm{hol}}(X/K)$) are K-additive. For the Langlands correspondence, we need to consider L-coefficients with Frobenius structure where L is an algebraic field extension of K. We introduce such categories in this subsection when the extension is finite. Scalar extended categories of isocrystals have already been introduced in [AM, 7.3], and the idea of our construction is essentially the same, but we hope that the usability is improved.

Extension of scalars.

1.4.1. Let K be an arbitrary field, and let \mathcal{A} be a K-additive category. We take a finite field extension L of K. We define the category \mathcal{A}_L as follows. The objects consist of pairs (X, ρ) such that $X \in Ob(\mathcal{A})$, and a K-algebra homomorphism $\rho: L \to End(X)$, called the L-structure (cf. [DM, after Remark 3.10]). The morphisms are morphisms in \mathcal{A} compatible with L-structures, or more precisely,

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{A}_{L}}\left((X,\rho),(X',\rho')\right) = \left\{ f \in \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{A}}(X,X') \mid f \circ \rho(x) = \rho'(x) \circ f \text{ for any } x \in L \right\}.$$

We have the forgetful functor for $L: \mathcal{A}_L \to \mathcal{A}$. Let $X \in \mathcal{A}$. Then we define $X \otimes_K L \in \mathcal{A}_L$ as follows: Take a basis x_1, \ldots, x_d of L over K. Then $X \otimes_K L := (\bigoplus_{i=1}^d X \otimes x_i, \rho')$ such that for $x \in L$, write $x \cdot x_k = \sum a_i x_i$ with $a_i \in K$, and $\rho'(x)|_{X \otimes x_k} := \sum \rho(a_i) \otimes x_i$, where $\rho(a_i)$ denotes the structural action of $a_i \in K$ on X. We can check easily that this does not depend on the choice of the basis of L up to canonical isomorphism. We denote by $\iota_L := (-) \otimes_K L: \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{A}_L$. Moreover, if \mathcal{A} is abelian, then \mathcal{A}_L is abelian as well, and ι_L is exact.

For $X \in \mathcal{A}$ and $Y \in \mathcal{A}_L$, we have

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{A}}(X, \operatorname{for}_{L}(Y)) \cong \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{A}_{L}}(\iota_{L}(X), Y),$$

in other words, we have an adjoint pair (ι_L, for_L) . Thus, if \mathcal{A} is an abelian category, the functor for $_L$ sends injective objects in \mathcal{A}_L to injective objects in \mathcal{A} .

Let $f: \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{B}$ be a K-additive functor between K-additive categories. Then there exists a unique functor $f_L: \mathcal{A}_L \to \mathcal{B}_L$ which is compatible with both ι_L and for L. If \mathcal{A} and \mathcal{B} are abelian, f_L is left (resp. right) exact, if f is also. 1.4.2. Let \mathcal{A} be a *K*-additive category. Let $X, Y \in \mathcal{A}_L$. On the abelian group $\operatorname{Hom}(\operatorname{for}_L(X), \operatorname{for}_L(Y))$, we endow with $L \otimes_K L$ -module structure as follows: we define the left *L*-structure by $(a \cdot \phi)(x) := a(\phi(x))$ and the right *L*-structure by $(\phi \cdot a)(x) = \phi(ax)$. For $a \in K$, both *L*-structures are compatible, and we get the $L \otimes_K L$ -module structure. This $L \otimes_K L$ -module is denoted by $\operatorname{Hom}_K(X, Y)$. By definition, we have

$$\operatorname{Hom}(X,Y) \cong \left\{ \phi \in \operatorname{Hom}_K(X,Y) \mid (a \otimes 1)\phi = (1 \otimes a)\phi = 0 \text{ for any } a \in L \right\}.$$

Note that if L/K is a separable extension, then $L \otimes_K L$ is a product of fields, and any $L \otimes_K L$ -module is flat.

Lemma. Let L/K be a separable extension, and let M be an $L \otimes_K L$ -module. Put $I := \text{Ker}(L \otimes_K L \to L)$. Then we have a canonical isomorphism

 $M_0 := \left\{ m \in M \mid a \cdot m = 0 \text{ for any } a \in I \right\} \xrightarrow{\sim} M/IM.$

Proof. This follows from the following more general fact: Let $i: Z \hookrightarrow X$ be a closed immersion of schemes, and let \mathcal{M} be a quasi-coherent \mathcal{O}_X -module. Then the composition $\underline{\Gamma}_Z(\mathcal{M}) \to \mathcal{M} \to i_*i^*(\mathcal{M})$ is an isomorphism if $X = Z \sqcup (X \setminus Z)$ as schemes.

Corollary. Let L/K be a separable extension. Then, for $X, Y \in A_L$, we have a canonical isomorphism

$$\operatorname{Hom}(X,Y) \xrightarrow{\sim} L \otimes_{L \otimes_{K} L} \operatorname{Hom}_{K}(X,Y).$$

1.4.3. Now, let \mathcal{A} be a K-abelian category. Assume L/K is a separable extension, and consider the derived category $D(\mathcal{A}_L)$. We have the following functor

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{K}^{\bullet} \colon C(\mathcal{A}_{L})^{\circ} \times C(\mathcal{A}_{L}) \to C(L \otimes_{K} L), \quad (X^{\bullet}, Y^{\bullet}) \mapsto \prod_{i \in \mathbb{Z}} \operatorname{Hom}_{K} (X^{i}, Y^{i+\bullet}),$$

and the differential is defined as in [Ha, I.6]. Since for_L sends injective objects to injective objects, we can take the associated derive functor and get $\mathbb{R}\text{Hom}_{K}^{\bullet}(-,-)$ as in [Ha, II.3]. We have the following:

Lemma. Let $X \in D(\mathcal{A}_L)$, $Y \in D^+(\mathcal{A}_L)$. Then we have an isomorphism

 $\mathbb{R}\mathrm{Hom}(X,Y) \xrightarrow{\sim} L \otimes_{L \otimes_K L} \mathbb{R}\mathrm{Hom}_K^{\bullet}(X,Y).$

Proof. Use Corollary 1.4.2.

Corollary. The functor $D^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathcal{A}_L) \to D^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathcal{A})_L$ is fully faithful.

Proof. For $X \in D(\mathcal{A}_L)$, let us denote by X' the image in $D(\mathcal{A})_L$. We have

 $\mathbb{R}^{i}\operatorname{Hom}_{K}^{\bullet}(X,Y)\cong\operatorname{Hom}_{K}(X',Y'[i])$

as $L \otimes_K L$ -modules. This shows that the functor is fully faithful by the lemma above and Corollary 1.4.2.

Remark. This corollary shows that if $X, Y \in D^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathcal{A}_L)$ are isomorphic in $D^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathcal{A})_L$, then they are isomorphic in $D^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathcal{A}_L)$. For example, assume we are given two Kadditive functors $F, G: D^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathcal{A}) \to D^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathcal{B})$ and a K-additive morphism $\alpha: F \to G$ of functors. Furthermore, assume that these functors have L-additive liftings $\widetilde{F}, \widetilde{G}: D^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathcal{A}_L) \to D^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathcal{B}_L)$. Then the full faithfulness implies that α can be lifted to $\widetilde{\alpha}: \widetilde{F} \to \widetilde{G}$ and that $\widetilde{\alpha}$ is an isomorphism if α is also.

942

1.4.4. **Lemma.** Let \mathcal{A} be a K-additive noetherian category. Then we have a canonical equivalence $\operatorname{Ind}(\mathcal{A}_L) \xrightarrow{\sim} \operatorname{Ind}(\mathcal{A})_L$.

Proof. It is easy to check that it is fully faithful. Let (X, ρ) be an object in $\operatorname{Ind}(\mathcal{A})_L$. We may write $X = \varinjlim_{i \in I} X_i$ where $X_i \in \mathcal{A}$ and $X_i \subset X$ by [De2, 4.2.1 (ii)]. Let $x \in L$ such that K[x] = L, and let [L:K] =: d. Put $X'_i := \sum_{j=0}^{d-1} \rho(x^j)(X_i)$ where the sum is taken in X. Then X'_i is stable under the action of L, and it defines an object in \mathcal{A}_L . The limit $\varinjlim_{i \in I} (X'_i, \rho)$ is sent to (X, ρ) .

1.4.5. Let $F: \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{B}$ be a *K*-additive functor between *K*-abelian categories. Assume that *F* is left exact and that \mathcal{A}_L has enough injectives. Note that \mathcal{A} also has enough injectives since id \to for_{*L*} $\circ \iota_L$ and for_{*L*} preserves injective objects. Since, again, for_{*L*} preserves injective objects and commutes with *F*, the functors $\mathbb{R}F$ and for_{*L*} commute. Moreover, $\mathbb{R}F$ and ι_L commute. Indeed, since *F* and ι_L commute, it suffices to show that for an injective object *I* in \mathcal{A} , $\mathbb{R}^i F(\iota_L(I)) = 0$ for i > 0. For this, it suffices to show that for_{*L*} $\circ (\mathbb{R}^i F) \circ \iota_L(I) = 0$. We have

for
$$_{L} \circ (\mathbb{R}^{i}F) \circ \iota_{L}(I) \cong (\mathbb{R}^{i}F) \circ \text{for}_{L} \circ \iota_{L}(I) = 0,$$

where the second equality holds by the fact that for $\iota \circ \iota_L(I)$ is a finite direct sum of copies of I and thus injective.

Frobenius structure.

1.4.6. Now, let us consider the Frobenius structure. We fix an automorphism $\sigma: K \to K$, and put $K_0 := K^{\sigma=1}$. Let \mathcal{A} be a K-additive category, and let $F^*: \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{A}$ be a σ -semilinear functor; namely, for $X, Y \in \mathcal{A}$ the homomorphism $\operatorname{Hom}(X,Y) \to \operatorname{Hom}(F^*X,F^*Y)$ is σ -semilinear. We define the category F- \mathcal{A} to be the category of pairs (X', Φ) such that $X' \in \operatorname{Ob}(\mathcal{A})$, and an isomorphism $\Phi: F^*X' \xrightarrow{\sim} X'$ called the Frobenius structure.² Morphisms in F- \mathcal{A} are morphisms in \mathcal{A} respecting Φ . Then the category F- \mathcal{A} is K_0 -additive.

There exists the forgetful functor

for_F:
$$F \cdot \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{A}$$
; $(X', \Phi) \mapsto X'$.

This functor is faithful. For X, Y in F-A, we have a K_0 -linear endomorphism

(1.4.6.1)
$$F: \operatorname{Hom}(\operatorname{for}_F(X), \operatorname{for}_F(Y)) \to \operatorname{Hom}(\operatorname{for}_F(F^*X), \operatorname{for}_F(F^*Y))$$
$$\cong \operatorname{Hom}(\operatorname{for}_F(X), \operatorname{for}_F(Y)),$$

where the last isomorphism is induced by the Frobenius structures of X and Y.

Now, assume that \mathcal{A} is abelian. Then $F \cdot \mathcal{A}$ is abelian as well. Indeed, assume we are given a morphism $f: X \to Y$ in $F \cdot \mathcal{A}$. Then the Frobenius structure on X induces a Frobenius structure on $\operatorname{Ker}(\operatorname{for}_F(f))$, which is the kernel of f. This construction shows that $\operatorname{for}_F(\operatorname{Ker}(f)) \cong \operatorname{for}_F(\operatorname{Ker}(f))$. Replacing Ker by Coker, we get the same result. Thus, we get the claim.

²In [Ber3, 4.5.1], Frobenius structure is defined to be an isomorphism with the opposite direction $\Psi: X' \xrightarrow{\sim} F^*X'$. To be compatible with that of rigid cohomology, we choose the other convention. See footnote (1) in 2.7 of [A1].

The construction shows that for $_{F}$ is an exact functor, and the following diagram is commutative:



Moreover, if $\text{for}_F(X) = 0$, then X = 0. This implies that a sequence C in $F-\mathcal{A}$ is exact if and only if the sequence $\text{for}_F(C)$ is exact.

Finally, let (\mathcal{A}, F) and (\mathcal{B}, G) be K-additive categories with a semilinear endofunctor. Assume we are given a functor $f: \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{B}$ and an equivalence $f \circ F \cong G \circ f$. Then we have a canonical functor $\tilde{f}: F \cdot \mathcal{A} \to G \cdot \mathcal{B}$ such that $f \circ \text{for}_F \cong \text{for}_G \circ \tilde{f}$.

1.4.7. Now, assume further that F^* is an equivalence of categories and that \mathcal{A} is a Grothendieck category. We define

$$(-)_F \colon \mathcal{A} \to F \cdot \mathcal{A}; X \mapsto X_F := \bigoplus_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} (F^*)^n X.$$

Then it can be checked easily that $((-)_F, \operatorname{for}_F)$ is an adjoint pair. Furthermore, $(-)_F$ is exact, since the functor $\operatorname{for}_F \circ (-)_F$ is exact. Thus for_F sends injective objects to injective objects. Filtrant inductive limits are representable in F- \mathcal{A} and commute with for_F . Let G be a generator of \mathcal{A} . Then G_F is a generator of F- \mathcal{A} . Indeed, assume given two morphisms $f, g: X \to Y$ in F- \mathcal{A} . Then there exists $\phi: G \to \operatorname{for}_F(X)$ such that $\phi \circ \operatorname{for}_F(f) \neq \phi \circ \operatorname{for}_F(g)$. By taking the adjoint, we have $\phi_F: G_F \to X$. Then $\phi_F \circ f \neq \phi_F \circ g$ as required. This shows that F- \mathcal{A} is a Grothendieck category as well.

In the following, we often assume:

(*) F^* is an equivalence, and \mathcal{A} is a noetherian category.

This assumption implies that $\operatorname{Ind}(\mathcal{A})$ is a Grothendieck category endowed with semilinear autofunctor F^* . Thus by the result above, the category $F\operatorname{-Ind}(\mathcal{A})$ is a Grothendieck category.

1.4.8. We retain the assumption (*) in 1.4.7. Take X, Y in F-Ind(\mathcal{A}). Then the homomorphism F in (1.4.6.1) is an isomorphism, and Hom $(\text{for}_F(X), \text{for}_F(Y))$ is a $K_0[F^{\pm 1}]$ -module. Here the $K_0[F^{\pm 1}]$ -module structure is defined so that $F \cdot \varphi :=$ $F \circ \varphi \circ F^{-1}$ for $\varphi : \text{for}_F(X) \to \text{for}_F(Y)$. This module is denoted by $\text{Hom}_\rho(X, Y)$. On the other hand, for a $K_0[F^{\pm}]$ -module M and $X = (X', \Phi) \in F$ -Ind(\mathcal{A}), we define $M \otimes_{K_0} X$ in F-Ind(\mathcal{A}) as follows: Write $M = \varinjlim M_i$ as K_0 -vector spaces such that M_i is finite dimensional. As an object in Ind(\mathcal{A}), it is $\varinjlim (M_i \otimes_{K_0} X')$. The Frobenius structure is defined as

$$M \otimes_{K_0} X' \xrightarrow[]{(F \cdot) \otimes \Phi} M \otimes_{K_0} F^* X' \cong F^* (M \otimes_{K_0} X'),$$

where the last isomorphism follows since F^* is an exact functor and thus commutes with the functor $M_i \otimes_{K_0}$. The functor $M \otimes_{K_0}$ is exact. Now, for any $K_0[F^{\pm 1}]$ module M, we have

 $\operatorname{Hom}_{F\operatorname{-Ind}(\mathcal{A})}(M \otimes_{K_0} X, Y) \xrightarrow{\sim} \operatorname{Hom}_{K_0[F^{\pm 1}]}(M, \operatorname{Hom}_{\rho}(X, Y)).$

This shows that if Y is an injective object, $\operatorname{Hom}_{\rho}(X, Y)$ is an injective $K_0[F^{\pm 1}]$ -module.

944

As in [Ha, I.6], for $X, Y \in C(F\text{-Ind}(\mathcal{A}))$, we define a complex of $K_0[F^{\pm 1}]$ -modules $\operatorname{Hom}_{\rho}^{\bullet}(X, Y)$. We can take the derived functor, and we get

$$\mathbb{R}\mathrm{Hom}_{\rho}^{\bullet} \colon D(F\operatorname{-Ind}(\mathcal{A}))^{\circ} \times D^{+}(F\operatorname{-Ind}(\mathcal{A})) \to D(K_{0}[F^{\pm 1}]).$$

Abusing notation, we write $\operatorname{Hom}_{\rho} := \mathbb{R}^0 \operatorname{Hom}_{\rho}^{\bullet}$. Let $\varphi : \operatorname{Spec}(K_0[F^{\pm 1}]) \to \operatorname{Spec}(K_0)$ be the canonical morphism. We have the canonical isomorphism $\varphi_* \operatorname{Hom}_{\rho}(X, Y) \cong$ $\operatorname{Hom}(\operatorname{for}_F(X), \operatorname{for}_F(Y))$ as K_0 -vector spaces.

Lemma. We regard K_0 as a $K_0[F^{\pm}]$ -module such that F acts trivially. For $X, Y \in D(F\operatorname{-Ind}(\mathcal{A}))$ such that $X \in D^-, Y \in D^+$, we have

$$\mathbb{R}\mathrm{Hom}_{K_0[F^{\pm 1}]}(K_0, \mathbb{R}\mathrm{Hom}_{\rho}^{\bullet}(X, Y)) \cong \mathbb{R}\mathrm{Hom}(X, Y).$$

Proof. We have a canonical isomorphism

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{K_0[F^{\pm 1}]}(K_0, \operatorname{Hom}_{\rho}(X, Y)) \cong \operatorname{Hom}(X, Y).$$

Since the functor $\operatorname{Hom}_{\rho}(X, -)$ preserves injective objects, we get the lemma. \Box

For a $K_0[F^{\pm}]$ -module M, we put

$$M^F := \operatorname{Hom}_{K_0[F^{\pm}]}(K_0, M), \qquad M_F := \operatorname{Ext}^1_{K_0[F^{\pm}]}(K_0, M).$$

Corollary. Let $X, Y \in D(F\operatorname{-Ind}(\mathcal{A}))$ such that $X \in D^-$ and $Y \in D^+$. Then there exists the short exact sequence

$$0 \to \operatorname{Hom}_{\rho}(X, Y[-1])_F \to \operatorname{Hom}(X, Y) \to \operatorname{Hom}_{\rho}(X, Y)^F \to 0.$$

1.4.9. Let \mathcal{A} be a K-additive category, and let $F^* \colon \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{A}$ be a σ -semilinear functor. We fix a finite field extension L and an isomorphism $\sigma_L \colon L \to L$ compatible with σ . Put $L_0 := L^{\sigma=1}$. We define $F_L^* \colon \mathcal{A}_L \to \mathcal{A}_L$ as follows: Let $\rho \colon L \to \operatorname{End}(X)$ be an object of \mathcal{A}_L . We have a σ -semilinear homomorphism $F^*(\rho) \colon L \xrightarrow{\rho} \operatorname{End}(X) \to \operatorname{End}(F^*X)$. We put

$$F_L^*(\rho) := F^*(\rho) \circ \sigma_L^{-1} \colon L \to \operatorname{End}(F^*X).$$

This is a homomorphism of K-algebras. We define $F_L^*: \mathcal{A}_L \to \mathcal{A}_L$ by sending (X, ρ) to $(F^*X, F_L^*(\rho))$. The L_0 -additive category F_L - \mathcal{A}_L is sometimes denoted by F- \mathcal{A}_L . The K-additive functors $\iota_L: \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{A}_L$ and for $L: \mathcal{A}_L \to \mathcal{A}$ induce the functors F- $\mathcal{A} \to F_L$ - \mathcal{A}_L and F_L - $\mathcal{A}_L \to F$ - \mathcal{A} which are denoted abusively by ι_L and for L, respectively. We can check that $(\iota_L, \text{for }_L)$ is an adjoint pair, and ι_L is exact. In particular, for L preserves injective objects.

Let \mathcal{B} be another K-additive category endowed with an σ -semilinear endofunctor G^* . Let $f: \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{B}$ be a K-additive functor between K-additive categories compatible with F^* and G^* . Then there exists a unique functor $f_L: F-\mathcal{A}_L \to G-\mathcal{B}_L$ compatible with for L and ι_L .

Remark. Assume that σ and σ_L are identity. Then F- \mathcal{A} is a K-additive category, and it makes sense to consider the category $(F-\mathcal{A})_L$. We leave the reader to check that there exists a canonical equivalence $(F-\mathcal{A})_L \cong F-\mathcal{A}_L$.

Application of the theory.

1.4.10. To work with *p*-adic cohomology theory, we often need to fix a base as in §1.1. Let *R* be a complete discrete valuation ring with residue field *k* which is assumed perfect, and let $K = \operatorname{Frac}(R)$. We assume that there exists a positive integer *s* such that $\sigma: K \xrightarrow{\sim} K$ is the extension of a lifting $R \xrightarrow{\sim} R$ of the *s*-th absolute Frobenius automorphism of *k*. Now, we consider the following two types of data.

- **Geometric case:** We fix a finite field extension L of K, and put $\mathfrak{T}_{\emptyset} := (k, R, K, L)$. This is called a *geometric base tuple*. We put $L_0 := L$ in this case.
- Arithmetic case: We fix a finite field extension L and an automorphism $\sigma: L \to L$ such that $\sigma(K) = K$ and $\sigma|_K$ is a lifting of the s-th Frobenius automorphism of k. We put $\mathfrak{T}_F := (k, R, K, L, s, \sigma)$ and call this an arithmetic base tuple. We put $L_0 := L^{\sigma=1}$. We call the geometric base tuple (k, R, K, L) the associated geometric base tuple.

By "base tuple", we mean either geometric or arithmetic base tuple. For a geometric base tuple, we sometimes put an index \cdot_{\emptyset} , and for arithmetic base tuple, \cdot_F .

Definition. Let X be a realizable scheme over k. The category $\operatorname{Hol}(X/K)$ (cf. 1.1.1) is endowed with the (s-th) Frobenius pullback F^* (cf. Remark 1.1.3). Moreover, F^* induces an auto-equivalence of $\operatorname{Hol}(X/K)$. Thus, we can apply the general results and constructions developed in the preceding paragraphs.

Geometric case: Let \mathfrak{T}_{\emptyset} be a geometric base tuple as above. In this case, we put

$$\begin{aligned} \operatorname{Hol}(X/\mathfrak{T}_{\emptyset}) &:= \operatorname{Hol}(X/K)_{L}, & \operatorname{Isoc}^{\dagger}(X/\mathfrak{T}_{\emptyset}) &:= \operatorname{Isoc}^{\dagger}(X/K)_{L}, \\ M(X/\mathfrak{T}_{\emptyset}) &:= \operatorname{Ind}(\operatorname{Hol}(X/\mathfrak{T}_{\emptyset})), & D(X/\mathfrak{T}_{\emptyset}) &:= D(M(X/\mathfrak{T}_{\emptyset})). \end{aligned}$$

Arithmetic case: Let \mathfrak{T}_F be an arithmetic base tuple, and let \mathfrak{T}_{\emptyset} be the associated geometric tuple. In this case, we put

$$\begin{aligned} \operatorname{Hol}(X/\mathfrak{T}_F) &:= F\operatorname{-Hol}(X/K)_L, & \operatorname{Isoc}^{\dagger}(X/\mathfrak{T}_F) &:= F\operatorname{-Isoc}^{\dagger}(X/K)_L, \\ M(X/\mathfrak{T}_F) &:= F_L\operatorname{-Ind}(\operatorname{Hol}(X/\mathfrak{T}_{\emptyset})), & D(X/\mathfrak{T}_F) &:= D(M(X/\mathfrak{T}_F)). \end{aligned}$$

If there is nothing to be confused, we sometimes omit the base tuple $/\mathfrak{T}_{\emptyset}$ or $/\mathfrak{T}_{F}$. We also denote $\operatorname{Hol}(X/\mathfrak{T}_{\emptyset})$ (resp. $\operatorname{Hol}(X/\mathfrak{T}_{F})$), etc., by $\operatorname{Hol}(X/L_{\emptyset})$ (resp. $\operatorname{Hol}(X/L_{F})$), etc.

Remark. (i) For a realizable scheme over k, recall that $\operatorname{Isoc}^{\dagger}(X/K)$ is slightly smaller than the category of overconvergent isocrystals (cf. 1.1.3). However, our category $\operatorname{Isoc}^{\dagger}(X/K_F)$ coincides with the category of overconvergent F-isocrystals F-Isoc $^{\dagger}(X/K)$ defined in [Ber1, 2.3.7].

(ii) For a scheme X over a field, let us denote by $D_c^{\rm b}(X)$ the category of constructible \mathbb{Q}_{ℓ} -complexes. Let k be a finite field, let \overline{k} be its algebraic closure, and let X be a scheme of finite type over k. Put $\overline{X} := X \otimes_k \overline{k}$. Under the philosophy of the Riemann-Hilbert correspondence, $D_{\rm hol}^{\rm b}(X/L_{\emptyset})$ (resp. $D_{\rm hol}^{\rm b}(X/L_F)$) plays the role of $D_c^{\rm b}(\overline{X})$ (resp. $D_c^{\rm b}(X)$) in p-adic cohomology theory.

Now, note that $D_{\rm c}^{\rm b}(X)$ does not depend on the base field k. On the other hand, a priori, $D_{\rm hol}^{\rm b}(X/L_F)$ depends on \mathfrak{T}_F . However, we show in Corollary 1.4.11 that

the category, in fact, does *not* depend on the choice of the base tuple under some conditions, which reinforces the justification of the analogy.

1.4.11. **Lemma.** (i) Let $\mathfrak{T}'_{\emptyset} = (k', R', K', K')$ be a geometric base tuple over a tuple $\mathfrak{T}_{\emptyset} := (k, R, K, K')$, namely K'/K is a finite extension. Then, there exists a canonical equivalence $\operatorname{Hol}(X \otimes_k k'/\mathfrak{T}'_{\emptyset}) \xrightarrow{\sim} \operatorname{Hol}(X/\mathfrak{T}_{\emptyset})$.

(ii) Let $\mathfrak{T}'_F = (k', R', K', K', s, \sigma)$ be an arithmetic base tuple over a tuple $\mathfrak{T}_F := (k, R, K, K', s, \sigma)$. Then there exists a canonical equivalence $\operatorname{Hol}(X \otimes_k k'/\mathfrak{T}'_F) \xrightarrow{\sim} \operatorname{Hol}(X/\mathfrak{T}_F)$.

Proof. We may reduce to the case where X can be lifted to a smooth formal scheme \mathscr{X} over R. Let $\mathscr{X}' := \mathscr{X} \otimes_R R'$. There exists the functor

$$M(\mathscr{D}^{\dagger}_{\mathscr{X}'/R',\mathbb{Q}}) \to M(\mathscr{D}^{\dagger}_{\mathscr{X}/R,\mathbb{Q}})_{K'},$$

where $M(\mathscr{A})$ denotes the category of \mathscr{A} -modules. It is straightforward to show that this functor induces an equivalence of categories. By Remark 1.1.2, we get (i). Now, the following diagram is commutative:

$$\begin{array}{ccc} M(\mathscr{D}^{\dagger}_{\mathscr{X}'/R',\mathbb{Q}}) & \xrightarrow{\sim} & M(\mathscr{D}^{\dagger}_{\mathscr{X}/R,\mathbb{Q}})_{K'} \\ & & & \downarrow^{F^*} \\ & & & \downarrow^{F^*} \\ M(\mathscr{D}^{\dagger}_{\mathscr{X}'/R',\mathbb{Q}}) & \xrightarrow{\sim} & M(\mathscr{D}^{\dagger}_{\mathscr{X}/R,\mathbb{Q}})_{K'}. \end{array}$$

This diagram implies (ii).

Corollary. Assume k is a finite field with $q = p^s$ -elements. Let K' be a finite extension of K, and put $\mathfrak{T}_F := (k, R, K, K', s, \mathrm{id}), \mathfrak{T}_{K',F} := (k', R', K', K', s' := [k':k] \cdot s, \mathrm{id})$. Let X be a scheme over k'. Then, we have an equivalence of categories

$$\operatorname{Hol}(X/\mathfrak{T}_F) \xrightarrow{\sim} \operatorname{Hol}(X/\mathfrak{T}_{K',F}).$$

Proof. When the extension K'/K is totally ramified, the claim follows from (ii) of the lemma. Thus, we may assume that the extension is unramified. In this case, the verification is essentially the same as [De1, 1.1.10], so we only sketch the proof. Since K'/K is assumed unramified, we have $K' \cong K \otimes_{W(k)} W(k')$. As a scheme over k, we have a canonical isomorphism $X \otimes_k k' \cong \coprod_{\sigma \in \operatorname{Gal}(k'/k)} X^{\sigma}$, where each X^{σ} is canonically isomorphic to X, and the Galois action on k' is compatible in an obvious sense. Put $\mathfrak{T}'_F := (k', R', K', K', s, \operatorname{id})$. Then by the lemma, we get $\operatorname{Hol}(X \otimes_k k'/\mathfrak{T}'_F) \xrightarrow{\sim} \operatorname{Hol}(X/\mathfrak{T}_F)$. There exists $\varphi \in \operatorname{Gal}(k'/k)$ such that, by F, each X^{σ} is sent to $X^{\sigma \cdot \varphi}$. Assume we are given $(\mathscr{M}, \Phi) \in \operatorname{Hol}(X/\mathfrak{T}_{K',F})$. For $0 \leq i < [k':k]$, we put $(F^*)^i(\mathscr{M})$ on X^{φ^i} , which defines \mathscr{N} in $\operatorname{Hol}(X' \otimes_k k'/K')$. The s'-th Frobenius structure Φ defines an s-th Frobenius structure on \mathscr{N} , and defines an object of $\operatorname{Hol}(X/\mathfrak{T}_F)$. It is easy to check that this correspondence yields the equivalence of categories. \Box

1.4.12. **Remark.** (i) Let $\mathfrak{T} := (k, R, K, L)$ and $\mathfrak{T}_0 := (k, W(k), \operatorname{Frac}(W(k)), L)$. Then Lemma 1.4.11 implies that there exists an equivalence $D(X/\mathfrak{T}_0) \cong D(X/\mathfrak{T})$. This implies that the datum K (and R) is unnecessary in defining the category $D(X/L_{\emptyset})$. Similarly, we do not need K in the definition of $D(X/L_F)$.

(ii) In the proof of the Langlands correspondence, it is convenient to work with $\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p$ -coefficient. For this, we use the 2-inductive limit method as in [De1, 1.1.3] to construct the theory. The details will be explained in 2.4.14.

1.4.13. **Definition.** Assume we are in the situation of 1.4.9, and let $X := (X', \Phi)$ be an object of $F \cdot \mathcal{A}_L$. Assume we are given an arithmetic tuple as in 1.4.10. For an integer n, we define $X(n) := (X', p^{-sn} \cdot \Phi)$ and call it the *n*-th Tate twist of X.

1.4.14. Let $\blacktriangle \in \{\emptyset, F\}$. Let $L := \iota_L(K)$ in $\operatorname{Hol}(\operatorname{Spec}(k)/L_{\blacktriangle})$. We have the left exact functor

$$\Gamma: M(\operatorname{Spec}(k)/L_{\blacktriangle}) \to \operatorname{Vec}_{L_0}; \quad \mathscr{M} \mapsto \operatorname{Hom}(L, \mathscr{M})$$

We can take the associated derived functor $\mathbb{R}\Gamma: D^+(\operatorname{Spec}(k)/L_{\blacktriangle}) \to D^+(\operatorname{Vec}_{L_0}).$

1.5. **Trace map.** In order to establish a cycle class formalism, we need the trace map in the style of [SGA4]. In [A1, 5.5], we constructed an isomorphism $f^! \cong f^+(d)[2d]$ for a smooth morphism f of relative dimension d. However, the construction of this homomorphism is ad hoc, and it does not seem to be easy to check the properties that the trace map should satisfy, for example, transitivity. Furthermore, we need the trace maps for flat morphisms to define the cycle class map.

1.5.1. We fix $\blacktriangle \in \{\emptyset, F\}$, and we fix a base tuple $\mathfrak{T} := \mathfrak{T}_{\blacktriangle}$ using the notation of 1.4.10 in this subsection. Let X be a realizable scheme over k. We only treat the L = K case in this subsection. This will be generalized in Theorem 2.3.34. When $\blacktriangle = \emptyset$, we denote $D^{\mathrm{b}}(X/K_{\emptyset})$ simply by $D^{\mathrm{b}}(X)$, in which case the Tate twist (n) is the identity functor. When $\blacktriangle = F$, we denote $D^{\mathrm{b}}(X/K_F)$ by $D^{\mathrm{b}}(X)$. The main result of this subsection is the following theorem on the existence of the trace map:

Theorem. Let $f: X \to Y$ be a morphism between realizable schemes over k. Let \mathfrak{M}_d be the following set of morphisms of realizable schemes, and let $\mathfrak{M} := \bigcup_{d>0} \mathfrak{M}_d$.

There exists an open subscheme $U \subset Y$ such that $X \times_Y U \to U$ is flat of relative dimension d, and for each $x \in Y \setminus U$, the dimension of $f^{-1}(x)$ is < d.

Then there exists a unique homomorphism $\operatorname{Tr}_f: f_!f^+\mathscr{F}(d)[2d] \to \mathscr{F}$ for any \mathscr{F} in $D^{\mathrm{b}}_{\mathrm{hol}}(Y)$, called the trace map, satisfying the following conditions.

(Var 1) Tr_{f} is functorial with respect to \mathscr{F} .

(Var 2) Consider the cartesian diagram (1.1.3.1) of realizable schemes. Assume $f \in \mathfrak{M}_d$. Then the following diagram is commutative:

948

(Var 3) Let $X \xrightarrow{g} Y \xrightarrow{f} Z$ be morphisms of realizable schemes such that $f \in \mathfrak{M}_d$ and $g \in \mathfrak{M}_e$. Then the following diagram is commutative:

(Var 4-I) Let $f \in \mathfrak{M}_0$ be a finite locally free morphism of rank n. Then the composition

$$\mathscr{F} \to f_+ f^+ \mathscr{F} \xleftarrow{\sim} f_! f^+ \mathscr{F} \xrightarrow{\operatorname{Tr}_f} \mathscr{F}$$

is the multiplication by n.

(Var 4-II) When X and Y can be lifted to a proper smooth formal scheme and f can be lifted to a smooth morphism of relative dimension 1 between them, then the trace map is the one defined in 1.5.11 below.

(Var 5) The following diagram is commutative:

where the upper horizontal homomorphism is the projection formula 1.1.3 (9).

1.5.2. Even though there are many technical differences, the idea of the construction of a trace map is essentially the same as that in [SGA4, XVIII]. Let us start to construct the trace map. First, we list direct consequences from the requested properties.

- (1) By (Var 5), it suffices to construct the trace map for $\mathscr{F} = K_Y$.
- (2) By assumption, for $\mathscr{F} \in \operatorname{Con}(X)$, we have ${}^{c}\mathscr{H}^{i}f_{!}f^{+}\mathscr{F} = 0$ for i > 2d by Lemma 1.3.8. Thus, we have an isomorphism $\operatorname{Hom}(f_{!}f^{+}\mathscr{F}(d)[2d],\mathscr{F}) \cong \operatorname{Hom}({}^{c}\mathscr{H}^{2d}f_{!}f^{+}\mathscr{F}(d),\mathscr{F}).$
- (3) Assume that we have already constructed the trace map when Y is a point. Then by (1), (2) above, Lemma 1.3.7 (i) and the base change property, extensions of this trace map to the general situation are unique, if they exist.
- (4) Assume $f = f \amalg f' \colon X' \coprod X'' \to Y$, and assume Tr_f and $\operatorname{Tr}_{f'}$ have already been constructed. Then, by the same argument as [SGA4, XVII, 6.2.3.1], $\operatorname{Tr}_f = \operatorname{Tr}_{f'} + \operatorname{Tr}_{f''}$.
- (5) If f is a universal homeomorphism, then the canonical homomorphism

$$\alpha \colon \mathscr{F} \to f_+ f^+ \mathscr{F} \xleftarrow{\sim} f_! f^+ \mathscr{F}$$

is an isomorphism by Lemma 1.1.3. By (Var 4-I), we have $\operatorname{Tr}_f := \operatorname{deg}(f) \cdot \alpha^{-1}$.

TOMOYUKI ABE

(6) Consider the cartesian diagram (1.1.3.1) of realizable schemes. Then the compatibility (Var 2) is equivalent to the commutativity of one of the following diagrams:

where Tr^{ad} denotes the adjoint of the trace map, and the vertical arrows are the base change homomorphisms. The verification is standard using the diagram of 1.1.6.

1.5.3. Lemma. Let $f: X \to Y$ be a morphism of realizable schemes of relative dimension $\leq d$. Let $\{U_i\}$ be a finite open covering of X, and let $U_{ij} := U_i \cap U_j$. For $\star \in \{i, ij\}$, we put $u_\star: U_\star \to X$, and $f_\star: U_\star \hookrightarrow X \xrightarrow{f} Y$. Then for $\mathscr{F} \in \operatorname{Con}(X)$, the following sequence is exact:

$$\bigoplus_{i,j} {}^{\mathbf{c}}\mathscr{H}^{2d} f_{ij!} u_{ij}^{+} \mathscr{F} \rightrightarrows \bigoplus_{i} {}^{\mathbf{c}} \mathscr{H}^{2d} f_{i!} u_{i}^{+} \mathscr{F} \to {}^{\mathbf{c}} \mathscr{H}^{2d} f_{!} \mathscr{F} \to 0$$

Proof. By Lemma 1.3.8, ${}^{c}\mathscr{H}^{2d}f_{!}$ is right exact, and the claim of the lemma follows by applying this functor to the exact sequence in Lemma 1.3.9.

1.5.4. First, let \mathfrak{M}_{et} be the set of étale morphisms between realizable schemes. We show the theorem for \mathfrak{M}_{et} instead of \mathfrak{M} . By 1.5.2 (3), combining with 1.5.2 (4), (5), and Lemma 1.3.7 (ii), if the trace maps exist for morphisms in \mathfrak{M}_{et} , then they are unique. We show the following lemma:

Lemma. For $f \in \mathfrak{M}_{et}$, there exists a unique trace map $f_!f^+\mathcal{M} \to \mathcal{M}$ for $\mathcal{M} \in D^{\mathrm{b}}_{\mathrm{hol}}(Y)$ satisfying the properties (Var 1, 2, 3, 4-I, 5) if we replace \mathfrak{M} by \mathfrak{M}_{et} . Moreover, the homomorphism $f^+(\mathcal{M}) \to f^!(\mathcal{M})$ defined by taking the adjoint is an isomorphism.

The proof is divided into several parts, and it is given in 1.5.7.

1.5.5. **Lemma** (Smooth base change for open immersion). Consider the following cartesian diagram:

$$\begin{array}{c|c} U' \xrightarrow{j'} X' \xleftarrow{i'} Z' \\ g' & \Box & \downarrow^g \Box & \downarrow^{g'} \\ U \xrightarrow{j} X \xleftarrow{i} Z. \end{array}$$

Assume g is smooth, j is an open immersion, and i is the closed immersion defined by the complement. Then the base change homomorphisms $g^+j_+(\mathscr{M}) \to j'_+g'^+(\mathscr{M})$ and $g''^+i^!(\mathscr{M}) \to i'^!g^+(\mathscr{M})$ are isomorphisms for any \mathscr{M} in $D^{\mathrm{bol}}_{\mathrm{hol}}(U)$.

Proof. By the localization triangle $i_+i^! \to \mathrm{id} \to j_+j^+ \xrightarrow{+1}$, it suffices to show only the first isomorphism. Obviously, if we restrict the base change homomorphism to U', the homomorphism is an isomorphism. Thus, by the localization triangle,

it suffices to show that $i'^{!}g^{+}j_{+}\mathcal{M} = 0$. Since the verification is Zariski local with respect to X', we may assume that g is factored into an étale morphism followed by the projection $\mathbb{A}^{n}_{X} \to X$. We can treat étale and projection cases separately. Thus, using [EGAIV, 18.4.6], we may assume that there is a smooth morphism $\mathcal{P}' \to \mathcal{P}$ of smooth formal schemes and a closed embedding $X \hookrightarrow \mathcal{P}$ such that $X' \cong X \times_{\mathcal{P}} \mathcal{P}'$. Then we may use [Ber2, 4.3.12] and [A1, Theorem 5.5] to conclude.

Corollary (Smooth base change). Consider the diagram of realizable schemes (1.1.3.1). Assume that g is smooth. Then the base change homomorphism $g^+ \circ f_+ \to f'_+ \circ g'^+$ is an isomorphism.

Proof. We may factor f as $X \xrightarrow{j} \overline{X} \xrightarrow{p} Y$, where j is an open immersion and p is proper. The base change for p is the proper base change theorem (cf. 1.1.3 (8)), and that for j is the lemma above.

1.5.6. First, suppose that Y is smooth liftable purely of dimension d, and suppose f is affine. In this case let us construct an isomorphism $f^+K_Y \xrightarrow{\sim} f^!K_Y$. By taking the dual, it is equivalent to constructing $f^+K_Y^{\omega} \xrightarrow{\sim} f^!K_Y^{\omega}$ (cf. 1.1.4 for K_{\star}^{ω}). Let \mathscr{Y} be a smooth lifting of Y. Since the étale site of Y and \mathscr{Y} are equivalent, there exists the following cartesian diagram where \mathscr{X} and \mathscr{Y} are smooth formal schemes and X and Y are special fibers:



By [Ca3, 4.1.8, 4.1.9, 4.3.5] and [A1, 3.12], we have canonical isomorphisms

$$\mathbb{D}_{\mathscr{X}} \circ \widetilde{f}^! \circ \mathbb{D}_{\mathscr{Y}}(\mathrm{sp}_+(\mathcal{O}_{\mathscr{Y}_K})) \cong \mathrm{sp}_+\big((\widetilde{f}^*(\mathcal{O}_{\mathscr{Y}_K}^{\vee}(-d)))^{\vee}(-d)\big) \cong \mathrm{sp}_+(\mathcal{O}_{\mathscr{X}_K}).$$

This gives us a canonical isomorphism

$$\rho_f \colon \widetilde{f}^+ \mathcal{O}_{\mathscr{Y}, \mathbb{Q}} \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathcal{O}_{\mathscr{X}, \mathbb{Q}} \cong \widetilde{f}^! \mathcal{O}_{\mathscr{Y}, \mathbb{Q}}.$$

By Kedlaya's full faithfulness [Ke1], ρ_f extends to the desired isomorphism. Taking the adjoint, we get a homomorphism $t_{\mathscr{Y}}: K_Y^{\omega} \to f_+ f^! K_Y^{\omega}$. We need the lemma below to show that $t_{\mathscr{Y}}$, in fact, does not depend on the choice of \mathscr{Y} .

Remark. We remark that for an isocrystal M, the following diagram is commutative:



To check this, by definition (cf. [Ca1, 2.2.12]), it suffices to check the commutativity for $M \cong \mathcal{O}_{\mathscr{Y},\mathbb{O}}$. Then it is reduced to the commutativity of the following diagram of complexes, whose verification is easy:

Let \mathscr{M} be a holonomic module on Y. By definition, there exists a smooth proper formal scheme \mathscr{P} such that \mathscr{M} can be realized as a $\mathscr{D}^{\dagger}_{\mathscr{P},\mathbb{Q}}$ -module $\mathscr{M}_{\mathscr{P}}$. There exists an immersion (not necessarily closed) $i: \mathscr{Y} \hookrightarrow \mathscr{P}$. Then the $\mathscr{D}^{\dagger}_{\mathscr{Y},\mathbb{Q}}$ -module $i^!(\mathscr{M}_{\mathscr{P}})$ (which is overholonomic and canonically isomorphic to $i^+(\mathscr{M}_{\mathscr{P}})$) is denoted by $\mathscr{M} \parallel_{\mathscr{Y}}$ for a moment. This module does not depend on the auxiliary choices up to canonical equivalence.

Lemma. The following diagram is commutative:

Proof. First, let us show the lemma when f is finite étale of rank n. Since \tilde{f} is finite étale, we can identify \tilde{f}_+ and $\tilde{f}^!$ by \tilde{f}_* and \tilde{f}^* , respectively, if we consider the underlying $\mathcal{O}_{\mathscr{Y},\mathbb{Q}}$ -module structure. In the following, for simplicity, we do not make any difference between \tilde{f} and f. In this case, the right vertical homomorphism is, in fact, isomorphic. Let \mathscr{F} be an $\mathcal{O}_{\mathscr{Y},\mathbb{Q}}$ -module, and let $\iota: f_*(f^*\mathscr{F})^{\vee} \to (f_*f^*\mathscr{F})^{\vee}$ be the homomorphism sending φ to $\operatorname{Tr}_f \circ \varphi$, where $\operatorname{Tr}_f: f_*f^*\mathcal{O}_{\mathscr{Y}} \to \mathcal{O}_{\mathscr{Y}}$ is the classical trace map. If \mathscr{F} is a locally free $\mathcal{O}_{\mathscr{Y},\mathbb{Q}}$ -module, ι is an isomorphism. We have the following diagram, where we omit sp_+ and the subscripts \mathbb{Q} :

Here the vertical morphisms are isomorphic. This diagram is commutative. The commutativity of the left and right square immediately follows by definition. To check the commutativity for the middle one, we need to go back to the definition, which is [V1, IV.1.3]. We note that since f is finite étale, the trace map $f_+\mathcal{O}_{\mathscr{X},\mathbb{Q}} \to \mathcal{O}_{\mathscr{U},\mathbb{Q}}$ defined in [V1, III.5.1] is equal to Tr_f via the identification $f_+\mathcal{O}_{\mathscr{X},\mathbb{Q}} \cong f_*\mathcal{O}_{\mathscr{X},\mathbb{Q}}$. Since the commutativity is standard routine work, we leave the details to the reader. Now, the verification of the lemma in the finite étale case is reduced to showing the composition of the lower row is the adjunction homomorphism. This is easy.

In general, there exists an open dense formal subscheme $j: \mathscr{U} \subset \mathscr{Y}$ such that $f': \mathscr{X}' := \mathscr{X} \times_{\mathscr{Y}} \mathscr{U} \to \mathscr{U}$ is finite étale. Put $j': \mathscr{X}' \hookrightarrow \mathscr{X}$. Then by [Ber2, 4.3.10], we have an injection $K_X^{\omega} \hookrightarrow j'_+ K_{X'}^{\omega}$ where X' is the special fiber of \mathscr{X}' . Since f

is affine, f_+ is exact, and the homomorphism $f_+f'K_Y^{\omega} \to j_+f'_+f''K_U^{\omega}$ is injective. Consider the following diagram where we omit $\|_{\mathscr{Y}}$:



The diagram is known to be commutative except for the forehead square diagram. By the injectivity of \star , the desired commutativity follows by the commutativity of other faces.

The trace map satisfies the base change property; namely, considering the cartesian diagram of (1.1.3.1) such that Y and Y' possess liftings $\mathscr{Y}, \mathscr{Y}'$, then the diagram of (Var 2) is commutative if we replace $\operatorname{Tr}_{f^{(\prime)}}$ by the dual of $t_{\mathscr{Y}^{(\prime)}}$. To check this, it suffices to check the dual of the base change property for $t_{\mathscr{Y}}: K_{Y}^{\omega} \to f_{+}f^{!}K_{Y}^{\omega}$. By using [Ber2, 4.3.10], it suffices to show the base change property after taking $\|_{\mathscr{Y}}$. The lemma above reduces the verification to the base change property for the adjunction homomorphism $\mathcal{O}_{\mathscr{Y},\mathbb{Q}} \to f_{*}f^{*}\mathcal{O}_{\mathscr{Y},\mathbb{Q}}$ which follows by the base change property of coherent $\mathcal{O}_{\mathscr{Y},\mathbb{Q}}$ -modules. The transitivity can also be checked by a similar argument.

This implies that $t_{\mathscr{Y}}$ does not depend on the choice of \mathscr{Y} . Indeed, when Y is a point, all smooth liftings of Y are canonically isomorphic, and $t_{\mathscr{Y}}$ does not depend on the choice. In general, by the base change property and the uniqueness mentioned at the beginning of 1.5.4 shows that $t_{\mathscr{Y}}$ depends only on Y. This justifies denoting the dual of $t_{\mathscr{Y}}$ by $\operatorname{Tr}_f: f_!f^+K_Y \to K_Y$.

1.5.7. Proof of Lemma 1.5.4. Let us construct the trace map for a general étale morphism. Assume that we have the following cartesian diagram D:



where \widetilde{Y} is smooth liftable, g is affine étale, and the horizontal morphisms are closed immersions. We have the following uncompleted diagram of solid arrows:



The left vertical homomorphism is an isomorphism by transitivity, and the dotted homomorphism is defined so that the diagram commutes. By taking the adjoint, the dotted arrow gives us a homomorphism $\operatorname{Tr}_D: f_!f^+K_Y \to K_Y$. Let us check that Tr_D does not depend on the choice of D. If Y is liftable, Tr_D coincides with the trace map Tr_f (for liftable schemes) by the base change property of the trace map for liftable schemes we have already checked. In particular, for a closed point $i_s: s \to Y, i_s^+\operatorname{Tr}_D$ coincides with the trace map for the liftable schemes $X \times_Y s \to s$. By the uniqueness at the beginning of 1.5.4, Tr_D does not depend on the choice of diagram D, and we are allowed to denote Tr_D by Tr_f . This also shows the base change and transitivity property of Tr_f when the homomorphisms in the diagrams of (Var 2) and (Var 3) are defined.

In general, we can take a diagram D locally on X and Y. By using Lemma 1.5.3, we can glue, and get the desired trace map $f_!f^+K_Y \to K_Y$ similarly to [SGA4, XVIII, 2.9 c)], and check that this is the desired trace map. The details are left to the reader.

Finally, let us show that $f^+(\mathscr{F}) \cong f^!(\mathscr{F})$ for $\mathscr{F} \in D^{\mathrm{b}}_{\mathrm{hol}}(Y)$. By (Var 5), the trace map for \mathscr{F} should be

$$f_!f^+\mathscr{F}\cong f_!f^+K_Y\otimes\mathscr{F}\xrightarrow{\operatorname{Tr}_f}\mathscr{F}.$$

This map satisfies (Var 1)–(Var 4) since they hold for $\mathscr{F} = K_Y$. Taking the adjunction, we have a homomorphism $f^+(\mathscr{F}) \to f^!(\mathscr{F})$. When Y is a point, this is easy. Let $s \in Y$ be a closed point, and consider the following diagram:



By the compatibility of trace map by base change, the following diagram is commutative:

$$\begin{array}{ccc} i'_{s}^{+}f^{+}(\mathscr{F}) \longrightarrow i'_{s}^{+}f^{!}\mathscr{F} \\ \sim & & \downarrow \\ f^{+}_{s}i^{+}_{s}(\mathscr{F}) \longrightarrow f^{!}_{s}i^{+}_{s}(\mathscr{F}). \end{array}$$

By (the dual of) smooth base change in Corollary 1.5.5, the right vertical homomorphism is an isomorphism and, by the point case, the bottom horizontal homomorphism is an isomorphism as well. Thus by [AC1, 1.3.11], the claim follows. \Box

1.5.8. Let us construct the trace map for quasi-finite flat morphism. We follow the construction of [SGA4, XVII, 6.2]. Let $f: X \to Y$ be a quasi-finite flat morphism. For an étale morphism $U \to Y$, we consider the category $\Psi_f(U)$ defined as follows: objects consist of collections $(V_i)_{i \in I}$, where I is a pointed finite set with the marked point $0 \in I$ and a decomposition $X \times_Y U = \coprod_{i \in I} V_i$ such that $V_i \to U$ is finite for $i \neq 0$. We denote by $I^* := I \setminus \{0\}$. A morphism from $\varphi = (V_i)_{i \in I}$ to $\varphi' = (V'_i)_{i \in I'}$ is a map $\sigma: I \to I'$ such that $\sigma(0) = 0$ and $V_i = \bigcup_{j \in \sigma^{-1}(i)} V'_j$. For a morphism $U \to V$ in Y_{et} , there exists the obvious functor $\Psi_f(V) \to \Psi_f(U)$, and $\Psi_f(U)$ is a fibered category over Y_{et} . This category is denoted by Ψ_f , and an object of the fiber over $U \in Y_{\text{et}}$ is denoted by $\{U; (V_i)_{i \in I}\}$. We refer to [SGA4] for details.

Lemma. Let $\mathscr{F} \in \operatorname{Con}(Y)$. Then there exists a canonical isomorphism

$$\tau_f \colon \varinjlim_{\{U;\varphi\} \in \Psi_f} j_{U!} j_U^+ \mathscr{F}^{I^*} \xrightarrow{\sim} f_! f^+ \mathscr{F},$$

where $j_U: U \to Y$ is the étale morphism.

Remark. Before proving the lemma, we remark that the inductive system is *not* filtrant.

Proof. The verification is essentially the same as [SGA4]. Let us construct the homomorphism. Take $\varphi = \{U; (V_i)_{i \in I}\}$. Let $j_i \colon V_i \to X$ be the étale morphism. Since $f_i \colon V_i \to U$ is assumed finite for $i \in I^*$, we have the following homomorphism for $\mathscr{G} \in \operatorname{Con}(U)$:

$$\mathscr{G} \to f_{i+}f_i^+(\mathscr{G}) \xleftarrow{\sim} f_{i!}f_i^+(\mathscr{G}).$$

By using the trace map in Lemma 1.5.4, we get the homomorphism

$$j_{U!}j_U^+(\mathscr{F}) \to j_{U!}f_{i!}f_i^+j_U^+(\mathscr{F}) \cong f_!j_{i!}j_i^+f^+(\mathscr{F}) \xrightarrow{\operatorname{Tr}_{j_i}} f_!f^+(\mathscr{F}),$$

which induces the homomorphism in the statement.

Now, by 1.2.2 (4), it suffices to show that the homomorphism is an isomorphism in $\operatorname{Ind}(\operatorname{Con}(X))$. When f is a universal homeomorphism, the canonical homomorphism $\mathscr{F} \to f_! f^+ \mathscr{F}$ is an isomorphism by Lemma 1.1.3. Assume Y =: s is a point. There is a separable extension $s' \to s$ such that $X \times s' \to s'$ is disjoint union of universal homeomorphisms. Thus, the lemma follows by Lemma 1.3.10 (ii).

Let s be a closed point of Y. Put $i_s : s \to Y$ to be closed immersion. Since i_s^+ is an exact functor and commutes with direct sum, it commutes with arbitrary inductive limits. Thus, we have

$$i_s^+ (\varinjlim_{\Psi_f} j_{U!} \mathscr{F}^{I^*}) \cong \varinjlim_{\Psi_f} i_s^+ j_{U!} \mathscr{F}^{I^*}.$$

Let $f_s: X \times_Y s \to s$. There exists a functor $\Psi_f \to \Psi_{f_s}$. This functor is cofinal by [EGAIV, 18.12.1]. Then by Lemma 1.5.4, $i_s^+ \tau_f \cong \tau_{f_s}$, and by the proven case where Y is a point, $i_s^+ \tau_f$ is an isomorphism. By Lemma 1.3.10 (i), this implies that τ_f is an isomorphism, as required.

1.5.9. Let $f: X \to Y$ be a quasi-finite flat morphism between realizable schemes. Let us construct the unique trace map $f_!f^+K_Y \to K_Y$ satisfying (Var 1,2,3,4-I). When f is étale, we remark that this trace map coincides with that of Lemma 1.5.4 by uniqueness. The construction is the same as [SGA4, XVII, 6.2], so we only sketch the proof.

Let Ψ'_f be the full subcategory of Ψ_f consisting of $\{U; (V_i)_{i \in I}\}$ such that V_i is locally free of constant rank over U for any $i \neq 0$. This category is cofinal in Ψ_f . For each $\{U; (V_i)_{i \in I}\} \in \Psi'_f$, we have a homomorphism

$$\sum_{i \in I^*} \deg(V_i/U) \cdot \operatorname{Tr}_{j_U} : j_U! j_U^+(K_Y^{I^*}) \to K_Y.$$

Since the compatibility follows by that of Lemma 1.5.4, this homomorphism induces

$$f_! f^+ K_Y \xleftarrow{\sim} \varinjlim_{\varphi \in \Psi'_f} j_U! j_U^+ K_Y^{I^*} \to K_Y.$$

It is easy to check that this is what we are looking for.

1.5.10. **Lemma.** Let $f: X \to Y$ be the special fiber of a finite étale morphism between smooth formal curves $\tilde{f}: \mathscr{X} \to \mathscr{Y}$. By taking the dual of the trace map, we get $K_Y^{\omega} \to f_+K_X^{\omega}$. When we restrict this homomorphism to \mathscr{Y} (i.e., taking $\|_{\mathscr{Y}}$ of 1.5.6), this dual of trace map is nothing but the homomorphism induced by the adjunction homomorphism $\phi_{\tilde{f}}: \mathcal{O}_{\mathscr{Y},\mathbb{Q}} \to \tilde{f}_*\mathcal{O}_{\mathscr{X},\mathbb{Q}}$ with the identification $\tilde{f}_*\mathcal{O}_{\mathscr{X},\mathbb{Q}} \cong$ $\tilde{f}_+\mathcal{O}_{\mathscr{X},\mathbb{Q}}$.

Proof. We may assume \mathscr{X} and \mathscr{Y} to be connected. Let $L_{\mathscr{X}}$, $L_{\mathscr{X}}$ be the largest finite extension of K in \mathscr{X} , \mathscr{Y} . If $L_{\mathscr{X}} \neq L_{\mathscr{Y}}$, then \tilde{f} factors as

$$\mathscr{X} \xrightarrow{\alpha} \mathscr{Y} \otimes_{R_{\mathscr{X}}} R_{\mathscr{X}} \xrightarrow{\beta} \mathscr{Y},$$

where R_{\star} denotes the ring of integers of L_{\star} , and it suffices to show the lemma for α and β separately. The verification for β is easy. Let us show that for α . In this case, we let $L_{\mathscr{X}} = L_{\mathscr{Y}} =: L$.

Since the formal schemes are curves, by Kedlaya's full faithfulness theorem [Ke1], the homomorphism $\mathcal{O}_{\mathscr{Y},\mathbb{Q}} \to \tilde{f}_+ \mathcal{O}_{\mathscr{X},\mathbb{Q}}$ induced by $\phi_{\tilde{f}}$ extends uniquely to the homomorphism $\phi: K_Y^{\omega} \to f_+ K_X^{\omega}$. We have

$$\operatorname{Hom}(K_Y^{\omega}, f_+ f^! K_Y^{\omega}) \cong \operatorname{Hom}(f^+ K_Y^{\omega}, f^! K_Y^{\omega}) \sim \operatorname{Hom}(K_X^{\omega}, K_X^{\omega}) \cong L,$$

where \sim is the isomorphism induced by [A1, Theorem 5.5] since \mathscr{X} and \mathscr{Y} are smooth. Thus, there exists $c \in L$ such that $c \cdot \phi = \mathbb{D}(\mathrm{Tr}_f)$. It remains to show that c = 1. By definition, the composition $K_Y \to f_! f^+ K_Y \xrightarrow{\mathrm{Tr}_f} K_Y$ is the multiplication by $n := \deg(f)$. Take the dual of this homomorphism, and we get

$$n\colon K_Y^{\omega} \xrightarrow{\mathbb{D}(\mathrm{Tr}_f)} f_+ f^! K_Y^{\omega} \xrightarrow{\mathrm{Tr}_f^{\mathrm{Vir}}} K_Y^{\omega},$$

where the second homomorphism is the trace map of [V1]. On the other hand, by property of $\operatorname{Tr}_{f}^{\operatorname{Vir}}$ (cf. [V1, III.5.4]), we get $\operatorname{Tr}_{f}^{\operatorname{Vir}} \circ \phi = n$. Thus c = 1 since $\operatorname{Hom}(K_{Y}^{\omega}, K_{Y}^{\omega}) \cong L$.

1.5.11. Let $f: \mathscr{X} \to \mathscr{Y}$ be a proper smooth morphism of relative dimension 1 between smooth proper formal schemes. The homomorphism of rings $\mathcal{O}_{\mathscr{Y},\mathbb{Q}} \to f_*\mathcal{O}_{\mathscr{X},\mathbb{Q}}$ induces the homomorphism

(1.5.11.1)
$$\mathcal{O}_{\mathscr{Y},\mathbb{Q}} \to \mathbb{R}f_*\left[0 \to \mathcal{O}_{\mathscr{X},\mathbb{Q}} \to \Omega^1_{\mathscr{X}/\mathscr{Y},\mathbb{Q}} \to 0\right]$$

in $D(\mathscr{D}_{\mathscr{Y},\mathbb{Q}}^{\dagger})$. Since the target of the homomorphism is canonically isomorphic to $f_{+}\mathcal{O}_{\mathscr{X},\mathbb{Q}}[-1]$, we have a homomorphism $\alpha_{f} \colon \mathcal{O}_{\mathscr{Y},\mathbb{Q}}(1)[2] \to f_{+}f^{!}\mathcal{O}_{\mathscr{Y},\mathbb{Q}}$. By [A1, 3.14] and Remark 1.1.3 (iii), this homomorphism is compatible with the Frobenius structure when $\blacktriangle = F$. This trace map only depends on the special fibers because the unit element is sent to the unit element by a ring homomorphism. Thus, we have a homomorphism $K_{Y}^{\omega}(1)[2] \to f_{+}f^{!}K_{Y}^{\omega}$. By construction, this homomorphism is compatible with base change; namely, given a morphism of proper smooth formal schemes $g \colon \mathscr{Y}' \to \mathscr{Y}$ such that $d := \dim(\mathscr{Y}') - \dim(\mathscr{Y})$, let $f' \colon \mathscr{X}' := \mathscr{X} \times_{\mathscr{Y}} \mathscr{Y}'$. Then the following diagram is commutative:

$$\begin{array}{c} \mathcal{O}_{\mathscr{Y}',\mathbb{Q}}(1)[2] \xrightarrow{\sim} g^! \mathcal{O}_{\mathscr{Y},\mathbb{Q}}(1)[2-d] \\ & \alpha_{f'} \\ & & \downarrow g^! \alpha_f \\ f'_+ f'^! \mathcal{O}_{\mathscr{Y}',\mathbb{Q}} \xrightarrow{\sim} g^! f_+ f^! \mathcal{O}_{\mathscr{Y},\mathbb{Q}}[-d], \end{array}$$
where the horizontal homomorphisms are canonical homomorphisms. By taking the dual, we get the *trace map* $\operatorname{Tr}_f: f_!f^+K_Y(1)[2] \to K_Y$. This trace map is compatible with pullback g^+ where g is a morphism between liftable proper smooth schemes.

Let us consider the case where \mathscr{Y} is a point. Consider a commutative diagram:



where \mathscr{U} is dense open in \mathscr{X} . Put $Z := X \setminus U$ where X, U are the special fibers of \mathscr{X}, \mathscr{U} , and assume Z is a divisor of X. Then we have an injection

(1.5.11.2)
$$\mathscr{H}^{-2}g_+g^!K \cong \mathscr{H}^{-1}f_+\mathcal{O}_{\mathscr{X},\mathbb{Q}}(^{\dagger}Z) \hookrightarrow \mathscr{H}^{-1}g_+\mathcal{O}_{\mathscr{U},\mathbb{Q}}.$$

1.5.12. *Proof of Theorem* 1.5.1. Now, we construct the trace map. We need several steps for the construction.

(i) **Absolute curve case**. Let $f: X \to \operatorname{Spec}(k)$ be a realizable variety. We put $H^i_{c}(X) := \operatorname{Hom}(K, f_!(K_X)[i])$. Now, assume X to be a curve, and let us construct the trace map. First, let us construct the trace map when X_{red} is smooth and irreducible. Let $\iota: X_{\operatorname{red}} \to X$ be the closed immersion, and let $f': \overline{X}_{\operatorname{red}} \to \operatorname{Spec}(k)$ be the smooth compactification of X_{red} . We have already defined $\operatorname{Tr}_{f'}$ in 1.5.11. We define

$$\operatorname{Tr}_{f} \colon H^{2}_{c}(X)(1) \xrightarrow{\operatorname{lg}(\mathcal{O}_{X,\eta}) \cdot \iota^{*}} H^{2}_{c}(X_{\operatorname{red}})(1) \xrightarrow{\sim} H^{2}_{c}(\overline{X}_{\operatorname{red}})(1) \xrightarrow{\operatorname{Tr}_{f'}} K.$$

In general, we may take an open dense subscheme $U \subset X$ such that U_{red} is smooth. Then we have the canonical isomorphism $H^2_c(U) \xrightarrow{\sim} H^2_c(X)$ by Lemma 1.3.8. Let $U = \prod_{i \in I} U_i$ be the decomposition into connected components. Then we define

$$\operatorname{Tr}_f \colon H^2_{\mathrm{c}}(X)(1) \xrightarrow{\sim} H^2_{\mathrm{c}}(U)(1) \cong \bigoplus_{i \in I} H^2_{\mathrm{c}}(U_i)(1) \xrightarrow{\sum \operatorname{Tr}_{f|_{U_i}}} K$$

Lemma. Let $X \xrightarrow{f} Y \xrightarrow{g} \operatorname{Spec}(k)$ be a morphism of realizable schemes such that f is a quasi-finite flat morphism and g is of relative dimension 1. Then we have

$$\operatorname{Tr}_{g \circ f} = \operatorname{Tr}_{g} \circ g_!(\operatorname{Tr}_f) \colon (g \circ f)_! K_X(1)[2] \to K.$$

Proof. Arguing as [SGA4, XVIII, 1.1.5], we may assume that X and Y are connected smooth affine, and f factors as $X \xrightarrow{F} X' \xrightarrow{f'} Y$, where F is an iterated relative Frobenius endomorphism and f' is a finite étale morphism. It suffices to check the equality for F and f' individually. For F, the claim follows since $\operatorname{Tr}_{g \circ f}$ is compatible with Frobenius structure. It remains to check the lemma when f is finite and étale. Since X and Y are assumed to be smooth and affine, there exist smooth liftings $\mathscr{X} \xrightarrow{\tilde{f}} \mathscr{Y} \to \operatorname{Spf}(R)$ such that \tilde{f} is finite flat. In this case, it suffices to check the transitivity after removing the boundary by the injectivity of (1.5.11.2), and the lemma follows by Lemma 1.5.10 and the definition of (1.5.11.1).

(ii) **Relative affine space case**. Let Y be a realizable scheme, and consider the projection $f: X := \mathbb{P}^1_Y \to Y$. There exists a proper smooth formal scheme \mathscr{P} such that $Y \hookrightarrow \mathscr{P}$. Then f can be lifted to the following cartesian diagram:

$$\begin{array}{c} \mathbb{P}^1_Y & \longrightarrow & \widehat{\mathbb{P}}^1_{\mathscr{P}} \\ f & & & & \downarrow \\ f & & & & \downarrow \\ Y & \longrightarrow & \mathscr{P}. \end{array}$$

We define the trace map

$$\operatorname{Tr}_{f} \colon f_{!}f^{+}K_{Y}(1)[2] \cong i^{+}\widetilde{f}_{!}\widetilde{f}^{+}K_{\mathscr{P}}(1)[2] \xrightarrow{i^{+}\operatorname{Tr}_{\widetilde{f}}} i^{+}K_{\mathscr{P}} \cong K_{Y},$$

where $\operatorname{Tr}_{\widetilde{f}}$ is the one defined in 1.5.11. This map does not depend on the choice of \mathscr{P} by the base change property of $\operatorname{Tr}_{\widetilde{f}}$.

When $f: \mathbb{A}^1_X \to X$ is the projection, then we have the factorization $\mathbb{A}^1_X \xrightarrow{j} \mathbb{P}^1_X \xrightarrow{p} X$, and the trace map Tr_f is defined to be the composition $\operatorname{Tr}_p \circ p_!(\operatorname{Tr}_j)$. The base change property can be checked by the base change property for j and p. Now, let $f: X := \mathbb{A}^d_Y \to Y$. In this case, we define by iteration as in [SGA4, XVIII, 2.8].

(iii) Factorization case. Let $f: X \to Y$ be a morphism which possesses a factorization $X \xrightarrow{u} \mathbb{A}^d_Y \xrightarrow{a^d} Y$ such that u is a quasi-finite flat morphism. Then we define $t(f, u) := \operatorname{Tr}_{a^d} \circ a^d_!(\operatorname{Tr}_u)$. We need to check that t(f, u) does not depend on the choice of the factorization. By using the lemma in (i), the verification is the same as [SGA4, XVIII, 2.9 b)].

(iv) **General case**. The construction is the same as [SGA4, 2.9 c), d), e)]. We sketch the construction. When f is a Cohen–Macaulay morphism, then there exists a finite covering of $\{U_i\}$ of X such that the compositions $U_i \to X \to Y$ possess factorizations considered in case (iii). By gluing lemma 1.5.3, we have the trace map in this case. In general, we shrink X suitably, so that f is Cohen–Macaulay. Thus the trace map is constructed, and we conclude the proof of Theorem 1.5.1. \Box

1.5.13. **Theorem** (Poincaré duality). Let $X \to Y$ be a smooth morphism of relative dimension d between realizable schemes. Then for $\mathscr{F} \in D^{\mathrm{b}}_{\mathrm{hol}}(Y)$, the adjoint of the trace map $\phi_{\mathscr{F}} : f^{+}\mathscr{F}(d)[2d] \to f^{!}\mathscr{F}$ is an isomorphism.

Proof. Since the verification is local on X, it suffices to treat the case where f is étale and is the projection $\mathbb{A}^1_Y \to Y$ separately. The étale case has already been treated in Lemma 1.5.4.

Let us treat the projection case. We may shrink Y. Then we can embed Y into a proper smooth formal scheme. By using [A1, Theorem 5.5], we have an isomorphism $f^+\mathscr{F}(d)[2d] \sim f^!\mathscr{F}$, where \sim is the isomorphism induced by [A1] and may not be the same as the one defined by the trace map. It suffices to show the theorem for $\mathscr{F} \in \operatorname{Hol}(Y)$. For this, we may assume \mathscr{F} to be irreducible. Let k' be a finite extension of k. It suffices to show that $\phi_{\mathscr{F}}$ is an isomorphism after pulling back to $X \otimes_k k'$. Thus, we may assume moreover that \mathscr{F} is irreducible also on $X \otimes_k k'$ for any extension k' of k. For a closed point $a \in \mathbb{A}^1$, we denote by $i_a \colon Y \otimes_k k(a) \to \mathbb{A}^1_Y$ the closed immersion defined by a. We claim that $f^+(\mathscr{F})$ is irreducible. Indeed, first, let us assume Y is smooth and \mathscr{F} is smooth. Assume $f^+(\mathscr{F})$ were not irreducible. Then there would exist a smooth object $\mathscr{N} \subset f^+(\mathscr{F})$ and a closed point a of $\mathbb{A}^1(\overline{k})$ such that $i_a^+ \mathscr{N}$ and $i_a^+(f^+(\mathscr{F})/\mathscr{N})$ are nonzero. This is a contradiction. In general, \mathscr{F} can be written as $j_{!+}$ of a smooth irreducible object by [AC1, 1.4.9] where j is an open immersion of Y. Since f is smooth, f^+ and $j_{!+}$ commute, and $f^+(\mathscr{F})$ is irreducible.

Now, we know that

$$\operatorname{Hom}(f^{+}\mathscr{F}(d)[2d], f^{!}\mathscr{F}) \sim \operatorname{Hom}(f^{+}\mathscr{F}(d)[2d], f^{+}\mathscr{F}(d)[2d]).$$

Since $f^+\mathscr{F}$ is irreducible, the Hom group is a division algebra, and it remains to show that $\phi_{\mathscr{F}}$ is not 0. For this, it suffices to check that the trace map $f_!f^+\mathscr{F}(d)[2d] \to \mathscr{F}$ is nonzero. By the base change property of a trace map, we may assume Y to be a point, in which case, the trace map is nonzero by construction.

Corollary. Let $f: X \to Y$ be a flat morphism of relative dimension d between smooth realizable schemes. Then the adjoint of trace map $f^+K_Y(d)[2d] \to f^!K_Y$ is an isomorphism.

Proof. This follows by the transitivity of the trace map and the Poincaré duality for both X and Y. \Box

1.5.14. Let $i: Z \hookrightarrow X$ be a closed immersion of codimension c between smooth realizable schemes. By using the Poincaré duality, we have a canonical isomorphism $i^+K^{\omega}_X(-c)[-2c] \xrightarrow{\sim} i^!K^{\omega}_X$. Let us denote by $(-)\widetilde{\otimes}(-) := \mathbb{D}(\mathbb{D}(-) \otimes \mathbb{D}(-))$. The projection formula yields the homomorphism $i^+(\mathcal{N}\widetilde{\otimes}\mathcal{M}) \to i^+(\mathcal{N})\widetilde{\otimes}i^!(\mathcal{M})$ for \mathcal{M} , \mathcal{N} in $D^{\mathrm{b}}_{\mathrm{hol}}(X/K)$. Using this homomorphism, we get a homomorphism

$$i^{+}(\mathscr{M})(-c)[-2c] \cong i^{+}\left(K_{X}^{\omega}\widetilde{\otimes}\mathscr{M}\right)(-c)[-2c] \to i^{+}(K_{X}^{\omega})(-c)[-2c]\widetilde{\otimes}i^{!}(\mathscr{M})$$

$$(1.5.14.1) \qquad \xrightarrow{\sim} i^{!}K_{X}^{\omega}\widetilde{\otimes}i^{!}(\mathscr{M}) \cong i^{!}(\mathscr{M}).$$

Theorem. If \mathscr{M} is smooth, then the canonical homomorphism (1.5.14.1) is an isomorphism.

Proof. It suffices to show that when \mathscr{M} is a smooth holonomic module, the canonical homomorphism $i^+(\mathscr{N} \otimes \mathscr{M}) \to i^+(\mathscr{N}) \otimes i^!(\mathscr{M})$ is an isomorphism for any $\mathscr{N} \in D^{\mathrm{b}}_{\mathrm{hol}}(X/K)$. Since i_+ is conservative, it suffices to show that the homomorphism

 $\rho\colon i_+i^+\big(\mathscr{N}\widetilde{\otimes}\mathscr{M}\big)\to i_+\big(i^+(\mathscr{N})\widetilde{\otimes}i^!(\mathscr{M})\big)\cong i_+i^+(\mathscr{N})\widetilde{\otimes}\mathscr{M}$

is an isomorphism. By definition, this is the unique homomorphism which makes the following diagram commutative:



where $\alpha := \operatorname{adj}_i$ and $\beta := \operatorname{adj}_i \otimes \operatorname{id}$. Now, since the verification is local, we may assume that Z and X can be lifted to smooth formal schemes \mathscr{X} and \mathscr{X} . It suffices to show the claim after removing the boundaries by [Ber2, 4.3.10]. In this situation, recall that $(-)\widetilde{\otimes}(-) \cong (-) \otimes_{\mathcal{O}_{\mathscr{X},\mathbb{Q}}}^{\dagger} (-)[-\operatorname{dim}(\mathscr{X})]$ (cf. [AC1, 1.1.6]). Since \mathscr{M} is a coherent $\mathcal{O}_{\mathscr{X},\mathbb{Q}}$ -module, we have a canonical isomorphism

$$\mathbb{R} \operatorname{\mathcal{H}om}_{\mathscr{D}_{\mathscr{X}}}\left(\mathscr{N} \otimes_{\mathcal{O}_{\mathscr{X}}} \mathscr{M}, \mathscr{D}_{\mathscr{X}} \otimes \omega_{\mathscr{X}}^{-1}\right) \cong \mathbb{R} \operatorname{\mathcal{H}om}_{\mathscr{D}_{\mathscr{X}}}(\mathscr{N}, \mathscr{D}_{\mathscr{X}} \otimes \omega_{\mathscr{X}}^{-1}) \otimes_{\mathcal{O}_{\mathscr{X}}} \mathscr{M}^{\vee},$$

where $\mathscr{D}_{\mathscr{X}}$ denotes $\mathscr{D}_{\mathscr{X},\mathbb{Q}}^{\dagger}$. This yields an isomorphism $\gamma \colon \mathbb{D}(\mathscr{N} \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_{\mathscr{X}}} \mathscr{M}) \cong \mathbb{D}(\mathscr{N}) \otimes_{\mathscr{O}_{\mathscr{X}}} \mathscr{M}^{\vee}$. Consider the following diagram.

$$\mathbb{D}_{\alpha} \qquad \mathbb{D}_{\alpha} \\
\mathbb{D}(i_{+}i^{+}(\mathcal{N} \otimes_{\mathcal{O}_{\mathscr{X}}} \mathscr{M})) \xrightarrow{\sim} i_{+}i^{!}(\mathbb{D}(\mathcal{N} \otimes_{\mathcal{O}_{\mathscr{X}}} \mathscr{M})) \xrightarrow{\operatorname{adj}_{i}} \mathbb{D}(\mathcal{N} \otimes_{\mathcal{O}_{\mathscr{X}}} \mathscr{M}) \\
\xrightarrow{\wedge} i_{+}i^{!}(\mathbb{D}(\mathcal{N}) \otimes_{\mathcal{O}_{\mathscr{X}}} \mathscr{M}^{\vee}) \xrightarrow{\operatorname{adj}_{i}} \mathbb{D}(\mathcal{N}) \otimes_{\mathcal{O}_{\mathscr{X}}} \mathscr{M}^{\vee} \\
\xrightarrow{\vee} i_{+}i^{!}(\mathbb{D}(\mathcal{N}) \otimes_{\mathcal{O}_{\mathscr{X}}} \mathscr{M}^{\vee}) \xrightarrow{\sim} i_{+}i^{!}\mathbb{D}(\mathcal{N}) \otimes_{\mathcal{O}_{\mathscr{X}}} \mathscr{M}^{\vee} \xrightarrow{\operatorname{adj}_{i}} \\
\mathbb{D}(i_{+}i^{+}(\mathscr{N}) \otimes_{\mathcal{O}_{\mathscr{X}}} \mathscr{M}) \xrightarrow{\gamma} \mathbb{D}(\mathscr{N}) \otimes_{\mathcal{O}_{\mathscr{X}}} \mathscr{M}^{\vee} \xrightarrow{\operatorname{adj}_{i}} \\
\mathbb{D}(\mathcal{N} \otimes_{\mathcal{O}_{\mathscr{X}}} \mathscr{M}) \xrightarrow{\gamma} \mathbb{D}(\mathcal{N}) \otimes_{\mathcal{O}_{\mathscr{X}}} \mathscr{M}^{\vee} \xrightarrow{\sim} \\$$

where adj_i is the homomorphism induced by the adjunction homomorphisms of *i*. The diagram \heartsuit is commutative by [Ca4, 2.2.7], and the other diagrams formed by solid arrows are commutative as well. We define the isomorphism \star so that the diagram is commutative. By the characterization of ρ , the isomorphism \star is the dual of ρ , which implies that ρ is an isomorphism.

2. Arithmetic \mathscr{D} -modules for algebraic stacks

This section is devoted to constructing a *p*-adic cohomology theory for algebraic stacks. Even though we do not try to axiomatize, the ideas of this section work also for any rational cohomology theories with standard six functor formalism without essential changes (e.g., algebraic \mathscr{D} -module theory, étale cohomology theory with perverse t-structures over a separably closed field with rational coefficients, etc.).

2.0.1. In this section, $\blacktriangle \in \{\emptyset, F\}$ is fixed. Throughout this section, we also fix a base tuple either $\mathfrak{T}_{\emptyset} := (k, R, K, L)$ or $\mathfrak{T}_F := (k, R, K, L, s, \sigma)$ (cf. 1.4.10) depending on which \blacktriangle we take. We often denote $D(X/\mathfrak{T}_{\blacktriangle})$ by $D(X/L_{\bigstar})$ or even D(X/L) or D(X) if no confusion may arise. When $\blacktriangle = \emptyset$, Tate twists (n) are understood to be the identity functors as usual. All algebraic stacks are understood to be over k unless otherwise specified.

2.0.2. To construct a theory for general algebraic stacks, we will first need to construct a theory for algebraic spaces. Then using the theory for algebraic spaces, we shall construct a theory for all algebraic stacks. Since the process for generalizing the construction from the case of realizable schemes to algebraic spaces is the same as generalizing from algebraic spaces to algebraic stacks, we shall present the processes at the same time. In order to obtain the theory for general algebraic spaces, the reader should read §2.1 and §2.2 as follows. First, when reading §2.1 and §2.2, replace the word "space" (resp. "good stack", resp. "good presentation") by "quasi-projective scheme" (resp. ...), the corresponding terminology indicated in the first block of the table below. The reader should then reread §2.1 and §2.2, this time using the second block of the table below instead of the first block.

LANGLANDS CORRESPONDENCE FOR ISOCRYSTALS

1st read	space:	quasi-projective scheme
	good stack:	algebraic stack of finite type whose diagonal morphism is quasi-projective
	good presentation:	smooth surjective morphism from a quasi- projective scheme
2nd read	space:	separated algebraic space of finite type
	good stack:	algebraic stack of finite type
	good presentation:	smooth surjective morphism from a separated quasi-compact algebraic space

Note that since good stacks are of finite type, they are in particular quasicompact. See paragraphs 2.2.26–2.2.28 for additional explanation. Finally, we remark that admissible stacks defined in §2.3 are good stacks in the sense of first read, and a second read is not really necessary if the reader is only interested in six functor formalism for schemes or Deligne–Mumford stacks.

2.1. Definition of the derived category of \mathscr{D}^{\dagger} -modules for stacks.

2.1.1. We first need basic cohomological operations for spaces. Let X be a space over k. In the first read case, we have already defined M(X/L) and D(X/L) in 1.4.10, and in the second read case, see 2.2.26.

Smooth morphism. Let $f: X \to Y$ be a smooth morphism between spaces over k. The exact functor $f^*: \operatorname{Hol}(Y/K) \to \operatorname{Hol}(X/K)$ (cf. 1.2.8 or 2.2.7) can be extended canonically to $M(Y/L) \to M(X/L)$ by 1.2.2 and 1.4.9, f^* remains to be exact. The derived functor is also denoted by f^* . Similarly, we have the left exact functor $f_*: M(X/L) \to M(Y/L)$, and we can take the derived functor $\mathbb{R}f_*: D^+(X/L) \to D^+(Y/L)$. By 1.2.1, $(f^*, \mathbb{R}f_*)$ is an adjoint pair. Since for_L and for_F commute with f^* and $\mathbb{R}f_*$ by 1.4.1 and 1.4.6, f^* and $\mathbb{R}f_*$ preserve holonomicity and induce functors between $D^+_{\operatorname{hol}}(X/L)$ and $D^+_{\operatorname{hol}}(Y/L)$.

Finite morphism. Let $f: X \to Y$ be a finite morphism between spaces over k. Just as in the smooth morphism case, we can define functors

$$f_+: D^*(X/L) \rightleftharpoons D^*(Y/L): f^!,$$

where $\star = \emptyset$ for f_+ and + for f'. The pair (f_+, f') is an adjoint pair. These functors commute with for_L and for_F, and they preserve boundedness and holonomicity.

External tensor product. Let X, Y be spaces over k. Extending the scalar of the external tensor product functor, we have the bifunctor $\boxtimes : M(X/L) \times M(Y/L) \rightarrow M(X \times Y/L)$, which is exact. Thus, we can take the derived functor. This derived functor preserves boundedness and holonomicity as well.

Dual functor. Let X be a space over k. The dual functor extends canonically to \mathbb{D}_X : Hol $(X/L)^\circ \to$ Hol(X/L). This induces the functor

$$\mathbb{D}_X : D^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathrm{Hol}(X/L))^{\circ} \to D^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathrm{Hol}(X/L))$$

Lemma. (i) Consider the cartesian diagram (1.1.3.1) of spaces such that f is smooth and g is finite. Then the base change homomorphisms $f'^* \circ \mathscr{H}^0(g^!) \to \mathscr{H}^0(g'^!) \circ f^* \colon M(Y/L) \to M(X'/L)$ and $f^* \circ g_+ \to g'_+ \circ f'^* \colon M(Y'/L) \to M(X/L)$ are isomorphisms. Moreover, we have $\mathscr{H}^0(g^!) \circ f_* \cong f'_* \circ \mathscr{H}^0(g')^! \colon M(X/L) \to M(Y'/L)$. (ii) For a smooth morphism $f: X \to Y$ of spaces of relative dimension d, we have the canonical isomorphism

$$(f^* \circ \mathbb{D}_Y)(d) \cong \mathbb{D}_X \circ f^* \colon \operatorname{Hol}(Y)^\circ \to \operatorname{Hol}(X).$$

Remark. These equalities also hold on the level of $D_{\text{hol}}^{\text{b}}(-/L)$, which we show later.

Proof. In the second read case, this can easily be reduced to the first read case, so we assume we are in the first read case. When $\blacktriangle = \emptyset$ and L = K, we only need to show the equality for $\operatorname{Hol}(-/K)$, and these are consequences of Corollary 1.5.5, Theorem 1.5.13, and 1.1.3 (8). Since these equalities are on the level of modules, the results can be extended automatically to $\blacktriangle = F$ and general L.

2.1.2. Now, let us fix some terminologies on simplicial spaces.

Definition. For an integer $i \ge 0$, let $[i] = \{0, \ldots, n\}$ be the ordered set, and put $[-1] := \emptyset$. Let Δ^+ be the category of those objects, and morphisms are increasing *injective* maps.

(i) An admissible simplicial space is a contravariant functor $(\Delta^+)^{\circ} \to \operatorname{Sp}^{\operatorname{sm}}(k)$, where $\operatorname{Sp}^{\operatorname{sm}}(k)$ denotes the category of spaces over k whose morphisms are smooth. Let X_{\bullet} be an admissible simplicial space. For $i \geq 0$, we often denote $X_{\bullet}([i])$ by X_i . This can be described as follows:

$$X_{\bullet}: \left[X_0 \rightleftharpoons X_1 \rightleftharpoons X_2 \rightleftharpoons \cdots \right].$$

For a space S, let S_{\bullet} be the constant admissible simplicial space. A morphism of an admissible simplicial space to a space $X_{\bullet} \to S$ is a morphism $X_{\bullet} \to S_{\bullet}$. The morphism is said to be *smooth* if $X_0 \to S$ is.

(ii) A morphism of simplicial spaces $f: X_{\bullet} \to Y_{\bullet}$ is said to be *cartesian* if for any $\phi: [i] \to [j]$, the following diagram is cartesian:

$$\begin{array}{c|c} X_j & \xrightarrow{f_j} & Y_j \\ X(\phi) & & & \downarrow \\ X_i & \xrightarrow{f_i} & Y_i. \end{array}$$

(iii) An admissible double simplicial space $X_{\bullet\bullet}$ is a functor $((\Delta^+)^2)^{\circ} \to \operatorname{Sp}^{\operatorname{sm}}(k)$. An admissible simplicial space S_{\bullet} yields the constant admissible double simplicial space $S_{\bullet\bullet}$ by setting $S_{\bullet i} := S_{\bullet}$. A morphism from an admissible double simplicial space to an admissible simplicial space $X_{\bullet\bullet} \to S_{\bullet}$ is defined to be $X_{\bullet\bullet} \to S_{\bullet\bullet}$. This is a collection of morphisms $X_{n\bullet} \to S_n$ satisfying the compatibility conditions.

Remark. Note that we do not consider *degeneracy maps*, only *face maps*. These types of objects are sometimes called strictly simplicial schemes (e.g., [LO]).

2.1.3. **Definition.** Let \mathfrak{X} be an algebraic stack over k, and let $\mathcal{X} \to \mathfrak{X}$ be a presentation (cf. 0.0.2). Put $\mathcal{X}_{\bullet} := \operatorname{cosk}_{0}(\mathcal{X} \to \mathfrak{X})$ (i.e., the simplicial space such that $\mathcal{X}_{n} := \underbrace{\mathcal{X} \times_{\mathfrak{X}} \times \cdots \times_{\mathfrak{X}} \mathcal{X}}_{\mathfrak{X}}$ and the face morphisms are projections). We say

that \mathcal{X}_{\bullet} is a simplicial algebraic space presentation of \mathfrak{X} . Let **P** be a set of algebraic spaces. A simplicial **P** presentation is a simplicial algebraic space presentation X_{\bullet}

962

consisting of algebraic spaces belonging to \mathbf{P} (e.g., simplicial realizable schemes presentation, etc.).

Now, let \mathfrak{X} be a good stack, and let $X \to \mathfrak{X}$ be a good presentation. Since \mathfrak{X} is a good stack, $\operatorname{cosk}_0(X \to \mathfrak{X})$ is an admissible simplicial space. In particular, for any good stack, we may take a simplicial space presentation.

2.1.4. **Definition.** Let X_{\bullet} be an admissible simplicial space. For a morphism $\phi: [i] \to [j]$, since $X(\phi)$ is smooth, the pullback

$$X(\phi)^* \colon M(X_i/L) \to M(X_j/L),$$

which is exact, is defined (cf. 2.1.1). This defines a cofibered category $M(X_{\bullet}/L)_{\bullet}$ over Δ^+ .

(i) We put $M(X_{\bullet}/L) := \sec_{+}(M(X_{\bullet}/L)_{\bullet})$ (see §A.1 for the notation). We often denote $M(X_{\bullet}/L)$ by $M(X_{\bullet})$. For \mathscr{M}_{\bullet} or \mathscr{M} in $M(X_{\bullet}/L)$, the fiber over [i] is denoted by \mathscr{M}_{i} . For $\phi : [i] \to [j]$, the homomorphism $X(\phi)^{*}\mathscr{M}_{i} \to \mathscr{M}_{j}$ is called the gluing homomorphism.

(ii) We denote by $\operatorname{Hol}(X_{\bullet}/L)$, or simply by $\operatorname{Hol}(X_{\bullet})$, the full subcategory of $M(X_{\bullet}/L)_{\bullet, \text{tot}}$ consisting of \mathcal{M}_{\bullet} such that $\mathcal{M}_i \in \operatorname{Hol}(X_i/L)$ for any $i \geq 0$.

(iii) We denote by $D^{\star}_{\text{hol}}(X_{\bullet}/L)$ or $D^{\star}_{\text{hol}}(X_{\bullet})$ the full subcategory of $D^{\star}(M(X_{\bullet}/L))$ whose cohomology objects are in $\text{Hol}(X_{\bullet}/L)$. We denote $D^{\star}_{\text{tot}}(M(X_{\bullet}/L)_{\bullet})$ by $D^{\star}_{\text{tot}}(X_{\bullet}/L)$ or $D^{\star}_{\text{tot}}(X_{\bullet})$.

2.1.5. Let \mathcal{M}_{\bullet} and \mathcal{N}_{\bullet} be in $D^{\mathrm{b}}_{\mathrm{tot}}(X_{\bullet}/L)$. Then by (A.1.2.1), we have the following spectral sequence:

(2.1.5.1)
$$E_1^{p,q} := \operatorname{Ext}_{D(X_p)}^q(\mathscr{M}_p, \mathscr{N}_p) \Rightarrow \operatorname{Ext}_{D(X_{\bullet})}^{p+q}(\mathscr{M}_{\bullet}, \mathscr{N}_{\bullet}).$$

We have kernels, cokernels, and inductive limits in $M(X_{\bullet})$, and they can be calculated termwise; namely, these functors commute with the functor sending \mathscr{M}_{\bullet} to \mathscr{M}_i for any $i \geq 0$. This is because, for any $\phi : [i] \to [j]$, the functors Ker, Coker, \varinjlim commute with $X(\phi)^*$. In particular, $M(X_{\bullet})$ is an abelian category. Moreover, projective limits are representable in $M(X_{\bullet})$ and they can be calculated termwise as well by using the canonical homomorphism $X(\phi)^* \circ \varinjlim \to \varinjlim \circ X(\phi)^*$.

2.1.6. Let us define three basic functors. Take $i \geq 0$. We define a functor $\rho_i^* \colon M(X_{\bullet}) \to M(X_i)$ by sending $\mathscr{M}_{\bullet} \in M(X_{\bullet})$ to \mathscr{M}_i . Obviously, this is an exact functor. Now, take $\mathscr{N} \in M(X_i)$. We define

$$\rho_{i*}(\mathscr{N}) := \left\{ \prod_{\phi \colon [k] \to [i]} X(\phi)_*(\mathscr{N}) \right\}_k, \qquad \rho_{i!}(\mathscr{N}) := \left\{ \bigoplus_{\phi \colon [i] \to [k]} X(\phi)^*(\mathscr{N}) \right\}_k,$$

and the gluing homomorphisms are defined as follows: for $\psi: [k] \to [k']$, the map $X(\psi)^* \rho_{i*}(\mathcal{N})_k \to \rho_{i*}(\mathcal{N})_{k'}$ (resp. $X(\psi)^* \rho_{i!}(\mathcal{N})_k \to \rho_{i!}(\mathcal{N})_{k'}$) is the product (resp. direct sum) of the adjunction (resp. canonical) homomorphisms

$$X(\psi)^*X(\phi)_*(\mathscr{N}) \to X(\phi')_*(\mathscr{N}) \qquad (\text{resp. } X(\psi)^*X(\phi)^*(\mathscr{N}) \to X(\phi')^*(\mathscr{N})),$$

where $\phi \colon [k] \xrightarrow{\psi} [k'] \xrightarrow{\phi'} [i]$ and 0 if ϕ cannot be factored through ψ (resp. $\phi' \colon [i] \xrightarrow{\phi} [k] \xrightarrow{\psi} [k']$). These data define functors $\rho_{i*}, \rho_{i!} \colon M(X_i) \to M(X_{\bullet})$.

Lemma. (i) We have adjoint pairs (ρ_i^*, ρ_{i*}) and $(\rho_{i!}, \rho_i^*)$.

(ii) The functors ρ_i^* and $\rho_{i!}$ are exact. In particular ρ_i^* and ρ_{i*} preserve injective objects.

(iii) The category $M(X_{\bullet})$ is a Grothendieck category.

Proof. Since the verification of (i) is standard, we leave the details to the reader. The first claim of (ii) follows from the exactness of $X(\phi)^*$. Let us check (iii). We have an arbitrary inductive limit as observed in 2.1.5, and filtrant inductive limits are exact. We need to show that it has a generator. Let \mathscr{G}_i be a generator of $M(X_i)$. Then $\{\rho_{i!}(\mathscr{G}_i)\}_{i\geq 0}$ is a set of generators. Indeed, let $\mathscr{M} \in M(X_{\bullet})$, and assume $\operatorname{Hom}(\rho_{i!}(\mathscr{G}_i), \mathscr{M}) = 0$ for any $i \geq 0$. Then by (i), we have $\operatorname{Hom}(\mathscr{G}_i, \rho_i^*(\mathscr{M})) = 0$, and thus $\mathscr{M}_i = 0$.

2.1.7. Let X_{\bullet} be an admissible simplicial space. Let k be a nonnegative integer. Given $\mathscr{M}_{\bullet} \in M(\mathrm{sk}_{k}(X_{\bullet}))$, we get an object in $M(\mathrm{sk}_{k-1}(X_{\bullet}))$ denoted by $\sigma_{k}^{*}(\mathscr{M}_{\bullet}) \in M(X_{\bullet})$ by putting $(\sigma_{k}^{*}(\mathscr{M}_{\bullet}))_{i} \cong \mathscr{M}_{i}$ for i < k. Let us construct the left adjoint functor of σ_{k}^{*} .

Let D_k be the category of homomorphisms $\phi: [i] \to [k]$ such that the morphism from ϕ to $\psi: [j] \to [k]$ is a morphism $\alpha: [i] \to [j]$ such that $\psi \circ \alpha = \phi$. Now, given \mathcal{M}_{\bullet} in $\mathcal{M}(\mathrm{sk}_{k-1}(X_{\bullet}))$, we can construct an object in $\mathcal{M}(\mathrm{sk}_k(X_{\bullet}))$ as follows: Put

$$\mathscr{M}_k := \lim_{\phi \in D_k} X(\phi)^*(\mathscr{M}_i).$$

Then $\{\mathscr{M}_i\}_{i\leq k}$ with an obvious gluing homomorphism defines the desired object. The functor is denoted by $\sigma_{k!}$. We can check easily that $(\sigma_{k!}, \sigma_k^*)$ is an adjoint pair.

2.1.8. **Remark.** The functors defined in the last two paragraphs have natural interpretation in terms of the language of topos. Let X_{\bullet} be a (strictly) simplicial topos (cf. [SGA4, V^{bis}]). Since sheaves \mathscr{F} on X_{\bullet} can be described as data $\{\mathscr{F}_i, \phi_{ij}\}$ where \mathscr{F}_i is a sheaf on X_i and ϕ_{ij} is a gluing homomorphism, we have a functor sending a sheaf \mathscr{F} on X_{\bullet} to the sheaf \mathscr{F}_i on X_i . This functor defines a morphism of topos $e_i: X_i \to X_{\bullet}$. The functors $\rho_{i!}, \rho_i^*, \rho_{i*}$ are nothing but analogues of the functors $e_{i!}, e_i^*, e_{i*}$ (cf. [SGA4, 1.2.8–1.2.12]). The interpretation of $\sigma_{i!}, \sigma_i^*$ is similar.

2.1.9. **Lemma.** Let us denote by $\operatorname{Hol}(X_{\bullet})_{\bullet}$ the cofibered category over Δ^+ such that the fiber over [i] is $\operatorname{Hol}(X_i)$. Let $D^{\mathrm{b}}_{\operatorname{tot}}(\operatorname{Hol}(X_{\bullet})_{\bullet})$ be the derived category defined in §A.1. The canonical functor $D^{\mathrm{b}}_{\operatorname{tot}}(\operatorname{Hol}(X_{\bullet})_{\bullet}) \to D^{\mathrm{b}}_{\operatorname{hol}}(X_{\bullet})$ is an equivalence of categories.

Proof. We can argue as [KSc, 15.3.1]. It suffices to show that the functor

$$D^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathrm{Hol}(X_{\bullet})_{\bullet}) \to D^{\mathrm{b}}(X_{\bullet})$$

is fully faithful. By [KSc, 13.2.8], it suffices to show the following: given a surjection $\mathscr{A} \to \mathscr{M}$ such that $\mathscr{M} \in \sec_{+}\operatorname{Hol}(X_{\bullet})_{\bullet}$ and $\mathscr{A} \in M(X_{\bullet})$, there exists a homomorphism $\mathscr{N} \to \mathscr{A}$ such that $\mathscr{N} \in \sec_{+}\operatorname{Hol}(X_{\bullet})_{\bullet}$ and the composition $\mathscr{N} \to \mathscr{M}$ is surjective. To check this, it suffices to construct, for each $k \geq 0$, the following $\mathscr{N}_{(k)}$ in $M(\operatorname{sk}_k(X_{\bullet}))$: 1. $\sigma_k^*(\mathscr{N}_{(k)}) \cong \mathscr{N}_{(k-1)}$; 2. we have a homomorphism $\mathscr{N}_{(k)} \to \sigma_k^*(\mathscr{A})$ such that the composition $\mathscr{N}_{(k)} \to \sigma_k^*(\mathscr{A}) \to \sigma_k^*(\mathscr{M})$ is surjective.

We use the induction on k. For $\mathscr{N}_{(0)}$, take one as in [KSc, 15.3.1]. Assume we have constructed $\mathscr{N}_{(k-1)}$. Take $\mathscr{N}' \to \mathscr{A}_k$ such that $\mathscr{N}' \in \operatorname{Hol}(X_k)$ and the composition with $\mathscr{A}_k \to \mathscr{M}_k$ is surjective, as in [KSc, 15.3.1]. Given $\phi: [i] \to [k]$, we have the following diagram:



We need to construct the dotted homomorphism making the diagram commutative, for which we modify \mathscr{N}' . We put

$$(\mathscr{N}_{(k)})_i := \begin{cases} (\mathscr{N}_{(k-1)})_i & \text{for } i < k, \\ \mathscr{N}' \oplus (\sigma_{k!}(\mathscr{N}_{(k-1)}))_k & \text{for } i = k. \end{cases}$$

With the obvious gluing homomorphisms, these data define an object $\mathscr{N}_{(k)}$ in $M(\operatorname{sk}_k(X_{\bullet}))$, which is what we are looking for.

2.1.10. Let $f_{\bullet}: X_{\bullet} \to Y_{\bullet}$ be a *cartesian* morphism of admissible simplicial spaces such that f_i is *finite* for any $i \ge 0$. We call such a morphism a *cartesian finite morphism* for short. For a morphism $\phi: [j] \to [k]$, we have the following cartesian diagram:

$$\begin{array}{c|c} X_k & \xrightarrow{f_k} & Y_k \\ X(\phi) & & & \downarrow \\ X_j & \xrightarrow{f_j} & Y_j, \end{array}$$

where f_j and f_k are finite. Let \mathscr{M}_{\bullet} be an object in $M(Y_{\bullet})$. For a finite morphism g, we denote \mathscr{H}^0g' by g° , which is left exact by 1.2.9. We have a canonical homomorphism

$$X(\phi)^* f_j^{\circ}(\mathscr{M}_j) \cong f_k^{\circ} Y(\phi)^*(\mathscr{M}_j) \to f_k^{\circ}(\mathscr{M}_k)$$

by Lemma 2.1.1. Using this homomorphism, $\{f_k^{\circ}(\mathcal{M}_k)\}$ defines an object in $M(X_{\bullet})$, and it defines a functor $f^{\circ}: M(Y_{\bullet}) \to M(X_{\bullet})$. Since f_k° is left exact, f° is left exact as well. We can take the associated derived functor to get

$$f^! := \mathbb{R}f^\circ \colon D^+(M(Y_{\bullet})) \to D^+(M(X_{\bullet}))$$

On the other hand, the functor f_{k+} is exact. For $\mathcal{N} \in M(X_{\bullet})$, using Lemma 2.1.1, we have a homomorphism

$$Y(\phi)^* f_{j+}(\mathcal{N}_j) \cong f_{k+} X(\phi)^* (\mathcal{N}_j) \to f_{k+}(\mathcal{N}_k)$$

which defines an object $\{f_{k+}(\mathcal{N}_k)\}$ in $M(Y_{\bullet})$. The functor is denoted by f_+ . Since this functor is exact, we can take the derived functor

$$f_+: D(M(X_{\bullet})) \to D(M(Y_{\bullet})).$$

Lemma. Let $X_{\bullet} \xrightarrow{f} Y_{\bullet} \xrightarrow{g} Z_{\bullet}$ be cartesian finite morphisms of admissible simplicial spaces.

(i) We have a canonical isomorphism $\rho_k^* \circ f! \cong f_k^! \circ \rho_k^*$. In particular, f! sends $D_{\text{hol}}^*(Y_{\bullet})$ into $D_{\text{hol}}^*(X_{\bullet})$ for $\star \in \{+, b\}$.

(ii) We have an adjoint pair $(f_+, f^!)$, and f_+ is exact. In particular, f° preserves injective objects.

(iii) We have a canonical isomorphism $f^! \circ g^! \cong (g \circ f)^!$.

Proof. Let us show (i). Since ρ_k^* is exact and preserves injective objects by Lemma 2.1.6, the first isomorphism follows by definition. Let us check the second one. The functor $f^!$ preserves total complexes by Lemma 2.1.1 (i). It remains to show that it preserves holonomicity and boundedness. These are immediate consequences of the isomorphism $\rho_k^* \circ f^! \cong f_k^! \circ \rho_k^*$.

The verification of (ii) is easy. To show (iii), by (ii), it suffices to show that $f^{\circ} \circ g^{\circ} \cong (g^{\circ} \circ f^{\circ})$. This follows by definition and the corresponding statement for spaces.

2.1.11. Now, we use the notation of 2.1.1. Let $f: X_{\bullet} \to S$ be a smooth morphism (cf. 2.1.2) from an admissible simplicial space to a space. In this situation, let us define an adjoint pair of functors $(f^*, \mathbb{R}f_*)$. Let $f_i: X_i \to S$ be the induced morphism. The pullback is easy to define: Let $\mathscr{N} \in M(S)$. We put $\mathscr{N}_i := f_i^*(\mathscr{N})$ which is defined in $M(X_i)$. Let $\phi: [i] \to [j]$ be a map. Then we define a homomorphism, which is in fact an isomorphism, $X(\phi)^*\mathscr{N}_i \to \mathscr{N}_j$ to be the gluing homomorphism. The object we constructed in $M(X_{\bullet})$ is denoted by $f^*(\mathscr{N})$. Thus, we have a functor

$$f^* \colon M(S) \to M(X_{\bullet}).$$

The functor f^* is exact since each f_i^* is.

Let us define its right adjoint. Take \mathcal{M}_{\bullet} in $M(X_{\bullet})$. For $\phi: [i] \to [j]$, we have the homomorphism

$$\alpha_{\phi} \colon f_{i*}(\mathscr{M}_i) \to f_{j*}(\mathscr{M}_j).$$

We put

$$f_*(\mathscr{M}_{\bullet}) := \operatorname{Ker}(f_{0*}(\mathscr{M}_0) \rightrightarrows f_{1*}(\mathscr{M}_1)).$$

Since f_{0*} and f_{1*} are left exact, the functor f_* is left exact as well. Thus we may take the associated derived functor to get

$$\mathbb{R}f_*\colon D^+(X_\bullet)\to D^+(S).$$

These constructions can be generalized to a smooth morphism $f: X_{\bullet\bullet} \to S_{\bullet}$ from a double simplicial space to a simplicial space: Pullback is defined in an obvious manner. Let $\mathscr{M}_{\bullet\bullet}$ in $\mathcal{M}(X_{\bullet\bullet})$. Recall that f is a collection of $f_{n\bullet}: X_{n\bullet} \to S_n$ satisfying the compatibility conditions. We get $f_{n\bullet*}(\mathscr{M}_{n\bullet})$ in $\mathcal{M}(S_n)$. The transition homomorphism is defined by adjunction, and we have $f_{\bullet\bullet*}: \mathcal{M}(X_{\bullet\bullet}) \to \mathcal{M}(S_{\bullet})$. This is a left exact functor, and we get the derived functor $\mathbb{R}f_*: D^+(X_{\bullet\bullet}) \to D^+(S_{\bullet})$.

Lemma. We have an adjoint pair (f^*, f_*) . Thus, the pair $(f^*, \mathbb{R}f_*)$ is also, and the obvious analogue holds for the double simplicial case.

Proof. The adjointness of $(f^*, \mathbb{R}f_*)$ follows by the first one using Lemma 1.2.1. Let S_{\bullet} be the constant simplicial space. We have the morphism $f_{\bullet}: X_{\bullet} \to S_{\bullet}$, and the adjoint pair (f_i^*, f_{i*}) defines a pair of functors $(f_{\bullet}^*, f_{\bullet*})$ between $M(X_{\bullet})$ and $M(S_{\bullet})$. It is straightforward to check that this is an adjoint pair. Thus, it suffices to check the lemma for the morphism $S_{\bullet} \to S$. This follows from the following general fact: Let \mathcal{A} be an abelian category, and let $\Delta^+ \mathcal{A}$ be the category of cosimplicial objects, namely the abelian category of functors $\Delta^+ \to \mathcal{A}$. Let $\rho^*: \mathcal{A} \to \Delta^+ \mathcal{A}$ be functor assigning the constant object, and let $\rho_*: \Delta^+ \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{A}$ be the functor associating $\operatorname{Ker}(M_0 \rightleftharpoons M_1)$ to $\{M_i\}$. Then (ρ^*, ρ_*) is an adjoint pair. The verification is straightforward. The double simplicial case is similar.

2.1.12. The following spectral sequence is one of the keys to show the cohomological descent.

Lemma. Let $\mathcal{M} \in D^+(X_{\bullet})$. Then we have the following spectral sequence: $E_1^{p,q} := \mathbb{R}^q f_{p*}(\mathcal{M}_p) \Rightarrow \mathbb{R}^{p+q} f_*(\mathcal{M}).$

Proof. The construction is essentially the same as [O3, Corollary 2.7]. Since we use a similar argument again later, we sketch the proof. Let $\mathscr{N} \in M(X_i)$. We have a homomorphism $f_{0*}(\rho_{i*}(\mathscr{N})_0) \cong \prod_{[0]\to[i]} f_{i*}(\mathscr{N}) \to f_{i*}(\mathscr{N})$ where the second homomorphism is the projection to the component of the map $\alpha: [0] \to [i]$ such that the image is $0 \in [i]$. This induces a homomorphism from the Čech type complex:

$$C_i^{\bullet}(\mathscr{N}) := \left[0 \to f_{0*}(\rho_0^* \rho_{i*}(\mathscr{N})) \to f_{1*}(\rho_1^* \rho_{i*}(\mathscr{N})) \to f_{2*}(\rho_2^* \rho_{i*}(\mathscr{N})) \to \cdots \right]$$

to $f_{i*}(\mathscr{N})$. This homomorphism is in fact a homotopy equivalence. Indeed, the cohomologies of the complex $\widetilde{T} := [0 \to \prod_{[0] \to [i]} L \to \prod_{[1] \to [i]} L \to \cdots]$, which is isomorphic to that of the *i*-simplex, vanish except for degree 0, and since $K(\operatorname{Vec}_L) \cong D(\operatorname{Vec}_L)$, the homomorphism $\widetilde{T} \to L$ of the projection to the α -component is a homotopy equivalence. Since $C_i^{\bullet}(\mathscr{N}) \cong \widetilde{T} \otimes_L f_{i*}(\mathscr{N})$, we get the claim.

Now, for any $\mathscr{N} \in M(X_{\bullet})$, there exists an embedding $\mathscr{N} \hookrightarrow \mathscr{I}$ into an injective object in $M(X_{\bullet})$ such that the complex

$$(\star) \qquad 0 \to f_{0*}(\rho_0^*(\mathscr{I})) \to f_{1*}(\rho_1^*(\mathscr{I})) \to f_{2*}(\rho_2^*(\mathscr{I})) \to \cdots$$

is exact away from the degree 0 part. For this, take an embedding $\rho_i^* \mathscr{N} \hookrightarrow \mathscr{I}_{(i)}$ into an injective object in $M(X_i)$, and put $\mathscr{I} := \prod_i \rho_{i*}(\mathscr{I}_{(i)})$. Note that products can be calculated termwise by 2.1.5. Moreover, small products and f_{i*} commute by [KSc, 2.1.10] since f_{i*} admits a left adjoint f_i^* . This implies that (\star) is isomorphic to $\prod_i C_i^{\bullet}(\mathscr{I}_{(i)})$. Now, each $C_i^{\bullet}(\mathscr{I}_{(i)})$ is homotopic to $f_{i*}(\mathscr{I}_{(i)})$ by the observation above. Since homotopy equivalence is preserved even after taking product, we get that (\star) is homotopic to $\prod_i f_{i*}\mathscr{I}_{(i)}$; in particular, the complex is exact away from 0. Since ρ_{i*} preserves injective objects by Lemma 2.1.6 and the product of injective objects remains to be injective, \mathscr{I} is a desired object.

Finally, let $\mathcal{M} \to \mathscr{I}^{\bullet}$ be a resolution of \mathcal{M} consisting of the complex as above. We consider the double complex $\{f_{p*}\rho_p^*(\mathscr{I}^q)\}_{p,q\geq 0}$. The acyclicity of (\star) except for degree 0 shows that the total complex is $\mathbb{R}f_*(\mathcal{M})$, and thus the associated spectral sequence is the one we want.

Recall that by Lemma 1.2.8, or by 2.2.7 in the second read case, $\mathbb{R}f_{i*}$ preserves holonomicity. Thus, we have the following corollary:

Corollary. The functor $\mathbb{R}f_*$ preserves holonomicity and induces a functor $D^+_{hol}(X_{\bullet}) \to D^+_{hol}(S)$.

2.1.13. **Proposition.** Let $X \to S$ be a smooth surjective morphism between spaces, and put $f: X_{\bullet} := \operatorname{cosk}_{0}(X/S) \to S$. The adjoint pair of functors $(f^{*}, \mathbb{R}f_{*})$ induces an equivalence between $D_{\operatorname{tot}}^{\star}(X_{\bullet})$ and $D^{\star}(S)$ for $\star \in \{+, b\}$. Moreover, it induces an equivalence between $D_{\operatorname{hol}}^{\star}(X_{\bullet})$ and $D_{\operatorname{hol}}^{\star}(S)$.

Proof. The second claim follows by the first one since f^* and $\mathbb{R}f_*$ preserve the holonomicity by Corollary 2.1.12. Thus, it suffices to show that the canonical homomorphisms id $\to \mathbb{R}f_*f^*$ and $f^*\mathbb{R}f_* \to id$ are isomorphisms. For the first one,

it suffices to show the equalities after taking $i_s^!$ where s is a closed point of S and $i_s: \{s\} \hookrightarrow S$. By taking the fiber product, it induces a morphism of simplicial spaces $i_{X,s}: X_{s\bullet} \hookrightarrow X_{\bullet}$. Using Lemma 2.1.1, we have $\mathbb{R}f_{s*} \circ i_{X,s}^! \cong i_s^! \circ \mathbb{R}f_*$ where $f_s: X_{s\bullet} \to s$. Thus, by considering Lemma 1.3.7 (ii), this can be reduced to the situation where we have a section $s: S \to X_0$ of f_0 . In this case, the verification for the first homomorphism is the same as [Co1, Thm 7.2]. Let us recall the argument briefly. By using Lemma 2.1.12, we have the spectral sequence $E_1^{p,q} = \mathbb{R}^q f_{p*}(\mathcal{M}_p) \Rightarrow \mathbb{R}^{p+q} f_*(\mathcal{M})$. Put $E_1^{-1,q} := \mathbb{R}^q \mathrm{id}_*(\mathcal{M})$, which is \mathcal{M} if q = 0 and 0 otherwise. We claim that the complex defined by adjunction $0 \to E_1^{-1,q} \to E_1^{\bullet,q} \to 0$ where $E_1^{-1,q} \to E_1^{p-1,q}$ using the section s. For example, $E_1^{0,q} \to E_1^{-1,q}$ is constructed as follows: We have an isomorphism $s^+f_0^+\mathcal{M} \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathcal{M}$, which induces $f_0^+(\mathcal{M}) \to s_+(\mathcal{M})$ by adjunction. By taking f_{0+} and using the isomorphisms $f_{0+}s_+ \cong \mathrm{id}$ and $f_{0+}f_0^+ \cong f_{0*}f_0^*$, we obtain the desired homotopy. See [Co1] for details.

Let us show the second one. It suffices to show that the homomorphism of functors, before taking the derived functors, $f^*f_* \to id$ is an isomorphism. Indeed, if this is shown, we get that for $\mathscr{M} \in M(X_{\bullet})$, we have

$$\mathbb{R}f_*(\mathscr{M}) \xleftarrow{\sim} \mathbb{R}f_*(f^*f_*(\mathscr{M})) \xleftarrow{\sim} f_*(\mathscr{M}),$$

where the second quasi-isomorphism follows by the first part of the proof. Thus we have $\mathbb{R}^i f_*(\mathscr{M}) = 0$ for $i \neq 0$. Finally, let us show $f^*f_*(\mathscr{M}) \to \mathscr{M}$ is an isomorphism. As the proof of the first isomorphism, it suffices to show the claim when S is a point, and in particular there is a section $S \to X$. In this case, it suffices to show that there exists $\mathscr{N} \in M(S)$ such that $f^*(\mathscr{N}) \cong \mathscr{M}$, namely, \mathscr{M} is *effective descent*. Because of the existence of the section, this is automatic (for example, see [Gir, right after 6.15]).

2.1.14. Let $f: X_{\bullet} \to S$ be a smooth morphism from an admissible simplicial space to a space, and let $g: S' \to S$ be a smooth morphism between spaces. Consider the following cartesian diagram:

$$\begin{array}{c|c} X'_{\bullet} & \xrightarrow{g'} & X_{\bullet} \\ f' & \Box & & \downarrow f \\ S' & \xrightarrow{g} & S. \end{array}$$

For $\mathscr{M} \in M(X_{\bullet})$, the system $\{g_i^{**}(\mathscr{M}_i)\}_i$ defines an object of $M(X'_{\bullet})$, denoted by $g'^{*}(\mathscr{M})$. This functor g'^{*} is exact and preserves holonomicity. We can take the derived functor $g'^{*}: D_{hol}^{b}(X_{\bullet}) \to D_{hol}^{b}(X'_{\bullet})$. Similarly, for $\mathscr{N} \in M(X'_{\bullet})$, the system $\{g'_{i*}(\mathscr{N}_i)\}$ defines an object of $M(X_{\bullet})$ by Corollary 1.5.5, or by the following lemma in the second read case, and the assumption that g' is cartesian. This functor is left exact, and we have the right derived functor $\mathbb{R}g'_{*}$. The couple $(g'^{*}, \mathbb{R}g'_{*})$ is an adjoint pair.

Lemma. The canonical homomorphism $g^* \circ \mathbb{R}f_* \to \mathbb{R}f'_* \circ g'^*$ is an isomorphism.

Proof. By using the spectral sequence of Lemma 2.1.12, the verification is reduced to Corollary 1.5.5 or to the present lemma of the first read case in the second read. \Box

2.1.15. **Proposition.** Let \mathfrak{X} be a good stack, and let $X_{\bullet} \to \mathfrak{X}$ be a simplicial space presentation. Then for $\star \in \{b, +\}$, the categories $D_{tot}^{\star}(X_{\bullet})$ and $D_{hol}^{\star}(X_{\bullet})$ do not depend on the choice of the presentation up to canonical equivalence, and the *t*-structure as well.

Proof. Let $X_{\bullet} \to \mathfrak{X}$ and $X'_{\bullet} \to \mathfrak{X}$ be two presentations. Let $Z_{n,n'} := X_n \times_{\mathfrak{X}} X'_{n'}$. This defines a double simplicial space $Z_{\bullet \bullet}$ with projections $Z_{\bullet \bullet} \to X_{\bullet}$, and $Z_{\bullet \bullet} \to X'_{\bullet}$. Thus, it suffices to show the following: given a smooth morphism $f: Z_{\bullet \bullet} \to X_{\bullet}$ such that $(Z_{i\bullet} \to X_i) = \cosh(Z_{i0} \to X_i)$, the functors $\mathbb{R}f_*$ and f^* induce an equivalence of categories. First, the functors $\mathbb{R}f_*$ and f^* preserve holonomicity. Indeed, the preservation of holonomicity for f^* is easy, and for $\mathbb{R}f_*$ use (the double simplicial analogue of) Lemma 2.1.6 (ii), Lemma 2.1.14, and Corollary 2.1.12. If f^* , $\mathbb{R}f_*$ yield an equivalence between $D^*(X_{\bullet})$ and $D^*(Z_{\bullet \bullet})$, since they preserve holonomicity, they induce the equivalence of $D^*_{hol}(X_{\bullet})$ and $D^*_{hol}(Z_{\bullet \bullet})$, and the proposition follows.

Now, it remains to show that for $\mathcal{N} \in M(X_{\bullet})$ and $\mathcal{M} \in M(Z_{\bullet\bullet})$, the homomorphisms

$$f^* \mathbb{R} f_*(\mathscr{M}) \to \mathscr{M}, \qquad \mathscr{N} \to \mathbb{R} f_* f^*(\mathscr{N})$$

are isomorphisms. Since it suffices to show the isomorphism for each X_i , this follows from Proposition 2.1.13.

2.1.16. **Definition.** Let \mathfrak{X} be a good stack. Take a simplicial space presentation $X_{\bullet} \to \mathfrak{X}$. By the proposition above, for $\star \in \{b, +\}$, the categories $D_{\text{tot}}^{\star}(X_{\bullet}/L_{\bullet})$ and $D_{\text{hol}}^{\star}(X_{\bullet}/L_{\bullet})$ do not depend on the choice of the presentation. We denote these categories by $D^{\star}(\mathfrak{X}/L_{\bullet})$ and $D_{\text{hol}}^{\star}(\mathfrak{X}/L_{\bullet})$, or more precisely $D^{\star}(\mathfrak{X}/\mathfrak{T}_{\bullet})$ and $D_{\text{hol}}^{\star}(\mathfrak{X}/\mathfrak{T}_{\bullet})$. We often omit $(\cdot)_{\bullet}$ as usual. These categories are endowed with t-structure, and their hearts are denoted by $M(\mathfrak{X}/L)$ and $\text{Hol}(\mathfrak{X}/L)$, respectively. Objects of $\text{Hol}(\mathfrak{X}/L)$ are called *holonomic modules on* \mathfrak{X} . As usual, we often even omit "/L" from the notation of categories.

Remark. (i) When \mathfrak{X} is a realizable scheme, $D_{\text{hol}}^{\text{b}}(\mathfrak{X})$ is equivalent to the one defined in 1.1.1 by Proposition 2.1.13.

(ii) Let $X_{\bullet} \to \mathfrak{X}$ be a simplicial space presentation. Then ρ_0^* is conservative, namely, $\rho_0^*(\mathscr{M}) = 0$ for $\mathscr{M} \in D^+_{hol}(\mathfrak{X})$ if and only if $\mathscr{M} = 0$. Indeed, $\rho_0^*(\mathscr{M}) = 0$ implies $\rho_i^*(\mathscr{M}) = 0$, so the only if part holds.

2.1.17. **Definition.** (i) Let \mathfrak{X} be a good stack. Assume further that the associated reduced algebraic stack \mathfrak{X}_{red} is smooth. Let $X_{\bullet} \to \mathfrak{X}$ be a simplicial space presentation. The category of smooth objects denoted by $\operatorname{Sm}(\mathfrak{X}/L)$ is the full subcategory of $D^{\mathrm{b}}_{\mathrm{hol}}(\mathfrak{X}/L)$ consisting of \mathscr{M} such that, for any i, $\operatorname{for}_{L}(\rho_{i}^{*}\mathscr{M}) \in D^{\mathrm{b}}_{\mathrm{hol}}(X_{i}/K)$ is in $\operatorname{Sm}(X_{i}/K)[d_{i}]$, where d_{i} denotes the relative dimension function (cf. 0.0.3) of $X \to \mathfrak{X}$, and see 1.1.3 (12) for the notation of $\operatorname{Sm}(X/K)$. It is straightforward to check that the category does not depend on the choice of the presentation.

(ii) Let \mathfrak{X} be a good stack, and let $\mathscr{M} \in \operatorname{Hol}(\mathfrak{X})$. The support of \mathscr{M} is the minimum closed subset $Z \subset \mathfrak{X}$ such that the restriction of \mathscr{M} to $\mathfrak{X} \setminus Z$ is 0. The support is denoted by $\operatorname{Supp}(\mathscr{M})$. For $\mathscr{M} \in D^{\mathrm{b}}_{\mathrm{hol}}(\mathfrak{X}/L)$, we put $\operatorname{Supp}(\mathscr{M}) := \bigcup_{i} \operatorname{Supp}(\mathscr{H}^{i}\mathscr{M})$.

2.1.18. Let X_{\bullet} be an admissible simplicial space. Since $M(X_{\bullet})$ has enough injectives, we have the bifunctor $\mathbb{R}\operatorname{Hom}_{D(X_{\bullet})}(-,-): D(X_{\bullet})^{\circ} \times D^{+}(X_{\bullet}) \to D(\operatorname{Vec}_{L})$ (cf. [Ha, I, §6]). This induces the bifunctor

$$\mathbb{R}\mathrm{Hom}_{D(\mathfrak{X})}(-,-)\colon D^+(\mathfrak{X})^{\circ} \times D^+(\mathfrak{X}) \to D^+(\mathrm{Vec}_L)$$

Indeed, $\mathbb{R}\text{Hom}_{D(X_{\bullet})}$ does not depend on the choice of simplicial space presentation $X_{\bullet} \to \mathfrak{X}$. To check this, let $f: Z_{\bullet \bullet} \to X_{\bullet}$ be as in the proof of Proposition 2.1.15. Then we have a canonical homomorphism $\mathbb{R}\text{Hom}_{D(X_{\bullet})}(\mathcal{M}, \mathcal{N}) \to \mathbb{R}\text{Hom}_{D(Z_{\bullet \bullet})}(f^*(\mathcal{M}), f^*(\mathcal{N}))$ for $\mathcal{M} \in D(X_{\bullet}), \ \mathcal{N} \in D^+(X_{\bullet})$. It suffices to show that this homomorphism is a quasi-isomorphism when $\mathcal{M}, \mathcal{N} \in D^+_{\text{tot}}(X_{\bullet})$. This follows since the pair $(f^*, \mathbb{R}f_*)$ is an equivalence of categories.

In the following, for simplicity, we use particularly $D_{\text{hol}}^{\star}(\mathfrak{X}/L)$ even when we can generalize statements or constructions to $D^{\star}(\mathfrak{X}/L)$ easily.

2.1.19. We conclude this subsection with the following lemma that we use later, whose proof is similar to the proof of Proposition 2.1.15.

Lemma. Let \mathfrak{X} and \mathfrak{Y} be good stacks, and let X_{\bullet} and Y_{\bullet} be simplicial space presentations. Let $(X \times Y)_{n,n'} := X_n \times Y_{n'}$, which forms a double simplicial space denoted by $(X \times Y)_{\bullet \bullet}$. Then we have a canonical equivalence

$$D^+_{\mathrm{hol}}(\mathfrak{X} \times \mathfrak{Y}) \xrightarrow{\sim} D^+_{\mathrm{hol}}((X \times Y)_{\bullet \bullet}).$$

2.2. Cohomological functors. In this subsection, we define some cohomological functors for algebraic stacks. Even though six functor formalism is expected for algebraic stacks, unfortunately, at this moment, we can obtain full formalism only for admissible stacks (cf. Definition 2.3.1), which is enough for our purposes. In this subsection, we define functors that we can define for general algebraic stacks.

Finite morphism case.

2.2.1. First, we will define the adjoint pair $(f_+, f^!)$ when f is a finite morphism between good stacks. To do this, we only need to translate the functor constructed in 2.1.10 in the language of algebraic stacks.

Let $f: \mathfrak{X} \to \mathfrak{Y}$ be a finite morphism between good stacks. Let us define $f^!$ and f_+ . Take a simplicial space presentation $Y_{\bullet} \to \mathfrak{Y}$. By pulling back, we get a simplicial space presentation $X_{\bullet} \to \mathfrak{X}$. Let $f_{\bullet}: X_{\bullet} \to Y_{\bullet}$ be the finite cartesian morphism. Let $\star \in \{b, +\}$. We define

$$f_+: D^{\star}_{\mathrm{hol}}(\mathfrak{X}) \cong D^{\star}_{\mathrm{hol}}(X_{\bullet}) \rightleftharpoons D^{\star}_{\mathrm{hol}}(Y_{\bullet}) \cong D^{\star}_{\mathrm{hol}}(\mathfrak{Y}): f^!.$$

We need to check the well-definedness, namely independence of the presentation. By the adjointness property, it suffices to show the independence for f_+ . As in the proof of Proposition 2.1.15, it suffices to show the following: Consider the cartesian diagram

$$Z_{\bullet\bullet} \xrightarrow{g_{\bullet}} W_{\bullet\bullet}$$

$$p \downarrow \qquad \Box \qquad \downarrow q$$

$$X_{\bullet} \xrightarrow{f_{\bullet}} Y_{\bullet}.$$

Then $q^* \circ f_{\bullet+} \cong g_{\bullet+} \circ p^* \colon M(X_{\bullet}) \to M(W_{\bullet\bullet})$. The verification is straightforward and is left to the reader. We have the pair $(f_+, f^!)$ of adjoint functors between $D^*_{\text{hol}}(\mathfrak{X})$ and $D^*_{\text{hol}}(\mathfrak{Y})$.

Now, let $\mathfrak{X} \xrightarrow{f} \mathfrak{Y} \xrightarrow{g} \mathfrak{Z}$ be finite morphisms of good stacks. We have canonical isomorphisms

$$c_{(g,f)} \colon f^! \circ g^! \xrightarrow{\sim} (g \circ f)^!, \qquad c^{(g,f)} \colon (g \circ f)_+ \xrightarrow{\sim} g_+ \circ f_+.$$

970

These isomorphisms are subject to the following two conditions: 1. we have $c_{(f,id)} = c_{(id,f)} = id$, $c^{(f,id)} = c^{(id,f)} = id$; 2. given homomorphisms $\mathfrak{X} \xrightarrow{f} \mathfrak{Y} \xrightarrow{g} \mathfrak{Z} \xrightarrow{h} \mathfrak{W}$, we have

$$c_{(h,g\circ f)} \circ c_{(g,f)}(h^!) = c_{(h\circ g,f)} \circ f^!(c_{(h,g)}), \qquad h_+ c^{(g,f)} \circ c^{(h,g\circ f)} = c^{(h,g)}(f_+) \circ c^{(h\circ g,f)}.$$

These results can be rephrased by using the language of (co)fibered categories (cf. [SGA1, Exp. VII, end of 7]) as follows. Let $\operatorname{St}^{\operatorname{fin}}(k)$ the be the category of good stacks (we do not consider the 2-morphisms) over k such that the morphisms are finite morphisms between good stacks. To a good stack \mathfrak{X} , we associate the triangulated category $D_{\operatorname{hol}}^{\star}(\mathfrak{X})$. For a finite morphism $\mathfrak{X} \to \mathfrak{Y}$, we consider the functor $f^{!}$, and $c_{(f,g)}$. Then these data form a fibered category $\mathscr{F}^{!} \to \operatorname{St}^{\operatorname{fin}}(k)$. Considering f_{+} and $c^{(f,g)}$, we get a cofibered category $\mathscr{F}_{\oplus} \to \operatorname{St}^{\operatorname{fin}}(k)$.

Dual functors.

2.2.2. Let $f: X \to Y$ be a smooth morphism of relative dimension d between spaces. Then we have a canonical isomorphism $(f^* \circ \mathbb{D}_Y)(d) \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathbb{D}_X \circ f^*$ by Lemma 2.1.1. Now, let X_{\bullet} be an admissible simplicial space, and assume we are given a smooth morphism $X_{\bullet} \to \mathfrak{X}$ to an algebraic stack. We have the dual autofunctor $\mathbb{D}_{X_i}: \operatorname{Hol}(X_i)^\circ \xrightarrow{\sim} \operatorname{Hol}(X_i)$. We modify this functor by putting $\widetilde{\mathbb{D}}_i := (d_{X_i/\mathfrak{X}}) \circ \mathbb{D}_{X_i}$, where $d_{X_i/\mathfrak{X}}$ denotes the relative dimension function (cf. 0.0.3).

Now, we use the notation of Lemma 2.1.9 and §A.1. Let $\mathcal{M}_{\bullet} \in \text{sec}_{+}(\text{Hol}(X_{\bullet})_{\bullet})$. For a morphism $\phi \colon [i] \to [j]$, let $\alpha_{\phi} \colon X(\phi)^* \mathcal{M}_i \to \mathcal{M}_j$ be the gluing homomorphism. Let

$$\beta_{\phi} \colon \widetilde{\mathbb{D}}_{j}(\mathscr{M}_{j}) \to \widetilde{\mathbb{D}}_{j}\big(X(\phi)^{*}(\mathscr{M}_{i})\big) \xleftarrow{\sim} X(\phi)^{*}\widetilde{\mathbb{D}}_{i}(\mathscr{M}_{i}).$$

The data $\{\widetilde{\mathbb{D}}_i(\mathscr{M}_i), \beta_{\phi}\}$ defines an object in sec_(Hol($X_{\bullet})_{\bullet}$) and defines a functor

$$\mathbb{D}_{X_{\bullet}/\mathfrak{X}_{-}} \colon \mathrm{sec}_{+}(\mathrm{Hol}(X_{\bullet})_{\bullet})^{\circ} \to \mathrm{sec}_{-}(\mathrm{Hol}(X_{\bullet})_{\bullet}).$$

Similarly, we can define the functor $\mathbb{D}_{X_{\bullet}/\mathfrak{X}^{+}}$: sec_ $(\operatorname{Hol}(X_{\bullet})_{\bullet})^{\circ} \to \operatorname{sec}_{+}(\operatorname{Hol}(X_{\bullet})_{\bullet})$, and we have canonical isomorphisms $c_{\mp} \circ \mathbb{D}_{X_{\bullet}/\mathfrak{X}^{\pm}} \cong \mathbb{D}_{X_{\bullet}/\mathfrak{X}^{\mp}} \circ c_{\pm}$ by definition of c_{\pm} (cf. [BD, 7.4.2]). These functors are exact since $\widetilde{\mathbb{D}}_{i}$ is. Then we have

$$\begin{array}{ccc} D_{\mathrm{tot}}(\mathrm{sec}_{\pm}(\mathrm{Hol}(X_{\bullet})_{\bullet}))^{\circ} & \xrightarrow{\sim} & D_{\mathrm{tot}}(\mathrm{Hol}(X_{\bullet})_{\bullet})^{\circ} & \xrightarrow{\sim} & D_{\mathrm{hol}}(X_{\bullet})^{\circ} \\ & & & & & & \\ \mathbb{D}_{X_{\bullet}/\mathfrak{X}} \mp & & & & & \\ D_{\mathrm{tot}}(\mathrm{sec}_{\mp}(\mathrm{Hol}(X_{\bullet})_{\bullet})) & \xrightarrow{\sim} & D_{\mathrm{tot}}(\mathrm{Hol}(X_{\bullet})_{\bullet}) & \xrightarrow{\sim} & D_{\mathrm{hol}}(X_{\bullet}), \end{array}$$

where the left horizontal isomorphism follows by §A.1 and the right horizontal isomorphisms follow by Lemma 2.1.9. We define the dotted functor so that the square is commutative. The dotted functor is called the *dual functor* on $D(X_{\bullet})$. By construction, the functor is exact. Moreover, we have a canonical isomorphism $\mathbb{D}'_{X_{\bullet}} \circ \mathbb{D}'_{X_{\bullet}} \cong \mathrm{id}.$

Let \mathfrak{X} be a good stack. Take a simplicial space presentation $X_{\bullet} \to \mathfrak{X}$. We can check that $\mathbb{D}_{X_{\bullet}/\mathfrak{X}}$ does not depend on the choice of presentation. Thus, we get a functor

$$\mathbb{D}'_{\mathfrak{X}}: D^{\mathrm{b}}_{\mathrm{hol}}(\mathfrak{X})^{\circ} \to D^{\mathrm{b}}_{\mathrm{hol}}(\mathfrak{X}).$$

We have a canonical isomorphism of functors $\mathbb{D}'_{\mathfrak{X}} \circ \mathbb{D}'_{\mathfrak{X}} \cong \mathrm{id}$.

Remark. Later, in 2.3.13, we define another dual functor \mathbb{D} . This is because \mathbb{D}' is not suited to show some fundamental properties of dual functors. The reason we introduced \mathbb{D}' at this point is to show the existence of the left adjoint of f_+ for finite morphism f.

2.2.3. Lemma. Let $f: \mathfrak{X} \to \mathfrak{Y}$ be a finite morphism between good stacks. Then there exists a canonical isomorphism

$$\mathbb{D}'_{\mathfrak{Y}} \circ f_+ \xrightarrow{\sim} f_+ \circ \mathbb{D}'_{\mathfrak{X}} \colon D^{\mathrm{b}}_{\mathrm{hol}}(\mathfrak{X})^{\circ} \to D^{\mathrm{b}}_{\mathrm{hol}}(\mathfrak{Y}).$$

Proof. Take a simplicial space presentation $Y_{\bullet} \to \mathfrak{Y}$, and let $X_{\bullet} \to \mathfrak{X}$ be the pullback. We denote by $f_k \colon X_k \to Y_k$ the finite morphism induced by f. Since $f_{k+}(\mathscr{M})$ is in $\operatorname{Hol}(Y_k)$ when $\mathscr{M} \in \operatorname{Hol}(X_k)$ and f_{k+} and $X(\phi)^*$ commute canonically, we can define the push-forward functors $f_{\pm*} \colon \operatorname{sec}_{\pm}(\operatorname{Hol}(X_{\bullet})_{\bullet}) \to \operatorname{sec}_{\pm}(\operatorname{Hol}(Y_{\bullet})_{\bullet})$ by sending $\{\mathscr{M}_i\}$ to $\{f_{i+}\mathscr{M}_i\}$ with an obvious gluing homomorphism. By the definition of the functors c_{\pm} , the following diagrams are commutative:

Thus, it is reduced to constructing an isomorphism $\mathbb{D}_{Y_{\bullet}/\mathfrak{Y}} \circ f_{+*} \cong f_{-*} \circ \mathbb{D}_{X_{\bullet}/\mathfrak{X}}$. Since all the functors we used are exact, the verification is easy.

Definition. The lemma shows that f_+ has a left adjoint functor

$$\mathbb{D}'_{\mathfrak{X}} \circ f^{!} \circ \mathbb{D}'_{\mathfrak{Y}} \colon D^{\mathrm{b}}_{\mathrm{hol}}(\mathfrak{Y}) \to D^{\mathrm{b}}_{\mathrm{hol}}(\mathfrak{X}).$$

This right adjoint functor is denoted by f^+ . Since $f^!$ is left exact, f^+ is right exact. Summing up, when f is finite, we have two pairs of adjoint functors (f^+, f_+) and $(f_+, f^!)$. By taking the dual to 2.2.1, f^+ yields a fibered category $\mathscr{F}^{\oplus} \to \operatorname{St}^{\operatorname{fin}}(k)$.

2.2.4. Lemma. Let $f: \mathfrak{C} \to \mathfrak{C}'$ be a finite morphism in $\mathrm{St}^{\mathrm{fin}}(k)$.

(i) Assume f is surjective radicial morphism. Then f_+ and f^+ define an equivalence of categories between $D^{\rm b}_{\rm hol}(\mathfrak{C}')$ and $D^{\rm b}_{\rm hol}(\mathfrak{C})$, and ${\rm Hol}(\mathfrak{C}')$ and ${\rm Hol}(\mathfrak{C})$.

(ii) Assume f is an étale morphism. Then for any $\mathscr{M} \in \operatorname{Hol}(\mathfrak{C})$, it is a direct factor of $f^+f_+(\mathscr{M})$.

(iii) If f is a flat morphism, then for any $\mathscr{M} \in D^{\mathrm{b}}_{\mathrm{hol}}(\mathfrak{C}')$, \mathscr{M} is a direct factor of $f_+f^+(\mathscr{M})$.

Proof. For (i), it suffices to show the claim when \mathfrak{C} and \mathfrak{C}' are schemes. This is nothing but Lemma 1.1.3 in the first read case, and the second read case can be reduced to the first one immediately. For (iii), we can define homomorphisms $f_+f^+(\mathscr{M}) \to \mathscr{M}$ using the trace map of realizable schemes, and the claim follows easily.

For (ii), let $C'_{\bullet} \to \mathfrak{C}'$ be a simplicial space presentation. Put $\mathscr{M}_i := \rho_i^*(\mathscr{M})$, and $f_i: \mathfrak{C} \times_{\mathfrak{C}'} C'_i \to C'_i$. We have the morphisms $\mathscr{M}_i \to f_i^+ f_{i+}(\mathscr{M}_i) \to \mathscr{M}_i$. Here the first morphism is defined by the trace map in the first read case and, in the second read case, we use the homomorphism defined in the first read case for first morphism. The composition is an isomorphism. Indeed, by [AC1, 1.3.11], it is reduced to checking the claim when f_i is $\coprod_{j \in J} \operatorname{Spec}(k') \to \operatorname{Spec}(k')$, where k' is a finite extension of k and J is a finite set. In this case, the verification is easy. Moreover, these homomorphisms are compatible with gluing homomorphisms, so they define homomorphisms $\alpha \colon \mathscr{M} \to f^+ f_+ \mathscr{M}$ and $\beta \colon f^+ f_+ \mathscr{M} \to \mathscr{M}$, and the composition $\beta \circ \alpha$ is an isomorphism, thus the claim follows.

Exterior tensor product.

2.2.5. Let us define the exterior tensor product. Let X_{\bullet} and Y_{\bullet} be admissible simplicial spaces. Given \mathscr{M}_{\bullet} and \mathscr{N}_{\bullet} in $M(X_{\bullet})$ and $M(Y_{\bullet})$, respectively, the collection $\{\mathscr{M}_i \boxtimes \mathscr{N}_i\}_i$ defines an object in $M(X_{\bullet} \times Y_{\bullet})$. This is denoted by $\mathscr{M} \boxtimes \mathscr{N}$. The functor is exact, and we can take the derived functor to get

$$(-) \boxtimes (-) \colon D(M(X_{\bullet})) \times D(M(Y_{\bullet})) \to D(M(X_{\bullet} \times Y_{\bullet})).$$

We can check easily that this preserves holonomicity and boundedness.

Let \mathfrak{X} and \mathfrak{Y} be good stacks, and take simplicial space presentations $X_{\bullet} \to \mathfrak{X}$ and $Y_{\bullet} \to \mathfrak{Y}$. Then $X_{\bullet} \times Y_{\bullet}$ is a simplicial space presentation of the good stack $\mathfrak{X} \times \mathfrak{Y}$. Since \boxtimes does not depend on the choice of presentation, we get the exterior tensor product for good stacks.

2.2.6. Lemma. Let $f: \mathfrak{X} \to \mathfrak{Y}, g: \mathfrak{X}' \to \mathfrak{Y}'$ be finite morphisms between good stacks. Then we have canonical isomorphisms $f_+(-)\boxtimes g_+(-)\cong (f\times g)_+((-)\boxtimes (-))$, $f^*(-)\boxtimes g^*(-)\cong (f\times g)^*((-)\boxtimes (-))$ where $* \in \{+, !\}$, and $\mathbb{D}'((-)\boxtimes (-))\cong \mathbb{D}'(-)\boxtimes \mathbb{D}'(-)$.

Proof. For the commutation of external tensor product and dual functors, see [AC1, 1.3.3], and for the pushforward, use Proposition 1.1.7. Since the proofs are straightforward, we leave the details to the reader. \Box

Smooth morphism case.

2.2.7. Let $f: \mathfrak{X} \to \mathfrak{Y}$ be a smooth morphism between good stacks. Take simplicial space presentations $Y_{\bullet} \to \mathfrak{Y}$ and $X_{\bullet} \to \mathfrak{X}$. Let $X_{n,m} := X_n \times_{\mathfrak{Y}} Y_m$, which defines a double simplicial space $X_{\bullet\bullet}$ with obvious face morphisms, and morphisms $\tilde{f}: X_{\bullet\bullet} \to Y_{\bullet}$ and $g: X_{\bullet\bullet} \to X_{\bullet}$. By (the double simplicial analogue of) Proposition 2.1.13, g^* and $\mathbb{R}g_*$ induce an equivalence between $D^+(X_{\bullet\bullet})$ and $D^+(X_{\bullet}) \cong D^+(\mathfrak{X})$. Thus, we have functors

$$\mathbb{R}f_*\colon D^+(\mathfrak{X})\cong D^+(X_{\bullet\bullet})\rightleftharpoons D^+(Y_{\bullet})\cong D^+(\mathfrak{Y})\colon f^*,$$

where the middle functors are induced by $\mathbb{R}\tilde{f}_*$ and \tilde{f}^* . These functors preserve holonomicity by Corollary 2.1.12. We need to check that these functors do not depend on the choice of the presentations. By the adjointness property, it suffices to check it for f^* . The verification is easy and is left to the reader. It is also straightforward to check that f^* is an exact functor and satisfies the transitivity, namely given smooth morphisms $\mathfrak{X} \xrightarrow{f} \mathfrak{Y} \xrightarrow{g} \mathfrak{Z}$ between good stacks, we have a canonical isomorphism $(g \circ f)^* \cong f^* \circ g^*$.

Lemma. Assume f is of relative dimension d. We have a canonical isomorphism $\mathbb{D}'_{\mathfrak{X}} \circ f^* \cong (d) \circ f^* \circ \mathbb{D}'_{\mathfrak{Y}}$.

Proof. The proof is similar to Lemma 2.2.3, using Lemma 2.1.1 (ii).

TOMOYUKI ABE

2.2.8. Now, assume that f is an *open immersion* of good stacks. Then $X_{\bullet} := Y_{\bullet} \times_{\mathfrak{Y}} \mathfrak{X}$ is a simplicial space presentation of \mathfrak{X} . The canonical morphism $X_{\bullet} \to Y_{\bullet}$ is denoted by h. Then we have the commutative diagram of double simplicial spaces

$$X_{\bullet\bullet} \xrightarrow{\tilde{f}} Y_{\bullet}$$

This implies that the composition $D^+(\mathfrak{X}) \cong D^+(X_{\bullet}) \xrightarrow{\mathbb{R}h_*} D^+(Y_{\bullet}) \cong D^+(\mathfrak{Y})$ is canonically isomorphic to $\mathbb{R}f_*$, and similarly for f^* . Now we have:

Lemma. The functor $\mathbb{R}f_*$ sends $D^{\mathrm{b}}_{\mathrm{hol}}(\mathfrak{X})$ to $D^{\mathrm{b}}_{\mathrm{hol}}(\mathfrak{Y})$.

Proof. It suffices to show that $\mathbb{R}h_*$ preserves the boundedness. This can be seen similarly to Lemma 2.1.10 (i).

Changing the notation, we put j := f and $j^+ := j^* \colon D^{\mathrm{b}}_{\mathrm{hol}}(\mathfrak{Y}) \to D^{\mathrm{b}}_{\mathrm{hol}}(\mathfrak{X})$, $j_+ := \mathbb{R}j_* \colon D^{\mathrm{b}}_{\mathrm{hol}}(\mathfrak{X}) \to D^{\mathrm{b}}_{\mathrm{hol}}(\mathfrak{Y})$. We define the functor $j_!$ so that $(j_!, j^+)$ is an adjoint pair. Such a functor exists since by the above lemma and Lemma 2.2.7, and $\mathbb{D}'_{\mathfrak{Y}} \circ j_+ \circ \mathbb{D}'_{\mathfrak{X}}$ is left adjoint to j^+ . Thus, we have pairs of adjoint functors (j^+, j_+) and $(j_!, j^+)$. Now, since $j^+j_+ \cong$ id, we have a canonical homomorphism of functors $j_! \to j_+$. In particular, this induces a functor

$$j_{!+} := \operatorname{Im}(\mathscr{H}^0 j_! \to \mathscr{H}^0 j_+) \colon \operatorname{Hol}(\mathfrak{X}) \to \operatorname{Hol}(\mathfrak{Y}),$$

called the *intermediate extension functor*.

2.2.9. **Lemma.** Let $j: \mathfrak{U} \hookrightarrow \mathfrak{X}$ be an open immersion between good stacks, and let $i: \mathfrak{Z} \hookrightarrow \mathfrak{X}$ be its complement. Then, we have the following exact triangles:

$$i_+i^! \to \mathrm{id} \to j_+j^+ \xrightarrow{+1}, \qquad j_!j^+ \to \mathrm{id} \to i_+i^+ \xrightarrow{+1},$$

where the homomorphisms are defined by adjunctions.

Proof. Let us check the left one. Let $X_{\bullet} \to \mathfrak{X}$ be a simplicial realizable scheme presentation, and let \mathscr{I}^{\bullet} be a complex of injective objects in $C(X_{\bullet})$. By abuse of notation, we denote the open and closed immersions $\mathfrak{U} \times_{\mathfrak{X}} X_k \hookrightarrow X_k$ and $\mathfrak{Z} \times_{\mathfrak{X}} X_k \hookrightarrow$ X_k by j and i, respectively. By construction and Lemma 2.1.10, i_+ and $i^!$ commute with ρ_k^* . By definition, j^+ commutes also with ρ_k^* . Moreover, j^+ commutes with $\rho_{k!}$ as well, which implies that their right adjoint functors j_+ and ρ_k^* commute. Thus, it suffices to show that the sequence

$$0 \to i_+ i^!(\rho_k^*(\mathscr{I}^l)) \to \rho_k^*(\mathscr{I}^j) \to j_+ j^+(\rho_k^*(\mathscr{I}^l)) \to 0$$

is exact. This follows by Lemma 1.2.11. The right triangle is exact by duality. $\hfill\square$

Projection case.

2.2.10. We define the push-forward functor for a projection $\mathfrak{X} \times \mathfrak{Y} \to \mathfrak{Y}$. The method here is close to the definition of $Rf^{!}$ in [SGA4, XVIII, 3.1]. We start with the following lemma:

Lemma. Let X_{\bullet} and Y_{\bullet} be admissible simplicial spaces, and let \mathscr{A} be an object in $M(X_{\bullet})$. Let

 $p_{\mathscr{A}}^* := \mathscr{A} \boxtimes (-) \colon M(Y_{\bullet}) \to M((X \times Y)_{\bullet \bullet}),$

where we use the notation of Lemma 2.1.19. Then there exists a right adjoint denoted by $p_{\mathscr{A}*}$.

Proof. Since the functor $p_{\mathscr{A}}^*$ is exact and commutes with direct sums by definition, it commutes with arbitrary inductive limits by [KSc, 2.2.9]. Since $M(Y_{\bullet})$ is a Grothendieck category and $p_{\mathscr{A}}^*$ commutes with inductive limits, the existence follows from the adjoint functor theorem (cf. [KSc, 8.3.27 (iii)]).

Given a homomorphism $\mathscr{A} \to \mathscr{B}$ in $M(X_{\bullet})$, we have a natural homomorphism of functors

$$p_{\mathscr{A}}^* p_{\mathscr{B}*} \to p_{\mathscr{B}}^* p_{\mathscr{B}*} \to \mathrm{id},$$

where the last homomorphism is the adjunction. Taking the adjoint, we get a homomorphism $p_{\mathscr{B}*} \to p_{\mathscr{A}*}$. Obviously, if the homomorphism $\mathscr{A} \to \mathscr{B}$ is 0, the induced morphism of functors is 0 as well. Thus, for a complex $\mathscr{A}^{\bullet} \in C(M(X_{\bullet}))$, we have a complex of functors

$$p_{\mathscr{A}^{\bullet_*}}: [\cdots \to p_{\mathscr{A}^{i+1}*} \to p_{\mathscr{A}^{i}*} \to \cdots],$$

where $p_{\mathscr{A}^{i_*}}$ is placed at the degree -i term.

2.2.11. Lemma. Let \mathscr{I} be an injective object in $M((X \times Y)_{\bullet \bullet})$. Then the contravariant functor

$$p_{-*}(\mathscr{I}): M(X_{\bullet})^{\circ} \to M(Y_{\bullet})$$

sending \mathscr{A} to $p_{\mathscr{A}*}(\mathscr{I})$ is exact.

Proof. Let $0 \to \mathscr{A}' \to \mathscr{A} \to \mathscr{A}'' \to 0$ be a short exact sequence. It suffices to show that, for any \mathscr{N} in $M(Y_{\bullet})$, the complex

 $0 \to \operatorname{Hom}(\mathscr{N}, p_{\mathscr{A}''*}(\mathscr{I})) \to \operatorname{Hom}(\mathscr{N}, p_{\mathscr{A}*}(\mathscr{I})) \to \operatorname{Hom}(\mathscr{N}, p_{\mathscr{A}'*}(\mathscr{I})) \to 0$

is exact, which implies in fact that the sequence $0 \to p_{\mathscr{A}''*}(\mathscr{I}) \to p_{\mathscr{A}*}(\mathscr{I}) \to p_{\mathscr{A}*}(\mathscr{I}) \to 0$ is split exact. This follows by definition.

2.2.12. Corollary. Let \mathscr{C} be in $C(M(X_{\bullet}))$, and let $\mathscr{M} \in C((X \times Y)_{\bullet \bullet})$. We have the spectral sequence

$$E_2^{p,q} := \mathbb{R}^p p_{\mathscr{H}^{-q}(\mathscr{C})*}(\mathscr{M}) \Rightarrow \mathbb{R}^{p+q} p_{\mathscr{C}*}(\mathscr{M}).$$

Proof. The lemma shows that if \mathscr{I} is an injective object in $M((X \times Y)_{\bullet \bullet})$, we have

$$\mathscr{H}^{-i}([\dots \to p_{\mathscr{A}^{i+1}*}(\mathscr{I}) \to p_{\mathscr{A}^{i}*}(\mathscr{I}) \to p_{\mathscr{A}^{i-1}*}(\mathscr{I}) \to \cdots]) \cong p_{\mathscr{H}^{i}(\mathscr{A}^{\bullet})*}(\mathscr{I}).$$

Let \mathscr{I}^{\bullet} be an injective resolution of \mathscr{M} . Then the spectral sequence associated to the double complex $p_{\mathscr{A}^{\bullet}*}(\mathscr{I}^{\bullet})$ is the desired one.

2.2.13. Corollary. If a homomorphism of complexes $\mathscr{A}^{\bullet} \to \mathscr{B}^{\bullet}$ in $C(M(X_{\bullet}))$ is a quasi-isomorphism, the induced homomorphism of derived functors $\mathbb{R}p_{\mathscr{B}^{\bullet}*} \to \mathbb{R}p_{\mathscr{A}^{\bullet}*}$ is a quasi-isomorphism as well.

Proof. The homomorphism of functors $\mathbb{R}p_{\mathscr{B}^{\bullet_*}} \to \mathbb{R}p_{\mathscr{A}^{\bullet_*}}$ induces the homomorphism of spectral sequences



Since the left vertical homomorphism is an isomorphism, so is the right.

2.2.14. **Definition.** Let $\star \in \{\emptyset, b, +, -\}$, and let $\mathscr{C} \in C^{\star}(M(X_{\bullet}))$. We can take the derived functor of $p_{\mathscr{C}*}$ to get

 $p_{\mathscr{C}+} := \mathbb{R}p_{\mathscr{C}*} \colon D^+((X \times Y)_{\bullet \bullet}) \to D(Y_{\bullet}), \qquad p_{\mathscr{C}}^+ := p_{\mathscr{C}}^* \colon D^*(Y_{\bullet}) \to D^*((X \times Y)_{\bullet \bullet}).$ By Corollary 2.2.13, we may even take \mathscr{C} in $D(X_{\bullet})$. By definition, the pair $(p_{\mathscr{C}}^+, p_{\mathscr{C}+})$ is an adjoint pair.

Remark. Assume $\mathscr{C} \in M(X_{\bullet})$. Then by definition, for $\mathscr{M} \in M((X \times Y)_{\bullet \bullet})$, $\mathscr{H}^{i}p_{\mathscr{C}+}(\mathscr{M}) = 0$ for i < 0, and in particular, it sends D^{+} to D^{+} . Now, let $\mathscr{C} \in D(X_{\bullet})$ such that there exists an integer a with $\mathscr{H}^{i}\mathscr{C} = 0$ for a < i. Then by Corollary 2.2.13, for $\mathscr{M} \in M((X \times Y)_{\bullet \bullet})$, we have $\mathscr{H}^{i}p_{\mathscr{C}+}(\mathscr{M}) = 0$ for i < -a. In particular, the functor sends D^{+} to D^{+} as well.

2.2.15. Let us compute $p_{\mathscr{A}*}$ more concretely when $\mathscr{A}_{\bullet} \in \operatorname{Hol}(X_{\bullet})$. Let X_{\bullet} be an admissible simplicial space, and let Y be a space. Let $p: X_{\bullet} \times Y \to Y$ be the projection. Let $\mathscr{A}_{\bullet} \in \operatorname{Hol}(X_{\bullet})$. Take $\mathscr{M}_{\bullet} \in M(X_{\bullet} \times Y)$. For $\phi: [i] \to [j]$, we have the commutative diagram



Recall 1.2.10. Since $((X \times Y)(\phi)^* \circ p_{i\mathscr{A}_i}^*, p_{i\mathscr{A}_i*} \circ (X \times Y)(\phi)_*)$ is an adjoint pair and we have the canonical isomorphism $(X \times Y)(\phi)^* \circ p_{i\mathscr{A}_i}^* \cong p_{j\mathscr{A}_j}^*$, we have

$$p_{i\mathscr{A}_{i*}} \circ (X \times Y)(\phi)_{*} \cong p_{j\mathscr{A}_{i*}}.$$

This isomorphism together with the gluing homomorphism of \mathscr{M}_{\bullet} for ϕ induces a homomorphism $\alpha_{\phi} \colon p_{i\mathscr{A}_{i}*}(\mathscr{M}_{i}) \to p_{j\mathscr{A}_{j}*}(\mathscr{M}_{j})$. With this homomorphism, we define

$$p_{\mathscr{A}\bullet\times}(\mathscr{M}_{\bullet}) := \operatorname{Ker}(p_{0\mathscr{A}_{0}*}(\mathscr{M}_{0}) \rightrightarrows p_{1\mathscr{A}_{1}*}(\mathscr{M}_{1}))$$

Now, recall the notation of 2.1.19, and let Y_{\bullet} be an admissible simplicial space, and let $\mathscr{M}_{\bullet\bullet}$ be in $M((X \times Y)_{\bullet\bullet})$. Given a morphism $\psi \colon [k] \to [l]$, consider the following diagram:

$$(2.2.15.1) \qquad X_{\bullet} \times Y_{l} \xrightarrow{p^{l}} Y_{l}$$
$$(X \times Y)(\psi) \downarrow \qquad \Box \qquad \qquad \downarrow Y(\psi)$$
$$X_{\bullet} \times Y_{k} \xrightarrow{p^{k}} Y_{k}.$$

Then we have canonical homomorphisms in $M(Y_l)$,

$$Y(\psi)^* p_{\mathscr{A}_{\bullet}\times}^k(\mathscr{M}_{\bullet k}) \xrightarrow{\sim} p_{\mathscr{A}_{\bullet}\times}^l((X \times Y)(\psi)^*(\mathscr{M}_{\bullet k})) \to p_{\mathscr{A}_{\bullet}\times}^l(\mathscr{M}_{\bullet l}).$$

With this gluing homomorphism, we get a left exact functor

$$p_{\mathscr{A}_{\bullet}\times} := p^{\bullet}_{\mathscr{A}_{\bullet}\times} \colon M((X \times Y)_{\bullet\bullet}) \to M(Y_{\bullet}).$$

Lemma. The pair $(p^*_{\mathscr{A}_{\bullet}}, p_{\mathscr{A}_{\bullet}\times})$ is an adjoint pair. Thus, we have an isomorphism $p_{\mathscr{A}_{\bullet}\times} \cong p_{\mathscr{A}_{\bullet}*}$

Proof. The proof is essentially the same as that of Lemma 2.1.11, and we do not repeat it here. $\hfill \Box$

2.2.16. Lemma. Assume $\mathscr{A}_{\bullet} \in Hol(X_{\bullet})$. Then, there exists the following spectral sequence

$$E_1^{i,j} = \mathbb{R}^j p_{i\mathscr{A}_i*}(\mathscr{M}_i) \Rightarrow \mathscr{H}^{i+j} p_{\mathscr{A}+}(\mathscr{M}),$$

where $p_i: X_i \times Y_{\bullet} \to Y_{\bullet}$ is the projection.

Proof. By Lemma 2.2.15, it suffices to construct the spectral sequence for $p_{\mathscr{A}_{\bullet}\times}$. The construction is the same as that of Lemma 2.1.12, which is analogous to [O3, Corollary 2.7].

2.2.17. Now, we use these computations to show finiteness results of the functor defined in Definition 2.2.14:

Proposition. Let \mathscr{A} be an object of $D^{\mathrm{b}}_{\mathrm{hol}}(X_{\bullet})$.

(i) The functors $p_{\mathscr{A}+}$ and $p_{\mathscr{A}}^+$ induce functors between $D_{hol}^+((X \times Y)_{\bullet\bullet})$ and $D_{hol}^+(Y_{\bullet})$.

(ii) We have an adjoint pair $(p_{\mathscr{A}}^+, p_{\mathscr{A}+})$ between $D_{\text{hol}}^+(Y_{\bullet})$ and $D_{\text{hol}}^+((X \times Y)_{\bullet \bullet})$.

Proof. Let us show (i). First, let us check that for $\mathscr{M} \in D^{\mathrm{b}}_{\mathrm{hol}}((X \times Y)_{\bullet \bullet})$ and for integers $i \geq 0$ and n, $(\mathscr{H}^n p_{\mathscr{A}+}(\mathscr{M}))_i$ is in $\mathrm{Hol}(Y_i)$. By combining the spectral sequences of Corollary 2.2.12 and Lemma 2.2.16, it suffices to check the holonomicity of $\mathbb{R}^q p_{i\mathscr{H}^p}(\mathscr{A})_*(\mathscr{M}_i)$ for any integers p, q, i. This follows from 2.1.1 or 2.2.7. It remains to show that $\mathscr{H}^n p_{\mathscr{A}+}(\mathscr{M})$ is a total complex, namely for $\psi \colon [k] \to [l]$, the homomorphism

$$Y(\psi)^* p^k_{\mathscr{A}+}(\mathscr{M}_{\bullet k}) \to p^l_{\mathscr{A}+}(\mathscr{M}_{\bullet l})$$

is a quasi-isomorphism. We may assume $\mathscr{A} \in \operatorname{Hol}(X_{\bullet})$. In this case, this follows by smooth base change (cf. Corollary 1.5.5) and Lemma 2.2.16. Using (i), (ii) follows immediately by construction.

Remark. Unfortunately, the boundedness is not preserved as we can see from the standard example [LM, 18.3.3]. Thus, to get six functor formalism for algebraic stacks, dealing with unbounded derived category is essential as in [LO]. However, we only construct a complete formalism for admissible stacks (cf. Definition 2.3.1), and for a morphism between admissible stacks, the boundedness is preserved, so we do not use unbounded category.

2.2.18. As one can expect, these functors define functors for good stacks. Let \mathfrak{X} and \mathfrak{Y} be good stacks, and $\mathscr{A} \in D^{\mathrm{b}}_{\mathrm{hol}}(\mathfrak{X})$. Take simplicial space presentations $X_{\bullet} \to \mathfrak{X}$ and $Y_{\bullet} \to \mathfrak{Y}$. Then we have a functor

$$D^+_{\mathrm{hol}}(\mathfrak{X} \times \mathfrak{Y}) \cong D^+_{\mathrm{hol}}((X \times Y)_{\bullet \bullet}) \xrightarrow{p_{\mathscr{A}^+}} D^+_{\mathrm{hol}}(Y_{\bullet}) \cong D^+_{\mathrm{hol}}(\mathfrak{Y}),$$

and the same for $p_{\mathscr{A}}^+: D_{\text{hol}}^*(\mathfrak{Y}) \to D_{\text{hol}}^*(\mathfrak{X} \times \mathfrak{Y})$. The pair $(p_{\mathscr{A}}^+, p_{\mathscr{A}+})$ is an adjoint pair. Now, we have:

Lemma. The functors do not depend on the choice of presentation.

Proof. By the adjointness property, it suffices to show the lemma for $p_{\mathscr{A}}^+$, in which case the verification is easy.

Remark. When \mathfrak{X} and \mathfrak{Y} are realizable schemes, then $p_{\mathscr{A}+}$ coincides with the functor defined in 1.2.10, which justifies the notation. This follows since both functors are right adjoint to $p_{\mathscr{A}}^+$.

2.2.19. **Proposition.** Let $p: \mathfrak{X} \to \operatorname{Spec}(k)$ be the structural morphism of a good stack. Let \mathscr{A} be an object in $D^{\mathrm{b}}_{\mathrm{hol}}(\mathfrak{X})$. For any \mathscr{M} in $D^{+}_{\mathrm{hol}}(\mathfrak{X})$, we have a canonical isomorphism (recall 1.4.14 and 2.1.18 for the notation)

$$\mathbb{R}\Gamma \circ p_{\mathscr{A}+}(\mathscr{M}) \cong \mathbb{R}\mathrm{Hom}_{D(\mathfrak{X})}(\mathscr{A}, \mathscr{M}).$$

Proof. Take a simplicial space presentation $X_{\bullet} \to \mathfrak{X}$. For $\mathscr{A} \in C^{\mathrm{b}}(X_{\bullet})$ and $\mathscr{M} \in M(X_{\bullet})$, we have

 $\Gamma \circ p_{\mathscr{A}*}(\mathscr{M}) \cong \operatorname{Hom}_{M(\operatorname{Spec}(k))}(L, p_{\mathscr{A}*}(\mathscr{M})) \cong \operatorname{Hom}_{M(X_{\bullet})}(\mathscr{A}, \mathscr{M}).$

Now, $p_{\mathscr{A}^{i_*}}$ preserves injective objects since the left adjoint functor $p_{\mathscr{A}^{i}}^*$ is exact. This shows that $\mathbb{R}(\Gamma \circ p_{\mathscr{A}^*}) \cong \mathbb{R}\Gamma \circ \mathbb{R}p_{\mathscr{A}^*}$. Thus by the definition of $p_{\mathscr{A}^+}$, the proposition follows.

2.2.20. We have defined a pair of adjoint functors $(p_{\mathscr{A}}^+, p_{\mathscr{A}+})$, which depends on the choice of the complex \mathscr{A} . For the construction of normal pushforward and pullback, we need a *canonical choice* of \mathscr{A} , which is nothing but the unit object $L_{\mathfrak{X}}$ when \mathfrak{X} is a smooth realizable scheme. To construct this complex for good stacks, we need the following theorem of [BBD], as in the construction of [LO].

Theorem ([BBD, 3.2.4]). Let X_{\bullet} be an admissible simplicial space. Assume given data $\{\mathscr{C}_i, \alpha_{\phi}\}$ where $\mathscr{C}_i \in D^{\mathrm{b}}(X_{\bullet})$ and for $\phi : [i] \to [j], \alpha_{\phi} : X(\phi)^* \mathscr{C}_i \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathscr{C}_j$ satisfying the cocycle condition. Assume moreover that

$$\mathbb{R}^{i} \operatorname{Hom}_{D(X_{i})}(\mathscr{C}_{i}, \mathscr{C}_{i}) = 0$$

for any i < 0. Then there exists a unique $\mathscr{C} \in D^{\mathrm{b}}_{\mathrm{tot}}(X_{\bullet})$ such that $\rho_i^*(\mathscr{C}) \cong \mathscr{C}_i$ (cf. 2.1.6) and the gluing isomorphism is equal to α_{ϕ} via this isomorphism.

Proof. For the uniqueness, use the spectral sequence (2.1.5.1). The existence is more difficult. We use a construction of Beilinson and Drinfeld. In [BD, 7.4.10], they define an abelian category $hot_+(M(X_{\bullet}))$. This category is nothing but $tot(\mathcal{A}^+)$ in the notation of [BBD, 3.2.7] by taking $\mathcal{A}(n)$ to be $M(X_n)$. In [BD], they construct an equivalence of categories $s_+: Dsec_+(M(X_{\bullet})) \xrightarrow{\sim} Dhot_+(M(X_{\bullet}))$ and characterize $D_{tot}(X_{\bullet})$ in terms of Dhot. Even though the appearance is slightly different, this is the statement corresponding to [BBD, 3.2.17]. Thus, our task is to construct an object in $K(hot_+(M(X_{\bullet})))$. For this, we can copy the argument of [BBD, 3.2.9]. \Box

2.2.21. Lemma. Let $p: X \to \text{Spec}(k)$ be a morphism of spaces. Let $L_X := p^+(L)$. Then we have $\mathbb{R}^i \text{Hom}_{D(X)}(L_X, L_X) = 0$ for i < 0.

Proof. Consider the first read case, namely the case where X is a realizable scheme. Since for_L is conservative, we may assume that L = K. We have isomorphisms

$$\mathbb{R}\mathrm{Hom}_{D(X)}(L_X, L_X) \cong \mathbb{R}\Gamma p_+ \mathcal{H}om(L_X, L_X) \cong \mathbb{R}\Gamma p_+ p^+(L)$$

where we used Proposition 2.2.19 for the first isomorphism, and the second one follows since p^+ is monoidal and L_X is the unit object. Now the lemma follows by the left c-t-exactness of p_+ (cf. Lemma 1.3.4) and $\mathbb{R}\Gamma$. For the second read case, this can be reduced to the first read case by using (2.1.5.1).

2.2.22. Let \mathfrak{X} be a good stack, and let $X_{\bullet} \to \mathfrak{X}$ be a simplicial space presentation. Let us construct the unit complex on X_{\bullet} . The unit complex L_{X_i} in $D^{\mathrm{b}}_{\mathrm{hol}}(X_i/L)$ has already been defined. Let $\phi: [i] \to [j]$. Recall the notation in sections 0.0.3 and 0.0.4. We have a canonical isomorphism

$$X(\phi)^* \left(L_{X_i}[d_{X_i/\mathfrak{X}}] \right) \cong L_{X_j}[d_{X_j/\mathfrak{X}}].$$

By Lemma 2.2.21, the conditions in Theorem 2.2.20 are satisfied. Thus the data $\{L_{X_i}[d_{X_i/\mathfrak{X}}]\}_i$ yield an object $L_{X_{\bullet}/\mathfrak{X}}$ in $D^{\mathrm{b}}_{\mathrm{hol}}(X_{\bullet})$.

Lemma. The object $L_{X_{\bullet}/\mathfrak{X}}$ does not depend on the choice of simplicial presentation up to canonical isomorphism.

Proof. The proof is straightforward.

Definition. (i) We define the *unit complex* $L_{\mathfrak{X}}$ to be the object in $D^{\mathrm{b}}_{\mathrm{hol}}(\mathfrak{X})$ defined by $L_{X_{\bullet}/\mathfrak{X}}$ thanks to the lemma above.

(ii) We define the dualizing complex $L^{\omega}_{\mathfrak{X}}$ to be $\mathbb{D}'_{\mathfrak{X}}(L_{\mathfrak{X}})$.

Remark. We can construct $L^{\omega}_{\mathfrak{X}}$ similarly to $L_{\mathfrak{X}}$, without using the functor $\mathbb{D}'_{\mathfrak{X}}$.

2.2.23. **Lemma.** (i) Let \mathfrak{X} and \mathfrak{Y} be good stacks. Then we have $L_{\mathfrak{X}\times\mathfrak{Y}} \cong L_{\mathfrak{X}} \boxtimes L_{\mathfrak{Y}}$, and $L_{\mathfrak{X}\times\mathfrak{Y}}^{\omega} \cong L_{\mathfrak{X}}^{\omega} \boxtimes L_{\mathfrak{Y}}^{\omega}$.

(ii) Let $f: \mathfrak{X} \to \mathfrak{Y}$ be a finite morphism between good stacks. Then we have an isomorphism $\iota_f: f^+(L_{\mathfrak{Y}}) \cong L_{\mathfrak{X}}$ such that given another finite morphism $g: \mathfrak{Y} \to \mathfrak{Z}$, the isomorphism is compatible with composition: the composition $(g \circ f)^+(L_{\mathfrak{Z}}) \cong g^+(f^+(L_{\mathfrak{Z}})) \xrightarrow{\iota_f} g^+L_{\mathfrak{Y}} \xrightarrow{\iota_g} L_{\mathfrak{X}}$ is equal to $\iota_{g \circ f}$.

Proof. For (i), the first claim follows from the corresponding statement for spaces and the second by Lemma 2.2.6. Verification of (ii) is left to the reader. \Box

2.2.24. **Definition.** Let \mathfrak{X} and \mathfrak{Y} be good stacks. We put

$$p_{+} := p_{L_{\mathfrak{X}}+} \colon D^{+}_{\mathrm{hol}}(\mathfrak{X} \times \mathfrak{Y}) \to D^{+}_{\mathrm{hol}}(\mathfrak{Y}), \qquad p^{+} := p^{+}_{L_{\mathfrak{X}}} \colon D^{\mathrm{b}}_{\mathrm{hol}}(\mathfrak{Y}) \to D^{\mathrm{b}}_{\mathrm{hol}}(\mathfrak{X} \times \mathfrak{Y}).$$

Let $\mathfrak{X} \times \mathfrak{Y} \times \mathfrak{Z} \xrightarrow{f} \mathfrak{Y} \times \mathfrak{Z} \xrightarrow{g} \mathfrak{Z}$ be projections. By using the canonical isomorphism in Lemma 2.2.23, we have a canonical isomorphisms

$$(2.2.24.1) f^+ \circ g^+ \cong L_{\mathfrak{X}} \boxtimes (L_{\mathfrak{Y}} \boxtimes (-)) \cong L_{\mathfrak{X} \times \mathfrak{Y}} \boxtimes (-) \cong (g \circ f)^+.$$

By taking the adjoint, we also get a canonical isomorphism $(g \circ f)_+ \cong g_+ \circ f_+$.

2.2.25. Let $\mathfrak{X}^{(\prime)}, \mathfrak{Y}^{(\prime)}$ be good stacks, and take $\mathscr{A}^{(\prime)} \in D^{\mathrm{b}}_{\mathrm{hol}}(\mathfrak{X}^{(\prime)})$. Let $p^{(\prime)} \colon \mathfrak{X}^{(\prime)} \times \mathfrak{Y}^{(\prime)} \to \mathfrak{Y}^{(\prime)}$. Let $q \colon (\mathfrak{X} \times \mathfrak{X}') \times (\mathfrak{Y} \times \mathfrak{Y}') \to \mathfrak{Y} \times \mathfrak{Y}'$ be the projection. By definition, we have a canonical isomorphism

$$(2.2.25.1) p_{\mathscr{A}}^+(-) \boxtimes p_{\mathscr{A}'}^{\prime+}(-) \cong q_{\mathscr{A}\boxtimes\mathscr{A}'}^+(-\boxtimes -).$$

Now, we have

$$(2.2.25.2) \quad q^+_{\mathscr{A}\boxtimes\mathscr{A}'}\left(p_{\mathscr{A}+}(-)\boxtimes p'_{\mathscr{A}'+}(-)\right) \cong p^+_{\mathscr{A}}p_{\mathscr{A}+}(-)\boxtimes p'^+_{\mathscr{A}'}p'_{\mathscr{A}'+}(-) \to (-)\boxtimes (-),$$

where we used (2.2.25.1) for the first isomorphism.

Lemma. The homomorphism $p_{\mathscr{A}+}(-) \boxtimes p'_{\mathscr{A}'+}(-) \to q_{\mathscr{A} \boxtimes \mathscr{A}'+}((-) \boxtimes (-))$, defined by taking an adjoint to (2.2.25.2), is an isomorphism.

Proof. This can easily be reduced to the case where $\mathfrak{X}^{(l)}$ and $\mathfrak{Y}^{(l)}$ are spaces using the spectral sequences of Corollary 2.2.12 and Lemma 2.2.16. Using the same spectral sequences, we may assume further that $\mathfrak{X}^{(l)}$ and $\mathfrak{Y}^{(l)}$ are realizable schemes in the second read case. Now, for realizable schemes X and X' and $\mathscr{M}^{(l)}$, $\mathscr{N}^{(l)}$ in $D^{\mathrm{b}}_{\mathrm{hol}}(X^{(l)})$, we have

$$\mathcal{H}om(\mathscr{M} \boxtimes \mathscr{M}', \mathscr{N} \boxtimes \mathscr{N}') \cong \mathcal{H}om(\mathscr{M}, \mathscr{N}) \boxtimes \mathcal{H}om(\mathscr{M}', \mathscr{N}').$$

This follows by the isomorphism $\mathcal{H}om(\mathcal{M}, \mathcal{N}) \cong \mathbb{D}(\mathcal{M} \otimes \mathbb{D}(\mathcal{N}))$ (cf. 1.1.4) and the commutativity of \mathbb{D} and \boxtimes (cf. [AC1, 1.3.3 (i)]). Using the Künneth formula for realizable schemes in 1.1.7, the lemma follows.

Before the second read.

2.2.26. Before moving on to the second read (cf. 2.0.2) to establish the theory for more general algebraic stacks, we need the following proposition, which is an analogue of Beilinson's equivalence [AC2] for Deligne–Mumford stacks.

Proposition. Let \mathfrak{X} be a Deligne–Mumford stack of finite type. Moreover, assume that \mathfrak{X} is separated. Then the canonical functor $D^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathrm{Hol}(\mathfrak{X})) \to D^{\mathrm{b}}_{\mathrm{hol}}(\mathfrak{X})$ is an equivalence.

Proof. First, we note that since the Deligne–Mumford stack is separated and of finite type, the diagonal morphism is finite, and in particular, schematic. Full faithfulness is the only problem. Thus, since the canonical functors $D^{\rm b}(\operatorname{Hol}(\mathfrak{X})) \to D^{\rm b}_{\rm hol}(\operatorname{Ind}(\operatorname{Hol}(\mathfrak{X}))) \to D^{+}_{\rm hol}(\operatorname{Ind}(\operatorname{Hol}(\mathfrak{X})))$ are fully faithful, it suffices to show that the canonical functor $D^{+}(\operatorname{Ind}(\operatorname{Hol}(\mathfrak{X}))) \to D^{+}(\mathfrak{X})$ is fully faithful. Let $f: X \to Y$ be an affine étale morphism of realizable schemes. Then the pair $(f_!, f^*)$ of functors between M(X/L) and M(Y/L) is an adjoint pair, and $f_!$ is exact by [AC1, 1.3.13]. In particular, f^* sends injective objects to injective objects. Now, let $f: X \to \mathfrak{X}$ be a smooth morphism from an affine scheme. The functors in 2.2.7 define a pair of adjoint functors (f^*, f_*) between $\operatorname{Hol}(X/L)$ and $\operatorname{Hol}(\mathfrak{X}/L)$. By passing to the Ind-categories, these functors induce a pair of adjoint functors (f^{\odot}, f_{\odot}) between M(X/L) and $\operatorname{Ind}(\operatorname{Hol}(\mathfrak{X}/L))$. Then we can define functors

$$\mathbb{R}f_{\odot} \colon D^+(X/L) \rightleftharpoons D^+(\mathrm{Ind}(\mathrm{Hol}(\mathfrak{X}/L))) \colon f^{\odot},$$

as in the scheme case. Consider the following cartesian diagram:

$$\begin{array}{c|c} Y' \xrightarrow{f'} Y \\ g' & \Box \\ X \xrightarrow{f} \mathfrak{X}, \end{array}$$

where X, Y are affine schemes, and f, g are étale. We can easily check that the canonical homomorphism $g^* \circ f_* \to f'_* \circ g'^*$ is an isomorphism. This extends to an isomorphism $g^{\odot} \circ f_{\odot} \xrightarrow{\sim} f'_* \circ g'^*$. Since \mathfrak{X} is assumed separated, g' is an affine étale morphism, and thus g'^* preserves injective objects. This implies that the canonical homomorphism

(*)
$$g^{\odot} \circ \mathbb{R}f_{\odot} \to \mathbb{R}f'_* \circ g'^* \colon D^+(X/L) \to D^+(Y/L)$$

is an isomorphism.

980

Now, let $f: X_{\bullet} \to \mathfrak{X}$ be a simplicial realizable scheme presentation such that $X_0 \to \mathfrak{X}$ is étale. Then we can define a pair of adjoint functors

$$\mathbb{R}f_{\odot}: D^+(X_{\bullet}/L) \rightleftharpoons D^+(\mathrm{Ind}(\mathrm{Hol}(\mathfrak{X}/L))): f^{\odot}$$

similarly to 2.1.11. To conclude the proof, we need to show an analogue of Proposition 2.1.13 in this context. For this, take an étale presentation $Y \to \mathfrak{X}$, use the base change (\star) above, and this is reduced to the realizable scheme situation we have already treated.

Remark. The proposition is false for general algebraic stacks. For example, if G is a geometrically connected algebraic group over k, the category Hol(BG) is equivalent to the category of finite-dimensional L-vector spaces (cf. Lemma 2.4.7). However, extension computed in the category $D^{\rm b}_{\rm hol}(BG)$ is not trivial. For example, we can compute as in the classical case (cf. [LM, 18.3.3]) that $H^i(B\mathbb{G}_m, L) \cong H^i(\mathbb{P}^i, L)$ for $i \geq 0$.

2.2.27. For an algebraic stack of finite type over k, we may take a presentation $X \to \mathfrak{X}$ such that X is a separated algebraic space of finite type (or even affine scheme of finite type). Then $\cos k_0(X \to \mathfrak{X})$ consists of *separated* algebraic spaces of finite type, since \mathfrak{X} is assumed to be quasi-separated. In the first read, the starting point of the construction was Theorem 1.1.8. In the second read, Proposition 2.2.26 plays the role of the theorem. Replacing the definitions of the terminologies according to the table in 2.0.2, we can construct the theory for quasi-separated algebraic stacks of finite type over k.

2.2.28. **Remark.** (i) As one can see from the construction of the cohomology theory explained in 2.2.27, quasi-separatedness is important. Otherwise, nonseparated algebraic spaces appear in the simplicial space $\cos k_0(X \to \mathfrak{X})$, and we are not able to apply Proposition 2.2.26. Non-quasi-separated stacks naturally appear in the work of [O1].

(ii) We may treat the non-quasi-compact case without much effort. For a separated scheme X locally of finite type over k, we take an affine covering $\{U_i\}$, and define M(X/L) by gluing $M(U_i/L)$. Note that this category is not equivalent to $\operatorname{Ind}(\operatorname{Hol}(X/L))$ in general. Even though we need to care about finiteness and so on, the constructions in §2.1 and §2.2 can be carried out similarly.

2.2.29. Question. Let X be a separated scheme of finite type over k. We may construct a functor $D^{\rm b}(\operatorname{Con}(X/L)) \to D^{\rm b}_{\rm hol}(X/L)$ as in [Bei]. We ask if this is an equivalence of categories.

Remark. (i) If we have a positive answer to this problem, we can define the six functor formalism exactly as in [LO], or more precisely, we may define the pushforward to be the derived functor of ${}^{c}\mathcal{H}^{0}f_{+}$. If the proof of the question is *motivic*, then suitable six functor formalisms for schemes can be extended to that for algebraic stacks automatically.

(ii) The problem is solved by Nori [N] when $k = \mathbb{C}$ and $\operatorname{Hol}(X/L)$ is replaced by the category of perverse sheaves.

Theory of weights.

2.2.30. Let k be a finite field with $q = p^s$ elements, and we consider the arithmetic situation where the base tuple (cf. 1.4.10) is $\mathfrak{T}_F := (k, R, K, L, s, \sigma = \mathrm{id})$. We fix an isomorphism $\iota: \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p \cong \mathbb{C}$. Let X be a realizable scheme over k. We say that $\mathscr{M} \in D^{\mathrm{b}}_{\mathrm{hol}}(X/L_F)$ is ι -mixed (resp. ι -mixed of weight $\leq w$, ι -mixed of weight $\geq w$) if for_L(\mathscr{M}) $\in D^{\mathrm{b}}_{\mathrm{hol}}(X/K_F)$ is also. The results [AC1, 4.1.3, 4.2.3] are automatically true also for $D^{\mathrm{b}}_{\mathrm{hol}}(-/L_F)$ since cohomological operators commute with for_L by 1.4.9. The same holds for [AC1, 4.3].

Remark. For $(V, \varphi) \in F$ -Vec_L, if $f_{\varphi}(x)$ is the characteristic polynomial of φ and $\{\alpha_i\}$ is the set of eigenvalues, then the set of eigenvalues for $\operatorname{for}_L((V, \varphi)) \in F$ -Vec_K is

$$\left\{x \in \mathbb{Q}_p \mid \sigma(f_{\varphi})(x) = 0\right\}_{\sigma \in \operatorname{Hom}_K(L,\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p)} = \{\sigma(\alpha_i)\}_{\sigma \in \operatorname{Hom}_K(L,\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p)}.$$

2.2.31. Let \mathfrak{X} be an algebraic stack over k. We say that $\mathscr{M} \in \operatorname{Hol}(\mathfrak{X}/L_F)$ is ι -pure of weight w (resp. ι -mixed, ι -mixed of weight $\leq w$, ι -mixed of weight $\geq w$) if for any $f: X \to \mathfrak{X}$ in \mathfrak{X}_{sm} (cf. 0.0.2) of relative dimension $d, f^*(\mathscr{M})$ is ι -pure of weight w + d (resp. ι -mixed, ι -mixed of weight $\leq w + d, \iota$ -mixed of weight $\geq w + d$). By the existence of weight filtration [AC1, 4.3.4], if \mathscr{M} is ι -mixed, then there exists an increasing filtration W such that $\operatorname{gr}_i^W(\mathscr{M})$ is ι -pure of weight i. A complex $\mathscr{C} \in D^{\mathrm{b}}_{\mathrm{hol}}(\mathfrak{X}/L_F)$ is said to be ι -mixed complex of weight $\star \in \{\leq w, \geq w, \emptyset\}$, if $\mathscr{H}^i \mathscr{C}$ is ι -mixed of weight $\star + i$. We say that the complex \mathscr{C} is ι -pure of weight w if it is ι -mixed of weight both $\leq w$ and $\geq w$. We can check that ι -mixedness or other relevant notions defined here are compatible with those for the realizable scheme case in 2.2.30.

2.2.32. Let $f: \mathfrak{X} \to \mathfrak{Y}$ be a morphism of algebraic stacks of finite type over k. We have the following properties:

- (1) For any algebraic stack \mathfrak{X} , the functor $\mathbb{D}'_{\mathfrak{X}}$ preserves ι -mixed complexes and exchanges ι -mixed complexes of weight $\leq w$ and that of weight $\geq -w$.
- (2) Assume f is finite. Then f_+ , f' preserve ι -mixedness. Moreover, f_+ preserves weights, and f' preserves complexes of weight $\geq w$.
- (3) Let \mathscr{M} and \mathscr{N} be ι -mixed complexes in $D^{\mathrm{b}}_{\mathrm{hol}}(\mathfrak{X}/L_F)$ and $D^{\mathrm{b}}_{\mathrm{hol}}(\mathfrak{Y}/L_F)$, respectively. Then $\mathscr{M} \boxtimes \mathscr{N}$ is ι -mixed as well. Moreover, if \mathscr{M} and \mathscr{N} are of weight $\geq w$ and $\geq w'$ (resp. $\leq w$ and $\leq w'$), then $\mathscr{M} \boxtimes \mathscr{N}$ is of weight $\geq w + w'$ (resp. $\leq w + w'$).
- (4) The complex $L^{\omega}_{\mathfrak{X}}$ (resp. $L_{\mathfrak{X}}$) is ι -mixed of weight ≥ 0 (resp. ≤ 0).
- (5) Assume f =: j is an open immersion, and let $\mathscr{M} \in \operatorname{Hol}(\mathfrak{X}/L_F)$ be ι -pure. Then $j_{!+}(\mathscr{M})$ (cf. 2.2.8) is ι -pure with the same weight (cf. [AC1, 4.2.4]).
- (6) Assume f is a projection X × 𝔅 → 𝔅, and let 𝔅 be an ι-mixed complex of weight ≤ w' on 𝔅. Then f_{𝔅+} sends ι-mixed complexes of weight ≥ w to that of weight ≥ w w'.

We think only the last property needs a proof. Let $\mathscr{M} \in \operatorname{Hol}(\mathfrak{X} \times \mathfrak{Y})$ be ι -mixed of weight $\geq w$. We may assume $\mathscr{A} \in \operatorname{Hol}(\mathfrak{X})$. Let us use the notation of 2.2.15. We denote by d_i (resp. d'_j) the relative dimension of $X_i \to \mathfrak{X}$ (resp. $Y_j \to \mathfrak{Y}$). By definition, $\mathscr{M}_{i,j}$ is ι -mixed of weight $\geq w + d_i + d'_j$, and \mathscr{A}_i is of weight $\leq w' + d_i$. Recall that

$$\mathbb{R}p_{i\mathscr{A}_{i}*}(\mathscr{M}_{i,j}) \cong p_{i+} \mathcal{H}om(q_{i}^{+}\mathscr{A}_{i},\mathscr{M}_{i,j}),$$

where $q_i: X_i \times Y_j \to Y_j$ is the projection. Using [AC1, 4.1.3], $\mathbb{R}p_{i\mathscr{A}_i*}(\mathscr{M}_{i,j})$ is of weight $\geq (w + d_i + d'_j) - (d_i + w') = w - w' + d'_j$. Now, by the spectral sequence of Lemma 2.2.16, the claim follows.

2.3. Six functor formalism for admissible stacks. In this subsection, we construct six functor formalism for admissible stacks, namely algebraic stacks of finite type with finite diagonal morphism.

2.3.1. **Definition.** A morphism $f: \mathfrak{X} \to \mathfrak{Y}$ between algebraic stacks is said to be *admissible* if it is of finite type and the diagonal morphism $\Delta_f: \mathfrak{X} \to \mathfrak{X} \times_{\mathfrak{Y}} \mathfrak{X}$ is finite. An *admissible stack* (over k) is an algebraic stack over k whose structural morphism is admissible.

Remark. (i) An admissible morphism is quasi-compact and separated by definition.

(ii) For an admissible stack \mathfrak{X} , there exists a finite covering $\{\mathfrak{U}_i\}$ such that \mathfrak{U}_i possesses a quasi-finite flat morphism $V_i \to \mathfrak{U}_i$ from a scheme. This is possible by [SGA3, V, 7.2].³ In particular, there is a dense open substack \mathfrak{U} of \mathfrak{X} such that there exists a finite locally free morphism $V \to \mathfrak{U}$ from a scheme.

2.3.2. Lemma. Let $\mathfrak{X} \xrightarrow{f} \mathfrak{Y} \xrightarrow{g} \mathfrak{Z}$ be morphisms between algebraic stacks.

(i) If f and g are admissible, $g \circ f$ is also.

(ii) Let $\mathfrak{Y}' \to \mathfrak{Y}$ be a morphism between algebraic stacks. If f is admissible, then the base change $\mathfrak{X} \times_{\mathfrak{Y}} \mathfrak{Y}' \to \mathfrak{Y}'$ is admissible as well.

(iii) If $g \circ f$ is admissible, f is also.

(iv) Separated representable morphisms of finite type between algebraic stacks are admissible. In particular, immersions are admissible.

(v) Any morphism $X \to \mathfrak{Y}$ from a scheme to an admissible stack is schematic.

Proof. The proofs for (i) and (ii) are the same as [EGAI, 5.5.1]. Let us show (iii). Consider the factorization of $\Delta_{g \circ f}$ into morphisms

$$\mathfrak{X} \xrightarrow{\Delta_f} \mathfrak{X} \times_\mathfrak{Y} \mathfrak{X} \xrightarrow{p} \mathfrak{X} \times_\mathfrak{Z} \mathfrak{X}.$$

These morphisms are representable and separated by [LM, 7.7]. We need to show that Δ_f is finite. By the definition of an algebraic stack, $\mathfrak{Y} \to \mathfrak{Y} \times \mathfrak{Y}$ is representable and separated. Thus, by [EGAI, 5.5.1 (v)], Δ_g is separated as well. This implies that p is separated since it is the base change of Δ_g . Since the composition $p \circ \Delta_f$ is assumed finite and the morphisms are representable, we conclude that Δ_f is finite by [EGAII, 6.1.5 (v)].

For (iv), assume f is representable and separated. Then [LM, 8.1.2] shows that the diagonal $\mathfrak{X} \to \mathfrak{X} \times_{\mathfrak{Y}} \mathfrak{X}$ is a monomorphism, and since f is assumed separated, it is a closed immersion. For the latter assertion, use [EGAI, 5.5.1 (i)].

For (v), factorize the morphism into $X \to X \times \mathfrak{Y} \to \mathfrak{Y}$. The first morphism is finite since \mathfrak{Y} is admissible, so it is schematic. The second one is schematic as well since X is a scheme.

³See also [Co2, 2.1].

2.3.3. The following variant of Chow's lemma for an admissible stack is important for showing fundamental properties of cohomological operations:

Proposition. Let \mathfrak{X} be an admissible stack. Then there exists a morphism $p: X \to \mathfrak{X}$ such that X is a scheme and p is a surjective generically finite proper morphism.

Proof. We modify slightly the proof of [O2, (1.1)]. From [O2, 2.1-2.4], the argument is the same. In [O2, 2.5], he replaces \mathfrak{X} by the closure of $\mathfrak{U} \hookrightarrow \mathfrak{X} \times \mathbb{P}(V)$. This replacement is not finite, but birational over \mathfrak{U} , so this replacement is harmless in our situation. In [O2, 2.6], it suffices to take P' such that $\dim(P') = \dim(\mathfrak{X})$ in addition to the conditions there. If we have a surjective morphism $a: P' \to \mathfrak{X}$, then this is generically finite. Indeed, let $q: Q \to \mathfrak{X}$ be a smooth presentation, and $P'_Q := P' \times_{\mathfrak{X}} Q$. By generic finiteness and some standard limit argument, there exists an open dense subscheme $V \subset Q$ such that $P'_Q \times_Q V \to V$ is finite. By fpqc descent, a is finite over $q(V) \subset \mathfrak{X}$.

We do not need [O2, 2.7, 2,8]. Take a quasi-finite flat covering $\{V_i \to \mathfrak{X}\}$ as in Remark 2.3.1 (ii). Put $P' = \mathbb{P}_P^r$ where $r := \dim(\mathfrak{X}) - \dim(P)$. By copying the argument of [O2, 2.9] (taking P_1 to be P'), we can shrink V_i and may assume that there exist morphisms $V_i \to P'$ factoring $V_i \to \mathfrak{X} \to P$ and the morphism $\prod V_i \to P'$ is surjective. Indeed, in [O2, 2.9], he uses only the fact that $V_i \to P$ has equidimensional fibers. In our case, since $V_i \to \mathfrak{X}$ and $\mathfrak{X} \to P$ are flat, the equidimensionality holds. For [O2, 2.10–2.13], we just copy word by word. Since he only takes normalizations and blowups of P', the dimension does not change, and we get the desired morphism. \Box

Remark. We are not able to take p to be generically étale in general. Indeed, let k be an algebraically closed field of characteristic p, and let G be a connected finite flat group scheme of dimension 0 over k which is not étale (e.g., $\alpha_p := \operatorname{Spec}(k[T])/(T^p)$). Consider the admissible stack $\mathfrak{X} := BG := [\operatorname{Spec}(k)/G]$. Assume there exists a generically finite étale proper surjective morphism $p: X \to BG$. Then since $\dim(BG) = 0$, the dimension of X would be 0 as well. Since BG is smooth over $\operatorname{Spec}(k)$ by [Beh, 5.1.2], X is étale over $\operatorname{Spec}(k)$. Thus by taking a connected component, we may assume that $X = \operatorname{Spec}(k)$, since k is assumed algebraically closed. Since any G-torsor on $\operatorname{Spec}(k)$ splits, the category $BG(\operatorname{Spec}(k))$ is a singleton, and p would be nothing but the universal torsor. The morphism p cannot be étale, since if it were, G would be étale.

2.3.4. Corollary. Let \mathfrak{X} be an admissible stack. Then there exists a generically finite proper surjective morphism $X \to \mathfrak{X}$ such that X is a smooth quasi-projective scheme.

Proof. Use Chow's lemma above, and then use de Jong's alteration theorem. \Box

2.3.5. Let $f: \mathfrak{X} \to \mathfrak{Y}$ be a morphism of admissible stacks. When f is a finite morphism (resp. projection), we denote by f_{\oplus} and f^{\oplus} the functors f_+ and f^+ defined in 2.2.1 (resp. 2.2.24) for clarification.

Consider the canonical factorization $\mathfrak{X} \xrightarrow{i} \mathfrak{X} \times \mathfrak{Y} \xrightarrow{p} \mathfrak{Y}$. Since \mathfrak{Y} is admissible, *i* is finite, and the following definitions make sense:

 $f_{+} := p_{\oplus} \circ i_{\oplus} \colon D^{+}_{\text{hol}}(\mathfrak{X}) \to D^{+}_{\text{hol}}(\mathfrak{Y}), \qquad f^{+} := i^{\oplus} \circ p^{\oplus} \colon D^{\text{b}}_{\text{hol}}(\mathfrak{Y}) \to D^{\text{b}}_{\text{hol}}(\mathfrak{X}).$ We have the adjoint pair (f^{+}, f_{+}) . 2.3.6. Lemma. Let $f: \mathfrak{X} \to \mathfrak{Y}$ be a finite morphism between admissible stacks. Then there are canonical isomorphisms $f_{\oplus} \cong f_+$ and $f^{\oplus} \cong f^+$.

Proof. Let $\mathfrak{X} \xrightarrow{i} \mathfrak{X} \times \mathfrak{Y} \xrightarrow{p} \mathfrak{Y}$ be the standard factorization. By the adjointness property, it suffices to construct the isomorphism for the pullback. We construct the isomorphism for their duals, namely $f^!$ and $i^! \circ p^!$ where $p^! := L^{\omega}_{\mathfrak{X}} \boxtimes (-)$ (cf. Definition 2.2.22). Let $Y_{\bullet} \to \mathfrak{Y}$ be a simplicial realizable scheme presentation, and let $X_{\bullet} \to \mathfrak{X}$ be its pullback. We may assume that $X_0 \to \mathfrak{X}$ and $Y_0 \to \mathfrak{Y}$ are equidimensional. For $\mathscr{M} \in M(Y_{\bullet})$, let us construct an isomorphism $\alpha : \mathscr{H}^0 f^!(\mathscr{M}) \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathscr{H}^0(i^!(L^{\omega}_{X_{\bullet}} \boxtimes \mathscr{M}))$. Put $Y = Y_n$ for $n \ge 0$, and $X := \mathfrak{X} \times_{\mathfrak{Y}} Y$. We have the following commutative diagram:



Let $d := d_{g'} - d_{g''}$ where d_{\star} denotes the relative dimension of \star . We have canonical isomorphisms

$$g^* f^!(\mathscr{M}) \cong (p' \circ i')^! g''^*(\mathscr{M}) \cong i'^! (L^{\omega}_X \boxtimes g''^* \mathscr{M})$$
$$\cong i'^! g'^* (L^{\omega}_{X_{\bullet}} \boxtimes \mathscr{M})(d)[d] \cong g^* i^! (L^{\omega}_{X_{\bullet}} \boxtimes \mathscr{M}).$$

Apply \mathscr{H}^0 to this isomorphism, and since it satisfies the cocycle condition, we have the desired isomorphism α . Moreover, this isomorphism implies that

$$(\star) \qquad \qquad \mathscr{H}^n\big(i^!(L^{\omega}_{X_{\bullet}}\boxtimes\mathscr{I})\big) = 0 \quad \text{for } n \neq 0$$

if \mathscr{I} is an injective object in $M(Y_{\bullet})$. Now, for $\mathscr{M} \in D^+(X_{\bullet})$, take an injective resolution $\mathscr{M} \to \mathscr{I}^{\bullet}$. We denote by $\mathscr{H}^0(i^!(L^{\omega}_{X_{\bullet}} \boxtimes \mathscr{I}^{\bullet}))$ the complex whose term in degree n is $\mathscr{H}^0(i^!(L^{\omega}_{X_{\bullet}} \boxtimes \mathscr{I}^n))$. Recall the notation $f^{\circ} := \mathscr{H}^0 f^!$ in 2.1.10. We have quasi-isomorphisms

$$f^!(\mathscr{M}) \cong f^{\circ}(\mathscr{I}^{\bullet}) \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathscr{H}^0\bigl(i^!(L^{\omega}_{X_{\bullet}} \boxtimes \mathscr{I}^{\bullet})\bigr) \xleftarrow{\sim} i^!(L^{\omega}_{X_{\bullet}} \boxtimes \mathscr{M}),$$

where the first isomorphism holds since $f^! := \mathbb{R}f^\circ$, the second one is induced by α , and the third one follows by the vanishing (*). Thus, the lemma follows.

2.3.7. Lemma. Let $\mathfrak{X} \xrightarrow{f} \mathfrak{Y} \xrightarrow{g} \mathfrak{Z}$ be morphisms of admissible stacks. Then we have canonical isomorphisms of functors

$$\begin{split} \alpha \colon \mathrm{id}^+ &\xrightarrow{\sim} \mathrm{id}, & \beta \colon \mathrm{id} \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathrm{id}_+, \\ c_{g,f} \colon f^+ \circ g^+ &\xrightarrow{\sim} (g \circ f)^+, & d^{g,f} \colon (g \circ f)_+ \xrightarrow{\sim} g_+ \circ f_+ \end{split}$$

These homomorphisms are subject to the following conditions: 1. We have identities $c_{f,id} = \alpha(f^+)$, $c_{id,f} = f^+\alpha$. 2. Assume we are given another morphism of admissible stacks $h: \mathfrak{Z} \to \mathfrak{W}$. Then we have the equality

$$c_{h,g\circ f} \circ c_{g,f}(h^+) = c_{h\circ g,f} \circ f^+(c_{h,g}).$$

We have the similar equalities for β and $d^{g,f}$.

TOMOYUKI ABE

Proof. By the adjointness property, it suffices to show the lemma for the pullback. First, we define α to be the isomorphism of Lemma 2.3.6. Consider the following diagram:



For a morphism a, we denote by Γ_a the graph morphism. The transitivity isomorphism for (1), namely the isomorphism $a^{\oplus} \circ b^{\oplus} \cong c^{\oplus} \circ d^{\oplus}$, is defined by 2.2.1. For (4), use Lemma 2.2.23, and for (3), use Lemma 2.2.6 for finite morphisms id: $\mathfrak{X} \to \mathfrak{X}$ and $\Gamma_g: \mathfrak{Y} \to \mathfrak{Y} \times \mathfrak{Z}$. Finally, for the transitivity isomorphism for (2), it suffices to construct $\Gamma_f^+(L_{\mathfrak{X} \times \mathfrak{Y}}) \cong L_{\mathfrak{X}}$. This follows by Lemma 2.2.23. The verification of the compatibility conditions is straightforward, so we leave it as an exercise.

Let $\operatorname{St}^{\operatorname{adm}}(k)$ be the full subcategory of the category of algebraic stacks (we do not consider the 2-morphisms) consisting of admissible stacks. For an admissible stack \mathfrak{X} , we associate the triangulated category $D_{\operatorname{hol}}^+(\mathfrak{X})$ (resp. $D_{\operatorname{hol}}^{\operatorname{b}}(\mathfrak{X})$). By the data of the lemma above, we have a cofibered category $\mathscr{F}_+ \to \operatorname{St}^{\operatorname{adm}}$ by considering f_+ (resp. a fibered category $\mathscr{F}^+ \to \operatorname{St}^{\operatorname{adm}}$ by considering f^+). Recall the notation of 2.2.1 and Definition 2.2.3. The isomorphisms of Lemma 2.3.6 yield isomorphisms of fibered and cofibered categories $\mathscr{F}^{\oplus} \cong \mathscr{F}^+$ and $\mathscr{F}_{\oplus} \cong \mathscr{F}_+$ over the category of an admissible stack with finite morphism $\operatorname{St}^{\operatorname{adm,fin}}$.

2.3.8. Lemma. Let $f: \mathfrak{X} \to \mathfrak{Y}$ be a smooth morphism of admissible stacks, and let d be the relative dimension of f. Then $f^* \cong f^+[d]$, and $\mathbb{R}f_* \cong f_+[-d]$ (cf. 2.2.7).

Proof. By adjointness, it suffices to prove $f^* \cong f^+[d]$. Since the proof is similar to that of Lemma 2.3.6, we only sketch the proof. As the proof of the lemma, we also show the dual claim: $f^*(d) \cong f^![-d]$ (cf. Lemma 2.2.7). We may take $X_{\bullet\bullet}$, Y_{\bullet} as in 2.2.7. Let $Y := Y_i$ and $X := X_{i,j}$. Consider the following cartesian diagram:

$$\begin{array}{c|c} X \times_{\mathfrak{Y}} Y \longrightarrow X \times Y \longrightarrow Y \\ & & & \downarrow \\ \alpha & & & \downarrow \\ & & & \downarrow \\ \mathfrak{X} \longrightarrow \mathfrak{X} \times \mathfrak{Y} \longrightarrow \mathfrak{Y}. \end{array}$$

For $\mathscr{M} \in M(Y_{\bullet})$, we have $\alpha^* f^*(\mathscr{M})(d) \cong \alpha^* f^![-d](\mathscr{M})$. This follows by using the fact that if g is a smooth morphism of relative dimension d_g between realizable schemes, then $g^*(d) \cong g^![-d_g]$ by definition. We finish the proof by the descent argument.

For a smooth morphism $\rho: X \to \mathfrak{X}$ from a realizable scheme to an admissible scheme and $\mathscr{M} \in D^{\mathrm{b}}_{\mathrm{hol}}(\mathfrak{X})$, we often denote $\rho^*(\mathscr{M})$ by \mathscr{M}_X . When f is an open immersion, this lemma justifies the notation of 2.2.8. Recall that in such a case, we have an adjoint pair (f_1, f^+) as well as (f^+, f_+) .

986

2.3.9. **Proposition** (Smooth base change). Consider the following cartesian diagram of admissible stacks:



where g is smooth. Then the base change homomorphism of functors $g^+f_+ \to f'_+g'^+: D^+_{hol}(\mathfrak{X}) \to D^+_{hol}(\mathfrak{Y}')$ is an isomorphism.

Proof. In the verification, it suffices to replace g^+ and g'^+ by g^* and g'^* by Lemma 2.3.8. We use the standard factorization of f into a finite morphism and a projection, and the verification is reduced to these cases separately. In both cases, the verification is straightforward from the definition, so we leave the details to the reader.

2.3.10. **Proposition.** Let $f: \mathfrak{X} \to \mathfrak{Y}$ be a morphism between admissible stacks. Then f_+ preserves boundedness, namely it induces a functor $D^{\mathrm{b}}_{\mathrm{hol}}(\mathfrak{X}) \to D^{\mathrm{b}}_{\mathrm{hol}}(\mathfrak{Y})$.

Proof. It suffices to show that $f_+(\mathscr{M})$ is bounded for $\mathscr{M} \in \operatorname{Hol}(\mathfrak{X})$. Let us show by the induction on the dimension of the support of \mathscr{M} . We may assume that the support of \mathscr{M} is equal to \mathfrak{X} . Now, we may shrink \mathfrak{X} . Indeed, consider the localization triangle $i_+i^! \to \operatorname{id} \to j_+j^+ \stackrel{+1}{\longrightarrow}$ (cf. Lemma 2.2.9). We know that $i_+i^!$ and j_+j^+ preserve boundedness. By the induction hypothesis, we are reduced to showing the proposition for $f_+j_+ \cong (f \circ j)_+$, and the claim follows. By shrinking \mathfrak{X} , we may assume that there exists a finite locally free morphism $X \to \mathfrak{X}$ from an affine scheme X by Remark 2.3.1 (ii). In this situation, since \mathscr{M} is a direct factor of $h_+h^+(\mathscr{M})$ by Lemma 2.2.4, we may assume that \mathfrak{X} is an affine scheme. Finally, let $g\colon Y \to \mathfrak{Y}$ be a smooth presentation from an affine scheme. Since the functor g^* is conservative by Remark 2.1.16 (ii), it suffices to show the claim for the morphism $\mathfrak{X} \times_{\mathfrak{Y}} Y \to Y$. Since \mathfrak{X} is assumed to be an affine scheme, this is a morphism of realizable schemes, and the boundedness is already known.

2.3.11. Let \mathfrak{X} be an admissible stack. Then the diagonal morphism $\Delta \colon \mathfrak{X} \to \mathfrak{X} \times \mathfrak{X}$ is finite. For i = 1, 2, let $p_i \colon \mathfrak{X} \times \mathfrak{X} \to \mathfrak{X}$ be the *i*-th projection. We define the *internal Hom functor* by

$$\mathcal{H}om(\mathscr{M},\mathscr{N}) := p_{1\mathscr{M}+}(\Delta_{+}(\mathscr{N})) \colon D^{\mathrm{b}}_{\mathrm{hol}}(\mathfrak{X})^{\circ} \times D^{\mathrm{b}}_{\mathrm{hol}}(\mathfrak{X}) \to D^{\mathrm{b}}_{\mathrm{hol}}(\mathfrak{X}).$$

Let $\mathscr{L} \in D^{\mathrm{b}}_{\mathrm{hol}}(\mathfrak{X})$. Since $(p^+_{1\mathscr{M}}, p_{1\mathscr{M}+})$ is an adjoint pair, with Remark 1.2.1, we have

 $\mathbb{R}\mathrm{Hom}_{D(\mathfrak{X})}(\mathscr{L},\mathcal{H}om(\mathscr{M},\mathscr{N}))\cong\mathbb{R}\mathrm{Hom}_{D(\mathfrak{X}\times\mathfrak{X})}(\mathscr{L}\boxtimes\mathscr{M},\Delta_{+}\mathscr{N}).$

We can check easily that when \mathfrak{X} is a realizable scheme, $\mathcal{H}om$ coincides with that in 1.1.3. Now, let $f: \mathfrak{X} \to \mathfrak{Y}, g: \mathfrak{X}' \to \mathfrak{Y}'$ be morphisms of admissible stacks. Then, we have an isomorphism $(f \times g)^+((-) \boxtimes (-)) \cong f^+(-) \boxtimes g^+(-)$. This follows by combining Lemma 2.2.6 and (2.2.25.1). Using this, we have

$$\operatorname{Hom}(\mathscr{L}, f_{+} \operatorname{Hom}(f^{+} \mathscr{M}, \mathscr{N})) \cong \operatorname{Hom}(f^{+}(\mathscr{L}) \boxtimes f^{+}(\mathscr{M}), \Delta_{\mathfrak{X}*}(\mathscr{N}))$$
$$\cong \operatorname{Hom}((f \times f)^{+}(\mathscr{L} \boxtimes \mathscr{M}), \Delta_{\mathfrak{X}*}(\mathscr{N}))$$
$$\cong \operatorname{Hom}(\mathscr{L}, \operatorname{Hom}(\mathscr{M}, f_{+} \mathscr{N})).$$

Thus, we get an isomorphism

$$f_+ \mathcal{H}om(f^+\mathcal{M},\mathcal{N}) \cong \mathcal{H}om(\mathcal{M},f_+\mathcal{N}).$$

2.3.12. **Lemma.** Let \mathscr{M} and \mathscr{N} be objects of $D^{\mathrm{b}}_{\mathrm{hol}}(\mathfrak{X})$. For a presentation $\rho \colon X \to \mathfrak{X}$ from a realizable scheme, there is a canonical isomorphism

$$\rho^* \mathcal{H}om(\mathcal{M}, \mathcal{N}) \cong \mathcal{H}om(\rho^*(\mathcal{M}), \rho^*(\mathcal{N}))[d],$$

and d denotes the relative dimension function of ρ .

Proof. Consider the following commutative diagram:



where δ is the diagonal morphism, $\Delta' := (\rho, id)$, and q is the second projection. Put $\mathscr{N}' := \rho^*(\mathscr{N})$. By the definition of the functor $q_{\mathscr{M}+}$, we have

$$(\star) \qquad \qquad \rho^* \operatorname{\mathcal{H}om}(\mathscr{M}, \mathscr{N}) \cong q_{\mathscr{M}+}(\Delta'_+(\mathscr{N}')).$$

Let \mathscr{L} be an object in $D^{\mathrm{b}}_{\mathrm{hol}}(X)$. For an algebraic stack \mathfrak{Y} , we denote $\mathrm{Hom}_{D(\mathfrak{Y})}$ by $\mathrm{Hom}_{\mathfrak{Y}}$. We have

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{X}(\mathscr{L}, q_{\mathscr{M}+}(\Delta'_{+}(\mathscr{N}'))) \cong \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathfrak{X}\times X}(\mathscr{M}\boxtimes\mathscr{L}, \Delta'_{+}(\mathscr{N}'))$$
$$\cong \operatorname{Hom}_{X}(\delta^{+}(\rho \times \operatorname{id})^{+}(\mathscr{M}\boxtimes\mathscr{L}), \mathscr{N}') \cong \operatorname{Hom}_{X}(\rho^{+}(\mathscr{M})\otimes\mathscr{L}, \mathscr{N}')$$
$$\cong \operatorname{Hom}_{X}(\mathscr{L}, \mathcal{H}om(\rho^{+}(\mathscr{M}), \mathscr{N}')),$$

where the first isomorphism follows by the adjunction $(q^+_{\mathscr{M}}, q_{\mathscr{M}+})$, the second by the adjunction (Δ'^+, Δ'_+) , the third by Lemma 2.2.6, and the last by the adjointness property of \otimes and $\mathcal{H}om$ for realizable schemes. Thus, we have a canonical isomorphism $\mathcal{H}om(\rho^+(\mathscr{M}), \mathscr{N}') \cong q_{\mathscr{M}+}(\Delta'_+(\mathscr{N}'))$. Combining with the isomorphism $\rho^+ \cong \rho^*[-d]$ and (\star) , the lemma follows.

2.3.13. Recalling Definition 2.2.22, we define the *dual functor* to be

$$\mathbb{D}_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathscr{M}) := \mathcal{H}om(\mathscr{M}, L^{\omega}_{\mathfrak{X}}) \colon D^{\mathrm{b}}_{\mathrm{hol}}(\mathfrak{X})^{\circ} \to D^{\mathrm{b}}_{\mathrm{hol}}(\mathfrak{X}).$$

If no confusion may arise, we often omit the subscript \mathfrak{X} from $\mathbb{D}_{\mathfrak{X}}$.

Proposition (Biduality). There exists a canonical isomorphism of functors

$$\gamma \colon \mathrm{id} \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathbb{D}_{\mathfrak{X}} \circ \mathbb{D}_{\mathfrak{X}} \colon D^{\mathrm{b}}_{\mathrm{hol}}(\mathfrak{X}) \to D^{\mathrm{b}}_{\mathrm{hol}}(\mathfrak{X}).$$

Proof. We have isomorphisms

(2.3.13.1)

$$\operatorname{Hom}(\mathbb{D}(\mathcal{M}), \mathbb{D}(\mathcal{M})) \cong \operatorname{Hom}(\mathbb{D}(\mathcal{M}) \boxtimes \mathcal{M}, \Delta_{+}(L^{\omega}_{\mathfrak{X}}))$$
$$\cong \operatorname{Hom}(\mathcal{M} \boxtimes \mathbb{D}(\mathcal{M}), \Delta_{+}(L^{\omega}_{\mathfrak{X}})) \cong \operatorname{Hom}(\mathcal{M}, \mathbb{D}\mathbb{D}(\mathcal{M})),$$

where the second isomorphism is induced by the morphism $\mathfrak{X} \times \mathfrak{X} \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathfrak{X} \times \mathfrak{X}$ exchanging the first and second factor. The image of the identity homomorphism induces γ in the claim. Let $\rho: X \to \mathfrak{X}$ be a presentation from a realizable scheme. By Remark 2.1.16 (ii), it suffices to show that $\rho^*(\gamma)$ is an isomorphism. Since the dual functor is compatible with ρ^* by Lemma 2.3.12, this is reduced to checking the biduality in the realizable scheme case, which is Lemma 1.1.4.

Remark. (i) We have a canonical isomorphism $\mathscr{H}^i \mathbb{D}_{\mathfrak{X}} \cong \mathscr{H}^i \mathbb{D}'_{\mathfrak{X}}$ for any *i*. Indeed, for any presentation $\rho: X \to \mathfrak{X}$, we can check that $\rho^* \mathbb{D}_{\mathfrak{X}}$ and $\rho^* \mathbb{D}'_{\mathfrak{X}}$ are canonically isomorphic to $\mathbb{D}_X \rho^*$, thus we get the claim by gluing. However, even though there is no doubt that $\mathbb{D}_{\mathfrak{X}}$ and $\mathbb{D}'_{\mathfrak{X}}$ coincide, we do not know how to construct a morphism $\mathbb{D}_{\mathfrak{X}} \to \mathbb{D}'_{\mathfrak{X}}$ in $D^{\mathrm{b}}_{\mathrm{hol}}(\mathfrak{X})$ compatible with the isomorphisms of *i*-th cohomologies.

(ii) We have a canonical isomorphism $L^{\omega}_{\mathfrak{X}} \cong \mathbb{D}_{\mathfrak{X}}(L_{\mathfrak{X}})$. This follows since for any $X \in \mathfrak{X}_{sm}$, we have $(L^{\omega})_X \cong \mathbb{D}(L)_X$, and we have the uniqueness of Theorem 2.2.20.

(iii) When j is an open immersion, we have $j^+ \circ \mathbb{D} \cong \mathbb{D} \circ j^+$. Thus, $j_! \cong \mathbb{D} \circ j_+ \circ \mathbb{D}$.

(iv) When f is a finite morphism, we prove in Lemma 2.3.17 that we have an isomorphism $f^+ \cong \mathbb{D} \circ f^! \circ \mathbb{D}$.

2.3.14. We define the *tensor product* by

$$(-) \otimes (-) := \Delta^+ ((-) \boxtimes (-)) \colon D^{\mathrm{b}}_{\mathrm{hol}}(\mathfrak{X}) \times D^{\mathrm{b}}_{\mathrm{hol}}(\mathfrak{X}) \to D^{\mathrm{b}}_{\mathrm{hol}}(\mathfrak{X}).$$

Let $\mathcal{M}, \mathcal{N}, \mathcal{L}$ be objects in $D^{\mathrm{b}}_{\mathrm{hol}}(\mathfrak{X})$. We have

 $\mathbb{R}\mathrm{Hom}(\mathscr{M}, \mathcal{H}om(\mathscr{N}, \mathscr{L})) := \mathbb{R}\mathrm{Hom}(\mathscr{M}, p_{1,\mathcal{N}+}(\Delta_{+}\mathscr{L})) \cong \mathbb{R}\mathrm{Hom}(\mathscr{M} \boxtimes \mathscr{N}, \Delta_{+}\mathscr{L})$ (2.3.14.1) $\cong \mathbb{R}\mathrm{Hom}(\Delta^{+}(\mathscr{M} \boxtimes \mathscr{N}), \mathscr{L}) =: \mathbb{R}\mathrm{Hom}(\mathscr{M} \otimes \mathscr{N}, \mathscr{L}).$

The identity homomorphism of $\mathcal{H}om(\mathscr{M},\mathscr{N})$ induces the $evaluation\ homomorphism$

$$\mathcal{H}om(\mathscr{M},\mathscr{N})\otimes\mathscr{M}\to\mathscr{N}$$

Now, let $p: \mathfrak{X} \to \operatorname{Spec}(k)$ denote the structural morphism. Since $p_2 \circ \Delta \cong \operatorname{id}$, we have

$$L_{\mathfrak{X}} \otimes \mathscr{M} = \Delta^+ (L_{\mathfrak{X}} \boxtimes \mathscr{M}) \cong \Delta^+ (p_2^+ (\mathscr{M})) \cong (p_2 \circ \Delta)^+ (\mathscr{M}) \cong \mathscr{M},$$

where the isomorphisms hold by the definition and results in 2.2.24. Using these, we have

 $\mathbb{R}\Gamma \circ p_{+} \mathcal{H}om(\mathcal{M}, \mathcal{N}) \cong \mathbb{R}Hom_{D(\mathfrak{X})}(L_{\mathfrak{X}}, \mathcal{H}om(\mathcal{M}, \mathcal{N})) \cong \mathbb{R}Hom_{D(\mathfrak{X})}(\mathcal{M}, \mathcal{N}),$

where the first isomorphism holds by Proposition 2.2.19, and the second by what we have just proven.

2.3.15. **Proposition.** Let $f: \mathfrak{X} \to \mathfrak{X}', g: \mathfrak{Y} \to \mathfrak{Y}'$ be morphisms of admissible stacks.

- (1) We have an isomorphism $(f \times g)^+((-) \boxtimes (-)) \cong f^+(-) \boxtimes g^+(-)$.
- (2) We have $\mathbb{D}((-) \boxtimes (-)) \cong \mathbb{D}(-) \boxtimes \mathbb{D}(-)$.
- (3) We have $f^+((-) \otimes (-)) \cong f^+(-) \otimes f^+(-)$.
- (4) We have $\mathcal{H}om(\mathcal{M} \otimes \mathcal{N}, \mathcal{L}) \cong \mathcal{H}om(\mathcal{M}, \mathcal{H}om(\mathcal{N}, \mathcal{L})).$
- (5) We have $\mathcal{H}om(\mathbb{D}(\mathcal{M}), \mathbb{D}(\mathcal{N})) \cong \mathcal{H}om(\mathcal{N}, \mathcal{M}).$
- (6) We have $\mathcal{H}om(\mathcal{M}, \mathcal{N}) \cong \mathbb{D}(\mathcal{M} \otimes \mathbb{D}(\mathcal{N})).$

Proof. The first one is just a reproduction from 2.3.11. The second claim follows by combining Lemma 2.2.6 (the commutativity of f_+ and \boxtimes), Lemma 2.2.25, and Lemma 2.2.23 (i). Let us show (3). Let $\mathscr{M}', \mathscr{N}'$ be objects in $D^{\mathrm{b}}_{\mathrm{hol}}(\mathfrak{X}')$. Consider the following commutative diagram:

$$\begin{array}{c} \mathfrak{X} & \xrightarrow{\Delta_{\mathfrak{X}}} & \mathfrak{X} \times \mathfrak{X} \\ f & & & & \downarrow f \times f \\ \mathfrak{X}' & \xrightarrow{\Delta_{\mathfrak{X}'}} & \mathfrak{X}' \times \mathfrak{X}'. \end{array}$$

Using this diagram, we have

$$f^+(\mathscr{M}'\otimes\mathscr{N}')\cong f^+\Delta^+_{\mathfrak{X}'}(\mathscr{M}'\boxtimes\mathscr{N}')\cong \Delta^+_{\mathfrak{X}}(f\times f)^+(\mathscr{M}'\boxtimes\mathscr{N}')\cong f^+(\mathscr{M}')\otimes f^+(\mathscr{N}').$$

Let us show (4). For any $\mathscr{Q} \in D^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathfrak{X})$, we have a canonical isomorphism

$$\operatorname{Hom}(\mathscr{Q}, \operatorname{Hom}(\mathscr{M} \otimes \mathscr{N}, \mathscr{L})) \cong \operatorname{Hom}(\mathscr{Q}, \operatorname{Hom}(\mathscr{M}, \operatorname{Hom}(\mathscr{N}, \mathscr{L})))$$

by using (2.3.14.1) twice, thus the claim follows. To show (5), the isomorphisms (2.3.13.1) remain to hold even if we replace Hom by $\mathcal{H}om$. For the last claim (6), it suffices to construct a canonical isomorphism $\operatorname{Hom}(\mathcal{Q}, \mathcal{H}om(\mathcal{M}, \mathcal{N})) \cong \operatorname{Hom}(\mathcal{Q}, \mathbb{D}(\mathcal{M} \otimes \mathbb{D}(\mathcal{N})))$. This can be shown by using (4) and (5).

2.3.16. Let $f: \mathfrak{X} \to \mathfrak{Y}$ be a morphism of admissible stacks, and let \mathscr{M}, \mathscr{N} be objects in $D^{\mathrm{b}}_{\mathrm{hol}}(\mathfrak{X})$. The adjunction homomorphism $f^+f_+ \to \mathrm{id}$ induces a homomorphism

$$f^+(f_+(\mathscr{M}) \otimes f_+(\mathscr{N})) \cong f^+f_+(\mathscr{M}) \otimes f^+f_+(\mathscr{N}) \to \mathscr{M} \otimes \mathscr{N}_+$$

where the first isomorphism follows by Proposition 2.3.15. This induces the homomorphism

$$(2.3.16.1) f_+(\mathscr{M}) \otimes f_+(\mathscr{N}) \to f_+(\mathscr{M} \otimes \mathscr{N}).$$

Using this, we have a homomorphism

$$f_{+} \operatorname{Hom}(\mathscr{M}, \mathscr{N}) \otimes f_{+}(\mathscr{M}) \to f_{+}(\operatorname{Hom}(\mathscr{M}, \mathscr{N}) \otimes \mathscr{M}) \to f_{+}(\mathscr{N}),$$

where the second homomorphism is induced by the evaluation homomorphism. Taking the adjunction (2.3.14.1), we get a canonical homomorphism

$$(2.3.16.2) \qquad f_{+} \mathcal{H}om(\mathcal{M}, \mathcal{N}) \to \mathcal{H}om(f_{+}\mathcal{M}, f_{+}\mathcal{N}).$$

Duality results.

2.3.17. First, let us construct the trace map for projective morphisms. Let $f: \mathfrak{X} \to \mathfrak{Y}$ be a *projective* morphism between admissible stacks. Let $Y_{\bullet} \to \mathfrak{Y}$ be a simplicial quasi-projective scheme presentation, and since f is assumed projective, the cartesian product $X_{\bullet} := \mathfrak{X} \times_{\mathfrak{Y}} Y_{\bullet}$ is an admissible simplicial quasi-projective scheme as well. Since $f_{+}L^{\omega}_{X_{\bullet}}, L^{\omega}_{Y_{\bullet}}$ are in $D^{\mathrm{b}}_{\mathrm{hol}}(\mathfrak{Y}_{\bullet})$, we have a spectral sequence

$$E_1^{p,q} = \operatorname{Ext}_{D(Y_p)}^q (f_{p+} L_{X_p}^{\omega}, L_{Y_p}^{\omega}) \Rightarrow \operatorname{Ext}_{D(Y_{\bullet})}^{p+q} (f_{+} L_{X_{\bullet}}^{\omega}, L_{Y_{\bullet}}^{\omega})$$

by (2.1.5.1). The usual trace map defines $\operatorname{Tr}_{f_p} \in \operatorname{Hom}_{D(X_p)}(f_{p+}L_{X_p}^{\omega}, L_{Y_p}^{\omega})$ for each p. By this spectral sequence, the trace map for p = 1 yields the desired trace map Tr_f . We note that $(\operatorname{Tr}_f)_p$ is nothing but Tr_{f_p} by the compatibility of the trace map.

Now, using this trace map, we define

$$\begin{aligned} f_{+} \circ \mathbb{D}_{\mathfrak{X}} &\cong f_{+} \mathcal{H}om(-, L_{\mathfrak{X}}^{\omega}) \xrightarrow{\star} \mathcal{H}om(f_{+}(-), f_{+}L_{\mathfrak{X}}^{\omega}) \\ & \xrightarrow{\mathrm{Tr}_{f}} \mathcal{H}om(f_{+}(-), L_{\mathfrak{Y}}^{\omega}) \cong \mathbb{D}_{\mathfrak{Y}} \circ f_{+}, \end{aligned}$$

where \star is induced by (2.3.16.2). This homomorphism is in fact an isomorphism. To check this, since the verification is local, this may easily be reduced to the

realizable scheme case, and this case follows by Lemma 1.1.5. Summing up, we have the following:

Lemma. Let $f: \mathfrak{X} \to \mathfrak{Y}$ be a projective morphism between admissible stacks. Then we have the canonical isomorphism $\mathbb{D}_{\mathfrak{Y}} \circ f_+ \xleftarrow{\sim} f_+ \circ \mathbb{D}_{\mathfrak{X}}$. In particular, putting $f^! := \mathbb{D}_{\mathfrak{X}} \circ f^+ \circ \mathbb{D}_{\mathfrak{Y}}$, the pair $(f_+, f^!)$ is an adjoint pair. Moreover, consider the following cartesian diagram of admissible stacks:

$$\begin{array}{cccc} (2.3.17.1) & & & & & \\ & & & & \\ f' & & & & \\ & & & & \\ & &$$

Under the assumption that f is projective, the canonical homomorphism $g^+f_+ \rightarrow f'_+g'^+$ is an isomorphism. If, moreover, g is an open immersion, we have the canonical isomorphism $g_! \circ f'_+ \cong f_+ \circ g'_!$.

2.3.18. **Proposition** (Proper base change). Consider the cartesian diagram of admissible stacks (2.3.17.1). Assume that f is proper (where we do not assume f to be projective). Then the canonical homomorphism $g^+f_+ \to f'_+g'^+$ is an isomorphism.

Proof. It suffices to show that $g^+f_+(\mathscr{M}) \xrightarrow{\sim} f'_+g'^+(\mathscr{M})$ for $\mathscr{M} \in \operatorname{Hol}(\mathfrak{X})$. We may assume \mathfrak{X} to be reduced by Lemma 2.2.4 and Lemma 2.3.17. By the smooth base change theorem, Proposition 2.3.9, we may replace \mathfrak{Y} by its smooth presentation. In particular, we may assume $\mathfrak{Y} =: Y$ to be a realizable scheme. Now, we use the induction on the dimension of the support of \mathscr{M} . We may assume $\operatorname{Supp}(\mathscr{M}) = \mathfrak{X}$. By the induction hypothesis, it suffices to show the equality for $\mathscr{M} = j_!(\mathscr{N})$, where $j: \mathfrak{U} \hookrightarrow \mathfrak{X}$ which is open dense. By Corollary 2.3.4, there is a smooth quasi-projective scheme X that is projective and generically finite over \mathfrak{X} , and projective over Y. Since $h: X \to \mathfrak{X}$ is projective, we already know the base change by Lemma 2.3.17. We may shrink \mathfrak{U} so that h is finite flat over \mathfrak{U} since \mathfrak{X} is assumed reduced. We denote $h^{-1}(\mathfrak{U}) \to \mathfrak{U}$ by h, abusing the notation. Then we have $h_+j'_!h^+(\mathscr{N}) \cong j_!h_+h^+(\mathscr{N})$, where $j': h^{-1}(\mathfrak{U}) \to X$, and this contains $j_!(\mathscr{N})$ as a direct factor by Lemma 2.2.4. Thus, the verification is reduced to the case $\mathscr{M} = j'_!(h^+(\mathscr{N}))$. Indeed, let $\mathscr{F} \in D^{\mathrm{b}}_{\mathrm{hol}}(\mathfrak{X})$, and let \mathscr{E} be a direct factor of \mathscr{F} . For any integer i, we have the following commutative diagram:

where the compositions of the horizontal homomorphisms are the identities. If the homomorphism \star is an injection (resp. surjection), the left (resp. right) vertical homomorphism is also, so it suffices to show that \star is an isomorphism.

Thus we may replace \mathfrak{X} by X. In this case, the verification is local with respect to Y, and we may assume it to be an affine scheme. In this situation, X is realizable as well since X is projective over Y, and the proper base change theorem has already been known (cf. 1.1.3 (8)).

2.3.19. **Definition.** A morphism of admissible stacks $f: \mathfrak{X} \to \mathfrak{Y}$ is said to be *compactifiable* if it can be factorized as

$$\mathfrak{X} \xrightarrow{j} \overline{\mathfrak{X}} \xrightarrow{f'} \mathfrak{Y},$$

where $\overline{\mathfrak{X}}$ is admissible, j is an open immersion, and f' is proper. We say that $\mathfrak{X} \to \overline{\mathfrak{X}}$ is a *compactification of* f. An admissible stack \mathfrak{X} is said to be *compactifiable* if the structural morphism is compactifiable. We abbreviate compactifiable admissible stack as *c-admissible stack*.

2.3.20. In this subsection, we fix a subcategory \mathfrak{S}_{adm} of the category of admissible stacks satisfying the following conditions: 1. open immersions and proper morphisms are morphisms in \mathfrak{S}_{adm} ; 2. any morphism $f: \mathfrak{X} \to \mathfrak{Y}$ in \mathfrak{S}_{adm} is compactifiable by an object in \mathfrak{S}_{adm} ; and 3. for a proper morphism $\mathfrak{X} \to \mathfrak{Y}$ and any morphism $\mathfrak{Y}' \to \mathfrak{Y}$ in \mathfrak{S}_{adm} , the fiber product $\mathfrak{X} \times_{\mathfrak{Y}} \mathfrak{Y}' \to \mathfrak{Y}'$ is in \mathfrak{S}_{adm} . An example of such a category is the following:

Lemma. The full subcategory of c-admissible stacks satisfies the conditions.

Proof. We need to show that any morphism between c-admissible stacks is compactifiable. Let $f: \mathfrak{X} \to \mathfrak{Y}$ be a morphism between c-admissible stacks, and let $\overline{\mathfrak{X}}$ be a compactification of the structural morphism of \mathfrak{X} . Then f is factorized as $\mathfrak{X} \xrightarrow{\Gamma} \overline{\mathfrak{X}} \times \mathfrak{Y} \xrightarrow{p} \mathfrak{Y}$ where Γ is the graph morphism and p is the projection. Since $\overline{\mathfrak{X}}$ is assumed proper, p is proper. Thus, it suffices to show that Γ is compactifiable. Since \mathfrak{Y} is admissible, Γ is a quasi-finite morphism. By [LM, 16.5], any quasi-finite morphism between admissible stacks is compactifiable, and the claim follows. \Box

Remark. Any *algebraic space* separated of finite type over k is known to be c-admissible by [CLO].

2.3.21. An advantage of considering the category \mathfrak{S}_{adm} is that it satisfies the conditions of [SGA4, XVII, 3.2.4] if we take (S) to be \mathfrak{S}_{adm} , (S, i) to be the subcategory consisting of open immersions, and (S, p) to be the subcategory consisting of proper morphisms.

Now, for $\mathfrak{X} \in \mathfrak{S}_{adm}$, we associate the category $D_{hol}^{b}(\mathfrak{X})$. We shall further endow this with data which satisfy the conditions of [SGA4, XVII, 3.3.1]. For a proper morphism p, we consider the pushforward p_{+} and the canonical isomorphism $(q \circ p)_{+} \cong q_{+} \circ p_{+}$ for composable morphisms p, q. For an open immersion j, we consider j_{1} with canonical isomorphisms for compositions. These are the data of [SGA4, (i), (i'), (ii), (ii')]. These functors are subject to the conditions [SGA4, (a), (a'), (b), (b')]. Finally, for [SGA4, (iii)], we use the proper base change 2.3.18 and localization exact triangle 2.2.9. This isomorphism is subject to the conditions [SGA4, (c), (c')]. Thus, we may apply [SGA4, Proposition 3.3.2]. Summing up, we get the following definition.

Definition. Let $f: \mathfrak{X} \to \mathfrak{Y}$ be a morphism in \mathfrak{S}_{adm} . Take a compactification $j: \mathfrak{X} \to \overline{\mathfrak{X}}$, and let $g: \overline{\mathfrak{X}} \to \mathfrak{Y}$ be the proper morphism. Then the functor $g_+ \circ j_!$ does not depend on the choice of the factorization up to canonical equivalence. This functor is denoted by $f_!$. Given composable morphisms f and g in \mathfrak{S}_{adm} , we have a canonical equivalence $(f \circ g)_! \cong f_! \circ g_!$.

2.3.22. **Proposition.** Consider the cartesian diagram (2.3.17.1) (where we do not assume f to be projective). We assume that the diagram is in \mathfrak{S}_{adm} . Then there exists a canonical isomorphism $g^+ \circ f_! \cong f'_! \circ g'^+$.
Proof. By definition of f_1 , it suffices to treat the case where f is proper and an open immersion separately. When f is proper, this is nothing but the proper base change theorem, Proposition 2.3.18. When f =: j is an open immersion, we have the canonical homomorphism $j'_1 \circ g'^+ \to g^+ \circ j_1$. By definition, this homomorphism is an isomorphism if we take j'^+ . Thus by the localization triangle (cf. Lemma 2.2.9), we get the isomorphism. Finally, we need to show that the resulting isomorphism does not depend on the choice of the factorization. Since the verification is standard, we leave it to the reader.

2.3.23. Let us construct a trace map, namely a map $f_! L^{\omega}_{\mathfrak{X}} \to L^{\omega}_{\mathfrak{Y}}$ for any morphism $f: \mathfrak{X} \to \mathfrak{Y}$ in $\mathfrak{S}_{\text{adm}}$. This will be achieved in Theorem 2.3.30. For this, we need to introduce a new t-structure.

Definition. Let X be a realizable scheme over k. For $\star \in \{\geq 0, \leq 0\}$, let $^{c}D^{\star}$ be the full subcategory of $D^{b}_{hol}(X/L_{\emptyset})$ consisting of \mathscr{C} such that $for_{L}(\mathscr{C}) \in ^{c}D^{\star}_{hol}(X/K_{\emptyset})$, using 1.3.1. The pair $(^{c}D^{\leq}, ^{c}D^{\geq})$ defines a t-structure on $D^{b}_{hol}(X/L_{\emptyset})$ called the *constructible t-structure*. We define $^{dc}D^{\leq} := \mathbb{D}(^{c}D^{\geq})$ and $^{dc}D^{\geq} := \mathbb{D}(^{c}D^{\leq})$. Then $(^{dc}D^{\leq}, ^{dc}D^{\geq})$ defines a t-structure on D^{b}_{hol} . This is called the *dual constructible t-structure*. We also define t-structures $(^{c}D^{\leq}, ^{c}D^{\geq})$ and $(^{dc}D^{\leq}, ^{dc}D^{\geq})$ on $D^{b}_{hol}(X/L_{F})$ such that \mathscr{C} is in one of the full subcategories if and only if $for_{F}(\mathscr{C})$ is in the corresponding one of $D^{b}_{hol}(X/L_{\emptyset})$.

2.3.24. **Definition.** Let \mathfrak{X} be an algebraic stack. Let $X_{\bullet} \to \mathfrak{X}$ be a simplicial realizable scheme presentation, and let $\mathscr{M} \in D^{\mathrm{b}}_{\mathrm{hol}}(X_{\bullet})$. Put $d_i := d_{X_i/\mathfrak{X}}$ (cf. 0.0.3).

- (1) A complex $\mathscr{M} \in D^{\mathrm{b}}_{\mathrm{hol}}(\mathfrak{X})$ is in $^{\mathrm{c}}D^{\star}$ ($\star \in \leq 0, \geq 0$) if and only if $\rho_{i}^{*}(\mathscr{M}) \in ^{\mathrm{c}}D^{\star-d_{i}}$.
- (2) A complex $\mathcal{N} \in D^{\mathrm{b}}_{\mathrm{hol}}(\mathfrak{X})$ is in ${}^{\mathrm{dc}}D^{\star}$ ($\star \in \leq 0, \geq 0$) if and only if $\rho_i^*(\mathcal{N}) \in {}^{\mathrm{dc}}D^{\star+d_i}$.

We leave the reader to check that $({}^{c}D^{\leq 0}, {}^{c}D^{\geq 0})$ and $({}^{dc}D^{\leq 0}, {}^{dc}D^{\geq 0})$ define tstructures, and that they do not depend on the choice of the simplicial schemes. These t-structures are called the *constructible t-structure* and *dual constructible t*structure, and are abbreviated as *c-t-structure* and *dc-t-structure*, respectively. We denote the cohomology functor for the *c-t-structure* (resp. d*c-t-structure*) by ${}^{c}\mathcal{H}^{*}$ (resp. ${}^{dc}\mathcal{H}^{*}$), and objects in the heart are called *c-modules* (resp. *dc-modules*).

2.3.25. Lemma. (i) We have ${}^{\mathrm{dc}}\mathscr{H}^i \cong \mathbb{D} \circ {}^{\mathrm{c}}\mathscr{H}^{-i} \circ \mathbb{D}$. In particular, $\mathscr{M} \in D^{\mathrm{b}}_{\mathrm{hol}}(\mathfrak{X})$ is a c-module if and only if $\mathbb{D}(\mathscr{M})$ is a dc-module, and a homomorphism $f : \mathscr{M} \to \mathscr{N}$ of c-modules is c-injective (resp. c-surjective) if and only if $\mathbb{D}(f)$ is dc-surjective (resp. dc-injective).

(ii) Let $f: \mathfrak{X} \to \mathfrak{Y}$ be a smooth morphism. Then the functor f^+ is c-t-exact.

Proof. For (ii), see Lemma 1.3.4. The details are left to the reader.

2.3.26. Lemma. (i) For an admissible stack \mathfrak{X} , $L^{\omega}_{\mathfrak{X}}$ is a dc-module.

(ii) Let $f: \mathfrak{X} \to \mathfrak{Y}$ be a morphism in \mathfrak{S}_{adm} . Then $f_!$ is right dc-t-exact.

Proof. To check (i), it suffices to show that $\mathbb{D}(L^{\omega}_{\mathfrak{X}}) \cong L_{\mathfrak{X}}$ is a c-module. This follows from Lemma 1.3.4 (i). Let us check (ii). First we may assume $\mathfrak{Y} =: Y$ to be a realizable scheme. For a dc-module \mathscr{M} on \mathfrak{X} , we need to show that ${}^{\mathrm{dc}}\mathscr{H}^{i}f_{!}(\mathscr{M}) = 0$ for i > 0. We use induction on the support of \mathscr{M} . We may assume $\mathrm{Supp}(\mathscr{M}) = \mathfrak{X}$.

For an open dense substack $j: \mathfrak{U} \hookrightarrow \mathfrak{X}$, it suffices to check that ${}^{\mathrm{dc}}\mathscr{H}^i f_!(j!j^+\mathscr{M}) = 0$ for i > 0. Indeed, consider the localization triangle (cf. 2.2.9),

$$j_!j^+\mathcal{M} \to \mathcal{M} \to i_+i^+\mathcal{M} \xrightarrow{+1}$$

where *i* is the closed immersion of the complement of \mathfrak{U} . Since i_+i^+ is right dc-texact by Lemma 1.3.4 and $i_+i^+\mathscr{M}$ is supported on the complement of \mathfrak{U} , we know that ${}^{\mathrm{dc}}\mathscr{H}^i f_!(i_+i^+\mathscr{M}) = 0$ for i > 0 by the induction hypothesis. Thus, if we know the vanishing for $j_!j^+(\mathscr{M})$, we do for \mathscr{M} also. By shrinking \mathfrak{X} , we can take a finite flat morphism $h: X \to \mathfrak{X}$ from a realizable scheme. By Lemma 2.2.4, \mathscr{M} is a direct factor of $\mathbb{D}h_+h^+\mathbb{D}(\mathscr{M}) \cong h_!h^!(\mathscr{M})$ (cf. Lemma 2.3.17). Since $h^!$ is dc-t-exact, it remains to prove the right dc-t-exactness of $f \circ h: X \to Y$. Since $\mathbb{D} \circ f_! \circ \mathbb{D} \cong f_+$ is left c-t-exact by Lemma 1.3.4, we get the result. \square

2.3.27. **Lemma.** Let $X_{\bullet} \to \mathfrak{X}$ be an admissible simplicial scheme. Assume we are given $\{\mathcal{M}_i, \alpha_{\phi}\}$, where \mathcal{M}_i is a dc-module on X_i , and $\alpha_{\phi} \colon X(\phi)^*(\mathcal{M}_i) \cong \mathcal{M}_j$ for $\phi \colon [i] \to [j]$ satisfying the cocycle condition. Then there exists a unique dc-module \mathscr{M} on \mathfrak{X} , the descent, such that $\rho_i^*(\mathcal{M}) \cong \mathcal{M}_i$. Moreover, given other data $\{\mathcal{N}_i, \beta_{\phi}\}$ and its descent \mathscr{N} on \mathfrak{X} , homomorphisms $\mathscr{M} \to \mathscr{N}$ correspond bijectively to systems of homomorphisms $\mathscr{M}_i \to \mathscr{N}_i$ compatible in the obvious sense. We also have similar results for c-modules.

Proof. To check this, it suffices to show that $\mathbb{R}^k \operatorname{Hom}(\mathcal{M}_i, \mathcal{M}_i) = 0$ for k < 0 by Theorem 2.2.20. By the definition of dc-t-structure and biduality (cf. Proposition 2.3.13), we may assume that \mathcal{M}_i is a c-module. In this case, since $\mathbb{R}\operatorname{Hom}(-, -)$ is left c-t-exact, the claim follows.

2.3.28. Lemma. Let $f: X \to Y$ be a smooth morphism of realizable schemes. Let \mathscr{M}' be a complex in $D^{\mathrm{b}}_{\mathrm{hol}}(Y)$, and put $\mathscr{M} := f^+(\mathscr{M}')$. Then there exists an open dense subscheme $V \subset Y$ such that $\mathrm{Supp}(\mathscr{M}') \cap V$ is dense in $\mathrm{Supp}(\mathscr{M}')$, and for any closed immersion from a point $g: \{y\} \to V \hookrightarrow Y$, the base change homomorphism $g^+f_+(\mathscr{M}) \to f'_+g'^+(\mathscr{M})$ is an isomorphism, where $f': X' := X \times_Y \{y\} \to \{y\}$ and $g': X' \to X$ are the base changes of f and g.

Proof. We may assume $\mathscr{M} \in \operatorname{Hol}(X/L)$. By replacing Y by the support of \mathscr{M} , we may assume that the support of \mathscr{M} is equal to Y. We may assume Y to be reduced, and by shrinking Y, we may moreover assume that Y is smooth and \mathscr{M}' is smooth on Y. We may take V such that each cohomology of $f_+(\mathscr{M})$ is smooth. Let c be the codimension of $\{y\}$ in Y. In this case, we have $g^+f_+(\mathscr{M}) \cong g^!f_+(\mathscr{M})(c)[2c]$ and $f'_+g'^+(\mathscr{M}) \cong f'_+g'^!(\mathscr{M})(c)[2c]$ by Theorem 1.5.14, and the claim follows by 1.1.3 (8).

2.3.29. Lemma. Let $X_{\bullet} \to \mathfrak{X}$ be a simplicial realizable scheme presentation of a *c*-admissible stack \mathfrak{X} . Let $p_i: X_i \to \mathfrak{X}$ be the induced morphism. We put $p_{i+}^0 := {}^{c}\mathscr{H}^0 p_{i+}$ (resp. $p_{i+}^0 := {}^{dc}\mathscr{H}^0 p_{i+}$), and similarly for p_{i}^0 . For a *c*-module \mathscr{M} (resp. *dc*-module \mathscr{N}), we denote by \mathscr{M}_i (resp. \mathscr{N}_i) the object $\rho_i^*\mathscr{M}$ (resp. $\rho_i^*\mathscr{N}$) on X_i .

We have the following exact sequences of c-modules (resp. dc-modules):

$$\begin{split} 0 &\to \mathscr{M} \to p_{0+}^{0}(\mathscr{M}_{0}[-d_{0}]) \to p_{1+}^{0}(\mathscr{M}_{1}[-d_{1}]) \\ & (resp. \ 0 \to \mathscr{N} \to p_{0+}^{0}(\mathscr{N}_{0}[-d_{0}]) \to p_{1+}^{0}(\mathscr{N}_{1}[-d_{1}])), \\ p_{1!}^{0}(\mathscr{M}_{1}d_{1}) \to p_{0!}^{0}(\mathscr{M}_{0}d_{0}) \to \mathscr{M} \to 0 \\ & (resp. \ p_{1!}^{0}(\mathscr{N}_{1}d_{1}) \to p_{0!}^{0}(\mathscr{N}_{0}d_{0}) \to \mathscr{N} \to 0). \end{split}$$

Proof. Let us prove the first sequence for \mathscr{M} . The sequence is defined by the adjunction. We only need to show that it is exact. Thus, we may assume $\mathfrak{X} =: X$ to be a scheme. First, let us show that there exists an open subscheme $j: U \hookrightarrow X$ which is dense in the support of \mathscr{M} such that $j_+\mathscr{M}|_U$ satisfies the exactness property. We may take U such that p_0 and p_1 possess the base change property by Lemma 2.3.28. Indeed, it suffices to show the exactness after restricting to U since j_+ is left c-t-exact by Lemma 1.3.4. Then, we are reduced to the case where X is a point by the base change. Then c-t-structure coincides with the usual t-structure, and the exactness follows by Proposition 2.1.13.

We show the exactness by the induction on the dimension of the support of \mathcal{M} . Take an open dense subscheme U of the support of \mathcal{M} such that the sequence is exact for $j_+\mathcal{M}|_U$ where $j: U \hookrightarrow X$. Consider the following diagram of c-modules where we omit shifts and twists:



The horizontal sequences are complexes, and the ones with solid arrows are exact. By the induction hypothesis, the vertical sequences are known to be exact except for the one starting from \mathcal{M} . Then by diagram chasing, we get that the vertical sequence starting from \mathcal{M} is exact as well, and we get the lemma.

Now, for the exactness of the second sequence for \mathscr{N} , we just argue dually. For the second sequence for \mathscr{M} , the argument is similar and even simpler: We may assume \mathfrak{X} to be a scheme. We can check the exactness by taking the *stalk*, and reduce to the case where X is a point immediately, in which case we get the exactness by Proposition 2.1.13. We can show dually for the first sequence for \mathscr{N} , and we may finish the proof.

2.3.30. **Theorem.** Let $f: \mathfrak{X} \to \mathfrak{Y}$ be a morphism in \mathfrak{S}_{adm} . Then there exists a unique homomorphism $\operatorname{Tr}_{f}^{p}: f_{!}L_{\mathfrak{X}}^{\omega} \to L_{\mathfrak{Y}}^{\omega}$ satisfying the following conditions.

(I) Transitivity. Given $\mathfrak{X} \xrightarrow{f} \mathfrak{Y} \xrightarrow{g} \mathfrak{Z}$ in \mathfrak{S}_{adm} , the composition of the following homomorphisms is equal to $\operatorname{Tr}_{qof}^{p}$:

$$(g \circ f)_! L^{\omega}_{\mathfrak{X}} \cong g_! (f_! L^{\omega}_{\mathfrak{X}}) \xrightarrow{g_! \operatorname{Tr}_f^{\mathrm{p}}} g_! L^{\omega}_{\mathfrak{Y}} \xrightarrow{\operatorname{Tr}_g^{\mathrm{p}}} K^{\omega}_{\mathfrak{Z}}.$$

TOMOYUKI ABE

(II) When $\mathfrak{X} =: X$ and $\mathfrak{Y} =: Y$ are realizable schemes and L = K, then $\operatorname{Tr}_{f}^{p}$ is the adjunction homomorphism $f_{!}K_{X}^{\omega} \cong f_{!}f^{!}K_{Y}^{\omega} \to K_{Y}^{\omega}$. Moreover, $\operatorname{Tr}_{f}^{p}$ commutes with for_L.

(III) The trace map is compatible with smooth pullback on \mathfrak{Y} . Namely, consider (2.3.17.1) in \mathfrak{S}_{adm} such that g is smooth of relative dimension d. Then the composition

$$f'_! L^{\omega}_{\mathfrak{X}'} \cong f'_! g'^* L^{\omega}_{\mathfrak{X}}(d)[d] \to g^* f_! L^{\omega}_{\mathfrak{X}}(d)[d] \xrightarrow{g^* \operatorname{Tr}_f^{\mathrm{p}}} g^* L^{\omega}_{\mathfrak{Y}}(d)[d] \cong L^{\omega}_{\mathfrak{Y}'}$$

where the second map is the base change homomorphism, coincides with $\mathrm{Tr}_{f'}^{\mathrm{p}}$.

Proof. We put the dc-t-structure on $D^{\rm b}_{\rm hol}(\mathfrak{X})$ and $D^{\rm b}_{\rm hol}(\mathfrak{Y})$. Since $f_!$ is right dc-texact by Lemma 2.3.26, it suffices to construct a morphism of dc-t-modules $f^0_! L^{\omega}_{\mathfrak{X}} \to L^{\omega}_{\mathfrak{Y}}$ where $f^0_! := {}^{\rm dc} \mathscr{H}^0 f_!$. When \mathfrak{X} and \mathfrak{Y} are realizable schemes, the trace map for L = K extends uniquely to general L by (II). Let us construct this in the case where $\mathfrak{Y} =: Y$ is a realizable scheme. Let $X_0 \to \mathfrak{X}$ be a presentation from a quasi-projective scheme, let $X_1 := X_0 \times_{\mathfrak{X}} X_0$, let $p_0, p_1 : X_1 \to X_0$ be the first and second projection, and put $f_i : X_i \to \mathfrak{X} \xrightarrow{f} \mathfrak{Y}$. By the property of the adjunction homomorphism, we have the following commutative diagram:



Thus by the second exact sequence for \mathscr{N} in Lemma 2.3.29, we have a homomorphism $\operatorname{Tr}_{f}^{\mathrm{p}}: f_{!}^{0}L_{\mathfrak{X}}^{\omega} \to L_{Y}^{\omega}$ as required. By condition (I), this map is uniquely determined. It is straightforward to check that this map does not depend on the choice of the smooth presentation and satisfies (II).

Finally consider the case where \mathfrak{Y} is not a realizable scheme. Take a simplicial realizable scheme presentation $Y_{\bullet} \to \mathfrak{Y}$. By Lemma 2.3.27, it suffices to construct a homomorphism $(f_!^0 L^{\omega}_{\mathfrak{X}})_{Y_i} \to L^{\omega}_{Y_i}$ with compatibility conditions. By condition (III), this map should be the one we have already constructed, and we conclude the proof.

2.3.31. Let $f: \mathfrak{X} \to \mathfrak{Y}$ be a proper morphism between admissible stacks. Then we have the homomorphism $f_+L^{\omega}_{\mathfrak{X}} \xleftarrow{} f_!L^{\omega}_{\mathfrak{X}} \xrightarrow{} L^{p}_{\mathfrak{Y}}$. This homomorphism induces $f_+ \circ \mathbb{D}_{\mathfrak{X}} \to \mathbb{D}_{\mathfrak{Y}} \circ f_+$ as in 2.3.17. Now, let f be a morphism in \mathfrak{S}_{adm} . Let $\mathfrak{X} \xrightarrow{j} \mathfrak{X} \xrightarrow{\overline{f}} \mathfrak{Y}$ be a compactification of f in \mathfrak{S}_{adm} . We have the homomorphism

$$(\star) \qquad f_+ \circ \mathbb{D}_{\mathfrak{X}} \cong \overline{f}_+ \circ j_+ \circ \mathbb{D}_{\mathfrak{X}} \xleftarrow{\sim} \overline{f}_+ \circ \mathbb{D}_{\mathfrak{X}'} \circ j_! \to \mathbb{D}_{\mathfrak{Y}} \circ \overline{f}_+ \circ j_! \cong \mathbb{D}_{\mathfrak{Y}} \circ f_!,$$

where the second isomorphism follows by Remark 2.3.13 (iii). We may check that this homomorphism does not depend on the choice of the factorization up to canonical equivalence.

Theorem (Duality). For any morphism f in \mathfrak{S}_{adm} , the homomorphism (\star) is, in fact, an isomorphism.

Proof. First, we may assume \mathfrak{Y} is a scheme by (III) of Theorem 2.3.30. Let us show the isomorphism for $\mathscr{M} \in \operatorname{Hol}(\mathfrak{X})$. We use induction on dim $\operatorname{Supp}(\mathscr{M})$. Assume the

theorem holds for dim Supp $(\mathscr{M}) < k$. Let \mathfrak{Z} be the support of \mathscr{M} . We may shrink \mathfrak{X} so that \mathfrak{Z} is shrunk by its open dense subscheme. Indeed, let $j: \mathfrak{U} \hookrightarrow \mathfrak{X}$ be an open immersion such that $\mathfrak{Z} \cap \mathfrak{U}$ is dense in \mathfrak{Z} , and let $i: \mathfrak{W} \hookrightarrow \mathfrak{X}$ be its complement. The proposition holds for $i_+i^+(\mathscr{M})$ by the induction hypothesis. Thus, it suffices to show the theorem only for $\mathscr{M} = j_!j^+(\mathscr{M})$. Since the theorem holds for f = j, we may replace \mathfrak{X} by \mathfrak{U} .

Shrinking \mathfrak{X} by its open dense substack, we may assume that there exists a finite flat morphism $g: X \to \mathfrak{X}$ from a realizable scheme. Since \mathscr{M} is a direct factor of $g_+g^+\mathscr{M}$, by arguing as in the proof of Proposition 2.3.18, it suffices to show that the homomorphism $f_+ \circ \mathbb{D}_{\mathfrak{X}}(g_+g^+\mathscr{M}) \to \mathbb{D}_{\mathfrak{Y}} \circ f_!(g_+g^+\mathscr{M})$ is an isomorphism. By Lemma 2.3.17, it is reduced to the realizable scheme case.

2.3.32. **Definition.** Let $f: \mathfrak{X} \to \mathfrak{Y}$ be a morphism in \mathfrak{S}_{adm} . We define $f^! := \mathbb{D}_{\mathfrak{X}} \circ f^+ \circ \mathbb{D}_{\mathfrak{Y}}$. The couple $(f_!, f^!)$ is an adjoint pair. Transitivity holds since it holds for f^+ .

2.3.33. Lemma. Let $f: \mathfrak{X} \to \operatorname{Spec}(k)$ be the structural morphism of a c-admissible stack of dimension d. Then for $\mathscr{M} \in \operatorname{Con}(\mathfrak{X})$, we have $\mathscr{H}^i f_!(\mathscr{M}) = 0$ for i > 2d.

Proof. We may use induction on the dimension of \mathscr{M} . By standard *dévissage* using the induction hypothesis, we may shrink \mathfrak{X} by its open dense substack. By shrinking \mathfrak{X} and taking a finite flat morphism from a realizable scheme, we may assume that X is a realizable scheme. Then the proposition is reduced to Lemma 1.3.8.

2.3.34. **Theorem** (Relative Poincaré duality). Let $\mathfrak{M}_d^{\mathrm{st}}$ be the set of morphisms $f: \mathfrak{X} \to \mathfrak{Y}$ of $\mathfrak{S}_{\mathrm{adm}}$ such that there exists an open substack $\mathfrak{U} \subset \mathfrak{Y}$ such that $\mathfrak{X} \times_{\mathfrak{Y}} \mathfrak{U} \to \mathfrak{U}$ is flat of relative dimension d, and the dimension of any fiber of $\mathfrak{Y} \setminus \mathfrak{U}$ is < d. Then for $f \in \mathfrak{M}_d^{\mathrm{st}}$ there is a unique trace map $\mathrm{Tr}_f^{\mathrm{sm}}: f_!f^+(d)[2d] \to \mathrm{id}$ satisfying the following properties.

(I) When \mathfrak{X} and \mathfrak{Y} are realizable schemes and L = K, then it coincides with the trace map in Theorem 1.5.1. Moreover, it commutes with for_L.

(II) It commutes with base change in the sense of (Var 2) of 1.5.1 if we replace the diagram of realizable schemes by that in \mathfrak{S}_{adm} and $f \in \mathfrak{M}_d^{st}$.

(III) It is transitive with respect to the composition of morphisms in \mathfrak{M}_d^{st} in the sense of (Var 3) of 1.5.1.

Taking the adjoint, we have a homomorphism $f^+(d)[2d] \to f^!$, which is an isomorphism when f is smooth.

Remark. The superscript of $\operatorname{Tr}^{\mathrm{sm}}$ stands for "smooth". This is because the trace map is used to show that $f^+(d)[2d] \cong f!$ for *smooth* morphisms. On the other hand, the superscript for the trace map $\operatorname{Tr}^{\mathrm{p}}$ in Theorem 2.3.30 stands for "proper", since this trace map is related to the isomorphism $f_! \xrightarrow{\sim} f_+$ when f is proper. These two trace maps have a priori no relation. Finally, the superscript of $\mathfrak{M}_d^{\mathrm{st}}$ stands for "stack".

Proof. First, we need to construct the trace map $\operatorname{Tr}_{f}^{\operatorname{sm}}$: $f_!f^+L_{\mathfrak{Y}}(d)[2d] \to L_{\mathfrak{Y}}$. Put c-t-structure on $D_{\operatorname{hol}}^{\operatorname{b}}(\mathfrak{X})$. By Lemma 2.3.33, it suffices to construct a homomorphism ${}^{c}\mathscr{H}^{2d}f_!f^+L_{\mathfrak{Y}}(d) \to L_{\mathfrak{Y}}$ of c-modules. When \mathfrak{X} and $\mathfrak{Y} =: Y$ are schemes, this is the trace map of Theorem 1.5.1 when L = K, and in general it is defined by extending the scalar. For the careful reader, we remark that, when $\blacktriangle = F$, in Theorem 1.5.1, we used the category $F - D_{\operatorname{hol}}^{\operatorname{b}}(Y/K)$ to define the trace map. However, the isomorphism defining the Frobenius structure in $D_{\operatorname{hol}}^{\operatorname{b}}(Y/K)$ induces an isomorphism in $\operatorname{Con}(Y/K)$, which defines an object in $\operatorname{Con}(Y/\mathfrak{T}_F)$, so Theorem 1.5.1 is enough to get a trace map in $D^{\mathrm{b}}(Y/\mathfrak{T}_F)$.

For the construction of a trace map in the general case, let $Y_{\bullet} \to \mathfrak{Y}$ be an admissible simplicial scheme. By Lemma 2.3.27, it suffices to construct the trace map for $\mathfrak{X} \times_{\mathfrak{Y}} Y_i \to Y_i$ for each *i* compatible with each other. The construction is similar to that of Theorem 2.3.30 using Lemma 2.3.29, so we leave the details to the reader.

The trace map defines a morphism $f^+(d)[2d] \to f^!$. Let us show that this is an isomorphism when f is smooth. By the base change property, we may assume \mathfrak{Y} to be a scheme. Moreover, it suffices to show the identity after pulling back to schemes which are smooth over \mathfrak{X} . Then we are reduced to the scheme case that we have already treated in Theorem 1.5.13.

2.3.35. Finally, we have the projection formula, whose proof is similar to the proper base change theorem, and is left to the reader:

Proposition. Let $f: \mathfrak{X} \to \mathfrak{Y}$ be a morphism in \mathfrak{S}_{adm} . Then for $\mathscr{M} \in D^{b}_{hol}(\mathfrak{X})$ and $\mathscr{N} \in D^{b}_{hol}(\mathfrak{Y})$, we have a canonical isomorphism:

$$f_! \mathscr{M} \otimes \mathscr{N} \cong f_! (\mathscr{M} \otimes f^+ \mathscr{N}).$$

The Künneth formula.

2.3.36. **Proposition.** Consider morphisms of admissible stacks $f: \mathfrak{X} \to \mathfrak{X}'$ and $g: \mathfrak{Y} \to \mathfrak{Y}'$. Let $\mathscr{M} \in D^{\mathrm{b}}_{\mathrm{hol}}(\mathfrak{X})$ and $\mathscr{N} \in D^{\mathrm{b}}_{\mathrm{hol}}(\mathfrak{Y})$. Then there exists a canonical isomorphism

$$f_+(\mathscr{M}) \boxtimes g_+(\mathscr{N}) \xrightarrow{\sim} (f \times g)_+(\mathscr{M} \boxtimes \mathscr{N}).$$

Moreover, if f and g are in \mathfrak{S}_{adm} , we get an isomorphism

$$f_!(\mathscr{M}) \boxtimes g_!(\mathscr{N}) \xrightarrow{\sim} (f \times g)_!(\mathscr{M} \boxtimes \mathscr{N}).$$

Proof. Let us construct the first homomorphism. We have the following homomorphism

$$(f \times g)^+ \big(f_+(\mathscr{M}) \boxtimes g_+(\mathscr{N}) \big) \cong f^+ f_+(\mathscr{M}) \boxtimes g^+ g_+(\mathscr{N}) \to \mathscr{M} \boxtimes \mathscr{N},$$

where the first isomorphism follows by Proposition 2.3.15 and the second homomorphism is by adjunction. By taking the adjunction, we get the homomorphism we are looking for. To check that this homomorphism is an isomorphism, it suffices to treat the finite morphism case and the projection case separately. The finite morphism case follows by Lemma 2.2.6, and the projection case follows by Lemma 2.2.25 and Lemma 2.2.23 (i). By Theorem 2.3.31, we get that $f_1 \cong \mathbb{D}_{\mathfrak{X}'} \circ f_+ \circ \mathbb{D}_{\mathfrak{X}}$. Thus, the second isomorphism holds by the first one and the commutativity of \boxtimes and \mathbb{D} by Proposition 2.3.15.

2.3.37. Let $f: \mathfrak{X} \to \mathfrak{Y}$ and $g: \mathfrak{X}' \to \mathfrak{Y}$ be morphisms between admissible stacks. Consider the following cartesian diagram:



For $\mathcal{M} \in D^{\mathrm{b}}_{\mathrm{hol}}(\mathfrak{X}), \, \mathcal{N} \in D^{\mathrm{b}}_{\mathrm{hol}}(\mathfrak{X}')$, we put

$$\mathscr{M} \boxtimes_{\mathfrak{Y}} \mathscr{N} := i^+ (\mathscr{M} \boxtimes \mathscr{N})$$

When f and g are the identities, $(-) \boxtimes_{\mathfrak{Y}} (-)$ is nothing but $(-) \otimes (-)$.

Corollary. Assume f and g are \mathfrak{S}_{adm} . Then, we have a canonical isomorphism

$$f_!(\mathscr{M}) \otimes g_!(\mathscr{N}) \cong h_!(\mathscr{M} \boxtimes_{\mathfrak{Y}} \mathscr{N}).$$

Proof. Use Proposition 2.3.22.

Theory of weights revisited.

2.3.38. The theory of six functors for c-admissible stacks fits perfectly with the theory of weights. Consider the situation in 2.2.30. The following is a direct consequence of 2.2.32:

Theorem. Let $f: \mathfrak{X} \to \mathfrak{Y}$ be a morphism between admissible stacks.

(i) Then the functors f₊, f⁺, D, ⊗ preserve ι-mixed complexes. Moreover, f₊ (resp. f⁺) preserves complexes of weight ≥ w (resp. ≤ w), D exchanges complexes of weight ≤ w and ≥ -w, and ⊗ sends complexes of weight (≤ w, ≤ w') to ≤ w+w'.
(ii) Assume f =: j is an immersion, and M is ι-pure of weight w in Hol(X/L_F). Then j_{!+}(M) is ι-pure of weight w.

In particular, by using the duality 2.3.31, if f is proper, f_+ sends a pure complex of weight w to a pure complex of weight w.

2.4. Miscellaneous results on cohomology theory. Before proceeding to the next section, we pause a little and collect some miscellaneous results which are used in the proof of the Langlands correspondence. So far, we have established the theory for admissible stacks. However, in the proof of the Langlands correspondence, we sometimes need to deal with nonadmissible stacks. For this, we employ ad hoc constructions of cohomological operations and prove some basic properties. The next theme of this subsection is to show smoothness results using, again, ad hoc construction of the nearby cycle functor. Finally, we collect some properties of Tannakian fundamental groups of isocrystals.

Cohomology theory for algebraic stacks.

2.4.1. We denote by $\operatorname{St}^{\operatorname{lft}}(k)$ the category of algebraic stacks locally of finite type over k. Let \mathfrak{X} be in $\operatorname{St}^{\operatorname{lft}}(k)$. To $X \in \mathfrak{X}_{\operatorname{sm}}$ (cf. 0.0.2), we associate the category $\operatorname{Con}(X/L)$. For $f: X \to Y$ in $\mathfrak{X}_{\operatorname{sm}}$, we have the pull-back functor $f^+: \operatorname{Con}(Y/L) \to \operatorname{Con}(X/L)$. This functor is exact by Lemma 2.3.25 (ii). With the isomorphism $(f \circ g)^+ \cong g^+ \circ f^+$, these data form a fibered category $\operatorname{Con}_{\mathfrak{X}/L} \to \mathfrak{X}_{\operatorname{sm}}$. Now, we have:

Lemma. When \mathfrak{X} is quasi-compact, the category of c-modules $\operatorname{Con}(\mathfrak{X}/L)$ (cf. 2.3.24) we have defined so far is equivalent to the category of cartesian sections of the fibered category $\operatorname{Con}_{\mathfrak{X}/L}$ over \mathfrak{X}_{sm} .

Proof. We denote by $\Gamma \operatorname{Con}_{\mathfrak{X}/L}$ the category of cartesian sections of the fibered category $\operatorname{Con}_{\mathfrak{X}/L}$. We construct a functor $F: \operatorname{Con}(\mathfrak{X}/L) \to \Gamma \operatorname{Con}_{\mathfrak{X}/L}$. Let $\mathscr{M} \in \operatorname{Con}(\mathfrak{X}/L)$, and let $X \in \mathfrak{X}_{\mathrm{sm}}$. Let $\rho: X \to \mathfrak{X}$ be the smooth morphism. Then since X and \mathfrak{X} are both good stacks, in the sense of the second read case, the functor ρ^+ (which is isomorphic to $\rho^*[-d_{X/\mathfrak{X}}]$ by Lemma 2.3.8) is defined, and we

put $F(\mathscr{M})_X := \rho^+(\mathscr{M}) \in \operatorname{Con}(X/L)$. Defining the gluing isomorphism by the transitivity of pullbacks, we have $F(\mathscr{M}) \in \Gamma \operatorname{Con}_{\mathfrak{X}/L}$.

Let $\mathcal{X}_{\bullet} \to \mathfrak{X}$ be a simplicial algebraic space presentation. By associating the category $\operatorname{Con}(\mathcal{X}_i/L)$ to \mathcal{X}_i and considering the pullback, we have the cofibered category $\operatorname{Con}(\mathcal{X}_{\bullet}/L)_{\bullet}$ over Δ^+ , similar to Definition 2.1.4. By the construction of F, there exists the canonical functor $\operatorname{Con}(\mathfrak{X}/L) \to (\operatorname{Con}(\mathcal{X}_{\bullet}/L)_{\bullet})_{\text{tot}}$. This induces an equivalence of categories: we can check the full faithfulness by using (2.1.5.1), and it is essentially surjective by Theorem 2.2.20.

Let us construct the functor $G: \Gamma \operatorname{Con}_{\mathfrak{X}/L} \to \operatorname{Con}(\mathfrak{X}/L)$. First, let $\mathfrak{X} =: \mathcal{X}$ be an algebraic space. Take $X \in \mathcal{X}_{\mathrm{sm}}$, and let $X_{\bullet} := \operatorname{cosk}_{0}(X \to \mathcal{X})$. Then since $X_{n} \in \mathcal{X}_{\mathrm{sm}}$, we have the *restriction* functor $G: \Gamma \operatorname{Con}_{\mathcal{X}/L} \to (\operatorname{Con}(X_{\bullet}/L)_{\bullet})_{\mathrm{tot}} \cong$ $\operatorname{Con}(\mathcal{X}/L)$. This does not depend on auxiliary choices, and it is straightforward to check that this is quasi-inverse to F, thus the lemma is shown when \mathfrak{X} is an algebraic space. Now, for a smooth morphism $f: \mathfrak{X} \to \mathfrak{Y}$ of algebraic stacks, we have the faithful functor $\mathfrak{X}_{\mathrm{sm}} \to \mathfrak{Y}_{\mathrm{sm}}$ sending $X \to \mathfrak{X}$ to the composition $X \to \mathfrak{X} \xrightarrow{f} \mathfrak{Y}$. This induces a functor $f^+: \Gamma \operatorname{Con}_{\mathfrak{Y}/L} \to \Gamma \operatorname{Con}_{\mathfrak{X}/L}$. Let $\rho: \mathcal{X} \to \mathfrak{X}$ be a smooth morphism. Then we have the functor $\Gamma \operatorname{Con}_{\mathfrak{X}/L} \xrightarrow{\rho^+} \Gamma \operatorname{Con}_{\mathcal{X}/L} \cong \operatorname{Con}(\mathcal{X}/L)$. Take a simplicial presentation \mathcal{X}_{\bullet} of \mathfrak{X} , then \mathcal{X}_{n} is an algebraic space so we argue as in the case where \mathfrak{X} is an algebraic space to construct the quasi-inverse G of F. \Box

This lemma enables us to define $\operatorname{Con}(\mathfrak{X}/L)$, for \mathfrak{X} in $\operatorname{St}^{\operatorname{lft}}(k)$ not necessarily quasi-compact, to be the category of cartesian sections of $\operatorname{Con}_{\mathfrak{X}/L}$. We often denote $\operatorname{Con}(\mathfrak{X}/L)$ by $\operatorname{Con}(\mathfrak{X})$ for simplicity. For a smooth morphism $f: \mathfrak{X} \to \mathfrak{Y}$ in $\operatorname{St}^{\operatorname{lft}}(k)$, we have a faithful functor $\mathfrak{X}_{\operatorname{sm}} \to \mathfrak{Y}_{\operatorname{sm}}$, which induces the pull-back functor $f^+: \operatorname{Con}(\mathfrak{Y}/L) \to \operatorname{Con}(\mathfrak{X}/L)$. Assume \mathfrak{X} and \mathfrak{Y} are of finite type, and let dbe the relative dimension of f. Then f^+ is canonically equivalent to $f^*[-d]$ using the functor in 2.2.7. For $\mathscr{M} \in \operatorname{Con}(\mathfrak{Y}/L)$, we sometimes denote $f^+\mathscr{M} \in \operatorname{Con}(\mathfrak{X}/L)$ by $\mathscr{M}_{\mathfrak{X}}$.

2.4.2. Let $f: \mathfrak{X} \to \mathfrak{Y}$ be a representable morphism of finite type in $\mathrm{St}^{\mathrm{lft}}(k)$. Let us construct f_+^i and $f_!^i$. To construct these, let $Y \in \mathfrak{Y}_{\mathrm{sm}}$. This defines the morphisms $f_Y: \mathfrak{X}_Y := \mathfrak{X} \times \mathfrak{Y} \to Y$, and $\rho: \mathfrak{X}_Y \to \mathfrak{X}$. Note that \mathfrak{X}_Y is an algebraic space by assumption, thus f_Y is compactifiable by Remark 2.3.20. Now, for $\mathscr{M} \in \mathrm{Con}(\mathfrak{X})$, put $(f_+^i \mathscr{M})_Y := {}^{c} \mathscr{H}^i f_{Y+} \rho^*(\mathscr{M})$, and similarly for $(f_!^i \mathscr{M})_Y$. For a smooth morphism $\phi: Y' \to Y$ in $\mathfrak{Y}_{\mathrm{sm}}$, the base change theorem (Proposition 2.3.9) and Proposition 2.3.22 give us the isomorphisms

$$\phi^+(f^i_+\mathscr{M})_Y \cong (f^i_+\mathscr{M})_{Y'}, \qquad \phi^+(f^i_!\mathscr{M})_Y \cong (f^i_!\mathscr{M})_{Y'}.$$

We can check the transitivity of these isomorphisms easily, and we define objects $\{(f_{!}^{i}\mathscr{M})_{Y}\}_{Y\in\mathfrak{Y}_{sm}}$ and $\{(f_{!}^{i}\mathscr{M})_{Y}\}_{Y\in\mathfrak{Y}_{sm}}$ in Con (\mathfrak{Y}) . We denote them by $f_{+}^{i}\mathscr{M}$ and $f_{!}^{i}\mathscr{M}$ respectively. When f is an immersion, $f_{!}^{0}$ is c-t-exact and $f_{!}^{i} = 0$ for $i \neq 0$ by Lemma 1.3.4. Moreover, $f_{!}^{0}$ coincides with that induced by 2.2.8; in this case, we sometimes denote $f_{!}^{0}$ by $f_{!}$.

2.4.3. Let $\operatorname{St}^{\operatorname{lft},\operatorname{sm}}(k)$ be the subcategory of $\operatorname{St}^{\operatorname{lft}}(k)$ such that the objects are the same, and for morphisms, we only consider smooth morphisms. By associating $\operatorname{Con}(\mathfrak{X})$ to $\mathfrak{X} \in \operatorname{St}^{\operatorname{lft},\operatorname{sm}}(k)$, and considering the pullback f^* for smooth morphisms,

we have the fibered category Con \rightarrow St^{lft,sm}(k). Then we have the following descent result:

Lemma. Smooth surjective representable morphisms are universal effective descent morphisms in the fibered category $\text{Con} \to \text{St}^{\text{lft,sm}}(k)$.

Proof. Let $\operatorname{St}^{\operatorname{lft},\operatorname{sm},\operatorname{rep}}(k)$ be the subcategory of $\operatorname{St}^{\operatorname{lft},\operatorname{sm}}(k)$ such that the objects are the same, and we only consider representable ones for morphisms between algebraic stacks. We may consider Con as a fibered category over $\operatorname{St}^{\operatorname{lft},\operatorname{sm},\operatorname{rep}}(k)$. We already proved in the proof of Lemma 2.4.1 that a smooth surjective morphism from an algebraic space is an effective descent morphism, thus it is a universal effective descent morphism in $\operatorname{St}^{\operatorname{lft},\operatorname{sm},\operatorname{rep}}(k)$. Let $\mathfrak{Y} \to \mathfrak{X}$ be a smooth surjective representable morphism. Take a smooth representable morphism $\mathcal{X} \to \mathfrak{X}$ from an algebraic space. Then we know that $\mathcal{X} \to \mathfrak{X}$ and $\mathfrak{Y} \times_{\mathfrak{X}} \mathcal{X} \to \mathcal{X}$ are universal effective descent morphisms. Universal effective descent morphisms form a topology by [Gir, 6.23], $\mathfrak{Y} \to \mathfrak{X}$ is universal effective descent by caractère local (cf. [SGA4, II, 1.1]) of Grothendieck topology.

2.4.4. We may extend the pull-back functor to an arbitrary morphism between algebraic stacks. Let $f: \mathfrak{X} \to \mathfrak{Y}$ be a morphism in $\mathrm{St}^{\mathrm{lft}}(k)$, and take $Y \in \mathfrak{Y}_{\mathrm{sm}}$. Put $f': \mathfrak{X}' := \mathfrak{X} \times_{\mathfrak{Y}} Y \to Y$. Now, let $X' \in \mathfrak{X}'_{\mathrm{sm}}$. Then we have the morphism $f'_{X'}: X' \to Y$. We put

$$f'^+(\mathscr{M}_Y)_{X'} := f'^+_{X'}(\mathscr{M}_Y).$$

We can check easily that the collection of these modules satisfies the compatibility condition, and it defines a cartesian section of the fibered category $\operatorname{Con}_{\mathfrak{X}'}$, which we define to be the module $f'^+(\mathscr{M}_Y)$ in $\operatorname{Con}(\mathfrak{X}')$. These modules yield a descent data with respect to the representable smooth morphism $\mathfrak{X}' \to \mathfrak{X}$. By using Lemma 2.4.3, we get $f^+(\mathscr{M}) \in \operatorname{Con}(\mathfrak{X})$. The pullback is exact by Lemma 2.3.25 (ii), and satisfies the transitivity property: for morphisms $\mathfrak{X} \xrightarrow{f} \mathfrak{Y} \xrightarrow{g} \mathfrak{Z}$ in $\operatorname{St}^{\operatorname{lft}}$, we have a canonical equivalence $(g \circ f)^+ \cong f^+ \circ g^+$.

Finally, let $\mathfrak{C}^{(\prime)} \to \mathfrak{D}$ be a morphism in $\mathrm{St}^{\mathrm{lft}}(k)$ between smooth stacks. Let $\mathscr{M}^{(\prime)}$ be in $\mathrm{Sm}(\mathfrak{C}^{(\prime)})$. Let $\Delta \colon \mathfrak{C} \times_{\mathfrak{D}} \mathfrak{C}' \to \mathfrak{C} \times \mathfrak{C}'$ be the canonical morphism. We define $\mathscr{M} \boxtimes_{\mathfrak{D}} \mathscr{M}' := \Delta^+(\mathscr{M} \boxtimes \mathscr{M}')$ for $\mathscr{M}^{(\prime)} \in \mathrm{Con}(\mathfrak{C}^{(\prime)})$.

2.4.5. **Lemma.** (i) If $f: \mathfrak{X} \to \mathfrak{Y}$ is a representable morphism in \mathfrak{S}_{adm} , then ${}^{c}\mathscr{H}^{i}f_{!} \cong f_{!}^{i}$.

(ii) Consider the following cartesian diagram in $St^{lft}(k)$:

$$\begin{array}{ccc} \mathfrak{X}' & \xrightarrow{g'} & \mathfrak{X} \\ f' & & & & \downarrow f \\ \mathfrak{C}' & \xrightarrow{g} & \mathfrak{C}. \end{array}$$

Assume f is representable. Then there exists a canonical isomorphism $g^+ \circ f_!^i \cong f_!^{\prime i} \circ g^{\prime +}$.

Proof. The first claim follows from the definition, and the verification for (ii) is easy from the base change, Proposition 2.3.22. \Box

2.4.6. A morphism in $\operatorname{St}^{\operatorname{lft}}(k)$ is said to be *gerb-like* if, locally with respect to fppf-topology, the morphism can be written as the canonical morphism $B(G/\mathcal{X})(=:BG) \to \mathcal{X}$ (cf. [LM, 9.6]) for some flat group space G of finite presentation over \mathcal{X} . Recall that such morphisms are smooth by [Beh, 5.1.3, 5.1.5].

Lemma. Let \mathcal{X} be a algebraic space of finite type, and let G be a flat algebraic group space finite radicial surjective over \mathcal{X} . Let $\rho: BG \to \mathcal{X}$ be the canonical morphism. Note that ρ is proper and is in \mathfrak{S}_{adm} . Then ρ^+ and $\rho_! \cong \mathscr{H}^0 \rho_!$ induce the equivalence of categories between $\operatorname{Con}(\mathcal{X})$ and $\operatorname{Con}(BG)$.

Proof. Note that ρ is a proper morphism between admissible stacks since G is finite, thus $\rho \in \mathfrak{S}_{adm}$. We have the following commutative diagram:

$$\mathcal{X} \xrightarrow{\mathrm{id}} \mathcal{B}G \xrightarrow{\rho} \mathcal{X},$$

where u is the universal *G*-torsor, which is a universal homeomorphism by assumption. Thus we can use Lemma 2.2.4 (i) to conclude.

Corollary. Let $f: \mathfrak{X} \to \mathfrak{Y}$ be a gerb-like morphism in $\mathrm{St}^{\mathrm{lft}}(k)$ whose structural group is flat finite and radicial. Then f^+ induces an equivalence of categories $\mathrm{Con}(\mathfrak{X}) \cong \mathrm{Con}(\mathfrak{Y})$. Moreover, when $f \in \mathfrak{S}_{\mathrm{adm}}$, ${}^{c}\mathscr{H}^{i}f_{!} = 0$ for $i \neq 0$, and ${}^{c}\mathscr{H}^{0}f_{!}$ can be taken as a quasi-inverse to f^+ .

Proof. Since the structural group is flat, there exists a smooth surjective morphism from an algebraic space $P: \mathcal{Y}_0 \to \mathfrak{Y}$ such that $f_0: \mathfrak{X}_0 := \mathfrak{X} \times_{\mathfrak{Y}} \mathcal{Y}_0 \to \mathcal{Y}_0$ is a neutral gerb by Lemma A.2.1. Let $\mathcal{Y}_1 := \mathcal{Y}_0 \times_{\mathfrak{Y}} \mathcal{Y}_0, \ \mathcal{Y}_2 := \mathcal{Y}_0 \times_{\mathfrak{Y}} \mathcal{Y}_0 \times_{\mathfrak{Y}} \mathcal{Y}_0$, and let $f_i: \mathfrak{X}_i := \mathcal{Y}_i \times_{\mathfrak{Y}} \mathfrak{X} \to \mathcal{Y}_i$ be the projection. We have the following diagram:

$$\begin{array}{ccc} \operatorname{Con}(\mathfrak{Y}) & \xrightarrow{P^+} \operatorname{Con}(\mathcal{Y}_0) & \Longrightarrow & \operatorname{Con}(\mathcal{Y}_1) & \Longrightarrow & \operatorname{Con}(\mathcal{Y}_2) \\ f^+ & & & & & & & \\ f^+ & & & & & & & \\ f^+ & & & & & & & \\ f^+ & & & & & & & \\ f^+ & & & & & & & \\ f^+ & & & & & & & \\ f^+ & & & & & & & \\ f^+ & & & & & & & \\ f^+ & & & & & & & \\ f^+ & & & & & & & \\ f^+ & & & & & & & \\ f^+ & & \\ f^+ & & & \\$$

By the assumption on the structural group, f_0^+ , f_1^+ , f_2^+ are equivalence of categories by Lemma 2.4.6. Since P is a presentation, we may use Lemma 2.4.3 to conclude.

2.4.7. **Lemma.** Let \mathcal{X} be an algebraic space of finite type over k such that \mathcal{X}_{red} is smooth, and let G be a smooth fiberwise connected algebraic group over \mathcal{X} . Then the pullback by the structural morphism induces $Sm(\mathcal{X}) \xrightarrow{\sim} Sm(BG)$.

Proof. We may replace \mathcal{X} by \mathcal{X}_{red} since the derived categories do not change, and we may assume that \mathcal{X} is smooth. The canonical morphism $\mathcal{X} \to BG$ is a smooth presentation and $\mathcal{X} \times_{BG} \mathcal{X} \cong G$ such that the *i*-th projection $p_i \colon \mathcal{X} \times_{BG} \mathcal{X} \to BG$ is the structural morphism $p \colon G \to \mathcal{X}$ by [LM, 4.6.1]. By Lemma 2.4.3, taking an object of $\operatorname{Sm}(BG)$ is equivalent to taking $\mathcal{E} \in \operatorname{Sm}(\mathcal{X})$ endowed with an isomorphism $\alpha \colon p^+ \mathcal{E} \xrightarrow{\sim} p^+ \mathcal{E}$ that satisfies the cocycle condition. Let

$$\mathcal{K} := \operatorname{Ker}(\alpha - \operatorname{id} \colon p^+ \mathcal{E} \to p^+ \mathcal{E}).$$

Since $p^+\mathcal{E} \in \operatorname{Hol}(G)$ is smooth, \mathcal{K} is smooth as well. Let $e \colon \mathcal{X} \to G$ be the unit morphism. Since $p^+\mathcal{E}$ is smooth, we get the exact sequence

$$0 \to e^+(\mathcal{K}) \to e^+ p^+ \mathcal{E} \xrightarrow{e^+(\alpha - \mathrm{id})} e^+ p^+ \mathcal{E}.$$

By the cocycle condition, $e^+(\alpha - id)$ is 0, and thus the rank of \mathcal{K} is equal to that of $p^+\mathcal{E}$ since G is connected. Thus α is the identity, and we get the lemma. \Box

Remark. The assumption that \mathcal{X}_{red} is smooth is made only for the simplicity. In fact, with a little more argument on *dévissage*, the lemma remains true even if we replace Sm by Con, but we do not need this much.

2.4.8. Lemma. Let $f: \mathfrak{X} \to \mathfrak{Y}$ be a diagonally connected gerb-like morphism (cf. [Beh, 5.1.3]). Shrinking \mathfrak{Y} by its open dense substack if necessary, the functor $f^+: \operatorname{Sm}(\mathfrak{Y}) \to \operatorname{Sm}(\mathfrak{X})$ induces an equivalence.

Proof. Take a presentation $P: Y \to \mathfrak{Y}$ from a scheme. There exists an open dense subscheme $U \subset Y$ such that U_{red} is smooth. By replacing \mathfrak{Y} by $P(U) \subset \mathfrak{Y}$, we may assume that Y_{red} is smooth. Now, by using smooth descent, we may assume that $\mathfrak{Y} = : Y$ is a scheme and $\mathfrak{X} = BG$ with a connected flat algebraic group space G over Y. Since the category is stable under universal homeomorphism, we may replace Y by Y_{red} and assume that BG and Y are smooth.

When G is smooth, the lemma follows from Lemma 2.4.7. In the general case, we use the argument of [Beh, 5.1.17]. Take the relative Frobenius $G \twoheadrightarrow G' \hookrightarrow G^{(p)}$. Then $\operatorname{Ker}(G \to G')$ is of height ≤ 1 , so this is flat finite radicial by definition (cf. [SGA3, VII_A, 4.1.3]). By Corollary 2.4.6, $\operatorname{Sm}(BG') \xrightarrow{\sim} \operatorname{Sm}(BG)$, so we may replace G by G'. Repeating this, we come down to the case where G is smooth over a dense open subscheme of Y by [SGA3, VII_A, 8.3]. Thus, by shrinking Y, we are reduced to the case where G is smooth.

A smoothness criterion.

2.4.9. In the proof of the Langlands correspondence, we need smoothness of certain holonomic modules. For this, we need to use the functors of Beilinson. Let k' be a finite extension of k, and put $\mathbb{A}_{k'}^1 (= \mathbb{A}^1) := \operatorname{Spec}(k'[x])$. Let $f: \mathfrak{X} \to \mathbb{A}_{k'}^1$ be a morphism from a c-admissible stack. We put $i_f: \mathfrak{Z}_f := f^{-1}(0) \hookrightarrow \mathfrak{X}$ and $j_f: \mathfrak{U}_f := \mathfrak{X} \setminus \mathfrak{Z}_f \hookrightarrow \mathfrak{X}$. Then for any $\mathscr{M} \in \operatorname{Hol}(\mathfrak{U}_f)$ and integers $a \leq b$, holonomic modules $\Pi_{!+}^{a,b}(\mathscr{M}), \Phi_f^{\operatorname{un}}(\mathscr{M}) \in \operatorname{Hol}(\mathfrak{Z}_f)$ are defined in [AC2, §2] using a technique of Beilinson. To clarify f, we denote it by $\Pi_f^{a,b}(\mathscr{M})$. Put $\Pi_f^{0,0} := \Psi_f^{\operatorname{un}}$, the unipotent nearby cycle functor.

Explicitly, we can compute using the notation of [AC2, 2.5] that (2.4.9.1)

$$\Psi_f^{\mathrm{un}}(\mathscr{M}) \cong \varinjlim_{s} \mathrm{Ker}\big(j_{f!}(\mathscr{M}^{-s,0}) \to j_{f+}(\mathscr{M}^{-s,0})\big) \cong \varinjlim_{s} \mathscr{H}^{-1}i_f^+ j_{f+}(\mathscr{M}^{-s,0})$$

2.4.10. Let us recall the local theory very briefly (see [AM, 2.1] for a more detailed review and references of the theory). Let **l** be a complete discrete valuation field over k. Then the Robba ring (with coefficients in $K \otimes_{W(k)} W(\operatorname{res}(\mathbf{l}))$) denoted by $\mathcal{R}_{\mathbf{l}}$ is defined. When $\mathbf{l} = k((x))$, then

$$\mathcal{R}_{\mathbf{l}} = \left\{ f = \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} a_n x^n \in K[\![x, x^{-1}]\!] \middle| \begin{array}{c} \text{there exists } 0 \le \varepsilon < 1 \text{ such that } f \\ \text{converges on } \varepsilon < |x| < 1 \end{array} \right\},$$

where $K[x, x^{-1}]$ is the *K*-vector space of formal series. The Robba ring is endowed with derivation. A differential module over **l** is a finite free $\mathcal{R}_{\mathbf{l}}$ -module endowed with connection. We have the notion of a solvable differential module which is an analogue of an overconvergent isocrystal for differential modules, whose category is denoted by $\operatorname{Sol}(\mathcal{R}_{\mathbf{l}})$. We have the *s*-th Frobenius endomorphism of $\mathcal{R}_{\mathbf{l}}$, and the pullback defines a functor $F^* \colon \operatorname{Sol}(\mathcal{R}_{\mathbf{l}}) \to \operatorname{Sol}(\mathcal{R}_{\mathbf{l}})$, which is known to be an equivalence of categories. Thus, we may apply the construction of §1.4. The category $F\operatorname{-Sol}(\mathcal{R}_{\mathbf{l}})_L$ is denoted by $\operatorname{Hol}(\mathbf{l}/\mathfrak{T}_F)$. As in §1.1, we denote by $\operatorname{Hol}(\mathbf{l}/\mathfrak{T}_{\emptyset})$ the thick full subcategory of the category of differential modules over **l** generated by differential modules which can be endowed with s'-th Frobenius structure for some positive integer s' divisible by s (but we do not consider Frobenius structure). Since we only use $\operatorname{Hol}(\mathbf{l}/\mathfrak{T}_{\emptyset})$ in the following, we denote this simply by $\operatorname{Hol}(\mathbf{l})$. We call the objects of $\operatorname{Hol}(\mathbf{l})$ holonomic modules on **l**. For a separable finite extension \mathbf{l}'/\mathbf{l} , we are able to define the *push-forward functor* $\operatorname{Hol}(\mathbf{l}') \to \operatorname{Hol}(\mathbf{l})$ (cf. [AM, at the end of 2.1.4]).

2.4.11. For a Galois extension 1/k'((x)), we define $\Psi_{1,f}(\mathscr{M})$ as follows: Let us denote by \mathcal{L}_1 the holonomic module on k'((x)) defined by taking the pushforward of the trivial module on \mathbf{l} along the extension 1/k'((x)). Let \mathscr{L}_1 be the canonical extension of \mathcal{L}_1 on $\mathbb{G}_{\mathbf{m},k'}$ in the sense of Crew and Matsuda (cf. [AM, 2.1.9]). Then put $\Psi_{1,f}(\mathscr{M}) := \Psi_f^{\mathrm{un}}(\mathscr{M} \otimes f^+ \mathscr{L}_1)$. We remark that $\mathscr{M} \otimes f^+ \mathscr{L}_1$, which is defined a priori in $D_{\mathrm{hol}}^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathfrak{X})$, is in $\mathrm{Hol}(\mathfrak{X})$. Indeed, it suffices to check this when $\mathfrak{X} =: X$ is a realizable scheme. In this case, we may take a closed immersion $i: X \hookrightarrow P$ to a smooth scheme. By shrinking X, we may assume that there exists $g: P \to \mathbb{A}^1$ such that $g \circ i = f$. Now, by the projection formula $i_+(\mathscr{M} \otimes f^+ \mathscr{L}_1) \cong i_+(\mathscr{M}) \otimes g^+ \mathscr{L}_1$, and the latter is in $\mathrm{Hol}(P)$. Since we have the action of $\mathrm{Gal}(1/k'((x)))$ on \mathscr{L}_1 , it induces the *Galois action* on $\Psi_{1,f}$.

Lemma. Let $f: C \to \mathbb{A}^1_{k'}$ be an étale morphism from a curve such that $f^{-1}(0) = \{s\}$ and k(s) = k'. Let $\mathscr{M} \in \operatorname{Hol}(C)$. Assume that \mathscr{M} is smooth outside of s. If $\Phi^{\operatorname{un}}_f(\mathscr{M}) = 0$ and the actions of $\operatorname{Gal}(1/k'((x)))$ and the monodromy operator on $\Psi_{1,f}(\mathscr{M})$ are trivial for any 1, then \mathscr{M} is smooth.

Proof. Since $\Phi_f^{\mathrm{un}}(\mathscr{M}) = 0$, we get that $i_f^+(\mathscr{M})[-1] \cong \Psi_f^{\mathrm{un}}(\mathscr{M})$. Since the rank of $i_f^!(\mathscr{M})$ and $i_f^+(\mathscr{M})$ are the same, it suffices to show that the rank of $\Psi_f^{\mathrm{un}}(\mathscr{M})$ is equal to that of \mathscr{M} by [AM, 4.1.4]. By (2.4.9.1) and [AC1, 1.5.9 (iii)], $\Psi_{1,f}$ depends only on the differential module on the Robba ring around *s* defined by restricting \mathscr{M} , and we can compute $\Psi_{1,f}(\mathscr{M})$ by using the local monodromy theorem. Since the argument is standard, we leave the details to the reader.

2.4.12. **Lemma.** Let $f: \mathfrak{X} \xrightarrow{h} \mathfrak{Y} \xrightarrow{g} \mathbb{A}^1$ be morphisms between c-admissible stacks. Assume that h is proper. Then we have

$$\Pi_{q}^{a,b}(\mathscr{H}^{i}h_{+}\mathscr{M})\cong \mathscr{H}^{i}h_{+}\Pi_{f}^{a,b}(\mathscr{M}).$$

The same isomorphism holds if we replace $\Pi^{a,b}_{\star}$ by $\Psi_{\mathbf{l},\star}$ or $\Phi^{\mathrm{un}}_{\star}$.

Proof. Since h is proper, we have $h_+j_{f\star} \cong j_{g\star}h_+$ for $\star \in \{!,+\}$. Thus, by the projection formula, we have $\varprojlim j_{g\star}(\mathscr{H}^i h_+\mathscr{M})^{\bullet,\bullet} \cong \varprojlim \mathscr{H}^i h_+ j_{f\star}(\mathscr{M}^{\bullet,\bullet})$ where $\star \in \{!,+\}$. Thus, by construction, we get the commutativity for $\Pi^{a,b}$. Now, let us define $K_f(\mathscr{M}) := \operatorname{Ker}(\Xi_f(\mathscr{M}) \oplus \mathscr{M} \twoheadrightarrow j_{f+}(\mathscr{M}))$, where $\Xi_f := \Pi_f^{0,1}$. Since Ξ_f and j_{f+} commute with $\mathscr{H}^i h_+$, we get that $K_g(\mathscr{H}^i h_+(\mathscr{M})) \cong \mathscr{H}^i h_+ K_f(\mathscr{M})$. Similarly,

 $I_f(\mathscr{M}) := \operatorname{Im}(j_{f!}(\mathscr{M}) \to \Xi_f(\mathscr{M}) \oplus \mathscr{M}) (\cong j_{f!}(\mathscr{M})) \text{ commutes with } \mathscr{H}^i h_+ \text{ as well,}$ and the lemma for $\Phi^{\operatorname{un}} := K_f/I_f$ follows by definition. \Box

2.4.13. Lemma ([La2, A.9 (i)]). Let $p_{\mathfrak{X}} \colon \mathfrak{X} \to S$ be a proper morphism from a *c*-admissible stack to a smooth scheme, and let $\operatorname{Res} \colon \mathfrak{X} \to \mathfrak{C}$ be a morphism to an algebraic stack locally of finite type over k. Assume that $(p_{\mathfrak{X}}, \operatorname{Res}) \colon \mathfrak{X} \to S \times \mathfrak{C}$ is smooth. Then for any $\mathscr{M} \in \operatorname{Con}(\mathfrak{C})$, the complex $p_{\mathfrak{X}+}\operatorname{Res}^+(\mathscr{M})$ is smooth.

Proof. We put $\mathscr{H}_{\mathfrak{X}}^{i} := \mathscr{H}^{i}p_{\mathfrak{X}+}\operatorname{Res}^{+}(\mathscr{M})$. Assume we are given a smooth morphism $f: S \to \mathbb{A}^{1}$. Put $g := f \circ p_{\mathfrak{X}}$. Since f and $(p_{\mathfrak{X}}, \operatorname{Res})$ are smooth, we get that $\Phi_{g}^{\operatorname{un}}(\operatorname{Res}^{+}(\mathscr{M})) = 0$ and the Galois and monodromy action on $\Psi_{1,g}(\operatorname{Res}^{+}(\mathscr{M}))$ are trivial. Now, since $p_{\mathfrak{X}}$ is assumed proper, $\Phi_{f}^{\operatorname{un}}(\mathscr{H}_{\mathfrak{X}}^{i}) = 0$ and the Galois and monodromy action on $\Psi_{1,f}(\operatorname{Res}^{+}(\mathscr{M}))$ are trivial. Now, since $p_{\mathfrak{X}}$ is assumed proper, $\Phi_{f}^{\operatorname{un}}(\mathscr{H}_{\mathfrak{X}}^{i}) = 0$ and the Galois and monodromy action on $\Psi_{1,f}(\mathscr{H}_{\mathfrak{X}}^{i})$ are trivial by Lemma 2.4.12. This, in particular, implies that $j_{f!+}(\mathscr{H}_{\mathfrak{X}}^{i}) \cong \mathscr{H}_{\mathfrak{X}}^{i}$. Moreover, when S is a curve, the lemma holds. Indeed, take an open subscheme $U \subset S$ such that $\mathscr{H}_{\mathfrak{X}}^{i}$ is smooth on U. We may replace S by $S \otimes_{k} k'$, and we may assume that $S \setminus U$ is k'-rational. Since the verification is local, we may assume that we are given an étale morphism $f: S \to \mathbb{A}_{k'}^{1}$, such that $f^{-1}(0) = S \setminus U$ consists of one point, and we then apply Lemma 2.4.11.

Let us treat the general case. By $d\acute{e}vissage$, we may assume that \mathscr{M} has a Frobenius structure. Let $c: C \hookrightarrow S$ be an immersion from a smooth curve C. By base change and purity, we have $c^!(\mathscr{H}^i_{\mathfrak{X}}) \cong \mathscr{H}^i_{\mathfrak{X} \times_S C}[-r]$ where r is the codimension of C in S. By the curve case we have already treated, this is smooth. Let $U \subset S$ be an open dense subscheme on which $p_{\mathfrak{X}+} \operatorname{Res}^+(\mathscr{M})$ is smooth. By Shiho's cut by curve theorem [S, Thm 0.1]⁴ and [Ke4, 5.2.1], the smooth module $\mathscr{H}^i_{\mathfrak{X}|U}$ on U can be extended to a smooth module on S. Since we showed that $j_{f!+}(\mathscr{H}^i_{\mathfrak{X}}) \cong \mathscr{H}^i_{\mathfrak{X}}$ for any f, we get the lemma.

Isocrystals and their Tannakian fundamental group.

2.4.14. Let us introduce $\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p$ -coefficient cohomology theory. From now on, by saying "a base tuple", we also allow L to be an algebraic extension of K which may *not* be finite, contrary to the definition in 1.4.10. In the definition of an arithmetic tuple, $\sigma: L \to L$ should moreover satisfy the following:

the automorphism σ is an extension of a lifting of s-th Frobenius automorphism on k to K, and there exists a sequence of finite extensions M_n of K in L such that $\sigma(M_n) \subset M_n$ and $\bigcup_n M_n = L$.

We use the 2-inductive limit method of Deligne [De1, 1.1.3] to construct the Ltheory. For an algebraic stack \mathfrak{X} (resp. scheme X) of finite type over k, we define

$$\begin{split} D^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathfrak{X}/L_{\blacktriangle}) &:= 2\text{-} \varprojlim_{M \supset K} D^{\mathrm{b}}(\mathfrak{X}/M_{\bigstar}), \qquad \mathrm{Sm}(\mathfrak{X}/L_{\bigstar}) := 2\text{-} \varinjlim_{M \supset K} \mathrm{Sm}(\mathfrak{X}/M_{\bigstar}), \\ \mathrm{Isoc}^{\dagger}(X/L_{\bigstar}) &:= 2\text{-} \varprojlim_{M \supset K} \mathrm{Isoc}^{\dagger}(X/M_{\bigstar}), \end{split}$$

where $M = M_n$ in the case of $\blacktriangle = F$. By taking limits, the results we get in this paper can be generalized automatically to these categories, since the cohomological

⁴In [S], there is an assumption that k is uncountable. However, Shiho pointed out to the author that this assumption is not needed if \mathcal{E} in [S, Thm 0.1] is endowed with Frobenius structure. Indeed, let us use the notation of the proof of the theorem in [S, §2.3]. By using [S, Thm 2.5] instead of [S, Thm 2.10], the slope of $E_{\mathcal{E},L}$ is 0. Since we have a Frobenius structure, the exponents are in \mathbb{Q} , and we can use [S, Prop 1.20] to conclude.

operators we have defined so far commute with ι_L by 1.4.5. Further details are left to the reader. Let f be the structural morphism of \mathfrak{X} . We denote $f^+(L)$ by L_X as usual.

2.4.15. We have often used the category $\operatorname{Sm}(X/L)$, but the category of overconvergent isocrystals $\operatorname{Isoc}^{\dagger}(X/L)$ is more standard in the literature. Let us clarify the relation between these categories. Consider the situation of 2.0.1, or 2.4.14 if L/K is not finite. Let X be a smooth scheme separated of finite type of dimension d over k. Recall the functor sp_+ in 1.1.3 (12). By extending the scalar and gluing, we have the following functor

$$\widetilde{\operatorname{sp}}_+ := \operatorname{sp}_+(-d)[-d] \colon \operatorname{Isoc}^\dagger(X/L) \xrightarrow{\sim} \operatorname{Sm}(X/L) \subset D^{\mathrm{b}}_{\mathrm{hol}}(X/L).$$

For a morphism $f: X \to Y$ between smooth schemes separated of finite type, let $d := \dim(X) - \dim(Y)$. Then, we have a canonical equivalence $\operatorname{sp}_+ \circ f^* \cong (f^![-d]) \circ \operatorname{sp}_+$ compatible with the composition of morphisms between smooth schemes by [Ca5, 6.1.9]. Thus, by Theorem 1.5.13 and Theorem 1.5.14, we have a canonical equivalence $\widetilde{\operatorname{sp}}_+ \circ f^* \cong f^+ \circ \widetilde{\operatorname{sp}}_+$. Via this equivalence, we identify f^* and f^+ . We also know that $\widetilde{\operatorname{sp}}_+$ commutes with tensor products by [Ca6, 3.3.5]. By taking the adjoint, the commutation of $\mathcal{H}om$ follows as well. Finally, let $f: X \to \operatorname{Spec}(k)$ be the structural morphism of a *smooth realizable* scheme, and let $M \in \operatorname{Isoc}^{\dagger}(X/L_{\emptyset})$ (resp. $M \in \operatorname{Isoc}^{\dagger}(X/L_F)$). When X is a scheme which has a compactification \overline{X} such that \overline{X} possesses a smooth lifting over R and that $\overline{X} \setminus X$ is a divisor, then by [A1, 5.9] we have canonical isomorphisms

$$H^*_{\mathrm{rig}}(X,M) \cong \mathscr{H}^* f_+(\widetilde{\mathrm{sp}}_+(M)), \qquad H^*_{\mathrm{rig},\mathrm{c}}(X,M) \cong \mathscr{H}^* f_!(\widetilde{\mathrm{sp}}_+(M))$$

as objects in Vec_L (resp. $F\operatorname{-Vec}_L$). Here, H_{rig} and $H_{\operatorname{rig},c}$ denotes the rigid cohomology extended to L-coefficients in the obvious manner.

2.4.16. **Question.** Unify the rigid cohomology theory into the framework of arithmetic \mathscr{D} -modules. Namely, let X be a separated scheme. Define the category of smooth objects $\operatorname{Sm}(X/L)$ in $\operatorname{Con}(X/L)$, and establish an equivalence of categories $\operatorname{Isoc}^{\dagger}(X/L) \to \operatorname{Sm}(X/L)$. This equivalence should coincide with the one in 2.4.15 when X is smooth. Finally, compare the rigid cohomology and the pushforward in the sense of \mathscr{D} -modules in the style of 2.4.15.

2.4.17. In this paragraph, we fix an algebraic closure \overline{K} of K. We denote by \overline{k} the residue field of \overline{K} , which is an algebraic closure of k. Now, let X be a smooth scheme of finite type over k, and assume it to be *geometrically connected*. Take a geometric point $\overline{x} \in X(\overline{k})$. Let x be the closed point of X defined by \overline{x} , and denote by $i_x : x \hookrightarrow X$ the closed immersion. We denote by K_x be the unramified extension of K induced by the finite extension k(x) of k. Then we have the fiber functor

$$\omega_x \colon \operatorname{Isoc}^{\dagger}(X/K) \xrightarrow{i_x^+} \operatorname{Isoc}^{\dagger}(k(x)/K) \cong \operatorname{Vec}_{K_x}$$

Let L be a finite extension of K_x . Since $\operatorname{End}(K_X) \cong K$, by [DM, 3.10.1], ω_x induces the fiber functor

$$\omega_{x/L} \colon \operatorname{Isoc}^{\dagger}(X/L) \to \operatorname{Vec}_L$$

by sending \mathcal{E} to $i_x^+(\mathcal{E}) \otimes_{i_x^+ L_X} L$. This fiber functor $\omega_{x/L}$ is compatible with extension of scalar, and we may take the 2-inductive limit to define $\omega_{x/L}$ for any algebraic extension L of K_x . Now, the geometric point \overline{x} determines the embedding $K_x \hookrightarrow \overline{K}$ with which we may regard \overline{K} as an extension of K_x , thus, the fiber functor $\omega_{x/\overline{K}}$ makes sense. This fiber functor is denoted by $\omega_{\overline{x}}$.

Let $\pi_1^{\text{isoc}}(X, \overline{x})$ be the *isocrystal fundamental group* Aut^{\otimes}($\omega_{\overline{x}}$), which is an affine group scheme over \overline{K} . For an algebraic group G over \overline{K} , denote by $\text{Rep}_{\overline{K}}(G)$ the category of a finite-dimensional representation of G. By [DM, 3.11] and taking the 2-inductive limit, we have the following equivalence of tensor categories,

$$\operatorname{Isoc}^{\dagger}(X/\overline{K}) \xrightarrow{\sim} \operatorname{Rep}_{\overline{K}}(\pi_1^{\operatorname{isoc}}(X,\overline{x})).$$

Remark. If $X \to \operatorname{Spec}(k)$ is not geometrically connected, then $\operatorname{Isoc}^{\dagger}(X/\overline{K})$ is not a Tannakian category over \overline{K} . Indeed, \overline{K}_X is an unit object of the tensor category $\operatorname{Isoc}^{\dagger}(X/\overline{K})$ but we have $\operatorname{End}(\overline{K}_X) \cong \overline{K}^{\times c}$ where c is the number of connected components of $X \otimes_k \overline{k}$. Compare also with Lemma 1.4.11 (i).

2.4.18. From now until the end of this subsection, we consider the case where k is a finite field with $q = p^s$ elements. We fix an arithmetic base tuple $\mathfrak{T}_F := (k, R := W(k), K := \operatorname{Frac}(R), \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p, s, \operatorname{id})$, where $\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p$ is an algebraic closure of K. Let \mathfrak{T}_{\emptyset} be the associated geometric base tuple. As in the last paragraph, \overline{k} denotes the residue field of $\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p$, which naturally contains k. To make the notation compatible with [La2], we denote the relative s-th Frobenius endomorphism on X by Frob_X instead of F_X . Let X be a geometrically connected smooth scheme of finite type over k. Take a geometric point $\overline{x} \in X(\overline{k})$, and $i_x \colon x \hookrightarrow X$ denotes the induced closed immersion. Let $\mathcal{E} \in \operatorname{Isoc}^{\dagger}(X/\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_{p,\emptyset})$. Since $K_x \cong W(k(x)) \otimes_{W(k)} K$, the s-th Frobenius automorphism on W(k(x)) induces the automorphism $\operatorname{Frob}_x^* \colon K_x \to K_x$. The fiber $i_x^+ \mathcal{E}$ can be seen as an $i_x^+ \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_{p,X}$ -module, where the latter ring is isomorphic to $K_x \otimes_K \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p$ since X is geometrically connected. Thus, we have isomorphisms

$$\omega_{\overline{x}}(\operatorname{Frob}_{X}^{*}\mathcal{E}) \cong \left(K_{x} \otimes_{\operatorname{Frob}_{x}^{*} \smallsetminus K_{x}} i_{x}^{+}\mathcal{E}\right) \otimes_{K_{x} \otimes_{K} \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_{p}} \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_{p} \xleftarrow{\sim}_{\alpha} i_{x}^{+}\mathcal{E} \otimes_{K_{x} \otimes_{K} \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_{p}} \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_{p} \cong \omega_{\overline{x}}(\mathcal{E}),$$

where the homomorphism α sends $e \otimes a$ to $1 \otimes e \otimes a$. Thus, we get the following 2-commutative diagram:

(2.4.18.1)
$$\operatorname{Isoc}^{\dagger}(X/\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_{p,\emptyset}) \xrightarrow{\omega_{\overline{x}}} \operatorname{Vec}_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_{p}}.$$
$$\operatorname{Isoc}^{\dagger}(X/\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_{p,\emptyset}) \xrightarrow{\omega_{\overline{x}}} \operatorname{Vec}_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_{p}}.$$

This diagram induces a homomorphism $\operatorname{Frob}_X^* \colon \pi_1^{\operatorname{isoc}}(X,\overline{x}) \to \pi_1^{\operatorname{isoc}}(X,\overline{x})$. This homomorphism is in fact an isomorphism, since Frob_X^* gives an equivalence of categories by Remark 1.1.3. We define $\rho \colon \mathbb{Z} \to \operatorname{Aut}(\pi_1^{\operatorname{isoc}}(X,\overline{x}))$ to be the homomorphism sending 1 to Frob_X^* . Using this homomorphism, we put $W^{\operatorname{isoc}}(X,\overline{x}) :=$ $\pi_1^{\operatorname{isoc}}(X,\overline{x}) \rtimes \mathbb{Z}$, and call it the *isocrystal Weil group of X*. By construction, we have the equivalence of tensor categories,

(2.4.18.2)
$$\operatorname{Isoc}^{\dagger}(X/\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_{p,F}) \xrightarrow{\sim} \operatorname{Rep}_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p}(W^{\operatorname{isoc}}(X,\overline{x})),$$

induced by $\omega_{\overline{x}}$.

In general, let $X \to \operatorname{Spec}(k)$ be a smooth connected scheme of finite type, which may not be geometrically connected, and take a closed point x. The structural morphism factors as $X \to \operatorname{Spec}(k') \to \operatorname{Spec}(k)$, where k' is a finite field extension of k of degree d and X is geometrically connected over k'. Consider the base tuple $\mathfrak{T}'_F := (k', R' := W(k') \otimes_{W(k)} R, K', \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p, ds, \mathrm{id})$. Then we define $W^{\mathrm{isoc}}(X, \overline{x})$ to be the isocrystal Weil group of X over \mathfrak{T}'_F . Despite the base tuple being changed, the equivalence (2.4.18.2) remains true by Corollary 1.4.11. We note that, by definition, $W^{\text{isoc}}(X,\overline{x})$ does not depend on the choice of the base field k.

Assume that X is geometrically connected, and let k' be a Galois extension of k. Take a geometric point \overline{x}' of $X \otimes_k k'$, and let \overline{x} be the projection to X. Then we have the following exact sequence:

$$1 \to W^{\text{isoc}}(X \otimes_k k', \overline{x}') \to W^{\text{isoc}}(X, \overline{x}) \to \text{Gal}(k'/k) \to 1.$$

Remark. Let X be a geometrically connected smooth scheme of finite type over k. Assume moreover that we have a k-rational point $i_x: \operatorname{Spec}(k) \to X$ for simplicity. Since $\operatorname{Isoc}^{\dagger}(X/\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_{p,F})$ is a neutral Tannakian category over $\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p$, by using the fiber functor $\omega := i_x^+$, we could have used $\operatorname{Aut}^{\otimes}(\omega)$ as the fundamental group. However, this algebraic group is complicated to handle, and we used the simpler substitute W^{isoc} following Crew [Cr].

2.4.19. Let X', X'' be smooth schemes of finite type and geometrically connected over k. Put $X := X' \times X''$ which is geometrically connected over k as well. Let $U \subset X$ be an open subscheme such that $(\operatorname{Frob}_{X'} \times \operatorname{id}_{X''})(U) \subset U$ where $\operatorname{Frob}_{X'} \times \operatorname{id}_{X''}: X' \times X'' \to X' \times X''$. Take a geometric point $\overline{x} \in U(\overline{k})$. Arguing as in 2.4.18, the pullback $(\operatorname{Frob}_{X'} \times \operatorname{id})^+$ induces an outer automorphism of $W^{\operatorname{isoc}}(U,\overline{x})$, and it yields a homomorphism $\mathbb{Z} \to \operatorname{Out}(W^{\operatorname{isoc}}(U,\overline{x}))$ sending 1 to $(\operatorname{Frob}_{X'} \times \operatorname{id})^+$. We put $\mathbb{Z}W^{\operatorname{isoc}}(U,\overline{x}) := W^{\operatorname{isoc}}(U,\overline{x}) \rtimes \mathbb{Z}$. Representations of $\mathbb{Z}W^{\operatorname{isoc}}(U,\overline{x})$ correspond to pairs (\mathcal{E}, α) where $\mathcal{E} \in \operatorname{Isoc}^{\dagger}(U/\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_{p,F})$ and $\alpha : (\operatorname{Frob}_{X'} \times \operatorname{id})^+(\mathcal{E}) \cong \mathcal{E}$.

Lemma ([La2, VI.13]). Take geometric points \overline{x}' and \overline{x}'' of X' and X'', and put $\overline{x} := (\overline{x}', \overline{x}'')$. Then the canonical homomorphism $\mathbb{Z}W^{\text{isoc}}(X, \overline{x}) \to W^{\text{isoc}}(X', \overline{x}') \times W^{\text{isoc}}(X'', \overline{x}'')$ is surjective (or more precisely, faithfully flat).

Proof. Let x' and x'' be the closed points of X' and X'' induced by \overline{x}' and \overline{x}'' . Let k' be a Galois extension of k, and put $G := \operatorname{Gal}(k'/k)$. Consider the following diagram, where we omit the basepoints of the Weil groups and W^{isoc} is abbreviated as W:

Thus, we may replace k by k' and may assume that x' and x'' are rational points of X' and X''. These rational points define morphisms $s' \colon X' \to X$, $s'' \colon X'' \to X$. Let us show that the canonical homomorphism $\alpha \colon \pi_1^{\text{isoc}}(X, \overline{x}) \to \pi_1^{\text{isoc}}(X', \overline{x}') \times \pi_1^{\text{isoc}}(X'', \overline{x}'')$ is surjective. To check this, it suffices to show that for any \overline{K} algebra A, the homomorphism of groups $\alpha(A) \colon \pi_1^{\text{isoc}}(X, \overline{x})(A) \to \pi_1^{\text{isoc}}(X', \overline{x}')(A) \times \pi_1^{\text{isoc}}(X'', \overline{x}'')(A)$ is surjective. Now, the morphism s' induces the homomorphism $s'_* \colon \pi_1^{\text{isoc}}(X'', \overline{x}') \to \pi_1^{\text{isoc}}(X, \overline{x})$, and the image of $(\alpha \circ s'_*)(A)$ is $\pi_1^{\text{isoc}}(X', \overline{x}')(A) \times \{1\}$. Using s'', the image of $\alpha(A)$ contains $\{1\} \times \pi_1^{\text{isoc}}(X'', \overline{x}'')(A)$ as well, and the surjectivity of $\alpha(A)$ follows as required. Finally, by definition of the Weil groups, the lemma follows.

2.4.20. **Lemma.** Let X be a smooth connected scheme, and let $U \subset X$ be an open subscheme. Take a geometric point $x \in U(\overline{k})$. Then the homomorphism $W^{\text{isoc}}(U,\overline{x}) \to W^{\text{isoc}}(X,\overline{x})$ is surjective.

Proof. It suffices to show that the homomorphism $\pi_1^{\text{isoc}}(U,\overline{x}) \to \pi_1^{\text{isoc}}(X,\overline{x})$ induced by the open immersion is surjective. Let $j: U \hookrightarrow X$ be the open immersion. By [DM, 2.21], this is equivalent to showing that j^+ is fully faithful and any subobject of $j^+\mathcal{E}$ for an overconvergent isocrystal \mathcal{E} on X is in the image of j^+ . The full faithfulness follows by purity (cf. Theorem 1.5.14). It remains to show that if \mathcal{E} is an irreducible overconvergent isocrystal on X, then $\mathcal{E}|_U$ is irreducible. This follows by [AC1, 1.4.6].

3. Cycle classes, correspondences, and ℓ -independence

The aim of this section is to prove an ℓ -independence result. This is a key tool for computing the trace of the action of Hecke algebra on the cohomology of certain moduli spaces. In this section, we fix $\blacktriangle \in \{\emptyset, F\}$ and a base tuple as usual. The algebraic extension L/K can be infinite as in 2.4.14. For simplicity, smooth admissible stacks over k are assumed equidimensional.

3.1. Generalized cycles and correspondences.

3.1.1. Let $p: \mathfrak{X} \to \operatorname{Spec}(k)$ be the structural morphism of a c-admissible stack \mathfrak{X} (cf. Definition 2.3.19). If no confusion may arise, we denote $L_{\mathfrak{X},\blacktriangle}$ by L. For $\mathscr{M} \in D^{\mathrm{b}}_{\mathrm{hol}}(\mathfrak{X})$, we put

$$H^{i}(\mathfrak{X},\mathscr{M}) := \operatorname{Hom}_{D(\operatorname{Spec}(k)/L_{\blacktriangle})}(L, p_{+}(\mathscr{M})[i]),$$

$$H^{i}_{c}(\mathfrak{X},\mathscr{M}) := \operatorname{Hom}_{D(\operatorname{Spec}(k)/L_{\bigstar})}(L, p_{!}(\mathscr{M})[i]).$$

Note that when $\blacktriangle = \emptyset$, we have $H^*(\mathfrak{X}, \mathscr{M}) \cong \mathscr{H}^* p_+(\mathscr{M})$ and $H^*_c(\mathfrak{X}, \mathscr{M}) \cong \mathscr{H}^* p_!(\mathscr{M})$ as vector spaces over L. For a morphism $i: \mathfrak{Z} \to \mathfrak{X}$, we define the *local cohomology* to be

$$H^{i}_{\mathfrak{Z}}(\mathfrak{X},\mathscr{M}) := \operatorname{Hom}_{D(\operatorname{Spec}(k)/L_{\bullet})}(L, p_{+}i_{+}i^{!}(\mathscr{M})[i]).$$

Furthermore, we put $H^*_{\heartsuit}(\mathfrak{X}) := H^*_{\heartsuit}(\mathfrak{X}, L_{\mathfrak{X}})$ where $\heartsuit \in \{\emptyset, c, \mathfrak{Z}\}$.

Consider the following commutative diagram of c-admissible stacks:

If this diagram is cartesian, then we have the base change isomorphism $i'f_+ \cong f'_+ i''$ by (the dual of) Proposition 2.3.22, which induces the homomorphism $H^*_{\mathfrak{W}}(\mathfrak{Y}) \to H^*_{\mathfrak{Z}}(\mathfrak{X})$. By abuse of notation, we also denote this homomorphism by f^* . If the diagram is merely commutative, f is the identity, and f' is proper, the adjunction $f'_+ f'' \to \operatorname{id}$ induces the push-forward homomorphism $H^*_{\mathfrak{Z}}(\mathfrak{X}) \to H^*_{\mathfrak{W}}(\mathfrak{X})$.

Finally, given a *proper* morphism of c-admissible stacks $f: \mathfrak{X} \to \mathfrak{Y}$, we have a homomorphism $f^*: H^*_{c}(\mathfrak{Y}) \to H^*_{c}(\mathfrak{X})$ induced by the adjunction homomorphism.

3.1.2. First, let \mathfrak{S} be a c-admissible stack. Let \mathscr{M} , \mathscr{N} be objects in $D^{\mathrm{b}}_{\mathrm{hol}}(\mathfrak{S}/L)$. Denote by $\Delta \colon \mathfrak{S} \to \mathfrak{S} \times \mathfrak{S}$ the diagonal morphism, and denote by p the structural morphism of \mathfrak{S} . By identifying $\mathrm{Spec}(k) \times \mathfrak{S}$ and \mathfrak{S} , we have a canonical homomorphism

$$p_+(\mathscr{M})\boxtimes\mathscr{N}\cong(p\times\mathrm{id})_+(\mathscr{M}\boxtimes\mathscr{N})\xrightarrow{\mathrm{adj}}(p\times\mathrm{id})_+\Delta_+\Delta^+(\mathscr{M}\boxtimes\mathscr{N})\cong\mathscr{M}\otimes\mathscr{N},$$

where the first isomorphism is induced by Proposition 2.3.36, adj is the adjunction homomorphism, and the last isomorphism follows since $(p \times id) \circ \Delta = id$.

Now, let $f: \mathfrak{X} \to \mathfrak{S}$ be a morphism of c-admissible stacks. We take a factorization $\mathfrak{X} \xrightarrow{j} \overline{\mathfrak{X}} \xrightarrow{\overline{f}} \mathfrak{S}$ in \mathfrak{S}_{adm} such that j is an open immersion and \overline{f} is proper. We have

$$\begin{split} f_{+}(\mathscr{M}) \otimes f_{!}(\mathscr{N}) &\cong \overline{f}_{+}j_{+}(\mathscr{M}) \otimes \overline{f}_{+}j_{!}(\mathscr{N}) \to \overline{f}_{+}\big(j_{+}(\mathscr{M}) \otimes j_{!}(\mathscr{N})\big) \\ & \stackrel{\sim}{\leftarrow} \overline{f}_{+}j_{!}(\mathscr{M} \otimes \mathscr{N}) \cong f_{!}(\mathscr{M} \otimes \mathscr{N}), \end{split}$$

where the second homomorphism is (2.3.16.1). This homomorphism does not depend on the choice of compactification.

Finally, let $i: \mathfrak{Z} \to \mathfrak{X}$ be a morphism of c-admissible stacks. Then we have the homomorphism $i_1(i^! \mathscr{M} \otimes i^+ \mathscr{N}) \cong i_1 i^! \mathscr{M} \otimes \mathscr{N} \to \mathscr{M} \otimes \mathscr{N}$. Taking the adjoint, we get a homomorphism

$$i^! \mathscr{M} \otimes i^+ \mathscr{N} \to i^! (\mathscr{M} \otimes \mathscr{N}).$$

3.1.3. **Definition.** (i) Let \mathfrak{X} be a c-admissible stack of dimension d. A generalized cycle of codimension c is a proper morphism $g: \Gamma \to \mathfrak{X}$ between c-admissible stacks such that $\dim(\mathfrak{X}) - \dim(\Gamma) = c$.

(ii) Let S be a scheme of finite type over k, let φ be a *proper* endomorphism of S, and let $f^{(\prime)}: \mathfrak{X}^{(\prime)} \to S$ be a c-admissible S-stack. Let

$$c_{\Gamma} \colon \Gamma \to \mathfrak{X} \times_{\varphi,S} \mathfrak{X}$$

be a morphism between c-admissible stacks, where the fiber product is taken for $\varphi \circ f \colon \mathfrak{X} \to S$ and $f' \colon \mathfrak{X}' \to S$. For i = 1, 2, put $p_i := \pi_i \circ c_{\Gamma}$ where π_i denotes the *i*-th projection. The morphism c_{Γ} is said to be a *correspondence over* φ if Γ is equidimensional of dimension dim (\mathfrak{X}) and p_2 is proper, or Γ is the empty stack. We sometimes denote the correspondence by $\Gamma \colon \mathfrak{X} \to \mathfrak{X}'$. Note that c_{Γ} is a generalized cycle of codimension dim (\mathfrak{X}') of $\mathfrak{X} \times_{\varphi,S} \mathfrak{X}'$. From now on in this subsection, we fix S and φ as above, and we use them freely without referring to this paragraph.

3.1.4. In this section, we denote $\operatorname{Tr}_{f}^{\operatorname{sm}}$ in Theorem 2.3.34 simply by Tr_{f} . Let $\alpha \colon \mathfrak{X} \to \operatorname{Spec}(k)$ be the structural morphism of a c-admissible stack \mathfrak{X} . We often denote $\operatorname{Tr}_{\alpha}$ by $\operatorname{Tr}_{\mathfrak{X}}$. Now, let $f \colon \mathfrak{Y} \to \mathfrak{X}$ be a morphism of c-admissible stacks, and assume that \mathfrak{X} is smooth. We construct $\operatorname{fTr}_{f} \colon f_{!}f^{+}L_{\mathfrak{X}}(d)[2d] \to L_{\mathfrak{X}}$ where $d := \dim(\mathfrak{Y}) - \dim(\mathfrak{X})$, which is called the *fake trace map of* f, as follows. Let $p \colon \mathfrak{Y} \to \operatorname{Spec}(k)$ be the structural morphism. We have the isomorphisms

$$\operatorname{Hom}(f_!f^+L_{\mathfrak{X}}(d)[2d], L_{\mathfrak{X}}) \cong \operatorname{Hom}(f^+L_{\mathfrak{X}}(d)[2d], f^!L_{\mathfrak{X}})$$
$$\cong \operatorname{Hom}(p^+L(d_Y)[2d_Y], p^!L) \cong \operatorname{Hom}(p_!p^+L(d_Y)[2d_Y], L),$$

where $d_Y := \dim(\mathfrak{Y})$, and we used the Poincaré duality (Theorem 2.3.34) for the second isomorphism. The trace map $\operatorname{Tr}_{\mathfrak{Y}}$ is an element on the right-hand side of the isomorphisms. We define fTr_f to be the homomorphism defined by sending this $\operatorname{Tr}_{\mathfrak{Y}}$ to the left-hand side of the isomorphisms. This homomorphism induces a homomorphism

(3.1.4.1)
$$f_*: H^{*+2d}_{c}(\mathfrak{Y})(d) \to H^*_{c}(\mathfrak{X}).$$

(i) Let $i: \mathfrak{Z} \to \mathfrak{X}$ be a generalized cycle of codimension c on a smooth c-admissible stack \mathfrak{X} . Then by taking the adjoint, fTr_i induces a homomorphism

$$c_{\mathfrak{Z}}: i^+L_X \to i^!L_X(c)[2c].$$

(ii) Let us construct a similar homomorphism when we are given a correspondence. We use the notation of Definition 3.1.3 (ii). We assume further that \mathfrak{X} is smooth. When Γ is nonempty, we have $fTr_{p_1}: p_{1!}p_1^+L_{\mathfrak{X}} \to L_{\mathfrak{X}}$, where we used the assumption that $\dim(\Gamma) = \dim(\mathfrak{X})$. Thus, we have

$$\iota_{\Gamma} \colon p_2^+ L_{\mathfrak{X}'} \cong p_1^+ L_{\mathfrak{X}} \to p_1^! L_{\mathfrak{X}},$$

where we used the adjoint of fTr_{p_1} for the second homomorphism. When Γ is empty, we simply put $\iota_{\Gamma} := 0$.

3.1.5. Let us characterize the fake trace map in the style of $[SGA4\frac{1}{2}, Cycle]$. Let us consider the following diagram of c-admissible stacks:



where \mathfrak{X} is smooth, and \mathfrak{X} and \mathfrak{Y} are of dimension N and d, respectively. Put c := N - d. Combining homomorphisms in 3.1.2, we have

$$p_{\mathfrak{Y}+}i^!L_{\mathfrak{X}}\boxtimes f_!i^+L_{\mathfrak{X}}\to f_+i^!L_{\mathfrak{X}}\otimes f_!i^+L_{\mathfrak{X}}\to f_!\big(i^!L_{\mathfrak{X}}\otimes i^+L_{\mathfrak{X}}\big)\to f_!i^!L_{\mathfrak{X}}\xrightarrow{\operatorname{adj}_i}g_!L_{\mathfrak{X}},$$

where $p_{\mathfrak{Y}}$ is the structural morphism of \mathfrak{Y} , and $\operatorname{adj}_i: i_! i^! \to \operatorname{id}$ is the adjunction morphism. Since $\mathscr{H}^k p_{\mathfrak{Y}+i} L_{\mathfrak{X}} = 0$ for k < 2c (cf. Lemma 2.3.33), this yields a coupling called the *cup product*

$$\cup \colon H^{2c}_{\mathfrak{Y}}(\mathfrak{X})(c) \otimes f_! L_{\mathfrak{Y}}(d)[2d] \to g_! L_{\mathfrak{X}}(N)[2N].$$

Now, by taking the adjoint, we may regard fTr_i as an element in $H^{2c}_{\mathfrak{Y}}(\mathfrak{X})(c)$. We put $\mathfrak{S} = \operatorname{Spec}(k)$, and we have the following characterization of the fake trace map:

Lemma. The class $\mathrm{fTr}_i \in H^{2c}_{\mathfrak{Y}}(\mathfrak{X})(c)$ is the unique element such that for any $u \in H^{2d}_{\mathrm{c}}(\mathfrak{Y})(d)$,

$$\operatorname{Tr}_f(u) = \operatorname{Tr}_g(\operatorname{fTr}_i \cup u).$$

Proof. As in $[SGA4\frac{1}{2}, Cycle, 2.3]$, we have the following commutative diagram:

$$H^{2c}_{\mathfrak{Y}}(\mathfrak{X}) \longrightarrow \operatorname{Hom}(f_!L_{\mathfrak{Y}}(d)[2d], f_!i^!L_{\mathfrak{X}}(N)[2N]) \xrightarrow{(1)} \operatorname{Hom}(f_!L_{\mathfrak{Y}}(d)[2d], L_{\mathfrak{S}}) \xrightarrow{(1)} \operatorname{Hom}(g_!i_!L_{\mathfrak{Y}}(d)[2d], g_!L_{\mathfrak{X}}(N)[2N]) \xrightarrow{(1)} \operatorname{Hom}(g_!i_!L_{\mathfrak{Y}}(d)[2d], L_{\mathfrak{S}}).$$

Here, ① is the homomorphism induced by the adjunction using the assumption that \mathfrak{X} is smooth. The homomorphism $\operatorname{adj}_i: i_! i^! \to \operatorname{id}$ is the adjunction. The homomorphism ② is induced by \cup defined above. By the definition of fake trace map, the upper horizontal homomorphism maps fTr_i to Tr_f . Moreover, the composition of the upper horizontal maps is an isomorphism. Thus we can conclude the proof. \Box

Remark. The assumption that $\mathfrak{S} = \operatorname{Spec}(k)$ is used only for the existence of the fake trace over \mathfrak{S} . It is not hard to generalize the definition of the fake trace to relative situations as $[\operatorname{SGA4}\frac{1}{2}]$, and we may prove the lemma in this generality, although we are not sure if it is meaningful for our purposes.

Corollary. Assume that $f: \mathfrak{X} \to \mathfrak{Y}$ is a flat morphism of c-admissible stacks such that \mathfrak{Y} is smooth. Then $\operatorname{Tr}_f = \operatorname{fTr}_f$.

Proof. This follows readily from the characterization lemma of fTr_f above.

3.1.6. (i) Consider the situation as in 3.1.4 (i). We have an isomorphism

$$\operatorname{Hom}(i^{+}L_{\mathfrak{X}}, i^{!}L_{\mathfrak{X}}(c)[2c]) \cong \operatorname{Hom}(L_{\mathfrak{X}}, i_{+}i^{!}L_{\mathfrak{X}}(c)[2c]) =: H_{\mathfrak{Z}}^{2c}(\mathfrak{X})(c).$$

The image of c_3 is denoted by $cl_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathfrak{Z})$, and called the *cycle class of* \mathfrak{Z} . Since the homomorphism $\mathfrak{Z} \to \mathfrak{X}$ is proper, we have the homomorphism $H^*_{\mathfrak{Z}}(\mathfrak{X}) \to H^*(\mathfrak{X})$. The image of $cl_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathfrak{Z})$ in $H^{2c}(\mathfrak{X})(c)$ is also called the cycle class. Note that if the morphism $\mathfrak{Z} \to g(\mathfrak{Z})$ is not generically finite, then $H^{2c}_{g(\mathfrak{Z})}(\mathfrak{X}) = 0$, and in particular the cycle class in $H^{2c}(\mathfrak{X})(c)$ is 0.

(ii) Consider the situation as in 3.1.4 (ii). Recall that φ is assumed proper. We have the action of correspondence on the cohomology, which is the composition of the homomorphisms

$$\Gamma^* \colon f'_! L_{\mathfrak{X}'} \to f'_! p_{2+} p_2^+ L_{\mathfrak{X}'} \xleftarrow{\sim} (\varphi \circ f \circ p_1) \colon p_2^+ L_{\mathfrak{X}'} \xrightarrow{\iota_{\Gamma}} \varphi_+ f_! p_{1!} p_1^! L_{\mathfrak{X}} \to \varphi_+ f_! L_{\mathfrak{X}}.$$

When S is a point, this is nothing but the following composition using (3.1.4.1):

$$H^*_{\mathrm{c}}(\mathfrak{X}') \xrightarrow{p_2^*} H^*_{\mathrm{c}}(\Gamma) \xrightarrow{p_{1*}} H^*_{\mathrm{c}}(\mathfrak{X}).$$

3.1.7. **Lemma.** Consider the following cartesian diagram of c-admissible stacks on the left:

where \mathfrak{X} and \mathfrak{X}' are smooth. Assume moreover that there exists an open substack $\mathfrak{V} \subset \mathfrak{Y}$ such that the morphism $\mathfrak{V} \to \mathfrak{X}$ is flat of relative dimension d, and $g'^{-1}(\mathfrak{V}) \subset \mathfrak{Y}'$ is dense. Then the above diagram on the right is commutative. In particular, if g is proper, we have an equality

$$g^*f_* = f'_*g'^* \colon H^*_{\mathrm{c}}(\mathfrak{Y}) \to H^{*-2d}_{\mathrm{c}}(\mathfrak{X}')(-d).$$

Proof. Since the commutativity of the diagram on the right can be interpreted as coincidence of two elements in $H_c^{2a}(\mathfrak{Y}')(a)^{\vee}$, where *a* denotes the dimension of \mathfrak{Y}' , we may shrink \mathfrak{Y}' by its open dense substack by Lemma 2.3.33. Thus we may replace \mathfrak{Y} by \mathfrak{V} , and may assume that *f* is flat of relative dimension *d*. Now the lemma follows by Corollary 3.1.5 and the base change property of the trace map (cf. Theorem 2.3.34 (II)).

Corollary (Projection formula). Let $f: \mathfrak{X} \to \mathfrak{Y}$ be a proper morphism of *c*admissible stacks, and \mathfrak{Y} is smooth. Assume that there exists an open dense substack $\mathfrak{U} \subset \mathfrak{X}$ such that the morphism $\mathfrak{U} \to \mathfrak{Y}$ is flat of relative dimension *d*. Then for $\alpha \in H^i_c(\mathfrak{X})$ and $\beta \in H^j_c(\mathfrak{Y})$, we have the following equality in $H^{i+j-2d}_c(\mathfrak{Y})(-d)$:

$$f_*(\alpha \cup f^*\beta) = f_*\alpha \cup \beta.$$

Proof. Consider the following commutative diagram of proper morphisms:



By the hypothesis on f, we can apply the lemma above to the right cartesian diagram (take f, g in the lemma to be id $\times f$ and Δ , respectively). We have

$$f_*\alpha \cup \beta = \Delta^* \big((f \times \mathrm{id})_* (\alpha \boxtimes \beta) \big) = f_* \Delta'^* (\alpha \boxtimes \beta)$$

where we used the lemma for the second equality. The diagram above and the transitivity of the pullback show that $\Delta'^*(\alpha \boxtimes \beta) = \alpha \cup f^*\beta$, and the corollary follows.

3.1.8. Lemma. Let S be a scheme of finite type over k, let $\mathfrak{X}^{(\prime)}$ be a c-admissible stack, and let $f^{(\prime)}: \mathfrak{X}^{(\prime)} \to S$ be a morphism. Assume that $\varphi = \mathrm{id}$. Let $\Gamma: \mathfrak{X} \rightsquigarrow \mathfrak{X}'$ over S. Assume there is an open substack $\Gamma' \subset \Gamma$ such that the first projection $\Gamma' \subset \Gamma \xrightarrow{p_1} \mathfrak{X}$ is flat. For a closed point $i_s: s \hookrightarrow S$, we denote by $\mathfrak{X}_s, \mathfrak{X}'_s, \Gamma_s, \Gamma'_s$ the fibers over s. If $\Gamma'_s \subset \Gamma_s$ is dense, Γ_s is a correspondence $\mathfrak{X}_s \rightsquigarrow \mathfrak{X}'_s$, and the following diagram is commutative:



Here the vertical homomorphisms are the base change maps.

Proof. Since Γ' is flat over S, Γ_s is a correspondence for any $s \in S$. Now, to show the commutativity, it suffices to show the commutativity of the following diagrams:

$$\begin{array}{cccc} i_{s}^{+}p_{1}^{+}L_{\mathfrak{X}} & \longrightarrow p_{1s}^{+}L_{\mathfrak{X}_{s}} & & i_{s}^{+}L_{\mathfrak{X}'} & \longrightarrow L_{\mathfrak{X}'_{s}} \\ i_{s}^{+}(\iota_{\Gamma}) & & & \downarrow & & \downarrow \\ i_{s}^{+}p_{1}^{+}L_{\mathfrak{X}} & \longrightarrow p_{1s}^{!}L_{\mathfrak{X}_{s}}, & & i_{s}^{+}p_{2+}p_{2}^{+}L_{\mathfrak{X}'} & \longrightarrow p_{2s+}p_{2s}^{+}L_{\mathfrak{X}'_{s}}. \end{array}$$

The commutativity of the left diagram follows by Lemma 3.1.7. The commutativity of the right one follows by the fact that (g^+, g_+) is an adjoint pair when g is a morphism of admissible stacks.

Remark. In general, there exists an open dense subscheme $U \subset S$ such that the condition of the lemma holds for any $s \in U$.

3.1.9. **Lemma.** Let $\rho: \mathfrak{X} \to \mathfrak{X}'$ be a proper morphism over φ such that \mathfrak{X} is smooth. Let Γ_{ρ} denote the graph of ρ , and regard it as a correspondence $\mathfrak{X} \to \mathfrak{X}'$. Then $\rho^* = \Gamma_{\rho}^*$.

Proof. We have $\mathfrak{X} \stackrel{p_1}{\longleftrightarrow} \Gamma_{\rho} \stackrel{p_2}{\longrightarrow} \mathfrak{X}'$. Via the identification $p_{1!}K_{\Gamma_{\rho}} \stackrel{\sim}{\longrightarrow} K_{\mathfrak{X}}$, the fake trace $\mathrm{fTr}_{p_1} : p_{1!}p_1^+K_{\mathfrak{X}} \to K_{\mathfrak{X}}$ is the identity. Thus the lemma follows.

3.1.10. Let $\mathfrak{X}, \mathfrak{Y}$ be c-admissible stacks of dimension d. Let $g: \mathfrak{Y} \to \operatorname{Spec}(k)$, $h: \mathfrak{X} \to \mathfrak{Y}$, and $f := g \circ h$. Assume that h is proper. Then, we have the canonical homomorphism $(h^*)^{\vee}: (H^{2d}_{c}(\mathfrak{X})(d))^{\vee} \to (H^{2d}_{c}(\mathfrak{Y})(d))^{\vee}$, where $(-)^{\vee}$ denotes $\operatorname{Hom}(-, L)$. Note that $\operatorname{Tr}_{\mathfrak{X}} \in H^{2d}_{c}(\mathfrak{X})(d)^{\vee}$.

The morphism h is said to be generically locally free if there exists a dense open substack $\mathfrak{V} \subset \mathfrak{Y}$ such that the induced morphism $h^{-1}(\mathfrak{V}) \to \mathfrak{V}$ is finite and locally free. Furthermore, h is said to be generically of constant degree if all the degrees of $h|_{h^{-1}(\mathfrak{V})}$ over irreducible components of \mathfrak{V} are the same.

Lemma. Assume that h is a generically locally free morphism of constant degree. Then $(h^*)^{\vee}$ sends the trace map Tr_f to $\operatorname{deg}(h) \cdot \operatorname{Tr}_g$.

Proof. We have the following diagram:

$$\begin{array}{c} H^{2d}_{\mathrm{c}}(\mathfrak{X})(d)^{\vee} \xrightarrow{(h^{*})^{\vee}} H^{2d}_{\mathrm{c}}(\mathfrak{Y})(d)^{\vee} \\ \downarrow & \qquad \qquad \downarrow \sim \\ H^{2d}_{\mathrm{c}}(h^{-1}(\mathfrak{V}))(d)^{\vee} \xrightarrow{} H^{2d}_{\mathrm{c}}(\mathfrak{V})(d)^{\vee}, \end{array}$$

where the right vertical homomorphism is an isomorphism by Lemma 2.3.33. Thus, we may replace \mathfrak{Y} by \mathfrak{V} , and in particular, we may assume that h is locally free. We have the following commutative diagram:

$$\begin{array}{c|c} g_!h_!h^+g^+(L)(d)[2d] \xrightarrow{\operatorname{Tr}_h} g_!g^+(L)(d)[2d] \xrightarrow{\operatorname{Tr}_g} L. \\ & \underset{g_!g^+L(d)[2d]}{\overset{\operatorname{deg}(h)}{}} \end{array}$$

The composition of the first row is Tr_f . By definition, $(h^*)^{\vee}(\operatorname{Tr}_f) = \operatorname{adj}_h \circ \operatorname{Tr}_f$. Thus the lemma follows.

Corollary. Let \mathfrak{X} be a smooth c-admissible stack.

(i) Let $\mathfrak{Z}, \mathfrak{Z}'$ be generalized cycles of codimension c of \mathfrak{X} . Assume we are given a generically locally free morphism of constant degree $\rho: \mathfrak{Z}' \to \mathfrak{Z}$ over \mathfrak{X} . Then by the push-forward homomorphism $\rho_*: H^{2c}_{\mathfrak{Z}'}(\mathfrak{X})(c) \to H^{2c}_{\mathfrak{Z}}(\mathfrak{X})(c), \operatorname{cl}_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathfrak{Z}')$ is sent to $\operatorname{deg}(\rho) \cdot \operatorname{cl}_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathfrak{Z}).$

(ii) Let $\Gamma, \Gamma': \mathfrak{X} \rightsquigarrow \mathfrak{X}'$ be correspondences. Assume that there exists a morphism $\rho: \Gamma \to \Gamma'$ such that $c_{\Gamma'} \circ \rho = c_{\Gamma}$, and ρ is generically locally free of constant degree. Then $\Gamma'^* \cong \deg(\rho)^{-1} \cdot \Gamma^*$.

Proof. They are straightforward from the lemma.

3.1.11. **Definition.** We denote by $\operatorname{Corr}_{\varphi}(\mathfrak{X}, \mathfrak{X}')$ the \mathbb{Q} -vector space freely generated by the set $\{\Gamma \colon \mathfrak{X} \rightsquigarrow \mathfrak{X}' \mid \text{correspondence over } \varphi\}$. We denote $\operatorname{Corr}_{\operatorname{id}}(\mathfrak{X}, \mathfrak{X}')$ by $\operatorname{Corr}_{S}(\mathfrak{X}, \mathfrak{X}')$, and we denote $\operatorname{Corr}_{\star}(\mathfrak{X}, \mathfrak{X})$ by $\operatorname{Corr}_{\star}(\mathfrak{X})$ ($\star = \varphi, S$) for short. We have a homomorphism

$$\operatorname{Corr}_{\varphi}(\mathfrak{X},\mathfrak{X}') \to \operatorname{Hom}_{S}(\varphi^{+}f'_{!}L_{\mathfrak{X}'},f_{!}L_{\mathfrak{X}})$$

by sending Γ to Γ^* . Let I be the Q-vector subspace of $\operatorname{Corr}_{\varphi}(\mathfrak{X}, \mathfrak{X}')$ generated by $(\Gamma' - \deg(\rho)^{-1} \cdot \Gamma)$, where Γ , Γ' are correspondences and ρ is a generically locally free morphism of constant degree $\Gamma \to \Gamma'$. When \mathfrak{X} is smooth, by Corollary 3.1.10 (ii), the homomorphism above factors through $\operatorname{Corr}_{\varphi}(\mathfrak{X}, \mathfrak{X}')/I$.

Let $\operatorname{Corr}_{\varphi}^{\star}(\mathfrak{X}, \mathfrak{X}')$ for $\star = \operatorname{et}$ (resp. fin) be the \mathbb{Q} -vector subspace of $\operatorname{Corr}_{\varphi}(\mathfrak{X}, \mathfrak{X}')$ generated by integral correspondences Γ (i.e., Γ is integral) such that the first projection $\Gamma \to \mathfrak{X}$ is étale (resp. finite). There exists the composition map

$$\circ: \operatorname{Corr}_{\psi}^{\operatorname{et}}(\mathfrak{X}', \mathfrak{X}'') \times \operatorname{Corr}_{\varphi}^{\operatorname{et}}(\mathfrak{X}, \mathfrak{X}') \to \operatorname{Corr}_{\psi \circ \varphi}^{\operatorname{et}}(\mathfrak{X}, \mathfrak{X}'')$$

defined by sending (Γ', Γ) to $\Gamma' \circ \Gamma := \Gamma \times_{\mathfrak{X}'} \Gamma'$.

Lemma. Let $\Gamma: \mathfrak{X} \rightsquigarrow \mathfrak{X}', \Gamma': \mathfrak{X}' \rightsquigarrow \mathfrak{X}''$ be correspondences over φ and ψ . Assume further that the second projection of Γ or the first projection of Γ' is smooth. When \mathfrak{X} and \mathfrak{X}' are smooth, we have $(\Gamma' \circ \Gamma)^* = \Gamma^* \circ \Gamma'^*$.

Proof. The verification is standard. See, for example, [La2, A.7].

3.1.12. Given a correspondence, the results in this subsection hold in exactly the same manner for ℓ -adic étale cohomology. However, in [La2, §A], he uses slightly different definition of the actions of correspondences on the cohomology, and we need to compare these.

For a smooth admissible stack \mathfrak{X} , we denote by $\mathfrak{X}^{\mathrm{gr}}$ the associated coarse moduli algebraic space of Keel and Mori (cf. [La2, A.2]). Now, let $\Gamma: \mathfrak{X} \rightsquigarrow \mathfrak{X}'$ be an integral correspondence over φ such that the first projection $p: \Gamma \to \mathfrak{X}$ is generically finite and dominant. Then the morphism $\rho: \Gamma \to \widetilde{\Gamma}^{\mathrm{gr}} := \Gamma^{\mathrm{gr}} \times_{p \searrow \mathfrak{X}^{\mathrm{gr}}} \mathfrak{X}$ is generically finite locally free. Indeed, let $P \to \mathfrak{X}$ be a presentation. Then $|\Gamma \times_{\mathfrak{X}} P| \to |\widetilde{\Gamma}^{\mathrm{gr}} \times_{\mathfrak{X}} P| =$ $|\Gamma^{\mathrm{gr}}| \times_{|\mathfrak{X}^{\mathrm{gr}}|} |P|$ is surjective. The last equality holds since the fiber product is taken in the category of algebraic spaces. Thus the morphism $\Gamma \times_{\mathfrak{X}} P \to \widetilde{\Gamma}^{\mathrm{gr}} \times_{\mathfrak{X}} P$ is surjective, and $\Gamma \to \widetilde{\Gamma}^{\mathrm{gr}}$ is surjective. This implies that $\widetilde{\Gamma}^{\mathrm{gr}}$ is irreducible. Now, since $\pi_* \mathcal{O}_{\Gamma} \cong \mathcal{O}_{\Gamma^{\mathrm{gr}}}$ (cf. [Co2, 1.1]), Γ^{gr} is reduced. By [Beh, 5.1.12, 13, 14], the morphism $\mathfrak{X} \to \mathfrak{X}^{\mathrm{gr}}$ is a gerb generically over $\mathfrak{X}^{\mathrm{gr}}$, thus the morphism is generically, and thus $\widetilde{\Gamma}^{\mathrm{gr}}$ is reduced generically over \mathfrak{X} . Since $\widetilde{\Gamma}^{\mathrm{gr}}$ is irreducible and dominant over \mathfrak{X} , we conclude that $\widetilde{\Gamma}^{\mathrm{gr}}$ is integral. Thus, ρ is generically flat. Since p is assumed generically finite, ρ is generically finite as well, and thus generically finite locally free.

The generic degree of ρ is denoted by d_{Γ} . We put $\operatorname{norm}(\Gamma) := (d_{\Gamma})^{-1} \cdot \Gamma$. We can check easily that for composable correspondences Γ , Γ' , we have $d_{\Gamma' \circ \Gamma} = d_{\Gamma} \cdot d_{\Gamma'}$. Then we have a ring homomorphism

norm:
$$\operatorname{Corr}_{\omega}^{\operatorname{fin},\operatorname{et}}(\mathfrak{X}) \to \operatorname{Corr}_{\omega}^{\operatorname{fin},\operatorname{et}}(\mathfrak{X}); \ \Gamma \mapsto (d_{\Gamma})^{-1} \cdot \Gamma.$$

Now, let \mathfrak{Y} be a c-admissible stack, and let $q_{\mathfrak{Y}} \colon \mathfrak{Y} \to \mathfrak{Y}^{\mathrm{gr}}$ be the canonical morphism, which is known to be proper (cf. [Co2, 1.1]). By [La2, A.3], the adjunction homomorphism $\mathbb{Q}_{\ell} \to \mathbb{R}q_{\mathfrak{Y}*}q_{\mathfrak{Y}}^*(\mathbb{Q}_{\ell})$ is an isomorphism. For $\Gamma \in \operatorname{Corr}_{\varphi}(\mathfrak{X}, \mathfrak{X}')$, we define

$$\Gamma^{*\mathrm{Laf}} \colon \mathcal{H}^*_{\mathrm{c}}(\mathfrak{X}') \stackrel{\sim}{\leftarrow} \mathcal{H}^*_{\mathrm{c}}(\mathfrak{X}'^{\mathrm{gr}}) \xrightarrow{\Gamma^{\mathrm{gr}*}} \mathcal{H}^*_{\mathrm{c}}(\mathfrak{X}^{\mathrm{gr}}) \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathcal{H}^*_{\mathrm{c}}(\mathfrak{X}),$$

where, for a c-admissible stack $f: \mathfrak{Y} \to S$, $\mathcal{H}^*_{c}(\mathfrak{Y})$ denotes $\mathscr{H}^* f_! \mathbb{Q}_{\ell}$. This is nothing but the action of correspondence defined in [La2, A.6].

Lemma. Let Γ be an element of $\operatorname{Corr}_{\varphi}(\mathfrak{X}, \mathfrak{X}')$, which is integral, and the first projection $\Gamma \to \mathfrak{X}$ is generically finite. Then we have $\Gamma^{*\operatorname{Laf}} = (\operatorname{norm}(\Gamma))^*$.

Proof. Consider the following commutative diagram on the left:



Then the right diagram is commutative by using Lemma 3.1.7. Thus, the lemma follows by Lemma 3.1.10. Note that even though \mathfrak{X}^{gr} is not smooth, it is cohomologically smooth by [La2, A.5], and the arguments in 3.1.10 work without any changes.

3.2. Independence of ℓ . We show an ℓ -independence result of the trace of the action of correspondence on the cohomology of a c-admissible stack. In the scheme and ℓ -adic case, the ℓ -independence result is the one proven in [KS].

3.2.1. The main result of this subsection is as follows:

Theorem. Let \mathfrak{X} be a smooth c-admissible stack over a finite field k, and let $\Gamma \in \operatorname{Corr}_{S}(\mathfrak{X})$. Then we have

$$\operatorname{Tr}(\Gamma^*: H^*_{\mathrm{c}}(\mathfrak{X} \otimes \overline{k}, \mathbb{Q}_{\ell})) = \operatorname{Tr}(\Gamma^*: H^*_{\mathrm{c}}(\mathfrak{X}, L_{\mathfrak{X}, \emptyset})).$$

Remark. We assumed k to be finite since some delicate arguments might be needed in the *p*-adic situation to reduce to the finite field case as in the proof of [KS, 2.3.6.1]. However, there is no reason to doubt that the theorem holds without the assumption on the base field.

The idea of the proof is essentially the same as [KS, 2.3.6], and the proof takes the whole subsection. In the application, we use the following form: Let k be a finite field with $q = p^s$ elements, and let R = W(k) and $\sigma = id$. Let X be a separated scheme of finite type over k, and let $i_x : x \hookrightarrow X$ be a closed point of X. We take an algebraic extension L of $K_x := \operatorname{Frac}(W(k(x)))$, and take $\sigma_L := id$ for an extension of σ . Put $s' := [k(x) : k] \cdot s$, and let $\mathfrak{T}_{x,F} := (k(x), W(k(x)), K_x, L, s', id)$. We have the following functor

$$\iota_x^n \colon D^{\mathrm{b}}_{\mathrm{hol}}(X/L_F) \xrightarrow{\mathscr{H}^n \iota_x^+} \mathrm{Hol}(k(x)/L_F) \cong \mathrm{Hol}(k(x)/\mathfrak{T}_{x,F})$$

where the last equivalence follows by Corollary 1.4.11. The last category is equivalent to the category of finite-dimensional *L*-vector spaces with automorphism denoted by F_x . Let $\mathscr{E} \in D^{\mathrm{b}}_{\mathrm{hol}}(X/L_F)$, and assume we are given an automorphism α . This induces an automorphism on $\iota_x^n(\mathscr{E})$ denoted by α_x . Note that α_x and F_x commute. For $n \in \mathbb{Z}$, we put

$$\operatorname{Tr}(\alpha \times F_x^n : \mathscr{E}) := \sum_i (-1)^i \cdot \operatorname{Tr}(\alpha_x \circ F_x^n : \iota_x^i(\mathscr{E})).$$

Corollary. Let S be a smooth connected scheme of finite type over k, and let $f: \mathfrak{X} \to S$ be a smooth morphism between c-admissible stacks. Assume we are given $\Gamma \in \operatorname{Corr}_{S}(\mathfrak{X})$. For a closed point $x \in S$, let \mathfrak{X}_{x} and Γ_{x} denote the fibers over

x. Then there exists an open dense subscheme $U \subset S$ such that for any closed point $x \in U$ such that $L \supset K_x$ and any integer n, we have

$$\operatorname{Tr}(\Gamma^* \times F_x^n : f_! \mathbb{Q}_\ell) = \operatorname{Tr}(\Gamma^* \times F_x^n : f_! L_{\mathfrak{X}})$$

Proof. Let f_x denote the fiber of f on x. By Lemma 3.1.8 and its remark, we can take $U \subset S$ such that the action of Γ on $f_!\mathbb{Q}_\ell$ and $f_!L_{\mathfrak{X}}$ at the fiber $x \in U$ are equal to the action of Γ_x on $f_{x!}\mathbb{Q}_\ell$ and $f_{x!}L_{\mathfrak{X}_x}$. Then we use our theorem to get the corollary.

3.2.2. We do not assume k to be finite here, and we fix $\blacktriangle \in \{\emptyset, F\}$.

Lemma ([SGA4 $\frac{1}{2}$, Cycle, 2.3.8 (ii)]). Consider the following cartesian diagram of c-admissible stacks over k:



where $\mathfrak{X}^{(\prime)}$ is smooth (over k), $S^{(\prime)}$ is a scheme, g is a generalized cycle of codimension c, and h and h \circ g are flat and equidimensional. Then g' is a generalized cycle of codimension c as well, and we have $f^* \mathrm{cl}(\Gamma) = \mathrm{cl}(\Gamma') \in H^{2c}_{\Gamma'}(\mathfrak{X}')(c)$.

Proof. We have the following commutative diagram:

$$\operatorname{Hom}(g^{+}L_{\mathfrak{X}}, g^{!}L_{\mathfrak{X}}) \xrightarrow{\sim} H^{2c}_{\Gamma}(\mathfrak{X})(c) \\ \downarrow f^{*} \\ \operatorname{Hom}(g^{\prime +}L_{\mathfrak{X}}, g^{\prime !}L_{\mathfrak{X}}) \xrightarrow{\sim} H^{2c}_{\Gamma^{\prime}}(\mathfrak{X}^{\prime})(c),$$

where the dotted arrow can be described as follows: Let $\phi \in \text{Hom}(g^+L_{\mathfrak{X}}, g^!L_{\mathfrak{X}})$. Then the image of ϕ is the unique dotted homomorphism in the following diagram on the left, which makes the diagram commutative:

Here the right vertical homomorphism is the base change homomorphism. Thus, by taking $\phi = \text{Tr}_{\Gamma}$, the problem is reduced to showing the commutativity of the right diagram above. Now, Tr_{Γ} and $\text{Tr}_{\Gamma'}$ can be regarded as $\text{Tr}_{h \circ g}$ and $\text{Tr}_{h' \circ g'}$ by the transitivity of trace. By the base change property of trace, we get the lemma. \Box

3.2.3. **Lemma.** Let X be a smooth scheme of dimension d over k, and let $Z \to X$ be a generalized cycle. Then the cycle class map induces a homomorphism $\operatorname{cl}_X : \operatorname{CH}_i(Z) \to H_Z^{2d-2i}(X)(d-i).$

Proof. Let W be a closed integral subscheme of dimension i + 1 of Z and $W \to \mathbb{P}^1$ be a dominant morphism (hence flat by [EGAIV, 2.8.2]). Let W_i be the fiber of $i \in \mathbb{P}^1$. By [Fu, Ch.I, Prop 1.6], it suffices to show that $cl_X(W_0) = cl_X(W_1)$. Let

TOMOYUKI ABE

 W° be the pullback of $\mathbb{A}^1 \subset \mathbb{P}^1$ by the morphism $W \to \mathbb{P}^1$. Note that $W^{\circ} \to Z \times \mathbb{A}^1$ is a closed immersion. Consider the following commutative diagram:

This induces the commutative diagram

where j := d - i, and we omit Tate twists. The bottom arrows are isomorphisms since $H^i(\mathbb{A}^1) = 0$ for $i \neq 0$ and $H^0(\mathbb{A}^1) \cong L$. By Lemma 3.2.2 and the flatness of $X^{\circ} \to \mathbb{A}^1$, $\operatorname{cl}_{X \times \mathbb{A}^1}(W^{\circ})$ on the top middle is sent to $\operatorname{cl}_X(W_0)$ and $\operatorname{cl}_X(W_1)$ via 0^{*} and 1^{*}, so the lemma follows.

Remark. When Z is a cycle in X, we believe that the method of [Gil] can be applied to construct the cycle class map. However, the author does not know how we define the Zariski sheaves $\underline{\Gamma}^*(i)$ in [Gil, 1.1].

3.2.4. Lemma ([KS, 2.1.1]). Let \mathfrak{X} be a c-admissible stack,⁵ let \mathfrak{U} be an open substack of \mathfrak{X} which is smooth, and let Γ be a generalized cycle of codimension d on \mathfrak{U} . Consider the following commutative diagram:

$$\Gamma \xrightarrow{i'} \mathfrak{U} \xrightarrow{j} \mathfrak{X},$$

where j is the open immersion, and i is the generalized cycle. Assume i' is proper. Recall the homomorphism (3.1.4.1). Using this homomorphism, the composition

$$c \colon H^*_{\mathrm{c}}(\mathfrak{X}, j_+ L_{\mathfrak{U}}) \xrightarrow{i'^*} H^*_{\mathrm{c}}(\Gamma) \xrightarrow{i_*} H^{*+2d}_{\mathrm{c}}(\mathfrak{U})(d)$$

sends u to $u \cup r(\operatorname{cl}_{\mathfrak{U}}(\Gamma))$ (cf. 3.1.2 for \cup). Here, r is the homomorphism $H^{2d}_{\Gamma}(\mathfrak{U})(d) \cong H^{2d}(\mathfrak{X}, j_! i_+ i^! L_{\mathfrak{U}})(d) \to H^{2d}(\mathfrak{X}, j_! L_{\mathfrak{U}}(d))$, where the first isomorphism follows since i' is assumed proper as well.

Proof. We can copy the proof of [KS].

1018

⁵In the corresponding statement of [KS], they assume X to be smooth. We think that this is a typo and, in fact, is too strong for their and our purposes. Indeed, in the proof of [KS, 2.3.2], they apply [KS, 2.2.1] in the situation where X is not necessarily smooth.

3.2.5. Let $f: X \to \mathfrak{Y}$ be a representable l.c.i. morphism from a scheme⁶ of finite type purely of dimension n to a c-admissible stack purely of dimension m over k. For example, a representable morphism between smooth c-admissible stacks is l.c.i. We note that f is schematic since \mathfrak{Y} is admissible. Let $\Gamma \to \mathfrak{Y}$ be a generalized cycle of codimension d which is a scheme, and put $\Gamma' := \Gamma \times_{\mathfrak{Y}} X$, which is a generalized cycle of X and is a scheme as well since f is schematic. Let us briefly recall the construction of $f^{!}([\Gamma]) \in \operatorname{CH}_{n-d}(\Gamma')$ by Kresch [Kr].

Let $f': \mathfrak{X}' \to \mathfrak{Y}'$ be a representable separated morphism between algebraic stacks. In [Kr, 5.1], Kresch constructs⁷ $\rho: M^{\circ}_{\mathfrak{X}'}\mathfrak{Y}' \to \mathbb{A}^1$, whose fiber over 0 is called the *normal cone* denoted by $C_{\mathfrak{X}'}\mathfrak{Y}' \to \mathfrak{X}'$, and the general fiber is just \mathfrak{Y}' . When $f': \mathfrak{X}' \hookrightarrow Y'$ is a closed immersion of schemes, $M^{\circ}_{\mathfrak{X}'}Y'$ is nothing but the one introduced in [Fu, Ch.5]. We remark that by construction, there is a canonical morphism $\mathfrak{X}' \times \mathbb{A}^1 \to M^{\circ}_{\mathfrak{X}'}\mathfrak{Y}'$ defined by the strict transform, and ρ is flat by using [Fu, B.6.7]. When f' is l.c.i., $C_{\mathfrak{X}'}\mathfrak{Y}'$ is known to be a vector bundle over \mathfrak{X} , in which case we denote it by $N_{f'}$.

Now, assume that X and \mathfrak{Y} are smooth. In this situation, $M_X^{\circ}\mathfrak{Y}$ is smooth. We put $\Gamma' := \Gamma \times_{\mathfrak{Y}} X$. By definition, we have the diagram below on the left:

This diagram induces the cartesian diagram on the right.

Let us define $f^!([\Gamma]) \in CH_{n-d}(\Gamma')$. For the details, see [Fu, 3.1, 5.1]. By taking the pullback by the morphism $X \to \mathfrak{Y}$ of the diagram above on the left, we have the following diagram of *schemes*.

The closed immersion on the upper left is induced by α in (*). By definition, $f^{!}(\Gamma)$ is the image of $[C_{\Gamma'}\Gamma]$ by the homomorphism

$$\operatorname{CH}_{m-d}(C_{\Gamma'}\Gamma) \to \operatorname{CH}_{m-d}(N') \xrightarrow{g^!} \operatorname{CH}_{n-d}(\Gamma'),$$

where the last isomorphism⁸ follows by [Fu, Theorem 3.3].

3.2.6. Lemma ([KS, 2.1.2]). We preserve the notation. Let $f^* \colon H^{2d}_{\Gamma}(\mathfrak{Y}) \to H^{2d}_{\Gamma'}(X)$ be the pullback. Then the class $\operatorname{cl}(f^!([\Gamma])) \in H^{2d}_{\Gamma'}(X)$ is equal to $f^*\operatorname{cl}(\Gamma)$.

 $^{^{6}}$ This assumption is made for simplicity. In fact, with suitable changes, similar results can be obtained when X is a c-admissible stack.

⁷In fact, he constructs over \mathbb{P}^1 instead of \mathbb{A}^1 . However, for convenience, we restrict his construction over \mathbb{A}^1 and, by abusing the notation, we still denote it by $M^{\circ}_{\mathfrak{P}}, \mathfrak{Y}'$.

⁸This isomorphism holds even when X is an admissible stack. Indeed, by [Kr, 3.5.7], an admissible stack admits "a stratification by global quotients". Then by [Kr, 4.3.2], we have the required homotopy invariance property.

Proof. The verification is essentially the same as [KS]. We have the following commutative diagram:

$$\begin{split} H^{2d}_{\Gamma}(\mathfrak{Y})(d) & \xleftarrow{1^*} H^{2d}_Z(M^\circ_X\mathfrak{Y})(d) \xrightarrow{0^*} H^{2d}_{C'}(N_f)(d) \\ f^* \bigvee & \bigvee \\ f^* \bigvee & \bigvee \\ H^{2d}_{\Gamma'}(X)(d) \xleftarrow{1^*} H^{2d}_{\Gamma' \times \mathbb{A}^1}(X \times \mathbb{A}^1)(d) \xrightarrow{0^*} H^{2d}_{\Gamma'}(X)(d), \end{split}$$

where $Z := M^{\circ}_{\Gamma'}\Gamma$, $C' := C_{\Gamma'}\Gamma$, and the middle vertical homomorphism is induced by the morphism $X \times \mathbb{A}^1 \to M^{\circ}_X \mathfrak{Y}$ defined by the strict transform. At the upper row, the image of the cycle class cl(Z) is sent to $cl(\Gamma)$ and cl(C') by 1^{*} and 0^{*}, respectively, by Lemma 3.2.2 and the flatness of $Z \to \mathbb{A}^1$.

Recall the diagram of schemes (3.2.5.1). It is reduced to showing that $cl(g'[C']) = g^*cl(C')$. Using Lemma 3.2.3, this amounts to proving the commutativity of the following diagram on the left:

$$\begin{array}{ccc} \operatorname{CH}_{m-d}(N') &\longrightarrow H^{2d}_{N'}(N_f)(d) & \operatorname{CH}_{n-d}(\Gamma') &\longrightarrow H^{2d}_{\Gamma'}(X)(d) \\ & g^! & & & & & \\ g^! & & & & & & \\ & & & & & & \\ \operatorname{CH}_{n-d}(\Gamma') &\longrightarrow H^{2d}_{\Gamma'}(X)(d), & & & \operatorname{CH}_{m-d}(N') &\longrightarrow H^{2d}_{N'}(N_f)(d). \end{array}$$

Note that the stacks appearing in these diagrams are, in fact, schemes. Consider the diagram on the right above, where p denotes the projection $N_f \to X$. Since $g^* \circ p^*$ is the identity on $H^{2d}_{\Gamma'}(X)(d)$, and $g^!$ is an isomorphism whose inverse is p^* on the Chow groups, the verification of the commutativity of the left diagram is reduced to that of the right one. There exists an open dense subscheme $U \subset X$ such that $U \cap \Gamma' \subset \Gamma'$ is dense, and $N_f \times_X U \to U$ is a trivial bundle so that we can write $N_f \times_X U \cong U \times \mathbb{A}^n$. Since $H^{2d}_{\Gamma'}(X)(d) \cong H^{2d}_{\Gamma' \cap U}(U)(d)$, we may replace X by U and Γ' by $\Gamma' \cap U$. Thus, the claim follows by Lemma 3.2.2.

3.2.7. Now, we only consider the case where $\blacktriangle = \emptyset$ (but k is still not necessarily finite). Let us recall the construction of [KS, after Lemma 2.3.1]. Let \mathfrak{U} be a smooth c-admissible stack of dimension d, and let Γ be a correspondence on \mathfrak{U} (over Spec(k)). Let $j: \mathfrak{U} \hookrightarrow \mathfrak{X}$ be a compactification. Since the second projection $p_2: \Gamma \to \mathfrak{U}$ is assumed proper, the morphism $(j \circ p_1, p_2): \Gamma \to \mathfrak{X} \times \mathfrak{U}$ is proper, and we have isomorphisms

$$H^{2d}_{\Gamma}(\mathfrak{X} \times \mathfrak{U}, (j \times \mathrm{id})_! L(d)) \xrightarrow{\sim} H^{2d}_{\Gamma}(\mathfrak{X} \times \mathfrak{U}, L(d)) \xrightarrow{\sim} H^{2d}_{\Gamma}(\mathfrak{U} \times \mathfrak{U}, L(d)).$$

Thus, the cycle class $cl(\Gamma)$ defined in $H^{2d}_{\Gamma}(\mathfrak{U} \times \mathfrak{U}, L(d))$ induces an element in

$$H^{2d}_{!*}(\mathfrak{U} \times \mathfrak{U})(d) := H^{2d}(\mathfrak{X} \times \mathfrak{U}, (j \times \mathrm{id})_! L(d)).$$

Since $\blacktriangle = \emptyset$, this cohomology is isomorphic to $\prod_i \operatorname{End}(H^i_c(\mathfrak{U}))$ as in [KS] using the Künneth formula (cf. Corollary 2.3.37) and the Poincaré duality (cf. Theorem 2.3.31).

Lemma ([KS, 2.3.2]). The action Γ^* can be identified with the class $cl(\Gamma)$ via this isomorphism.

Proof. Using Lemma 3.2.4, the proof of [KS] works exactly in the same manner. \Box

3.2.8. Proof of Theorem 3.2.1. By Corollary 2.3.4, we can take a proper generically finite surjective morphism $f: X \to \mathfrak{X}$ such that X is a smooth scheme. Using the same corollary and Corollary 3.1.10, we may assume Γ to be a scheme. Let $H_c^*(\mathfrak{X})$ be $H_c^*(\mathfrak{X} \otimes \overline{k}, \mathbb{Q}_\ell)$ or $H_c^*(\mathfrak{X}, L_{\mathfrak{X}})$. Using Lemma 3.2.7 and Corollary 3.1.7, by arguing as [KS, 2.3.3], we have

$$(\star) \qquad \operatorname{Tr}\big(\Gamma^*: H^*_{\mathrm{c}}(\mathfrak{X})\big) = \operatorname{deg}(f)^{-1} \cdot \operatorname{Tr}\big((f \times f)^* \operatorname{cl}_{\mathfrak{X} \times \mathfrak{X}}(\Gamma): H^*_{\mathrm{c}}(X)\big)$$

where we regard classes in $H^{2d}_{!,*}(\mathfrak{X} \times \mathfrak{X})(d)$ $(d := \dim(\mathfrak{X}))$ as endomorphisms of $H^*_{c}(\mathfrak{X})$ using Lemma 3.2.7. Consider the following commutative diagram:

$$\begin{array}{cccc} \Gamma' & \longrightarrow X \times X & \xrightarrow{\pi_2} X \\ & & & \downarrow f \times f & \downarrow f \\ \Gamma & \longrightarrow \mathfrak{X} \times \mathfrak{X} & \xrightarrow{\pi_2} \mathfrak{X}. \end{array}$$

Since the composition of the horizontal morphisms below is proper by assumption, the composition morphism from Γ' to \mathfrak{X} is proper. Thus the composition of the horizontal morphisms of the first row is proper. By Lemma 3.2.6, $(f \times f)^* \operatorname{cl}_{\mathfrak{X} \times \mathfrak{X}}(\Gamma)$ is equal to $\operatorname{cl}_{X \times X}((f \times f)^!(\Gamma))$. Let $\widetilde{\Gamma}'$ be the correspondence defined by $(f \times f)^!(\Gamma)$. By applying Lemma 3.2.7 once again, the trace of the right-hand side of (\star) is equal to $\operatorname{Tr}(\widetilde{\Gamma}': H_c^*(X))$. This implies that it suffices to show the theorem in the case where $\mathfrak{X} =: X$ and Γ are schemes. By Corollary 3.1.10, we may replace Γ by its image in $X \times X$, and assume that $\Gamma \subset X \times X$. In this case, we just repeat the argument of [KS, Prop 2.3.6]. Further details are left to the reader.

4. Langlands correspondence

In this final section, we establish the Langlands correspondence, and in particular, we prove the existence of *petits camarades cristallins* for curves. We wrote this section to be as independent as possible.

4.1. **Preliminaries.** First, let us very briefly recall basic notions of the *p*-adic cohomology theory and notation of this paper for the convenience of the reader. We do not have new input, and those who have read the previous sections may skip this.

4.1.1. Let k be a perfect field, let R be a complete discrete valuation ring whose residue field is k, and let K be the field of fractions of R. We assume further that the s-th Frobenius automorphism of k can be lifted to an automorphism $\sigma: R \xrightarrow{\sim} R$. The induced automorphism between K is also denoted by σ . With this setup, let X be a scheme of finite type over k. Berthelot defined the category of overconvergent isocrystals (resp. overconvergent F-isocrystals) denoted by Isoc[†](X/K) (resp. F-Isoc[†](X/K)). We do not try to recall the definition here, but a standard reference is [Ber1], and we may find other references in [Ke3] and [Ke6]. This category is a p-adic analogue of the category of smooth \mathbb{Q}_{ℓ} -sheaves over $X \otimes_k \overline{k}$ (resp. over X). In this paper, we denote F-Isoc[†](X/K) by Isoc[†](X/K_F). The description of these categories when X = Spec(k) is simple but important: Isoc[†](Spec(k)/K) is canonically equivalent to the category of finite-dimensional K-vector spaces, and Isoc[†](Spec(k)/K_F) is canonically equivalent to that of finitedimensional K-vector spaces V equipped with an isomorphism $K \otimes_{\sigma,K} V \xrightarrow{\sim} V$. In particular, the trivial vector space K with trivial isomorphism determines an object of $\operatorname{Isoc}^{\dagger}(\operatorname{Spec}(k)/K_F)$, which is denoted by K, abusing the notation.

Let $f: X \to Y$ be a morphism between schemes of finite type over k. Then the pull-back functor $f^+: \operatorname{Isoc}^{\dagger}(Y/K) \to \operatorname{Isoc}^{\dagger}(X/K)$ (resp. $f^+: \operatorname{Isoc}^{\dagger}(Y/K_F) \to$ $\operatorname{Isoc}^{\dagger}(X/K_F)$) is defined in [Ber1, 2.3.2 (iv)].⁹ If p is the structural morphism of X, we put $K_X := p^+K$, which is also denoted by K. The category is equipped with tensor product \otimes , with which $\operatorname{Isoc}^{\dagger}(X/K)$ (resp. $\operatorname{Isoc}^{\dagger}(X/K_F)$) forms a tensor category (cf. [Ber1, 2.3.3 (iii)]). The unit object of the tensor category is K_X . It also possesses an internal hom functor $\mathcal{H}om$. Finally, we have the notion of ranks (cf. [Ber1, 2.3.3 (ii)]). This implies that any object in $\operatorname{Isoc}^{\dagger}(X/K)$ (resp. $\operatorname{Isoc}^{\dagger}(X/K_F)$) is of finite length.

Remark. The category $\operatorname{Isoc}^{\dagger}(X/K)$ used in §1–§3 is smaller than the one recalled here, but the category with Frobenius $\operatorname{Isoc}^{\dagger}(X/K_F)$ is the same; see the paragraph right after 1.1.3 (11). In the following, we only use $\operatorname{Isoc}^{\dagger}(X/K_F)$, so this does not cause any problems.

4.1.2. In Langlands correspondence, we consider the case where k is a finite field with $q = p^s$ elements, R := W(k), and $\sigma \colon R \xrightarrow{\sim} R$ is the identity. Then we may consider the category $\operatorname{Isoc}^{\dagger}(X/K_F)$ which is K-abelian. Note that this would be $K^{\sigma=1}$ -abelian if σ were not the identity. Now, we need to extend the scalar from K to $\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p$. This was done in 1.4.10 and 2.4.14, and let us recall the idea briefly:¹⁰ For a finite extension L/K, we define $\operatorname{Isoc}^{\dagger}(X/L_F)$ to be the category of pairs (\mathcal{E}, ρ) where $\mathcal{E} \in \operatorname{Isoc}^{\dagger}(X/K_F)$, and we let $\rho: L \to \operatorname{End}(\mathcal{E})$ be a homomorphism of K-algebras, and the morphisms are defined in the obvious way. To define $\operatorname{Isoc}^{\dagger}(X/\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_{p,F})$, we take the 2-inductive limit of $\operatorname{Isoc}^{\dagger}(X/L_F)$ over all finite extensions L of K. We have the scalar extension functor $\otimes \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p$: Isoc[†] $(X/K_F) \to$ Isoc[†] $(X/\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_{p,F})$. We remark that even though $\mathcal{E} \in \operatorname{Isoc}^{\dagger}(X/K_F)$ is irreducible, $\mathcal{E} \otimes \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p$ may not be irreducible in general, and this is why we needed to extend the scalar. For a morphism $f: X \to Y$, the pull-back functor can formally be extended to $f^+: \operatorname{Isoc}^{\dagger}(Y/\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_{p,F}) \to \mathbb{Q}$ Isoc[†] $(X/\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_{p,F})$, and similarly for \otimes , $\mathcal{H}om$. The data $\mathfrak{T} := (k, R, K, L, s, \sigma = \mathrm{id})$ (where σ is an extension to L of a lifting of s-th Frobenius automorphism on k to K) we used to define $\operatorname{Isoc}^{\dagger}(X/L_F)$ is called the base tuple. To clarify the base, we also use the notation $\operatorname{Isoc}^{\dagger}(X/\mathfrak{T})$ for $\operatorname{Isoc}^{\dagger}(X/L_F)$. See 1.4.10 and 2.4.14 for details.

4.1.3. Before going to the next section, let us briefly recall what we have done so far. Let \mathfrak{X} be a scheme, or more generally, an algebraic stack of finite type over k. We constructed a triangulated category $D^{\rm b}_{\rm hol}(\mathfrak{X}/\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_{p,F})$ over $\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p$ with a natural t-structure \mathscr{H} in Definition 2.1.16. When \mathfrak{X} is a smooth separated scheme over k, Isoc[†]($\mathfrak{X}/\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_{p,F}$) is fully faithfully embedded into $D^{\rm b}_{\rm hol}(\mathfrak{X}/\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_{p,F})$ by 2.4.15. There is another t-structure on $D^{\rm b}_{\rm hol}(\mathfrak{X}/\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_{p,F})$: the constructible t-structure $^{\mathscr{H}}$ defined in Definition 2.3.24. Philosophically, \mathscr{H} corresponds to the perverse t-structure in the ℓ -adic setting, and $^{\mathfrak{C}}\mathcal{H}$ corresponds to the standard (constructible) t-structure. In this section, we mostly use $^{\mathfrak{C}}\mathcal{H}$ since its heart, denoted by $\operatorname{Con}(\mathfrak{X}/\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_{p,F})$, contains Isoc[†]($\mathfrak{X}/\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_{p,F})$ when \mathfrak{X} is a smooth separated scheme. Objects of Con are called *constructible objects*. Over the category of *compactifiable admissible stacks*

⁹The pull-back functor is denoted by f^* in [Ber1].

 $^{^{10}}$ Actually the definition presented here is the one in Remark 1.4.9.

(*c-admissible stacks*), we have six functor formalism: $D^{\mathrm{b}}_{\mathrm{hol}}(\mathfrak{X}/\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_{p,F})$ is endowed with tensor and dual functors. Given a morphism $f: \mathfrak{X} \to \mathfrak{Y}$, we have

$$f_+, f_! \colon D^{\mathrm{b}}_{\mathrm{hol}}(\mathfrak{X}/\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_{p,F}) \to D^{\mathrm{b}}_{\mathrm{hol}}(\mathfrak{Y}/\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_{p,F}), \quad f^+, f^! \colon D^{\mathrm{b}}_{\mathrm{hol}}(\mathfrak{Y}/\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_{p,F}) \to D^{\mathrm{b}}_{\mathrm{hol}}(\mathfrak{X}/\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_{p,F}),$$

and they satisfy standard properties. Here, f_+ and f^+ are analogues of f_* and f^* in the ℓ -adic theory, and we adopted these notation in order to follow the tradition of the theory of \mathcal{D} -modules. We do not need this much in the statement of Langlands correspondence, but these techniques are required in the proof.

4.2. Langlands correspondence. The aim of this subsection is to state the main theorem of this paper, namely the Langlands correspondence, and give an overview of the strategy of the proof.

4.2.1. First of all, let us fix the basis (cf. 1.4.10, 2.4.14). We assume k to be a finite field with $q = p^s$ elements. We fix an algebraic closure $\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p$ of K, and we denote by \overline{k} the residue field of $\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p$ which is algebraically closed as well. We define an arithmetic base tuple $\mathfrak{T}_k := (k, R := W(k), K := \operatorname{Frac}(R), \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p, s, \sigma := \operatorname{id})$. Likewise, for a finite extension k' of k in \overline{k} , we put $\mathfrak{T}_{k'} := (k', W(k'), \operatorname{Frac}(R'), \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p, [k' : k] \cdot s, \operatorname{id})$. With these data, we may consider the $\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p$ -coefficient cohomology theory (cf. 2.4.14), which we mainly use. For any finite extension k' of k, the category Isoc[†](k'/\mathfrak{T}_{k'}) is equivalent to the category of finite-dimensional $\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p$ -vector spaces V endowed with the isomorphism id^{*}(V) $\xrightarrow{\sim}$ V (cf. Definition 1.4.10). By identifying id^{*}(V) with V, we view the isomorphism as an automorphism of V.

Let X be a smooth scheme over k, and let $i_x : x \to X$ be a closed point of X. Then $\mathfrak{T}_{k(x)} = (k(x), W(k(x)), K_x, \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p, s', \mathrm{id})$ where $s' := [k(x) : k] \cdot s$. Let us define the *linearized Frobenius automorphism at x*. Choose a geometric point $\overline{x} \in X(\overline{k})$ lying above x. This defines an embedding $K_x \to \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p$, and we have the following functor

$$\iota_{\overline{x}} \colon \operatorname{Isoc}^{\dagger}(X/\mathfrak{T}_k) \xrightarrow{\iota_{x}^{*}} \operatorname{Isoc}^{\dagger}(k(x)/\mathfrak{T}_k) \cong \operatorname{Isoc}^{\dagger}(k(x)/\mathfrak{T}_{k(x)}),$$

•+

where the equivalence follows by Corollary 1.4.11 using the embedding. For $\mathcal{E} \in \text{Isoc}^{\dagger}(X/\mathfrak{T}_k)$, the equipped automorphism on $\iota_{\overline{x}}(\mathcal{E})$ is called the *linearized geometric Frobenius automorphism at x of* \mathcal{E} . The inverse of the linearized geometric Frobenius automorphism is denoted by Frob_x and is simply called the *Frobenius automorphism at x*. The multiset of eigenvalues of Frob_x acting on $\iota_{\overline{x}}(\mathcal{E})$ depends only on the choice of x and not on \overline{x} . By abuse of language, we call this multiset the set of Frobenius eigenvalues at x.

Remark. We defined Frob_x so that the notation is compatible with that of Lafforgue. In ℓ -adic theory, the corresponding automorphism is sometimes called "arithmetic Frobenius".

4.2.2. **Theorem** (Langlands correspondence for isocrystals). We fix an isomorphism $\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p \cong \mathbb{C}$. Let X be a geometrically connected proper smooth curve over k. Denote by F the function field of X, and let \mathbb{A}_F be the ring of adèles. For an integer $r \geq 1$, consider the following two sets.

TOMOYUKI ABE

- \mathcal{I}_r : The set of isomorphism classes of irreducible isocrystals of rank r in 2- $\lim_{K \to 0} \operatorname{Isoc}^{\dagger}(U/\mathfrak{T}_k)$, where the limit runs over open subschemes $U \subset X$, such that the determinant is of finite order.
- \mathcal{A}_r : The set of isomorphism classes of cuspidal automorphic representations π of $\operatorname{GL}_r(\mathbb{A}_F)$ such that the order of the central character of π is finite.
- (1) There exist maps

$$\mathcal{E}_{\bullet} \colon \mathcal{A}_r \rightleftarrows \mathcal{I}_r \colon \pi_{\bullet}$$

with which \mathcal{A}_r and \mathcal{I}_r correspond in the sense of Langlands: for $\pi \in \mathcal{A}_r$ (resp. $\mathcal{E} \in \mathcal{I}_r$), the sets of unramified places of π (resp. \mathcal{E}) and \mathcal{E}_{π} (resp. $\pi_{\mathcal{E}}$) coincide, which we denote by U, and for any $x \in |U|$, the set of Frobenius eigenvalues of \mathcal{E}_{π} (resp. \mathcal{E}) at x and that of Hecke eigenvalues of π (resp. $\pi_{\mathcal{E}}$) at x coincide.

(2) Assume that $\pi^{(\prime)} \in \mathcal{A}_{r^{(\prime)}}$ and $\mathcal{E}^{(\prime)} \in \mathcal{I}_{r^{(\prime)}}$ correspond in the sense of Langlands. Then the local L-functions and local ε -factors of pairs (π, π') and $(\mathcal{E}, \mathcal{E}')$ coincide for any point $x \in |X|$ (cf. [A2] and [La2, VI.9 (ii)]).

Remark. The correspondence is unique if it exists.

4.2.3. For a proof of the theorem, we follow the program of Drinfeld and Lafforgue. We briefly recall the outline of the proof to introduce some notation we use in the next subsection. The idea is explained clearly and in detail in the introduction of [La2], so we encourage the reader who is not familiar with Lafforgue's proof to read through it before entering our proof.

In [A2], with the help of the product formula proven in [AM], we have the following theorem, which is nothing but the p-adic version of principe de récurrence by Deligne:

Theorem ([A2, §5]). Let n be a positive integer, and assume Theorem 4.2.2 is known for $r, r' \leq n$. Then we have the map $\mathcal{I}_{n+1} \to \mathcal{A}_{n+1}$ in the sense of Langlands such that the corresponding cuspidal representation is unramified at the places where the isocrystal is. Moreover, if we have a map $\mathcal{A}_{n+1} \to \mathcal{I}_{n+1}$ in the sense of Langlands such that the corresponding isocrystal is unramified at the places where the cuspidal representation is, then Theorem 4.2.2 holds for $r', r \leq n+1$. In other words, (2) of the theorem holds automatically once we prove (1).

4.2.4. Thanks to the theorem above, our task is only to construct a map $\mathcal{A}_r \to \mathcal{I}_r$ such that the corresponding isocrystal is unramified at the places where the cuspidal representation is. A rough idea is to realize this as the relative cohomologies of moduli spaces of shtukas *á la* Drinfeld. Even though the moduli spaces we use here are the same as that of Lafforgue, we take *p*-adic cohomologies that we have developed in the preceding sections instead of ℓ -adic cohomologies to carry this out.

In this paper, we use the following various types of moduli spaces of shtukas. We remind the reader that the notation is the same as that of Lafforgue. Let r be a positive integer. Let N be a *level* (i.e., a closed subscheme $N = \text{Spec}(\mathcal{O}_N) \hookrightarrow X$ which is not equal to X), let $p: [0, r] \to \mathbb{R}$ be a convex polygon, and let $a \in \mathbb{A}_F^{\times}$ of degree 1. Given these data, we have c-admissible stacks (cf. Definition 2.3.19) over

	Moduli space	smooth?	proper?	correspondence	Reference
1	$\operatorname{Cht}_N^{r,\overline{p}\leq p}/a^{\mathbb{Z}}$	0	×	$ agenup^1$	[La2, right after Prop I.3]
2	$\overline{\operatorname{Cht}_N^{r,\overline{p}\leq p}}/a^{\mathbb{Z}}$	×	0	_	[La2, Def III.8]
3	$\overline{\operatorname{Cht}_N^{r,\overline{p}} \leq p}'/a^{\mathbb{Z}}$	0	×	\triangle^2	[La2, Cor III.14, Thm V,14]

the surface $(X - N) \times (X - N)$ as follows:

¹ We have the action of Hecke algebra only after taking the inductive limit over the convex polygon p.

 2 We have the action of Hecke algebra for each element, but the action may not be compatible with the product structure.

In this table, the second column (resp. the third column) refers to the smoothness (resp. properness) over $(X - N) \times (X - N)$ of the corresponding moduli spaces in the first column, and definitions and proofs of the properties listed here can be found in the References. These stacks are c-admissible by [La2, V.1]; more precisely, in the first line of its proof, it is said that these stacks are quasi-projective over $\operatorname{Cht}^{r,d,\overline{p} \leq p}$, and the last stack is serene (cf. [La2, Appendix A]) which is proper over $X \times X$. The components of these spaces are indexed by integers $1 \leq d \leq r$ called the *degree*. The component corresponding to *d* is denoted by $\operatorname{Cht}^{r,d,\overline{p} \leq p}_N$, $\operatorname{Cht}^{r,d,\overline{p} \leq p'}_N$.

4.2.5. Let $f: \mathfrak{X} \to (X - N) \times (X - N)$ be one of the three moduli spaces of shtukas. Then $\mathcal{H}^*_{c} := f_! \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_{p,\mathfrak{X}}$ contains the isocrystals which correspond to cuspidal representations in the set $\{\pi\}_N^r$ (cf. 4.3.7). However, it also contains a lot of "junk" which has already appeared in the Langlands correspondence of lower ranks, and we need to throw these away. The junk is called the r-negligible part, and the part we need for the correspondence is called the *essential part*. We first need to show that the essential part is concentrated at a certain degree of \mathcal{H}_c^* . For this, we need to use the purity of intersection cohomology, and we need the compact space (2). Still, the essential part is a mixture of isocrystals corresponding to $\{\pi\}_{N}^{r}$, and we need to extract the particular isocrystal which corresponds to a given cuspidal representation $\pi \in \{\pi\}_{N}^{r}$. For this, we need to define an action of the Hecke algebra \mathcal{H}_N^r . We have ring homomorphism from \mathcal{H}_N^r to the ring of correspondences on the moduli space (1) if we pass to the limit of p. Since we are passing to the limit to define the action, the resulting stack is not of finite type anymore. For the calculation of the trace of the action of correspondences, we use (3). We note that even though we have the correspondences associated to elements of the Hecke algebra on (3), this map might not be a homomorphism of rings. Finally, we use the ℓ -independence result to calculate the trace, and we extract exactly the information we need.

4.3. Proof of the theorem.

4.3.1. In this subsection, the base tuple \mathfrak{T}_k is fixed as in 4.2.1, and we also fix an isomorphism $\iota: \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p \cong \mathbb{C}$ as in Theorem 4.2.2. Let Y be a smooth scheme of finite type and which is geometrically connected over k. We usually omit " $/\mathfrak{T}_k$ " (e.g.,

TOMOYUKI ABE

Isoc[†](Y) instead of Isoc[†](Y/ \mathfrak{T}_k)). We denote the category Isoc[†](Y) of overconvergent $\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p$ -isocrystals with Frobenius structure by $\mathcal{I}(Y)$ to shorten the notation. We identify $\mathcal{I}(Y) = \text{Isoc}^{\dagger}(Y)$ and $\text{Sm}(Y) \subset D^{\text{b}}_{\text{hol}}(Y)$ via $\widetilde{\mathfrak{sp}}_+$, as defined in 2.4.15. Because of this identification, we often say $\mathcal{E} \in \text{Con}(Y)$ is *smooth* if it comes from $\mathcal{I}(Y)$. Let $p: \mathfrak{X} \to \text{Spec}(k)$ be the structural morphism of a c-admissible stack. For $\mathcal{E} \in \text{Isoc}^{\dagger}(\mathfrak{X})$ or more generally an object of $D^{\text{b}}_{\text{hol}}(\mathfrak{X})$, we put $H^*(\mathfrak{X}, \mathcal{E}) := \mathscr{H}^* p_+(\mathcal{E})$ and $H^*_c(\mathfrak{X}, \mathcal{E}) := \mathscr{H}^* p_!(\mathcal{E})$ and regard these as $\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p$ -vector spaces with automorphism. We abbreviate ι -pure (resp. ι -mixed, ι -weight, etc.) simply by pure (resp. mixed, weight, etc.).

When we say ℓ -adic sheaf, it refers to the ℓ -adic Weil sheaf (cf. [De1, 1.1.10]). The category of smooth Weil sheaves is denoted by $\mathcal{W}_{\ell}(Y)$. For a scheme X over k, we denote by $\operatorname{Frob}_X : X \to X$ the absolute Frobenius endomorphism; $f \in \mathcal{O}_X$ is sent to f^q . For an abelian category \mathcal{A} , we denote by $\operatorname{Gr}(\mathcal{A})$ the Grothendieck group of \mathcal{A} , and $\mathbb{Q}\operatorname{Gr}(\mathcal{A}) := \operatorname{Gr}(\mathcal{A}) \otimes \mathbb{Q}$. For an object $X \in \mathcal{A}$ of finite length, we denote by X^{ss} the semisimplification of X, namely the direct sum of constituents of X.

4.3.2. Let X be a smooth scheme of finite type over k, and let \mathcal{E} be in $\mathcal{I}(X)$. Take a closed point $x \in |X|$. We take a geometric point $\overline{x} \in X(\overline{k})$ which lies above x, and recall the functor $\iota_{\overline{x}}$ defined in 4.2.1. The *local L-function at* x is defined to be

$$L_x(\mathcal{E}, Z) := \det \left(1 - Z^{\deg(x)} \operatorname{Frob}_x^{-1}; \iota_{\overline{x}}(\mathcal{E}) \right)^{-1}$$

in $\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p[\![Z]\!]$, which does not depend on the choice of \overline{x} . Using the fixed isomorphism $\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p \cong \mathbb{C}$, we usually consider this series as a series in $\mathbb{C}[\![Z]\!]$. The global L-function is defined as

$$L_X(\mathcal{E}, Z) := \prod_{x \in |X|} L_x(\mathcal{E}, Z).$$

Analogous to Grothendieck's formula, this *L*-function has the following cohomological interpretation:

(4.3.2.1)
$$L_X(\mathcal{E}, Z) = \prod_{\nu=0}^{2 \dim(X)} \det \left(1 - Z \cdot \operatorname{Frob}_X; H_c^{\nu}(X, \mathcal{E})\right)^{(-1)^{\nu+1}}$$

which is an identity of formal power series (cf. Corollary A.3.3). We refer to §A.3 for further detail.

4.3.3. We use the theory of weights. We refer to 2.2.30–2.2.32, and 2.3.38 for more detail. Let $t \in \mathbb{C}$. Using ι , we may consider q^t as an element in $\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p$. We have the automorphism of $\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p$, considered as a $\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p$ -vector space, sending 1 to q^{-t} , which defines an object in $\mathcal{I}(\operatorname{Spec}(k))$ denoted by $\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p(t)$. This is of weight $-2\operatorname{Re}(t)$. When t is an integer, the notation is compatible with Tate twists (cf. Definition 1.4.13). The following standard consequences of the theory of weights are important tools in the proof of Langlands correspondence:

Proposition ([La2, VI.3]). Let Y be a smooth geometrically connected scheme of finite type over k. Let $\mathcal{E} \in \mathcal{I}(Y)$ be mixed of weight $\leq n$, and let \mathcal{E}' be an irreducible object in $\mathcal{I}(Y)$ pure of weight m.

(i) The rational function $L_Y(\mathcal{E} \otimes \mathcal{E}'^{\vee}, Z)$ does not have zeros in the region $|Z| < q^{\frac{m-n}{2} - \dim(Y) + \frac{1}{2}}$.

(ii) Let $t \in \mathbb{C}$ such that $\operatorname{Re}(t) = (m-n)/2$, and assume that the multiplicity of $\mathcal{E}'(t)$ in the semisimplification of \mathcal{E} is $\mu \geq 0$. Then the L-function appearing in (i) has a pole of order μ at $Z = q^{t-\dim(Y)}$. Moreover, it does not have any pole in $|Z| < q^{\frac{m-n}{2}-\dim(Y)}$.

Proof. Use Theorem 2.3.38 and (4.3.2.1) to show (i). We have

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{I}(Y)}(\mathcal{E}, \mathcal{E}'(t)) \cong \left(H^0(Y, \mathcal{E}^{\vee} \otimes \mathcal{E}'(t))\right)^{\operatorname{Frob}_Y} \\ \cong \left(H^{2\dim(Y)}_{\operatorname{c}}(Y, \mathcal{E} \otimes (\mathcal{E}'(t))^{\vee})(\dim(Y))\right)^{\operatorname{Frob}_Y},$$

where $(-)^{\operatorname{Frob}_Y}$ denotes the fixed part by the action of Frob_Y , and the first isomorphism is by 2.3.14, the second by Theorem 2.3.34. If \mathcal{E} is semisimple, then the action of Frob_Y on $H^0(Y, \mathcal{E}^{\vee} \otimes \mathcal{E}'(t))$ is semisimple, thus the fixed part of Frob_Y is equal to the generalized eigenspace of Frob_Y with eigenvalue 1, and we get (ii). \Box

We usually use this proposition in the following form:

Corollary. Let Y be as in the proposition. Let \mathcal{E} be in $Gr(\mathcal{I}(Y))$, and let \mathcal{E}' be an irreducible object in $\mathcal{I}(Y)$. Assume that any component of \mathcal{E} is mixed of weight $\leq n$. For $t \in \mathbb{C}$ such that Re(t) = (m - n)/2, the multiplicity of $\mathcal{E}'(-t)$ in \mathcal{E} is exactly the order of pole of $L_Y(\mathcal{E} \otimes \mathcal{E}'^{\vee}, Z)$ at $Z = q^{t-\dim(Y)}$.

4.3.4. **Definition.** Let Y be a smooth scheme of finite type and geometrically connected over k, and let $U \subset Y \times Y$ such that $(\operatorname{Frob}_Y \times \operatorname{id}_Y)(U) \subset U$. We denote by $\mathbb{ZI}(U)$ the category of overconvergent $\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p$ -isocrystals on U with Frobenius structure equipped with an isomorphism $(\operatorname{Frob}_Y \times \operatorname{id}_Y)^+ \mathcal{E} \xrightarrow{\sim} \mathcal{E}$. Let F be the function field of Y. We put

$$\mathcal{I}(F) := 2\text{-} \varinjlim_{U \subset Y} \mathcal{I}(U), \qquad \mathbb{Z}\mathcal{I}(F^2) := 2\text{-} \varinjlim_{U \subset Y \times Y} \mathbb{Z}\mathcal{I}(U).$$

Remark. Take a geometric point $\overline{y} \in Y(\overline{k})$. Using the notation of 2.4.18, $\mathcal{I}(Y)$ is equivalent to $\operatorname{Rep}_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p}(W^{\operatorname{isoc}}(Y,\overline{y}))$, the category of finite-dimensional representations of the algebraic group $W^{\operatorname{isoc}}(Y,\overline{y})$ over $\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p$. Similarly, we have $\mathbb{ZI}(U) \cong \operatorname{Rep}_{\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p}(\mathbb{Z}W^{\operatorname{isoc}}(U,\overline{y}))$ by 2.4.19. We often ignore the basepoints of W^{isoc} and $\mathbb{Z}W^{\operatorname{isoc}}$.

4.3.5. We preserve the notation, and let $q', q'': Y \times Y \to Y$ be the first and second projections, respectively.

Definition ([La2, VI.14]). Let $r \geq 1$ be an integer. An object $\mathcal{E} \in \mathcal{I}(F^2)$ (resp. element of $\mathbb{Q}\mathrm{Gr}\mathcal{I}(F^2)$) is said to be *r*-negligible if any of its subquotient (resp. any of its component) is a direct factor of an object of the form $q'^+\mathcal{E}' \otimes q''^+\mathcal{E}''$ where \mathcal{E}' and \mathcal{E}'' are objects of rank < r in $\mathcal{I}(F)$. It is said to be essential if all the subquotients are not *r*-negligible. A semisimple *r*-negligible object of $\mathcal{I}(F^2)$ (resp. an *r*-negligible element of $\mathbb{Q}\mathrm{Gr}\mathcal{I}(F^2)$) is said to be complete if it is a direct sum (resp. sum) of objects of the form $q'^+\mathcal{E}' \otimes q''^+\mathcal{E}''$.

4.3.6. Lemma. (i) Let \mathcal{E}' , \mathcal{E}'' be irreducible objects in $\mathcal{I}(F)$. Then $q'^+\mathcal{E}' \otimes q''^+\mathcal{E}''$ is irreducible as an object in $\mathbb{ZI}(F^2)$.

(ii) A semisimple r-negligible object, or an r-negligible element of $\mathbb{Q}\mathrm{Gr}\mathcal{I}(F^2)$, \mathcal{E} is complete if it is invariant under the action of $(\mathrm{Frob}_Y \times \mathrm{id}_Y)^+$, namely if there

exists an isomorphism $(\operatorname{Frob}_Y \times \operatorname{id}_Y)^+(\mathcal{E}) \cong \mathcal{E}$. In particular, for a semisimple r-negligible object \mathcal{E} , $\bigoplus_{n=1}^{r^{2}!} (\operatorname{Frob}_Y^n \times \operatorname{id}_Y)^+(\mathcal{E})$ is complete.

Proof. Let us prove (i). We may assume \mathcal{E}' and \mathcal{E}'' are defined on $U \subset Y$. By Lemma 2.4.20, it suffices to show that $q'^+ \mathcal{E}' \otimes q''^+ \mathcal{E}''$ is irreducible as an object in $\mathbb{Z}\mathcal{I}(U \times U)$. This follows by Lemma 2.4.19. Let us check (ii). There exists $U \subset Y$ such that \mathcal{E} is an isocrystal on $U \times U$. Since \mathcal{E} is assumed negligible, there exists a complete *r*-negligible object $\hat{\mathcal{E}} \in \mathbb{Z}\mathcal{I}(U \times U)$ such that $\mathcal{E} \subset \hat{\mathcal{E}}$ in $\mathcal{I}(U \times U)$ by definition. Since \mathcal{E} is invariant under the pullback by $\operatorname{Frob}_Y \times \operatorname{id}_Y)^+(\hat{\mathcal{E}}) \cong \hat{\mathcal{E}}$, by changing the inclusion if necessary. Let $\rho_{\hat{\mathcal{E}}}$ be the corresponding representation of $\mathbb{Z}W^{\operatorname{isoc}}(U \times U)$, and $\rho_{\mathcal{E}}$ be the subrepresentation of $\rho_{\hat{\mathcal{E}}}$ corresponding to \mathcal{E} defined since \mathcal{E} is invariant under the isomorphism α . Let

$$K := \operatorname{Ker} \left(\mathbb{Z} W^{\operatorname{isoc}}(U \times U) \to W^{\operatorname{isoc}}(U) \times W^{\operatorname{isoc}}(U) \right).$$

Then since $\widehat{\mathcal{E}}$ is assumed complete, $\rho_{\widehat{\mathcal{E}}}(K) = \mathrm{id}$. Thus, $\rho_{\mathcal{E}}(K) = \mathrm{id}$, which implies that $\rho_{\mathcal{E}}$ is the pullback of a representation of $W^{\mathrm{isoc}}(U) \times W^{\mathrm{isoc}}(U)$, and the first claim follows. To check the last claim, we note that, for any irreducible objects \mathcal{E}' , \mathcal{E}'' in $\mathcal{I}(F)$ of rank r' and r'', respectively, $q'^+\mathcal{E}' \otimes q''^+\mathcal{E}''$ is semisimple in $\mathcal{I}(F^2)$ by (i), and the number of constituents N of $q'^+\mathcal{E}' \otimes q''^+\mathcal{E}''$ is $\leq r'r''$. This implies that for any constituent \mathcal{F} of $q'^+\mathcal{E}' \otimes q''^+\mathcal{E}''$ and any integer k > 0,

$$\bigoplus_{n=1}^{kN} (\operatorname{Frob}_Y^n \times \operatorname{id}_Y)^+ (\mathcal{F})$$

is invariant by the action of $(\operatorname{Frob}_Y \times \operatorname{id}_Y)^+$. Since $N \leq r'r'' \leq r^2$, N divides $r^2!$, and the claim follows by the first part of (ii).

Remark. In (ii) of the corollary, we may take $\bigoplus_{n=1}^{r!}$ as in [La2], but for our purposes, $\bigoplus_{n=1}^{r^{2!}}$ is enough.

4.3.7. From now on, we use the notation of §4.2 freely. In the following, we fix $a \in \mathbb{A}_F^{\times}$ of degree 1, and a level $N = \operatorname{Spec}(\mathcal{O}_N) \hookrightarrow X$. Let p be a large enough convex function. For $\pi \in \mathcal{A}^r(F)$, we denote by χ_{π} the central character of π . We define a set by

$$\{\pi\}_N^r := \{\pi \in \mathcal{A}^r(F) \mid \chi_\pi(a) = 1 \text{ and } \pi \cdot \mathbf{1}_N \neq 0\},\$$

where $\mathbf{1}_N$ is the quotient of the characteristic function of $K_N := \operatorname{Ker}(\operatorname{GL}_r(\mathbb{A}_F) \to \operatorname{GL}_r(\mathcal{O}_N))$ by its volume. It suffices to construct isocrystals corresponding to the cuspidal representations belonging to $\{\pi\}_N^r$. We put $S_N := (X - N) \times (X - N)$.

Let $q', q'': X \times X \to X$ be the first and second projection, respectively. For a morphism of c-admissible stacks $f: \mathfrak{X} \to S_N$, we denote the relative cohomology ${}^{\mathcal{CH}^{\nu}}f_!\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_{p,\mathfrak{X},F}$ by $\mathcal{H}_c^{\nu}(\mathfrak{X})$, where $\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_{p,\mathfrak{X},F}$ denotes the unit object in $\operatorname{Con}(\mathfrak{X})$. This is an object in $\operatorname{Con}(S_N)$. Assume f is proper. There exists an open dense substack $j: \mathfrak{U} \to \mathfrak{X}$ such that $\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_{p,\mathfrak{U},F}$ is pure of weight 0. Then we denote by $\mathcal{IH}^{\nu}(\mathfrak{X}) :=$ ${}^{\mathcal{CH}^{\nu}}f_+j_{!+}\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_{p,\mathfrak{U},F}$, which is pure of weight ν .

We also use ℓ -adic cohomologies. We denote by $\mathcal{H}_{c}^{\nu}(\mathfrak{X}, \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_{\ell}) := \mathscr{H}^{\nu} f_! \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_{\ell}$ and $\mathcal{IH}^{\nu}(\mathfrak{X}, \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_{\ell}) := \mathscr{H}^{\nu} f_{+} j_{!+} \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_{\ell}$, where \mathscr{H}^{ν} denotes the standard (constructible) t-structure. In most cases in this paper, these ℓ -sheaves are smooth, namely an object of $\mathcal{W}_{\ell}(S_N)$ (cf. [La2, p.165]).
4.3.8. We start the proof of the theorem from here. We prove a slightly stronger statement than the theorem. For an integer $n \ge 1$, we call the following two statements $(S)_n$:

- (1) Theorem 4.2.2 is true for $r, r' \leq n$. As a consequence, we have $\mathcal{I}_{n+1} \to \mathcal{A}_{n+1}$ as well by Theorem 4.2.3.
- (2) For $r' \leq n$, the constructible object $\mathcal{H}_{c}^{\nu}(\operatorname{Cht}_{N}^{r',\overline{p}\leq p}/a^{\mathbb{Z}})$ is smooth and (n+1)negligible for any ν , level N: Spec $(\mathcal{O}_{N}) \hookrightarrow X$, $a \in \mathbb{A}_{F}^{\times}$ such that deg(a) = 1,
 and convex polygon p large enough with respect to X and N.

We know that (S)₁ holds. Indeed, (1) is nothing but the class field theory together with the theorem of Tsuzuki [T, Thm 7.1.1]; see [A2, 6.5] for more details. Let us check (2). We know that $f: \operatorname{Cht}_N^{1,\overline{p}\leq p} = \operatorname{Cht}_N^1/a^{\mathbb{Z}} \to S_N$ is an abelian covering and $f_!\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_\ell = \bigoplus q'^*\chi' \otimes q''^*\chi''$, where χ' and χ'' are smooth sheaf on X - N of rank 1 by [La2, remark of VI.15]. Using (1), let χ'_p and χ''_p be the corresponding isocrystals of rank 1 in $\mathcal{I}(X - N)$. By Proposition 2.3.22 (or Theorem A.5.4 if one prefers), $f_!\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_\ell$ and $f_!\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p$ have the same Frobenius eigenvalues. Thus, by Čebotarev density A.4.1, we get $f_!\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p \cong \bigoplus q'^+\chi'_p \otimes q''^+\chi'_p$.

In the following, we fix an integer r > 1, and assume that $(S)_{r-1}$ holds. Our goal is to show $(S)_r$ under this assumption, which is attained at the very end of this subsection.

4.3.9. **Definition.** Let k' be the extension of k of degree $d_0 \geq 1$. For a smooth scheme U over k', we put $\mathcal{I}_{d_0}(U) := \operatorname{Isoc}^{\dagger}(U/\mathfrak{T}_{k'})$ (cf. 4.2.1 for the notation of base tuple). We denote by F_{d_0} and $F_{d_0}^2$ the function fields of $X \otimes_k k'$ and $(X \times X) \otimes_k k'$, and we define $\mathcal{I}_{d_0}(F_{d_0})$, $\mathcal{I}_{d_0}(F_{d_0}^2)$ accordingly. An irreducible object in $\mathcal{I}(F)$ is said to be r-negligible if it is of rank < r. An irreducible object \mathcal{E} in $\mathcal{I}_{d_0}(F_{d_0})$ (resp. $\mathcal{I}_{d_0}(F_{d_0}^2)$) such that the pullback $\mathcal{E}' \otimes k'$ contains \mathcal{E} . Sums of r-negligible objects are said to be r-negligible as well.

4.3.10. Lemma ([La2, VI.16]). Let $d_0 \geq 1$ be an integer. An irreducible object \mathcal{E} in $\mathcal{I}(F^2)$ (resp. $\mathcal{I}(F)$) is r-negligible if $\mathcal{E} \otimes k'$ contains an r-negligible object in $\mathcal{I}_{d_0}(F_{d_0}^2)$ (resp. $\mathcal{I}_{d_0}(F_{d_0}^0)$).

Proof. Let $\varphi \in \operatorname{Gal}(k'/k)$ be a generator, and let $\varphi^* \colon U \otimes k' \to U \otimes k'$ be the automorphism over k induced by φ for some smooth scheme U over k. Giving an object in $\mathcal{I}_{d_0}(U \otimes k')$ is equivalent to giving $\mathcal{F} \in \mathcal{I}(U \otimes k')$ with isomorphism $\varphi^*(\mathcal{F}) \cong \mathcal{F}$. This observation implies that if $\mathcal{E}, \mathcal{E}' \in \mathcal{I}(F^2)$ (resp. $\mathcal{I}(F)$) are irreducible objects such that $\mathcal{E} \otimes k' \cong \mathcal{E}' \otimes k'$, then there exists a character χ of $\operatorname{Gal}(k'/k) \cong \mathbb{Z}/d_0\mathbb{Z}$ (which can be seen as a rank 1 object of $\mathcal{I}(\operatorname{Spec}(k))$) such that $\mathcal{E} \otimes \chi \cong \mathcal{E}'$, thus the lemma follows.

4.3.11. We need to show the following technical proposition. In the statement and the proof, the algebraic stack $\mathfrak{C}^{r,N}$ and its variants¹¹ are used. We remark that these stacks are used only in this proposition and its corollary in 4.3.12. In [La2, III 3a)], Lafforgue defined a morphism Res: $\overline{\operatorname{Cht}^{r,d,\overline{p}\leq p}} \times_{X\times X} S_N \to \mathfrak{C}^{r,N}$ between algebraic stacks locally of finite type over k. We remind the reader that all three stacks in the table of 4.2.4 are defined over the source of Res. The open substack $\mathfrak{C}_{\mathfrak{A}}^{r,N}$ of $\mathfrak{C}^{r,N}$

¹¹In [La2], Lafforgue uses script fonts (e.g., $C^{r,N}$).

is defined in [La2] as well, and the complement $\mathfrak{C}^{r,N} - \mathfrak{C}^{r,N}_{\emptyset}$ is called the *boundary*. See Step 3 of the proof of the following proposition for some review of these stacks.

Proposition ([La2, VI.17]). Let p be a convex polygon large enough with respect to X, N, and an integer $1 \le d \le r$. Let \mathfrak{C} be an algebraic stack representable and quasi-projective (cf. [LM, 14.3.4]) over $\mathfrak{C}^{r,N}$, and consider the following cartesian diagram:



We denote by $p_{\mathfrak{X}} \colon \mathfrak{X} \to S_N$ the projection.

(i) Let $\mathscr{M} \in \operatorname{Con}(\mathfrak{C})$. Then ${}^{c}\mathscr{H}^{\nu}p_{\mathfrak{X}!}(\operatorname{Res}^{+}\mathscr{M})$ is smooth on S_{N} for any ν .

(i) Assume, moreover, that \mathscr{M} is supported on the boundary of \mathfrak{C} , namely $g^{-1}(\mathfrak{C}^{r,N} - \mathfrak{C}^{r,N}_{\emptyset})$. Then ${}^{\mathfrak{C}}\mathscr{H}^{\nu}p_{\mathfrak{X}!}(\operatorname{Res}^+\mathscr{M})$ is r-negligible as an object in $\mathcal{I}(F^2)$ for any ν .

Proof. Before beginning the proof, let us remark that \mathfrak{X} is c-admissible since it is quasi-projective over the proper admissible stack $\overline{\operatorname{Cht}^{r,d,\overline{p}\leq p}}$, thus we are able to use full six functor formalism. However, \mathfrak{C} is locally of finite type but not even admissible. Currently, we only have partial formalism in such a situation, so we need to be slightly careful. Nevertheless, most of the cohomological functors are available on the level of the category $\operatorname{Con}(-)$. See the first part of §2.4 for the details. The proof is divided into several steps.

Step 1 (Proof of (i) and the first reduction of (ii)). The morphism $(p_{\mathfrak{X}}, \operatorname{Res}): \mathfrak{X} \to S_N \times \mathfrak{C}$ is known to be smooth by [La2, Prop III.7 (ii)], which implies that Res is smooth as well since S_N is smooth. Using Lemma 2.4.5, we have

$${}^{c}\mathscr{H}^{\nu}g'_{\mathsf{I}}\operatorname{Res}^{+}(\mathscr{M}) \cong \operatorname{Res}^{+}g^{\nu}_{\mathsf{I}}(\mathscr{M}).$$

Since $p_{\mathfrak{X}!} \cong \operatorname{pr}_{2!} \circ g'_{!}$, for $\mathscr{N} \in D^{\mathrm{b}}_{\mathrm{hol}}(\mathfrak{X})$, ${}^{\mathscr{H}\nu}p_{\mathfrak{X}!}(\mathscr{N})$ can be expressed as extensions of subquotients of $\bigoplus_{i+j=\nu} {}^{c}\mathscr{H}^{i}\operatorname{pr}_{2!} {}^{\mathscr{H}j}g'_{!}(\mathscr{N})$. As a consequence, it suffices to show (i) and (ii) for $\mathfrak{C} = \mathfrak{C}^{r,N}$. In this case, (i) is an easy consequence of Lemma 2.4.13: the algebraic stack $\overline{\operatorname{Cht}^{r,d,\overline{p}\leq p}} \times_{X\times X} S_N$ is admissible by [La2, Prop V.I], proper over S_N by [La2, Prop III.7 (i)], and we already recalled that $(p_{\mathfrak{X}}, \operatorname{Res})$ is smooth, so the lemma is applicable. We concentrate on proving (ii) from now on. In the following, we initialize the notation \mathfrak{C} and use it for other stacks.

Step 2 (Induction hypothesis). Let $c_0 := \sup\{\dim(I_x) \mid x \in |\operatorname{Res}(\mathfrak{X})|\}$, where I_x is the inertia algebraic group space of $\mathfrak{C}^{r,N}$ at x. By the quasi-compactness of \mathfrak{X} , we have $c_0 > -\infty$, and the dimension of any locally closed substack of $\mathfrak{C}^{r,N}$ in the image of Res can be bounded below by $-c_0$. We use induction on $k := c_0 + \dim(\operatorname{Supp}(\mathcal{M})) (\geq 0)$ (cf. 2.1.17 for the definition of support). Assume that the proposition holds for $k = k_0 \geq -1$. We will show the proposition for modules whose support is of dimension $k = k_0 + 1$. Now, we frequently use the

following reduction, which follows by using the localization exact sequence Lemma 2.2.9 and the induction hypothesis:

(*) Let $j: \mathfrak{U} \subset \mathfrak{S} := \operatorname{Supp}(\mathscr{M})$ be an open substack such that $\dim(\mathfrak{S} \setminus \mathfrak{U}) < \dim(\mathfrak{S}) = k_0 + 1$. Let $\mathscr{M}' \in \operatorname{Con}(\mathfrak{S})$ such that $j^+\mathscr{M} \cong j^+\mathscr{M}'$. Then proving the proposition for \mathscr{M} and \mathscr{M}' are equivalent.

Step 3 (Recall of geometry of moduli spaces). Now, we put aside cohomology theory for a while and summarize the complicated geometry of moduli spaces in [La2] very briefly. Let $\mathfrak{A}^{r,1} := \mathbb{A}^{r-1}$ be the toric variety, and let $\mathfrak{A}^{r,1}_{\emptyset}$ be the torus $\mathbb{G}_m^{r,1}$. Let $\underline{r} = (r_1, \ldots, r_k)$ be a partition $r_1 + \cdots + r_k = r$. We define $\mathfrak{A}^{r,1}_{\underline{r}}$ to be the locally closed subscheme of $\mathfrak{A}^{r,1}$ consisting of points whose coordinates indexed by $r_1 + \cdots + r_e$ for $1 \leq e < k$ are zero and invertible for other coordinates. These are orbits of $\mathfrak{A}^{r,1}_{\emptyset}$; see [La2, III 1a)] for more information on these schemes. Now, in [La2, III 2a), 3a)], the sequence of algebraic stacks locally of finite type $\mathfrak{C}^{r,N} \subset \widetilde{\mathfrak{C}}^{r,N} \subset \widetilde{\mathfrak{C}}^{r,N}_{\underline{r}} \subset \widetilde{\mathfrak{C}}^{r,N}_{\underline{r}} \subset \widetilde{\mathfrak{C}}^{r,N}_{\underline{r}} \subset \widetilde{\mathfrak{C}}^{r,N}_{\underline{r}} \subset \widetilde{\mathfrak{C}}^{r,N}_{\underline{r}}$, the pullbacks of $\mathfrak{A}^{r,1}_{\emptyset}/\mathfrak{A}^{r,1}_{\emptyset}$ to the three stacks are denoted by $\mathfrak{C}^{r,N}_{\underline{r}} \subset \widetilde{\mathfrak{C}^{r,N}_{\underline{r}} \subset \widetilde{\mathfrak{C}^{r,N}_{\underline{r}}}$, and similarly for $\mathfrak{A}^{r,1}_{\emptyset}/\mathfrak{A}^{r,1}_{\emptyset}$. These are stratifications of the boundary.

in [La2, III 2a), 3a)], the sequence of algebraic stacks locally of finite type $\mathfrak{C}^{r,N} \subset \widetilde{\mathfrak{C}}^{r,N} \subset \overline{\mathfrak{C}}^{r,N}$ and the morphism $\overline{\mathfrak{C}}^{r,N} \to \mathfrak{A}^{r,1}/\mathfrak{A}_{\emptyset}^{r,1}$ are defined. For a partition \underline{r} , the pullbacks of $\mathfrak{A}_{\underline{r}}^{r,1}/\mathfrak{A}_{\emptyset}^{r,1}$ to the three stacks are denoted by $\mathfrak{C}_{\underline{r}}^{r,N} \subset \widetilde{\mathfrak{C}}_{\underline{r}}^{r,N} \subset \overline{\mathfrak{C}}_{\underline{r}}^{r,N}$, and similarly for $\mathfrak{A}_{\emptyset}^{r,1}/\mathfrak{A}_{\emptyset}^{r,1}$. These are stratifications of the boundary. Let \mathbb{A}^{N} and $\mathbb{G}_{\underline{m}}^{N}$ be schemes induced from \mathbb{A}^{1} and $\mathbb{G}_{\underline{m}}$ by the Weil restriction from \mathcal{O}_{N} to k. We also use a variant ${}^{r}\overline{\mathfrak{C}}_{\emptyset}^{N}$, and both ${}^{r}\overline{\mathfrak{C}}_{\emptyset}^{N}$ and $\overline{\mathfrak{C}}_{\emptyset}^{r,N}$ have natural morphisms to $(\mathbb{A}^{N}/\mathbb{G}_{\underline{m}}^{N})^{2}$ (cf. [La2, II 1a)]). We have the finite surjective radicial morphism sw: ${}^{r}\overline{\mathfrak{C}}_{\emptyset}^{N} \to \overline{\mathfrak{C}}_{\emptyset}^{r,N}$ over the endomorphism id × Frob of $(\mathbb{A}^{N}/\mathbb{G}_{\underline{m}}^{N})^{2}$ sending $(\mathcal{F} \leftarrow \mathcal{F}' \to {}^{\tau}\mathcal{F})$ to $(\mathcal{F}' \to {}^{\tau}\mathcal{F} \leftarrow {}^{\tau}\mathcal{F}')$ using the notation of [La2]. We have the morphism $\overline{\mathfrak{C}}_{n,N}^{r,N}$ for the statement of the proposition is induced for the proposition for the proposition is induced for the proposition is induced for the proposition for the proposition for the proposition is induced for the proposition for the proposition is induced for the proposition for the prop

We have the morphism $\operatorname{Cht}^{r,d,\overline{p}\leq p} \to \overline{\mathfrak{C}}^{r,N}$, which factorizes through $\widetilde{\mathfrak{C}}^{r,N}$ (cf. [La2, III 3a)]). The morphism Res in the statement of the proposition is induced by this. The pullback of $\mathfrak{A}_{\underline{r}}^{r,1}$ is denoted by $\operatorname{Cht}_{\underline{r}}^{r,d,\overline{p}\leq p}$ following the notation of [La2, III 1c)].

Step 4 (Geometric construction of Lafforgue). Consider the following commutative diagram of solid arrows (which appears in [La2, right before III.6]):



where γ is defined in [La2, III 2b)], $\operatorname{Cht}^{r,d,\overline{p} \leq p}$ is defined in [La2, Prop III.3]. Lafforgue proved the following two claims in the proof of [La2, VI.17]:

(i) Assume that we are given a locally closed substack \mathfrak{D} of $\operatorname{Im}(\beta)$ in $\widetilde{\mathfrak{C}}_{r}^{r,N}$. Then there exists an open dense substack \mathfrak{D}' of \mathfrak{D} such that $\gamma_{\mathfrak{D}'}$ can be written as the composition of the morphisms of the following three types: 1. a gerb-like morphism whose structural group is flat fiberwise geometrically connected; 2. a finite flat radicial morphism; 3. a finite étale morphism. (ii) Consider the compositions

$$(\star) \qquad \mathfrak{C}_{\underline{r}}^{r,N} \xrightarrow{\gamma} \overline{\mathfrak{C}}^{\underline{r},N} \xrightarrow{\mathrm{pr}_1} \overline{\mathfrak{C}}_{\emptyset}^{r_1,N}, \qquad \mathfrak{C}_{\underline{r}}^{r,N} \xrightarrow{\gamma} \overline{\mathfrak{C}}^{\underline{r},N} \xrightarrow{\mathrm{pr}_k} {}^{r_k} \overline{\mathfrak{C}}_{\emptyset}^N \xrightarrow{\mathrm{sw}} \overline{\mathfrak{C}}_{\emptyset}^{r_k,N}.$$

The images of these morphisms consist of finitely many points.

A proof of (i) is written at the end of [La2, p.171], and that for (ii) is in the second paragraph of [La2, p.172]. Let us add a little explanation on the proof of (i). By dimension counting, Lafforgue proves that the preimage of a point of $\text{Im}(\gamma \circ \beta)$ by γ consists of finitely many points. To conclude, use Lemma A.2.4.

Step 5 (Cohomological reduction). Now, let us come back to the cohomologies. Let $j: \mathfrak{C} \hookrightarrow \mathfrak{S} := \operatorname{Supp}(\mathscr{M}) (\subset \mathfrak{C}^{r,N})$ be a dense open immersion. By (\clubsuit) of Step 2, we may replace \mathscr{M} by $j_i j^+(\mathscr{M})$ (cf. see 2.4.2 for the definition of functors j_i and j^+ in this situation). By shrinking \mathfrak{C} using (\clubsuit), we may assume \mathfrak{C} is of dimension $k_0 + 1$ in the stratum $\mathfrak{C}_r^{r,N}$ for some nontrivial partition \underline{r} such that $\mathscr{M}' := j^+ \mathscr{M}$ is smooth. Using (i) above and shrinking \mathfrak{C} always using (\clubsuit), we may assume $\gamma' := \gamma_{\mathfrak{C}}$ is the composition of morphisms of the three types. We may change \mathscr{M}' by a smooth object which contains \mathcal{M}' as a direct factor, so by using Lemma 2.4.8, Corollary 2.4.6, and Lemma 2.2.4 (ii), we may assume that there exists a smooth object \mathcal{N}' on a locally closed substack of $\overline{\mathfrak{C}}^{\underline{r},\check{N}}$ such that $\mathscr{M}' = \gamma'^+(\mathscr{N}')$. By (ii), shrinking \mathfrak{C} if needed, we may assume that the images of \mathfrak{C} by the two morphisms of (\star) consist of unique locally closed points $\widetilde{\mathfrak{B}}_{\star} \cong \left[\operatorname{Spec}(\mathbb{F}_{q_0})/\operatorname{Aut}(\widetilde{\mathfrak{B}}_{\star})\right] \in \overline{\mathfrak{C}}_{\emptyset}^{r_{\star},N}$, where $\star = 1$ or k, and \mathbb{F}_{q_0} is the field extension of \mathbb{F}_q of degree d_0 . We define the Galois coverings \mathfrak{B}'_{\star} of \mathfrak{B}_{\star} defined by the *discrete part* Aut $(\mathfrak{B}_{\star})/(\operatorname{Aut}(\mathfrak{B}_{\star}))^{\circ}$ of Aut (\mathfrak{B}_{\star}) . We denote by $\alpha \colon \mathfrak{C}' \to \mathfrak{C}$ the Galois covering induced by $\widetilde{\mathfrak{B}}'_1 \times \widetilde{\mathfrak{B}}'_k \to \widetilde{\mathfrak{B}}_1 \times \widetilde{\mathfrak{B}}_k$. We may replace \mathscr{M}' by $\alpha_+ \alpha^+ \mathscr{M}'$.

Now, consider the finite surjective radicial morphism

 $\operatorname{id} \times \operatorname{sw} \times \cdots \times \operatorname{sw} \colon \overline{\mathfrak{C}}^{r,N} \to \overline{\mathfrak{C}}_{\emptyset}^{r_1,N} \times_{\mathbb{A}^N/\mathbb{G}_m^N} \overline{\mathfrak{C}}_{\emptyset}^{r_2,N} \times_{\mathbb{A}^N/\mathbb{G}_m^N,\operatorname{Frob}} \cdots \times_{\mathbb{A}^N/\mathbb{G}_m^N,\operatorname{Frob}} \overline{\mathfrak{C}}_{\emptyset}^{r_k,N}.$

We may and do identify the holonomic modules on these stacks by Lemma 2.2.4. By considering Lemma 2.4.8, we may assume that $\mathscr{N}' \cong \mathscr{M}_1 \boxtimes_{\mathbb{A}^N/\mathbb{G}_m^N} \mathscr{M}'' \boxtimes_{\mathbb{A}^N/\mathbb{G}_m^N, \operatorname{Frob}} \mathscr{M}_k$ (cf. 2.4.4 for the notation) where

- \mathcal{M}_{\star} ($\star = 1, k$) is the pushforward of the trivial smooth object on \mathfrak{B}'_{\star} by the finite étale covering $\mathfrak{B}'_i \to \mathfrak{B}_i$.
- \mathscr{M}'' is a smooth object on a locally closed substack of $\overline{\mathfrak{C}}_{\emptyset}^{r_2,N} \times_{\mathbb{A}^N/\mathbb{G}_m^N,\mathrm{Frob}} \cdots \times_{\mathbb{A}^N/\mathbb{G}_m^N,\mathrm{Frob}} \overline{\mathfrak{C}}_{\emptyset}^{r_{k-1},N}$.

Step 6. We denote by pr_i the *i*-th projection, and put

$$X^{2} := X \times X, \qquad \operatorname{Cht}^{\star} := \operatorname{Cht}^{r_{\star}, d_{\star}, \overline{p} \leq p_{\star}},$$
$$(\operatorname{Cht})' := \operatorname{Cht}^{r_{2}, d_{2}, \overline{p} \leq p_{2}} \times_{X, \operatorname{Frob}} \cdots \times_{X, \operatorname{Frob}} \operatorname{Cht}^{r_{k-1}, d_{k-1}, \overline{p} \leq p_{k-1}},$$
$$(\overline{\mathfrak{C}}_{\emptyset}^{\underline{r}', N})' := \overline{\mathfrak{C}}_{\emptyset}^{r_{2}, N} \times_{\mathbb{A}^{N}/\mathbb{G}_{m}^{N}, \operatorname{Frob}} \cdots \times_{\mathbb{A}^{N}/\mathbb{G}_{m}^{N}, \operatorname{Frob}} \overline{\mathfrak{C}}_{\emptyset}^{r_{k-1}, N}.$$

Consider the following commutative diagram.

Moreover, g' is the composition of γ and $(\star\star)$, and the morphism g is the composition of a gerb-like morphism whose structural group is flat finite radicial and a representable universal homeomorphism defined in [La2, Cor III.4]. Thus, we get $g_!g^+ \cong$ id by Lemma 2.2.4 (i) and Corollary 2.4.6. Put $p' := r \circ q \circ g$, and we can compute

where we identify \mathcal{N}' and its zero extension, and similarly for other objects to simplify the notation. Moreover, r' is the composition

$$(X \times X) \times (X \times X) \xrightarrow{\operatorname{pr}_2 \times \operatorname{pr}_3} X \times X \xleftarrow[]{}{\sim} X \times_X (X \times X) \times_{X, \operatorname{Frob}} X$$
$$\xrightarrow[]{}{\xrightarrow{\operatorname{pr}_2 \times \operatorname{pr}_3}} (X \times X).$$

Step 7. Let $\star = 1$ or k. Let f_{\star} : Cht^{$r_{\star}, d_{\star}, \overline{p} \leq p_{\star} \times_{\overline{\mathfrak{C}}_{\emptyset}^{r_{\star},N}} \widetilde{\mathfrak{B}}'_{\star} \to X \times X$ be the canonical morphism. By definition [La2, II 1a)], the image of this morphism is contained in $X \times (X - N) \cup (X - N) \times X$. We say that $\widetilde{\mathfrak{B}}_1$ hits a zero (resp. $\widetilde{\mathfrak{B}}_k$ hits a pole) if the image of f_1 (resp. f_k) is contained in $(X - N) \times \{0\}$ for some $0 \in N$ (resp. $\{\infty\} \times (X - N)$ for some $\infty \in N$), and it does not hit a zero (resp. does not hit a pole) otherwise. This is reduced to the following two claims:}

- If $\widetilde{\mathfrak{B}}_1$ hits a zero (resp. does not hit a zero), then the relative cohomology $\mathscr{H}^{\nu}(\mathrm{pr}_1 \circ f_1)_! \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p$ (resp. $\mathscr{H}^{\nu} f_{1!} \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p$) over the generic point of X (resp. $X \times X$) is r-negligible in $\mathcal{I}_{d_0}(F_{d_0})$ (resp. $\mathcal{I}_{d_0}(F_{d_0}^2)$).
- If $\widetilde{\mathfrak{B}}_k$ hits a pole (resp. does not hit a pole), then the relative cohomology $\mathscr{H}^{\nu}(\mathrm{pr}_2 \circ f_k)_! \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p$ (resp. $\mathscr{H}^{\nu} f_{k!} \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p$) over the generic point of X (resp. $X \times X$) is r-negligible in $\mathcal{I}_{d_0}(F_{d_0})$ (resp. $\mathcal{I}_{d_0}(F_{d_0}^2)$).

Indeed, if these hold, any constituent of $q_{\star!} \operatorname{Res}^+(\mathscr{M}_{\star})$ is a direct factor of an object of the form $\mathscr{E}_{\star} \boxtimes \mathscr{F}_{\star}$ such that \mathscr{E}_{\star} and \mathscr{F}_{\star} are irreducible of rank < r or supported on a point. Since $p_{\mathfrak{X}!} \operatorname{Res}^+ \mathscr{M} \cong (\operatorname{pr}_1 \times \operatorname{pr}_4)_! p'_! \beta^+ \mathscr{M}$, using $(\star \star \star)$ and the Künneth formula again, we see that any constituent of $\mathscr{H}^{\nu}p_{\mathfrak{X}!}\mathrm{Res}^{+}\mathscr{M}$ is a direct factor of

$$(\mathscr{E}_1 \boxtimes \mathscr{F}_k) \otimes H^{\nu} \big(X \times X, r'^+ q''_! \operatorname{Res}^+(\mathscr{M}'') \otimes (\mathscr{F}_1 \boxtimes \mathscr{E}_k) \big).$$

Thus, by considering Lemma 4.3.10, the proposition follows.

Step 8 (Use of induction hypothesis). Let us show the claims in Step 7. We only consider the $\star = 1$ case. When $\widetilde{\mathfrak{B}}_1$ does not hit a zero, $\operatorname{Cht}^{r_1,d_1,\overline{p}\leq p_1} \times_{\overline{\mathfrak{C}}_{\emptyset}^{r_1,N}} \widetilde{\mathfrak{B}}'_1$ and $\operatorname{Cht}_N^{r_1,d_1,\overline{p}\leq p_1} \otimes_{\mathbb{F}_q} \mathbb{F}_{q_0}$ are isomorphic as written in [La2, p.173]. Since $r_1 < r$, by the induction hypothesis 4.3.8 (2), we get the desired *r*-negligibility. Let us treat the case where $\widetilde{\mathfrak{B}}_1$ hits a zero $\{0\} \in N$ defined over \mathbb{F}_{q_0} . We put $\mathfrak{X}_1^{d_1} := \overline{\operatorname{Cht}^{r_1,d_1,\overline{p}\leq p_1}} \times_{X\times X} ((X-N)\times\{0\})$. Let $(p_{\mathfrak{X}_1^{d_1}},\operatorname{Res}_1): \mathfrak{X}_1^{d_1} \to (X-N) \times (\overline{\mathfrak{C}}_1^{r_1,N} \times_{\mathbb{A}^N/\mathbb{G}_m} \{0\})$ be the canonical morphism which is smooth by [La2, III.5]. Since $\overline{\operatorname{Cht}^{r_1,d_1,\overline{p}\leq p_1}} \times_{\overline{\mathfrak{C}}_0^{r_1,N}} \cong \operatorname{Cht}^{r_1,d_1,\overline{p}\leq p_1}$ by [La2, III.2], we have the following cartesian diagram:

Step 9. This is now reduced to the following claim:

Claim ([La2, VI.18]). For any constructible object \mathscr{M}_1 on $\overline{\mathfrak{C}}^{r_1,N} \times_{\mathbb{A}^N/\mathbb{G}_m^N} \{0\}$, the relative cohomology $\mathscr{H}^{\nu} p_{\mathfrak{X}_1^{d_1}} \operatorname{Res}_1^+ \mathscr{M}_1$ is a smooth object and is *r*-negligible as an object in $\mathcal{I}_{d_0}(F_{d_0})$ for any ν .

Proof. Since $(p_{\mathfrak{X}_{t}^{d_{1}}}, \operatorname{Res}_{1})$ is smooth, the relative cohomology is smooth by Lemma 2.4.13. We show the r-negligibility by the induction on r_1 (called the rank) and the dimension of the support of \mathcal{M}_1 . Assume that the result is known for rank $< r_1$ and for the dimension of the support being < c. It suffices to show the claim for \mathscr{M}_1 which is the zero extension of a smooth object defined on a locally closed substack \mathfrak{C} in $\overline{\mathfrak{C}}^{r_1,N} \times_{\mathbb{A}^N/\mathbb{G}_m^N} \{0\}$ of dimension *c*. By the induction hypothesis, we may assume that \mathfrak{C} is in the stratification associated to a partition \underline{r}_1 of r_1 . When \underline{r}_1 is nontrivial, we can reduce this to the claim for smaller ranks by arguments similar to Steps 1–8. Thus, this case is true by the induction hypothesis, and we only need to treat the case where \underline{r}_1 is trivial. In this case, we may assume that \mathfrak{C} is a locally closed point $\widetilde{\mathfrak{B}}_1$ of $\overline{\mathfrak{C}}_{\emptyset}^{r_1,N} \times_{\mathbb{A}^N/\mathbb{G}_m^N} \{0\}$. Denote by $\widetilde{\mathfrak{B}}_1'$ the finite étale covering of $\widetilde{\mathfrak{B}}_1$ constructed as before, and let $\widetilde{\mathfrak{B}}'_1 \xrightarrow{\alpha} \widetilde{\mathfrak{B}}_1 \xrightarrow{j} \overline{\mathfrak{C}}^{r_1,N}_{\emptyset} \times_{\mathbb{A}^N/\mathbb{G}_m^N} \{0\}.$ Recalling the intermediate extension from 2.2.8, put $\mathscr{M}'_1 := j_{!+}\alpha_+(\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p)$, which is pure of weight 0 by the result of the same paragraph. It suffices to show the claim for \mathscr{M}'_1 by the induction hypothesis. Since Res₁ is smooth and $p_{\mathfrak{X}_1^{d_1}}$ is proper, ${}^{c}\mathscr{H}^{\nu}p_{\mathfrak{X}_{1}^{d_{1}}!}\operatorname{Res}_{1}^{+}(\mathscr{M}_{1}')$ is pure of weight ν by Theorem 2.3.38. Thus, it suffices to show that the alternating sum

(*)
$$\sum (-1)^{\nu} \left[{}^{c} \mathscr{H}^{\nu} p_{\mathfrak{X}_{1}^{d_{1}}!} \operatorname{Res}_{1}^{+} (\mathscr{M}_{1}') \right]^{\operatorname{sc}}$$

as an object in $\operatorname{Gr}_{d_0}(F_{d_0})$ is *r*-negligible. Let $\mathcal{F}'_1 := j_{!+}\alpha_+(\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_\ell)$, the ℓ -adic counterpart. Since \mathfrak{X}_1 is smooth over $(X - N) \otimes_{\mathbb{F}_q} \{0\}$ and admissible by [La2, II.4], we can use Theorem 3.2.1 to see that the Frobenius eigenvalues of each point of $(X - N) \otimes 0$ coincide with those of

$$\sum (-1)^{\nu} \left[\mathscr{H}^{\nu} p_{\mathfrak{X}_{1}^{d_{1}}!} \operatorname{Res}_{1}^{*}(\mathcal{F}_{1}') \right]^{\operatorname{ss}}.$$

This sum is known to be *r*-negligible exactly by the corresponding claim for the ℓ -adic situation, namely [La2, VI.18]. Thus, there exists a finite collection $\{\sigma'_{\iota}\}$ in $\mathcal{W}_{\ell}((X - N) \otimes \{0\})$ such that σ'_{ι} is a constituent of the pullback of an irreducible object $\sigma_{\iota} \in \mathcal{W}_{\ell}(X - N)$ of rank < r and integers a_{ι} such that the sum is equal to $\sum a_{\iota}\sigma'_{\iota}$. By the induction hypothesis 4.3.8 (1), there exists $\mathcal{E}'_{\iota} \in \mathcal{I}((X - N) \otimes \{0\})$ which corresponds to σ'_{ι} in the sense of Langlands. By Čebotarev density A.4.1, the sum (\star) is equal to $\sum a_{\iota}\mathcal{E}'_{\iota}$. Let $\mathcal{E}_{\iota} \in \mathcal{I}(X - N)$, which corresponds to σ_{ι} in the sense of Langlands. By čebotarev density A.4.1, the sum (\star) is equal to $\sum a_{\iota}\mathcal{E}'_{\iota}$. Let $\mathcal{E}_{\iota} \in \mathcal{I}(X - N)$, which corresponds to σ_{ι} in the sense of Langlands. The sense of Langlands, whose existence is assured by using the induction hypothesis once again. Since \mathcal{E}'_{ι} is a constituent of the pullback of \mathcal{E}_{ι} , we conclude that (\star) is *r*-negligible as required.

4.3.12. Recall the notation of 4.3.7. The proposition is used in the following form:

Corollary. For any ν , consider the canonical homomorphisms

$$\mathcal{H}^{\nu}_{c}(\operatorname{Cht}^{r,\overline{p}\leq p}_{N}/a^{\mathbb{Z}}) \to \mathcal{H}^{\nu}_{c}(\overline{\operatorname{Cht}^{r,\overline{p}\leq p}_{N}}'/a^{\mathbb{Z}}), \quad \mathcal{H}^{\nu}_{c}(\operatorname{Cht}^{r,\overline{p}\leq p}_{N}/a^{\mathbb{Z}}) \to \mathcal{IH}^{\nu}(\overline{\operatorname{Cht}^{r,\overline{p}\leq p}_{N}}/a^{\mathbb{Z}}).$$

These four objects are smooth on S_N , and the kernels and cokernels of these homomorphisms are r-negligible.

Proof. To show the claim for the first homomorphism, take $\mathfrak{C} := \mathfrak{C}'_N$ (cf. [La2, III 3b)]) in Proposition 4.3.11, then \mathfrak{X} is $\overline{\operatorname{Cht}_N^{r,d,\overline{p}\leq p}}'$ by [La2, Cor III.14]. Taking \mathscr{M} to be the trivial object of the boundary, we get the claim for the first homomorphism by the proposition and the localization sequence in 2.2.9. To check the second one, we take \mathfrak{C} to be \mathfrak{C}_N^r , then \mathfrak{X} is $\overline{\operatorname{Cht}_N^{r,d,\overline{p}\leq p}}$ by [La2, Def III.8]. Take \mathscr{M} to be the intersection complex of \mathfrak{C}_N^r restricted to the boundary, and we get the claim. \Box

4.3.13. Let us extract the essential part from the relative cohomology object $\mathcal{H}^*_{c}(\operatorname{Cht}^{r,\overline{p} \leq p}_{N}/a^{\mathbb{Z}})$. Note that this object is smooth on S_N by Corollary 4.3.12. We fix a prime number $\ell \neq p$ until the end of this subsection. Let $\mathcal{H}^*_{N,\mathrm{ess},\ell}$ be the object in $\mathcal{W}_{\ell}(S_N)$ denoted by $H^*_{N,\mathrm{ess}}$ in [La2, VI.19].

Lemma. There exists a unique element $\mathcal{H}^*_{N,\text{ess}}$ in $\mathbb{Q}\text{Gr}\mathcal{I}(S_N)$ such that for any closed point $x \in S_N$,

(4.3.13.1)
$$\operatorname{Tr}_{\mathcal{H}_{N,\mathrm{ess}}^{*}}(\operatorname{Frob}_{x}^{s}) = \operatorname{Tr}_{\mathcal{H}_{N,\mathrm{ess},\ell}^{*}}(\operatorname{Frob}_{x}^{s}).$$

Now, put $\mathcal{H}^*_{\mathrm{c}}(\mathrm{Cht}^{r,\overline{p}\leq p}_N/a^{\mathbb{Z}})^{\mathrm{ss}} := \sum (-1)^{\nu} \mathcal{H}^{\nu}_{\mathrm{c}}(\mathrm{Cht}^{r,\overline{p}\leq p}_N/a^{\mathbb{Z}})^{\mathrm{ss}}$ in $\mathrm{Gr}\mathcal{I}(S_N)$. Then, the formal difference

(*)
$$\mathcal{H}_{N,\mathrm{ess}}^{*} - \frac{1}{r^{2}!} \sum_{n=1}^{r^{2}!} (\mathrm{Frob}_{X}^{n} \times \mathrm{id}_{X})^{+} \mathcal{H}_{\mathrm{c}}^{*} (\mathrm{Cht}_{N}^{r,\overline{p} \leq p} / a^{\mathbb{Z}})^{\mathrm{ss}},$$

considered as an element of $\mathbb{Q}Gr\mathcal{I}(F^2)$, is complete r-negligible.

Proof. Since $\mathcal{H}_{N,\mathrm{ess},\ell}^*$ is pure by [La2, VI.20 (i)], $\mathcal{H}_{N,\mathrm{ess}}^*$ is pure as well if it exists. Thus, the uniqueness readily follows from the Čebotarev density in A.4.1. Let us show the existence. Since $\mathcal{H}_{N,\mathrm{ess},\ell}^*$ is stable under the pullback by $\mathrm{Frob}_X \times \mathrm{id}_X$ (cf. [La2, right after VI.22]) and using [La2, VI.19],

$$(r!)^{-1} \sum_{n=1}^{r!} \left(\operatorname{Frob}_X^n \times \operatorname{id}_X \right)^* \mathcal{H}^*_{\operatorname{c}} \left(\operatorname{Cht}_N^{r,\overline{p} \leq p} / a^{\mathbb{Z}}, \mathbb{Q}_\ell \right)^{\operatorname{ss}}$$

is stable under the pullback as well. This implies that $(r!)^{-1} \sum_{n=1}^{r!} (\cdots) = (r^2!)^{-1} \sum_{n=1}^{r^2!} (\cdots)$. Thus, there exist complete *r*-negligible ℓ -adic sheaves σ_{ι} and rational constants c_{ι} such that

$$\mathcal{H}_{N,\mathrm{ess},\ell}^* - \frac{1}{r^{2}!} \sum_{n=1}^{r^{2}!} \left(\mathrm{Frob}_X^n \times \mathrm{id}_X \right)^* \mathcal{H}_{\mathrm{c}}^* \left(\mathrm{Cht}_N^{r,\overline{p} \leq p} / a^{\mathbb{Z}}, \mathbb{Q}_\ell \right)^{\mathrm{ss}} = -\sum_{\iota} c_{\iota} \cdot \sigma_{\iota}$$

by [La2, VI.19 (i)]. Since σ_{ι} is complete *r*-negligible for any ι , there exist ℓ -adic sheaves σ' and σ'' on X - N of rank < r such that $\sigma_{\iota} \cong q'^* \sigma' \otimes q''^* \sigma''$ by definition. By the induction hypothesis in 4.3.8 (1), there exist \mathcal{E}' and \mathcal{E}'' in $\mathcal{I}(X - N)$ which correspond to σ' and σ'' in the sense of Langlands. The object $\mathcal{E}_{\iota} := q'^+ \mathcal{E}' \otimes q''^+ \mathcal{E}''$ in $\mathcal{I}(S_N)$ corresponds to σ_{ι} in the sense of Langlands. Note that this \mathcal{E}_{ι} is complete *r*-negligible by construction. Put

$$\mathcal{H}_{N,\mathrm{ess}}^* := \frac{1}{r^{2}!} \sum_{n=1}^{r^{2}!} \left(\mathrm{Frob}_X^n \times \mathrm{id}_X \right)^+ \mathcal{H}_{\mathrm{c}}^* \left(\mathrm{Cht}_N^{r,\overline{p} \le p} / a^{\mathbb{Z}} \right)^{\mathrm{ss}} - \sum_{\iota} c_{\iota} \cdot \mathcal{E}_{\iota}$$

Now, the difference (\star) is $\sum_{\iota} c_{\iota} \cdot \mathcal{E}_{\iota}$, thus it is complete *r*-negligible. Since the c-admissible stack $\operatorname{Cht}_{N}^{r,\overline{p} \leq p}/a^{\mathbb{Z}}$ is smooth over S_{N} (cf. 4.2.4), we may use the base change 2.3.22 and Theorem 3.2.1 to show that it satisfies (4.3.13.1), and the element meets our need.

4.3.14. **Proposition** ([La2, VI.20]). (i) None of the irreducible components of $\mathcal{H}^*_{N,\text{ess}}$ are r-negligible. All the components have positive multiplicity, and pure of weight 2r - 2.

(ii) The object $\mathcal{H}_{c}^{\nu} \left(\operatorname{Cht}_{N}^{r,\overline{p} \leq p} / a^{\mathbb{Z}} \right)^{ss}$ is r-negligible for $\nu \neq 2r-2$. Moreover, the following difference is r-negligible:

$$\mathcal{H}_{N,\mathrm{ess}}^* - \frac{1}{r^{2!}} \sum_{n=1}^{r^{2!}} \left(\mathrm{Frob}_X^n \times \mathrm{id}_X \right)^+ \mathcal{H}_{\mathrm{c}}^{2r-2} \left(\mathrm{Cht}_N^{r,\overline{p} \leq p} / a^{\mathbb{Z}} \right)^{\mathrm{ss}}.$$

Proof. We have two proofs, both of which use Proposition 4.3.11 substantially. The first one is just to copy the proof of [La2]. The details are left to the reader. The second one is to make use of the Lafforgue's ℓ -adic result. First, we prove (i). For an object A in $\mathbb{Q}\mathrm{Gr}\mathcal{W}_{\ell}(S_N)$ or $\mathbb{Q}\mathrm{Gr}\mathcal{I}(S_N)$, let $\{A\}$ be the set of constituents of A, and let $\{A\}_{\mathrm{neg}}$ be the subset consisting of r-negligible objects. Writing $A = \sum_{B \in \{A\}} c_B B$ with $c_B \in \mathbb{Q}$, we put $A_{\mathrm{neg}} := \sum_{B \in \{A\}_{\mathrm{neg}}} c_B B$. For objects A and B in $\mathbb{Q}\mathrm{Gr}\mathcal{W}_{\ell}(S_N)$ or $\mathbb{Q}\mathrm{Gr}\mathcal{I}(S_N)$, we write $A \stackrel{\mathrm{Tr}}{=} B$ if $\mathrm{Tr}_A(\mathrm{Frob}_x^s) = \mathrm{Tr}_B(\mathrm{Frob}_x^s)$ for any

integer $s, x \in |S_N|$. Denoting $\overline{\operatorname{Cht}} := \overline{\operatorname{Cht}_N^{r,\overline{p} \leq p}}/a^{\mathbb{Z}}$, we put

$$\mathcal{IH}^{\nu} := \frac{1}{r^{2!}} \sum_{n=1}^{r^{2!}} (\operatorname{Frob}_{X}^{n} \times \operatorname{id}_{X})^{+} \mathcal{IH}^{\nu}(\overline{\operatorname{Cht}})^{\operatorname{ss}},$$
$$\mathcal{IH}_{\ell}^{\nu} := \frac{1}{r^{2!}} \sum_{n=1}^{r^{2!}} (\operatorname{Frob}_{X}^{n} \times \operatorname{id}_{X})^{*} \mathcal{IH}^{\nu}(\overline{\operatorname{Cht}}, \mathbb{Q}_{\ell})^{\operatorname{ss}}$$

and $\mathcal{IH}^*_{(\ell)} := \sum_{\nu=1}^{2(2r-2)} (-1)^{\nu} \mathcal{IH}^{\nu}_{(\ell)}$. Summarizing [La2, VI.15, 20], we already know the following:

The difference $\mathcal{IH}_{\ell}^{2r-2} - \mathcal{H}_{N,\mathrm{ess},\ell}^*$ as well as $\mathcal{IH}_{\ell}^{\nu}$ for $\nu \neq 2r-2$ are *r*-negligible, and any irreducible component of $\mathcal{H}_{N,\mathrm{ess},\ell}^*$ is not *r*-negligible.

This implies that

$$\mathcal{IH}_{\ell}^{2r-2} - \mathcal{H}_{N,\mathrm{ess},\ell}^* = (\mathcal{IH}_{\ell}^{2r-2})_{\mathrm{neg}}$$

in $\mathbb{Q}\mathrm{Gr}\mathcal{W}_{\ell}(S_N)$. Now, let us show the following three equalities for any ν :

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{I}\mathcal{H}_{\ell}^{\nu} \stackrel{\mathrm{Tr}}{=} \mathcal{I}\mathcal{H}^{\nu}, \qquad (\mathcal{I}\mathcal{H}_{\ell}^{2r-2})_{\mathrm{neg}} \stackrel{\mathrm{Tr}}{=} (\mathcal{I}\mathcal{H}^{2r-2})_{\mathrm{neg}} \\ \mathcal{I}\mathcal{H}_{\ell}^{2r-2} - \mathcal{H}_{N,\mathrm{ess},\ell}^{*} \stackrel{\mathrm{Tr}}{=} \mathcal{I}\mathcal{H}^{2r-2} - \mathcal{H}_{N,\mathrm{ess}}^{*}. \end{aligned}$$

Indeed, by ℓ -independence Theorem A.5.4, we know that $\mathcal{IH}_{\ell}^* \stackrel{\mathrm{Tr}}{=} \mathcal{IH}^*$. By purity (cf. Theorem 2.3.38 (ii)), \mathcal{H}^{ν}_{ℓ} and \mathcal{H}^{ν} are pure of weight ν , thus we get the first equality. The third one follows by (4.3.13.1) and the first equality, and it remains to show the second one. Let $\sigma \in \mathbb{Q}\mathrm{Gr}\mathcal{W}_{\ell}(S_N)$ and $\mathcal{E} \in \mathbb{Q}\mathrm{Gr}\mathcal{I}(S_N)$ such that both are invariant under pullback by $\operatorname{Frob}_X \times \operatorname{id}_X$, $\sigma \stackrel{\mathrm{Tr}}{=} \mathcal{E}$, and both are positive and pure. The second equality follows if we can show $\sigma_{\text{neg}} \stackrel{\text{Tr}}{=} \mathcal{E}_{\text{neg}}$. Let us check this. Multiplying σ and \mathcal{E} by some integer, we may assume that they are semisimple objects in $\mathcal{W}_{\ell}(S_N)$ and $\mathcal{I}(S_N)$. Let σ' be an irreducible r-negligible constituent of σ . Since σ is invariant under the pullback by $\operatorname{Frob}_X \times \operatorname{id}, \sigma$ contains a complete r-negligible sheaf $\tilde{\sigma}'$ which is the external tensor product of irreducible sheaves on X-N and contains σ' as a constituent. By the induction hypothesis 4.3.8 (1), there exists an r-negligible object $\widetilde{\mathcal{E}}'$ in $\mathcal{I}(S_N)$ such that $\widetilde{\sigma}' \stackrel{\mathrm{Tr}}{=} \widetilde{\mathcal{E}}'$. By Corollary 4.3.3, at least one constituent of $\widetilde{\mathcal{E}}'$ is contained in \mathcal{E} , and since \mathcal{E} is stable under pullback by $\operatorname{Frob}_X \times \operatorname{id}, \mathcal{E}''$ is contained in \mathcal{E} . Similarly, if we are given $\widetilde{\mathcal{E}}'$ which is complete r-negligible and can be written as the external tensor product of irreducible objects on X - N, there exists $\tilde{\sigma}'$ in σ such that $\tilde{\mathcal{E}}' \stackrel{\text{Tr}}{=} \tilde{\sigma}'$. Thus the claim follows.

Combining all of these three equalities, we get

$$\mathcal{IH}^{2r-2} - \mathcal{H}_{N,\mathrm{ess}}^* \stackrel{\mathrm{Tr}}{=} (\mathcal{IH}^{2r-2})_{\mathrm{neg}},$$

thus $\mathcal{IH}^{2r-2} - \mathcal{H}^*_{N,\text{ess}} = (\mathcal{IH}^{2r-2})_{\text{neg}}$ in $\mathbb{Q}\text{Gr}\mathcal{I}(S_N)$ by Čebotarev density A.4.1.

Now, let us prove (ii). Since $\mathcal{IH}_{\ell}^{\nu}$ is *r*-negligible and $\mathcal{IH}_{\ell}^{\nu} \stackrel{\text{Tr}}{=} \mathcal{IH}^{\nu}$ as we have already seen, \mathcal{IH}^{ν} is *r*-negligible as well. Since we know that the difference of \mathcal{IH}^{ν} and $\mathcal{H}_{c}^{\nu} (\operatorname{Cht}_{N}^{r,\overline{p} \leq p}/a^{\mathbb{Z}})^{\mathrm{ss}}$ is *r*-negligible for any ν by Corollary 4.3.12, (ii) follows from (i).

4.3.15. Corollary ([La2, VI.21]). Let $p \leq q$ be large enough convex polygons. The kernel and cokernel of the induced homomorphisms

$$\begin{aligned} &\alpha \colon \mathcal{H}^{2r-2}_{\mathrm{c}}(\mathrm{Cht}^{r,\overline{p}\leq p}_{N}/a^{\mathbb{Z}}) \to \mathcal{H}^{2r-2}_{\mathrm{c}}(\overline{\mathrm{Cht}^{r,\overline{p}\leq p}_{N}}/a^{\mathbb{Z}}), \\ &\beta \colon \mathcal{H}^{2r-2}_{\mathrm{c}}(\mathrm{Cht}^{r,\overline{p}\leq p}_{N}/a^{\mathbb{Z}}) \to \mathcal{H}^{2r-2}_{\mathrm{c}}(\mathrm{Cht}^{r,\overline{p}\leq q}_{N}/a^{\mathbb{Z}}), \end{aligned}$$

by the inclusions $\operatorname{Cht}_N^{r,\overline{p} \leq p}/a^{\mathbb{Z}} \hookrightarrow \overline{\operatorname{Cht}_N^{r,\overline{p} \leq p}}'/a^{\mathbb{Z}}$ and $\operatorname{Cht}_N^{r,\overline{p} \leq p}/a^{\mathbb{Z}} \hookrightarrow \operatorname{Cht}_N^{r,\overline{p} \leq q}/a^{\mathbb{Z}}$ are *r*-negligible.

Proof. Similarly to [La2], we may prove as follows: The claim for α is just a reproduction of Corollary 4.3.12. Let Γ be the correspondence from $\overline{\operatorname{Cht}_N^{r,\overline{p}\leq p'}}/a^{\mathbb{Z}}$ to $\overline{\operatorname{Cht}_N^{r,\overline{p}\leq q'}}/a^{\mathbb{Z}}$ defined in [La2, V.14 (i)]. This yields the following commutative diagram by Lemma 3.1.11:

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{H}^{2r-2}_{\mathrm{c}}(\mathrm{Cht}^{r,\overline{p}\leq q}_{N}/a^{\mathbb{Z}}) &\longrightarrow \mathcal{H}^{2r-2}_{\mathrm{c}}(\overline{\mathrm{Cht}}^{r,\overline{p}\leq q'}_{N}/a^{\mathbb{Z}}) \\ & \uparrow \\ & \downarrow \\ \mathcal{H}^{2r-2}_{\mathrm{c}}(\mathrm{Cht}^{r,\overline{p}\leq p}_{N}/a^{\mathbb{Z}}) \xrightarrow{\alpha} \mathcal{H}^{2r-2}_{\mathrm{c}}(\overline{\mathrm{Cht}}^{r,\overline{p}\leq p'}_{N}/a^{\mathbb{Z}}), \end{aligned}$$

where Γ^* is the action of Γ as in Definition 3.1.11, and the other three arrows are defined by the inclusions. Thus, we have $\operatorname{Ker}(\beta) \subset \operatorname{Ker}(\alpha)$, and $\operatorname{Ker}(\beta)$ is *r*negligible since we already know that $\operatorname{Ker}(\alpha)$ is. This implies that, to show the *r*-negligibility of $\operatorname{Coker}(\beta)$, it suffices to show that the essential parts, namely the set of constituents which are not *r*-negligible, of the source and the target of β are the same. This follows by the previous proposition, which concludes the proof. \Box

4.3.16. We digress a little and recall some general nonsense. Let F be an algebraically closed field, and let \mathcal{A} be an abelian category over F such that any object in \mathcal{A} has finite length. We assume, moreover, that for any X, X' in \mathcal{A} , $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{A}}(X, X')$ is a finite-dimensional F-vector space. We note that for an irreducible object X, $\operatorname{End}(X) \cong F$. For $X \in \mathcal{A}$, we have the functor

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{A}}(X,-)\colon \mathcal{A} \to \operatorname{Vec}_{F}^{\operatorname{nn}},$$

where $\operatorname{Vec}_{F}^{\operatorname{fin}}$ is the category of finite-dimensional *F*-vector spaces. We can check that it has a left adjoint, denoted by $(-) \boxtimes X$. For an integer n > 0, we have $F^{\oplus n} \boxtimes X \cong X^{\oplus n}$.

Let G be a group, and we denote by G- \mathcal{A} the category of objects of \mathcal{A} equipped with G-action, namely couples (X, ρ) where $X \in \mathcal{A}$ and a group homomorphism $\rho: G \to \operatorname{Aut}(X)$. Let $\rho: G \to \operatorname{GL}(V)$ be a finite-dimensional F-representation of G. Then $V \boxtimes X$ is equipped with action of G determined by ρ , and thus defines an object of G- \mathcal{A} . We sometimes denote this by $\rho \boxtimes X$. The following lemma is well known (cf. [EG, 4.15.8]):

Lemma. (i) For any irreducible F-representation ρ of G and irreducible object X of \mathcal{A} , $\rho \boxtimes X$ is an irreducible object of G- \mathcal{A} .

(ii) Conversely, any irreducible object of G- \mathcal{A} can be written in such a form.

In practice, we take $\mathcal{A} = \mathcal{I}(S_N)$. Of course, in this case $F = \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p$. As we have already recalled, any object of $\mathcal{I}(S_N)$ has finite length, and Hom_{\mathcal{A}} is finite

dimensional by the existence of six functor formalism. Thus, the results of this paragraph are applicable to this category.

4.3.17. Next thing we need to do is define a Hecke action on $\mathcal{H}_{N,\text{ess}}^*$. We put $(\operatorname{Cht}_N^r/a^{\mathbb{Z}})_\eta = \varinjlim \operatorname{Cht}_N^{r,\overline{p} \leq p}/a^{\mathbb{Z}} \times_{S_N} U$, where the inductive limit runs over p and open dense subschemes $U \subset X \times X$. Lafforgue constructed a homomorphism of algebras (cf. 3.1.11)

$$\varrho \colon \mathcal{H}_N^r / a^{\mathbb{Z}} \to \operatorname{Corr}_{\eta}^{\operatorname{fin,et}} \left((\operatorname{Cht}_N^r / a^{\mathbb{Z}})_{\eta} \right)$$

sending f to Γ_f , which is a finite étale correspondence on a certain open dense subscheme of $X \times X$ (cf. [La2, I 1c), V 2a)] or [La1, I.4, Theorem 5]). To be compatible with [La2], we consider $\varrho' := \operatorname{norm} \circ \varrho$ for the action on the relative cohomology (cf. 3.1.12). Moreover, we have partial Frobenius endomorphisms $\operatorname{Frob}_{\infty}$ and Frob_0 on $\operatorname{Cht}_N^r/a^{\mathbb{Z}}$ over $\operatorname{Frob}_X \times \operatorname{id}_X$ and $\operatorname{id}_X \times \operatorname{Frob}_X$, respectively, such that $\operatorname{Frob}_0 \circ \operatorname{Frob}_{\infty} = \operatorname{Frob}_{\infty} \circ \operatorname{Frob}_0 = \operatorname{Frob}$ (cf. [La2, I 1b)]). The action of correspondence on $\mathcal{H}_{N,\mathrm{ess}}^*$ commutes with $\operatorname{Frob}_{\infty}$ and Frob_0 (cf. [La2, I 1c)]). For any convex polygon $p, f \in \mathcal{H}_N^r/a^{\mathbb{Z}}$, $s, u \in \mathbb{N}$, there exists a convex polygon $q \ge p$ such that the correspondence $f \times \operatorname{Frob}_{\infty}^s \times \operatorname{Frob}_0^u$ sends $\operatorname{Cht}_N^{r,\overline{p} \le p}/a^{\mathbb{Z}}$ to $\operatorname{Cht}_N^{r,\overline{p} \le q}/a^{\mathbb{Z}}$ over some open subscheme $U \subset S_N$. Thus, via ϱ' , we have a homomorphism

$$(f \times \operatorname{Frob}_{\infty}^{s} \times \operatorname{Frob}_{0}^{u})^{*} \colon (\operatorname{Frob}_{\infty}^{s} \times \operatorname{Frob}_{0}^{u})^{+} \mathcal{H}_{c}^{2r-2} (\operatorname{Cht}_{N}^{r,\overline{p} \leq q} / a^{\mathbb{Z}} \times_{S_{N}} U) \to \mathcal{H}_{c}^{2r-2} (\operatorname{Cht}_{N}^{r,\overline{p} \leq p} / a^{\mathbb{Z}} \times_{S_{N}} U)$$

compatible with compositions by Lemma 3.1.11. Note that since $\operatorname{Frob}^* = (\operatorname{Frob}_{\infty} \times \operatorname{Frob}_0)^*$ is an isomorphism, $(\operatorname{Frob}_{\infty} \times \operatorname{id})^*$ and $(\operatorname{id} \times \operatorname{Frob}_0)^*$ are isomorphisms.

Let us define a filtration as in [La2, VI 3a)]. Let $\mathcal{E} \in \mathcal{I}(S_N)$. Then we may define a canonical filtration F^{\bullet} as follows: Put $F^0\mathcal{E} = 0$. Assume $F^{2i}\mathcal{E}$ has already been constructed. We define $F^{2i+1}\mathcal{E}$ to be the largest submodule such that $F^{2i+1}\mathcal{E}/F^{2i}\mathcal{E}$ is *r-negligible*. Then, we put $F^{2i+2}\mathcal{E}$ to be the largest submodule such that $F^{2i+2}\mathcal{E}/F^{2i+1}\mathcal{E}$ is *essential*. This filtration is functorial, namely, given a morphism $\mathcal{E} \to \mathcal{E}'$ in $\mathcal{I}(F^2)$, it induces a morphism $F^i\mathcal{E} \to F^i\mathcal{E}'$. We put the essential part of \mathcal{E} ,

$$\mathcal{E}_{\text{even}} := \bigoplus_{i \ge 0} F^{2i+2} / F^{2i+1}(\mathcal{E}).$$

For a convex polygon p, we put $\mathcal{H}^{\leq p} := \mathcal{H}^{2r-2}_{c}(\operatorname{Cht}^{r,\overline{p}\leq p}_{N}/a^{\mathbb{Z}})$, which is an object in $\mathcal{I}(S_{N})$. For a large enough convex polygon p and $p' \geq p$, Corollary 4.3.15 tells us that the homomorphism induced by the canonical homomorphism $\mathcal{H}^{\leq p} \to \mathcal{H}^{\leq p'}$

$$\mathcal{H}^{\leq p}_{\mathrm{even}} o \mathcal{H}^{\leq p'}_{\mathrm{even}}$$

is an isomorphism in $\mathcal{I}(S_N)$. Because of the functoriality of the filtration, the action of the correspondence $(f \times \operatorname{Frob}_{\infty}^s \times \operatorname{Frob}_0^u)^*$ induces an action of $\mathcal{H}_N^r/a^{\mathbb{Z}}$ as well as the invariance by the pullback $(\operatorname{Frob}_X \times \operatorname{id}_X)^+$ on $\mathcal{H}_{\operatorname{even}}^{\leq p}$ as an object of $\mathcal{I}(F^2)$. Summing up, $\mathcal{H}_{\operatorname{even}}^{\leq p}$, for large enough p, can be seen as an object of $\mathcal{H}_N^r/a^{\mathbb{Z}}$ - $\mathbb{ZI}(F^2)$ (not only of $\mathcal{I}(F^2)$!).

Now, the invariance by $(\operatorname{Frob}_X \times \operatorname{id}_X)^+$ shows that

$$\frac{1}{r^{2}!}\sum_{n=1}^{r^{2}!}(\operatorname{Frob}_{X}^{n}\times \operatorname{id}_{X})^{+}(\mathcal{H}_{\operatorname{even}}^{\leq p})=\mathcal{H}_{\operatorname{even}}^{\leq p}$$

in $\operatorname{Gr}\mathcal{I}(F^2)$. Thus by Proposition 4.3.14 (ii), it turns out that $\mathcal{H}_{\operatorname{even}}^{\leq p}$ considered in $\mathbb{Q}\operatorname{Gr}\mathcal{I}(F^2)$ coincides with $\mathcal{H}_{N,\mathrm{ess}}^*$. This implies that the coefficients of $\mathcal{H}_{N,\mathrm{ess}}^*$, which are a priori rational numbers by construction, are positive integers. Now, recall that for a smooth scheme Y over k and an open dense subscheme $U \subset Y$, the restriction functor $\mathcal{I}(Y) \to \mathcal{I}(U)$ is fully faithful (cf. [Ke4, Thm 5.2.1]). This implies that, since $\mathcal{H}_{\operatorname{even}}^{\leq p} \in \mathcal{I}(S_N)$, the action of $\mathcal{H}_N^r/a^{\mathbb{Z}}$ and the invariance by $(\operatorname{Frob}_X \times \operatorname{id}_X)^+$ of $\mathcal{H}_{\operatorname{even}}^{\leq p}$ as an object of $\mathcal{I}(F^2)$ can be extended uniquely to an action of $\mathcal{H}_N^r/a^{\mathbb{Z}}$ and an invariance by $(\operatorname{Frob}_X \times \operatorname{id}_X)^+$ as an object of $\mathcal{I}(S_N)$. Thus, $\mathcal{H}_{\operatorname{even}}^{\leq p}$ can be seen as an element of $\mathcal{H}_N^r/a^{\mathbb{Z}} \sim \mathbb{Z}\mathcal{I}(S_N)$. We denote by $\mathcal{H}_{N,\mathrm{ess}}$ the semisimplification of $\mathcal{H}_{\operatorname{even}}^{\leq p}$ (for p large enough, needless to say) as an object of $\mathcal{H}_N^r/a^{\mathbb{Z}} \sim \mathbb{Z}\mathcal{I}(S_N)$, which is equal to $\mathcal{H}_{N,\mathrm{ess}}^*$ considered as elements of $\operatorname{Gr}\mathcal{I}(S_N)$.

4.3.18. We need to calculate the trace of the Hecke action on $\mathcal{H}_{N,\text{ess}}$. Let $f \in \mathcal{H}_N^r/a^{\mathbb{Z}}$. Recall that Γ_f is a correspondence

$$\operatorname{Cht}_{N}^{r,\overline{p}\leq p}/a^{\mathbb{Z}}\times_{S_{N}}U \rightsquigarrow \operatorname{Cht}_{N}^{r,\overline{p}\leq q}/a^{\mathbb{Z}}\times_{S_{N}}U$$

for some open dense subscheme $U \subset S_N$ and $q \ge p$. We denote by Γ'_f the pullback of Γ_f by the open immersion

$$\left(\operatorname{Cht}_{N}^{r,\overline{p} \leq p} / a^{\mathbb{Z}} \times \operatorname{Cht}_{N}^{r,\overline{p} \leq p} / a^{\mathbb{Z}} \right) \times_{(S_{N} \times S_{N})} (U \times U) \hookrightarrow \left(\operatorname{Cht}_{N}^{r,\overline{p} \leq p} / a^{\mathbb{Z}} \times \operatorname{Cht}_{N}^{r,\overline{p} \leq q} / a^{\mathbb{Z}} \right) \times_{(S_{N} \times S_{N})} (U \times U).$$

Now, we take the normalization of the morphism

$$\Gamma'_f \to \operatorname{Cht}_N^{r,\overline{p} \le p} / a^{\mathbb{Z}} \times \operatorname{Cht}_N^{r,\overline{p} \le p} / a^{\mathbb{Z}} \to \overline{\operatorname{Cht}_N^{r,\overline{p} \le p}} / a^{\mathbb{Z}} \times \overline{\operatorname{Cht}_N^{r,\overline{p} \le p}} / a^{\mathbb{Z}}.$$

This normalization certainly defines a correspondence on $\operatorname{Cht}_{N}^{r,\overline{p} \leq p}/a^{\mathbb{Z}}$. A marvelous thing is that, in fact, the correspondence stabilizes $\overline{\operatorname{Cht}_{N}^{r,\overline{p} \leq p'}}/a^{\mathbb{Z}}$ as Lafforgue shows in [La2, V.14], and it defines a correspondence on it. Using the filtration of 4.3.17, the action Γ_{f}^{*} of the correspondence Γ_{f} on $\mathcal{H}_{c}^{*}(\overline{\operatorname{Cht}_{N}^{r,\overline{p} \leq p'}}/a^{\mathbb{Z}})$ induces an action on $(\mathcal{H}_{c}^{*}(\overline{\operatorname{Cht}_{N}^{r,\overline{p} \leq p'}}/a^{\mathbb{Z}}))_{even}$.

Let us introduce a notation. Let Y be a smooth scheme over $k, \mathcal{E} \in \mathcal{I}(Y)$, and let α be an endomorphism of \mathcal{E} . For a closed point x of Y, take a geometric point \overline{x} above x. Recalling the notation of 4.2.1, α induces an endomorphism of $\iota_{\overline{x}}(\mathcal{E})$ which commutes with Frob_x . We denote $\operatorname{Tr}(\alpha \circ \operatorname{Frob}_x^n : \iota_{\overline{x}}(\mathcal{E}))$ by $\operatorname{Tr}(\alpha \times \operatorname{Frob}_x^n : \mathcal{E})$ or $\operatorname{Tr}_{\mathcal{E}}(\alpha \times \operatorname{Frob}_x^n)$, which does not depend on the choice of \overline{x} . Using this notation, we put

$$\operatorname{Tr}_{\mathcal{H}_{N_{\operatorname{ress}}}^{\leq p}}^{\leq p}(f \times \operatorname{Frob}_{x}^{n}) := \operatorname{Tr}\left(\Gamma_{f}^{*} \times \operatorname{Frob}_{x}^{n} : \left(\mathcal{H}_{\operatorname{c}}^{2r-2}(\overline{\operatorname{Cht}_{N}^{r,\overline{p} \leq p}}'/a^{\mathbb{Z}})\right)_{\operatorname{even}}\right).$$

We need to compare the trace of the action of correspondences on $\mathcal{H}_{N,\text{ess}}$ defined using Cht in the previous paragraph and $\text{Tr}_{\mathcal{H}_{N}^{s}}^{\leq p}$.

4.3.19. Lemma ([La2, VI.23, 24]). (i) Let \mathcal{E} be a mixed object in $\mathcal{I}(S_N)$, and let f be an endomorphism on \mathcal{E} . Assume that \mathcal{E} has a filtration $F^{\bullet}\mathcal{E}$ compatible with f. Take $I \subset \mathbb{Z}$, and put $\mathcal{F} := \bigoplus_{i \in I} \operatorname{gr}^i(\mathcal{E})$. Let $\{\mathcal{F}\}$ denote the set of irreducible objects in $\mathcal{I}(S_N)$ appearing in \mathcal{F} . Then there exists a unique set of complex numbers $\{c_{\mathcal{E}'}\}$ such that, for any $x \in |S_N|$ and $n \in \mathbb{Z}$, we have

$$(\star) \qquad \operatorname{Tr}_{\mathcal{F}}(f \times \operatorname{Frob}_{x}^{n}) = \sum_{\mathcal{E}' \in \{\mathcal{F}\}} c_{\mathcal{E}'} \cdot \operatorname{Tr}_{\mathcal{E}'}(\operatorname{Frob}_{x}^{n}).$$

(ii) Let
$$f \in \mathcal{H}_N^r/a^{\mathbb{Z}}$$
, and take a large enough convex polygon p. We have

$$\operatorname{Tr}_{\mathcal{H}_{N,\mathrm{ess}}}(f \times \operatorname{Frob}_{x}^{n}) = \operatorname{Tr}_{\mathcal{H}_{N,\mathrm{ess}}}^{\leq p}(f \times \operatorname{Frob}_{x}^{n}),$$

where the action on the left-hand side is the one defined in 4.3.17.

Proof. Let us show (i). Since \mathcal{E} is assumed to be mixed, any object in $\{\mathcal{F}\}$ is pure by [AC1, 4.2.3, 4.3.4], thus the uniqueness follows by the Čebotarev density A.4.1. We can see \mathcal{F} as an object of \mathbb{Z} - $\mathcal{I}(S_N)$ where the action of \mathbb{Z} is defined by f. Let \mathcal{G} be an irreducible object in \mathbb{Z} - $\mathcal{I}(S_N)$. Then by Lemma 4.3.16, it can be written as $V \boxtimes \mathcal{G}'$ where V is an irreducible representation of \mathbb{Z} and \mathcal{G}' is an irreducible object in $\mathcal{I}(S_N)$. Since \mathbb{Z} is abelian, dim(V) = 1 and f act as multiplication by c. This implies that $\operatorname{Tr}_{\mathcal{G}}(f \times \operatorname{Frob}_x^n) = c \cdot \operatorname{Tr}_{\mathcal{G}'}(\operatorname{Frob}_x^n)$, and (\star) follows.

For a proof of (ii), we copy the argument of [La2]. Let us sketch the proof. The commutative diagram in the proof of Corollary 4.3.15 yields the following commutative diagram for $p'' \ge p'$ sufficiently large (cf. [La2, p.185]):

$$\begin{aligned} & \mathcal{H}^{2r-2}_{\mathrm{c}}\big(\mathrm{Cht}^{r,\overline{p}\leq p''}_{N}/a^{\mathbb{Z}}\big) \xrightarrow{} \mathcal{H}^{2r-2}_{\mathrm{c}}\big(\overline{\mathrm{Cht}^{r,\overline{p}\leq p''}_{N}}/a^{\mathbb{Z}}\big) \\ & & \downarrow \\ & & \downarrow \\ & \mathcal{H}^{2r-2}_{\mathrm{c}}\big(\mathrm{Cht}^{r,\overline{p}\leq p}_{N}/a^{\mathbb{Z}}\big) \xrightarrow{} \mathcal{H}^{2r-2}_{\mathrm{c}}\big(\overline{\mathrm{Cht}^{r,\overline{p}\leq p'}_{N}}/a^{\mathbb{Z}}\big) \xrightarrow{} & \mathcal{H}^{2r-2}_{\mathrm{c}}\big(\overline{\mathrm{Cht}^{r,\overline{p}\leq p'}_{N}}/a^{\mathbb{Z}}\big), \end{aligned}$$

where the homomorphisms marked as f are induced by the correspondence associated to f, and the others are canonical ones. Thus the claim follows by Corollary 4.3.15.

4.3.20. For an unramified irreducible admissible representation π of $\operatorname{GL}_r(F_x)$ at some place x of F and $t \in \mathbb{Z}$, we put

$$z^t_{\bullet}(\pi) := z_1(\pi)^t + \dots + z_r(\pi)^t,$$

where $z_i(\pi)$ denotes the Hecke eigenvalue of π . Take a closed point x in $X \times X$. We denote by ∞_x (resp. 0_x) the image of x by the first (resp. second) projection. We note that $\deg(x) = \operatorname{lcm}(\deg(\infty_x), \deg(0_x))$.

Lemma ([La2, VI.25]). Let $f \in \mathcal{H}_N^r/a^{\mathbb{Z}}$. Then there exists an open dense subscheme $U_f \subset S_N$ such that for any $x \in U_f$, we have

$$\operatorname{Tr}_{\mathcal{H}_{N,\mathrm{ess}}}(f \times \operatorname{Frob}_{x}^{-s/\operatorname{deg}(x)}) = q^{(r-1)s} \sum_{\pi \in \{\pi\}_{N}^{r}} \operatorname{Tr}_{\pi}(f) \cdot z_{\bullet}^{-s'}(\pi_{\infty_{x}}) \cdot z_{\bullet}^{u'}(\pi_{0_{x}}),$$

where $s = \deg(\infty_x)s' = \deg(0_x)u' \in \mathbb{Z} \cdot \deg(x)$.

Proof. By Corollary 3.2.1, there exists an open dense subscheme $U'_f \subset S_N$ such that

$$(\star) \quad \operatorname{Tr}\left(f \times \operatorname{Frob}_{x}^{-s/\operatorname{deg}(x)} : \mathcal{H}_{c}^{*}\left(\overline{\operatorname{Cht}_{N}^{r,\overline{p} \leq p'}}/a^{\mathbb{Z}}\right)\right) \\ = \operatorname{Tr}\left(f \times \operatorname{Frob}_{x}^{-s/\operatorname{deg}(x)} : \mathcal{H}_{c}^{*}\left(\overline{\operatorname{Cht}_{N}^{r,\overline{p} \leq p'}}/a^{\mathbb{Z}}, \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_{\ell}\right)\right)$$

for any $x \in U'_f$. Let $\mathcal{H}_{N,\mathrm{ess},\ell}$ be $H_{N,\mathrm{ess}}$ defined in [La2, after VI.22]. Note that since $\mathcal{H}^*_{\mathrm{c}}(\overline{\mathrm{Cht}_N^{r,\overline{p}\leq p'}}/a^{\mathbb{Z}})$ is mixed by Theorem 2.3.38, Lemma 4.3.19 (i) is applicable. Let

 $\{\mathcal{E}\}$ (resp. $\{\sigma\}$) be the set of *r*-negligible objects in $\mathcal{I}(S_N)$ (resp. in $\mathcal{W}_{\ell}(S_N)$). We have

$$\operatorname{Tr}(f \times \operatorname{Frob}_{x}^{-s/\operatorname{deg}(x)} : \mathcal{H}_{N,\operatorname{ess}}) = \operatorname{Tr}^{\leq p}(f \times \operatorname{Frob}_{x}^{-s/\operatorname{deg}(x)} : \mathcal{H}_{N,\operatorname{ess}}^{*})$$

$$(\star\star) = \operatorname{Tr}(f \times \operatorname{Frob}_{x}^{-s/\operatorname{deg}(x)} : \mathcal{H}_{c}^{*}(\operatorname{\overline{Cht}}_{N}^{r,\overline{p} \leq p'}/a^{\mathbb{Z}}))$$

$$+ q^{(r-1)s} \sum_{\mathcal{E} \in \{\mathcal{E}\}} c_{\mathcal{E}} \operatorname{Tr}_{\mathcal{E}}(\operatorname{Frob}_{x}^{-s/\operatorname{deg}(x)})$$

$$= \operatorname{Tr}(f \times \operatorname{Frob}_{x}^{-s/\operatorname{deg}(x)} : \mathcal{H}_{c}^{*}(\overline{\operatorname{Cht}}_{N}^{r,\overline{p} \leq p'}/a^{\mathbb{Z}}, \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_{\ell}))$$

$$+ q^{(r-1)s} \sum_{\mathcal{E} \in \{\mathcal{E}\}} c_{\mathcal{E}} \operatorname{Tr}_{\mathcal{E}}(\operatorname{Frob}_{x}^{-s/\operatorname{deg}(x)})$$

$$= \operatorname{Tr}(f \times \operatorname{Frob}_{x}^{-s/\operatorname{deg}(x)} : \mathcal{H}_{N,\operatorname{ess},\ell})$$

$$+ q^{(r-1)s} \sum_{\mathcal{A} \in \{\mathcal{E}\} \cup \{\sigma\}} c_{\mathcal{A}} \operatorname{Tr}_{\mathcal{A}}(\operatorname{Frob}_{x}^{-s/\operatorname{deg}(x)}),$$

where the first and second equality hold by Lemma 4.3.19 (ii) and (i), respectively, the third by (\star) , and the last by repeating the corresponding argument in the ℓ -adic situation. Now, for $\mathcal{G} \in \mathcal{I}(S_N)$, an endomorphism f of \mathcal{G} , and an integer n, we put

$$\overline{\mathrm{Tr}}(f \times \mathrm{Frob}_x^n : \mathcal{G}) := \frac{1}{r^{2!}} \sum_{k=1}^{r^{2!}} \mathrm{Tr}\big(f \times \mathrm{Frob}_x^n : (\mathrm{Frob}_X^k \times \mathrm{id}_X)^+(\mathcal{G})\big)$$
$$= \frac{1}{r^{2!}} \sum_{k=1}^{r^{2!}} \mathrm{Tr}_{\mathcal{G}}\big(f \times \mathrm{Frob}_{(\mathrm{Frob}_X^k \times \mathrm{id}_X)(x)}^n\big),$$

and similarly for objects in $\mathcal{W}_{\ell}(S_N)$. Note that when $\mathcal{G} \in \{\mathcal{E}\}$, there exist \mathcal{G}'_{ι} and \mathcal{G}''_{ι} of rank < r and pure of weight 0 in $\mathcal{I}(X - N)$, and constants c_{ι} , λ_{ι} such that

$$\overline{\mathrm{Tr}}(\mathrm{Frob}_x^n:\mathcal{G}) = \sum_{\iota} c_{\iota} \lambda_{\iota}^n \operatorname{Tr}_{q'+\mathcal{G}_{\iota}' \otimes q''+\mathcal{G}_{\iota}''}(\mathrm{Frob}_x^n).$$

Put $U_f := \bigcap_{n=0}^{r^{2}!} (\operatorname{Frob}_X^n \times \operatorname{id}_X)^{-1}(U'_f)$. Since $\mathcal{H}_{N,\operatorname{ess}}$ and $\mathcal{H}_{N,\operatorname{ess},\ell}$ are invariant under the pullback by $\operatorname{Frob}_X \times \operatorname{id}_X$, the computation $(\star\star)$ implies that for $x \in U_f$,

$$\begin{aligned} \operatorname{Tr}(f \times \operatorname{Frob}_{x}^{-s/\operatorname{deg}(x)} : \mathcal{H}_{N,\operatorname{ess}}) &= \overline{\operatorname{Tr}}(f \times \operatorname{Frob}_{x}^{-s/\operatorname{deg}(x)} : \mathcal{H}_{N,\operatorname{ess}}) \\ &= \overline{\operatorname{Tr}}(f \times \operatorname{Frob}_{x}^{-s/\operatorname{deg}(x)} : \mathcal{H}_{N,\operatorname{ess},\ell}) \\ &+ q^{(r-1)s} \sum_{A \in \{\mathcal{E}\} \cup \{\sigma\}} c_{A} \overline{\operatorname{Tr}}_{A}(\operatorname{Frob}_{x}^{-s/\operatorname{deg}(x)}) \\ &= \operatorname{Tr}(f \times \operatorname{Frob}_{x}^{-s/\operatorname{deg}(x)} : \mathcal{H}_{N,\operatorname{ess},\ell}) \\ &+ q^{(r-1)s} \sum_{\iota} c_{\iota} \lambda_{\iota}^{s} \operatorname{Tr}_{q' + \mathcal{E}_{\iota}' \otimes q'' + \mathcal{E}_{\iota}''}(\operatorname{Frob}_{x}^{-s/\operatorname{deg}(x)}), \end{aligned}$$

where \mathcal{E}'_{ι} and \mathcal{E}''_{ι} are irreducible isocrystals on X - N of rank < r and pure of weight 0, and we used Langlands correspondence for rank < r for the last equality. By

[La2, VI.25], if we further shrink U_f , we finally obtain (\heartsuit)

$$q^{-(r-1)s} \operatorname{Tr}(f \times \operatorname{Frob}_{x}^{n} : \mathcal{H}_{N, \operatorname{ess}}) - \sum_{\pi \in \{\pi\}_{N}^{r}} \operatorname{Tr}_{\pi}(f) \cdot z_{\bullet}^{-s'}(\pi_{\infty_{x}}) \cdot z_{\bullet}^{u'}(\pi_{0_{x}})$$
$$= \sum_{\iota} c_{\iota} \lambda_{\iota}^{s} \operatorname{Tr}_{q' + \mathcal{E}_{\iota}' \otimes q'' + \mathcal{E}_{\iota}''}(\operatorname{Frob}_{x}^{-s/\operatorname{deg}(x)}).$$

Since $\mathcal{H}_{N,\text{ess}}$ is pure of weight 2r - 2 and we know that $|z_i(\pi_{\infty})|$ and $|z_j(\pi_0)|$ are 1, we have $|\lambda_{\iota}| = 1$. We need to show that the right-hand side of (\heartsuit) is 0. The argument is essentially the same as [La2], but for the reader, we recall it. Assume otherwise. Then there would exist irreducible isocrystals \mathcal{E}' , \mathcal{E}'' of rank < r and pure of weight 0 such that the series

$$\sum_{\iota} c_{\iota} \frac{d}{dZ} \log L_{U_f} \left((q'^+ \mathcal{E}'_{\iota} \otimes q''^+ \mathcal{E}''_{\iota}) \otimes (q'^+ \mathcal{E}'^{\vee} \otimes q''^+ \mathcal{E}''^{\vee}), \lambda_{\iota} Z \right)$$

has a pole on $|Z|=q^{-2}$ by Corollary 4.3.3 since $|\lambda_{\iota}|=1.$ On the other hand, the series

$$\frac{d}{dZ}\log L_{U_f}\left(\mathcal{H}\otimes (q'^+\mathcal{E}'^\vee\otimes q''^+\mathcal{E}''^\vee), q^{1-r}Z\right)$$

does not have poles at $|Z| = q^{-2}$ since \mathcal{H} is essential. Now, let π' and π'' be the automorphic cuspidal representations corresponding to \mathcal{E}' and \mathcal{E}'' . For a locally closed subscheme Y of $(X - N) \times (X - N)$, let us denote by $\mathfrak{C}_{s,Y}$ the subset of $(x, s', u') \in |Y| \times \mathbb{N} \times \mathbb{N}$ such that $s \cdot \deg(\infty_x)^{-1} = s' \in \mathbb{N}$ and $s \cdot \deg(0_x)^{-1} = u' \in \mathbb{N}$, and put

$$\operatorname{Ser}_{Y}(Z) := \sum_{s \ge 1} Z^{s-1} \sum_{(x,s',u') \in \mathfrak{C}_{s,Y}} \left[\left(\operatorname{deg}(\infty_{x}) \cdot z_{\bullet}^{-s'}(\pi_{\infty_{x}}) \cdot z_{\bullet}^{s'}(\pi'_{\infty_{x}}) \right) \times \left(\operatorname{deg}(0_{x}) \cdot z_{\bullet}^{u'}(\pi_{0_{x}}) \cdot z_{\bullet}^{u'}(\pi''_{0_{x}}) \right) \right].$$

The series

$$\frac{d}{dZ}\log L_{X-N}(\pi \times \pi'^{\vee}, Z), \qquad \frac{d}{dZ}\log L_{X-N}(\pi^{\vee} \times \pi''^{\vee}, Z)$$

do not have poles on $|Z| \leq q^{-1}$ by [La2, B.10]. Thus, the product series Ser_{S_N} does not have poles at $|Z| \leq q^{-2}$. We claim that the series Ser_{U_f} does not have poles at $|Z| \leq q^{-2}$ either. Indeed, putting $W := S_N \setminus U_f$, we have $\operatorname{Ser}_W = \operatorname{Ser}_{S_N} - \operatorname{Ser}_{U_f}$. Since $|z_i(\pi)| = |z_j(\pi')| = |z_k(\pi'')| = 1$, we have

$$|\operatorname{Ser}_W(Z)| \le \sum_s |Z|^{s-1} \sum_{(x,s',u') \in \mathfrak{C}_W} \deg(\infty_x) \cdot \deg(0_x).$$

Since W is of dimension 1, the latter series converges on $|Z| < q^{-1}$, and thus Ser_W converges absolutely on the same area, which implies the claim. Combining these, if we put

$$\sum_{s} Z^{s-1} \sum_{\mathfrak{C}_{s,U_f}} \deg(\infty_x) \cdot \deg(0_x) \cdot z^{s'}(\pi'_{\infty'_x}) \cdot z^{u'}(\pi''_{0_x})$$

at the head of the both sides of (\heartsuit) , the left-hand side does not have poles at $|Z| = q^{-2}$, whereas the right-hand side does at $|Z| = q^{-2}$, which is a contradiction. \Box

4.3.21. Lemma ([La2, VI.26]). As an object of $\mathcal{H}_N^r/a^{\mathbb{Z}}$ - $\mathbb{ZI}(S_N)$, we can write $\mathcal{H}_{N,\mathrm{ess}}$ as

$$\bigoplus_{\in \{\pi\}_N^r} \pi \boxtimes \mathcal{H}_{\pi}(1-r),$$

and there exists an open dense subscheme $U_{\pi} \subset S_N$ for any $\pi \in \{\pi\}_N^r$ such that the following holds: the object \mathcal{H}_{π} is pure of weight 0, and for any closed point $x \in U_{\pi}$ and $s = \deg(\infty_x)s' = \deg(0_x)u'$, we have

$$\operatorname{Tr}_{\mathcal{H}_{\pi}}\left(\operatorname{Frob}_{x}^{-s/\operatorname{deg}(x)}\right) = z_{\bullet}^{-s'}(\pi_{\infty_{x}}) \cdot z_{\bullet}^{u'}(\pi_{0_{x}})$$

Proof. This can be proven similarly to the ℓ -adic case. By Lemma 4.3.16, there exists a finite set of irreducible representations $\{\pi'\}$ of $\mathcal{H}_N^r/a^{\mathbb{Z}}$ and semisimple objects $\mathcal{H}_{\pi'}$ in $\mathbb{Z}\mathcal{I}(S_N)$ for each $\pi' \in \{\pi'\}$ such that $\mathcal{H}_{N,\text{ess}} = \bigoplus_{\pi' \in \{\pi'\}_N^r} \pi' \boxtimes \mathcal{H}_{\pi'}(1-r)$. For $\pi \in \{\pi\}_N^r \cup \{\pi'\}$, we can choose $f_\pi \in \mathcal{H}_N^r/a^{\mathbb{Z}}$ such that $\operatorname{Tr}_{\pi}(f_\pi) = 1$ and $\operatorname{Tr}_{\pi'}(f_\pi) = 0$ for any $\pi \neq \pi' \in \{\pi\}_N^r \cup \{\pi'\}$ (cf. proof of [La2, VI.26]), and apply Lemma 4.3.20 by taking $f = f_\pi$. Then the lemma holds with $U_\pi := U_{f_\pi}$.

4.3.22. Theorem ([La2, VI.27]). For any $\pi \in \{\pi\}_N^r$, we have

π

$$\mathcal{H}_{\pi} = q'^{+} \mathcal{E}_{\pi} \otimes q''^{+} \mathcal{E}_{\pi}^{\vee}$$

as objects in $\mathcal{I}(S_N)$, where \mathcal{E}_{π} is an isocrystal of rank r on X - N pure of weight 0 corresponding to π in the sense of Langlands.

Proof. Take a closed point $x \in U_{\pi}$, which lies over $(\infty, 0) \in |X - N| \times |X - N|$. Let $X^0 := X \times 0 \hookrightarrow X \times X$ be the closed immersion, and let $(X - N)^0 \subset X^0$ be the pullback of S_N by the closed immersion. Let \mathcal{E}^0 be the semisimplification in $\mathcal{I}((X - N)^0)$ of the pullback of \mathcal{H}_{π} , which is pure of weight 0. Let \mathcal{H}_{π}^0 be the pullback on $S_N \otimes k(0)$. Let χ_i be the character (i.e., rank 1 isocrystal on the point 0) corresponding to the Hecke eigenvalue $z_i(\pi_0)$. Then the two semisimple objects in $\mathcal{I}(S_N \otimes k(0))$

$$q'^{+}\mathcal{E}^{0} \otimes q''^{+}\mathcal{E}^{0\vee}, \qquad \mathcal{H}^{0}_{\pi} \otimes \bigoplus_{i=1}^{r} \chi_{i} \otimes \bigoplus_{i=1}^{r} \chi_{i}^{\vee}$$

have the same Frobenius eigenvalues at each closed point of $U_{\pi} \otimes k(0)$ by the explicit description of the Frobenius trace in Lemma 4.3.21. Thus by the Čebotarev density A.4.1, these two objects coincide.

Thus, there exist \mathcal{E}' and \mathcal{E}'' on $X - N \subset X$ which are pure of weight 0 such that $q'^+ \mathcal{E}' \otimes q''^+ \mathcal{E}''$ and \mathcal{H}_{π} have at least one constituent in common. We may assume that \mathcal{E}' and \mathcal{E}'' are irreducible, and since \mathcal{H}_{π} is stable under the action of $(\operatorname{Frob}_X \times \operatorname{id})^+$, we may assume that $q'^+ \mathcal{E}' \otimes q''^+ \mathcal{E}''$ is a subobject of \mathcal{H}_{π} .

Let us show that \mathcal{E}' is of rank $\geq r$. The argument is similar to the last part of the proof of Lemma 4.3.20. If \mathcal{E}' were of rank < r, there would exist an automorphic cuspidal representation π' corresponding to \mathcal{E}' . Consider the series

$$\frac{d}{dZ}\log L_{X-N}(\pi \times \pi'^{\vee}, Z), \qquad \frac{d}{dZ}\log L_{X-N}(\pi^{\vee} \times \mathcal{E}''^{\vee}, Z).$$

The first one converges absolutely on $|Z| < q^{-1+\epsilon}$ for some $\epsilon > 0$ by [La2, Thm B.10]. Since $|z_i(\pi)| = 1$ and \mathcal{E}'' is of weight 0, the second one converges absolutely

on $|Z| < q^{-1}$. Thus the product series converges absolutely on $|Z| < q^{-2+\epsilon}$. On the other hand, consider the series

(*)
$$\frac{d}{dZ} \log L_{U_{\pi}} \left(\mathcal{H}_{\pi} \otimes (q'^{+} \mathcal{E}'^{\vee} \otimes q''^{+} \mathcal{E}''^{\vee}) \right).$$

Let $C := S_N \setminus U_{\pi}$. The difference with the product series is nothing but

$$(\star\star) \qquad \sum_{s\geq 1} Z^{s-1} \sum_{(x,s',u')\in\mathfrak{C}_s} \Big[\Big(\deg(\infty_x) \cdot z_{\bullet}^{-s'}(\pi_{\infty_x}) \cdot z_{\bullet}^{s'}(\pi'_{\infty_x}) \Big) \\ \times \Big(\deg(0_x) \cdot z_{\bullet}^{u'}(\pi_{0_x}) \cdot z_{\bullet}^{u'}(\mathcal{E}_{0_x}'') \Big) \Big],$$

where $\mathfrak{C}_s \subset |C| \times \mathbb{N} \times \mathbb{N}$ such that $s \cdot \deg(\infty_x)^{-1} = s' \in \mathbb{N}$ and $s \cdot \deg(0_x)^{-1} = u' \in \mathbb{N}$. Since C is of dimension 1 and the complex absolute values of $z_i(\pi_x)$, $z_i(\pi'_x)$, $z_i(\mathcal{E}'')$ are 1, we get that the series $(\star\star)$ converges in $|Z| < q^{-1}$. Thus, considering the radius of convergence of the product series, (\star) should converge on $|Z| < q^{-2+\epsilon}$. However, since by Corollary 4.3.3, it should have a pole at $|Z| = q^{-2}$, which is a contradiction.

This shows that the rank of \mathcal{E}' is $\geq r$. By symmetry, the rank of \mathcal{E}'' is $\geq r$ as well. Since the rank of \mathcal{H}_{π} is r^2 , we get that the rank of \mathcal{E}' and \mathcal{E}'' are r, and $\mathcal{H}_{\pi} \cong q'^+ \mathcal{E}' \otimes q''^+ \mathcal{E}''$. By the induction hypothesis 4.3.8 (1), there exist cuspidal automorphic representations π' , π'' of $\operatorname{GL}_r(\mathbb{A})$ corresponding to \mathcal{E}' and \mathcal{E}'' . Now, since $\dim(X - N) = 1$ and $|z_i(\pi)| = |z_j(\pi')| = |z_k(\pi'')| = 1$, the rational functions

$$\frac{d}{dZ}\log L_{X-N}(\pi \times \pi'^{\vee}, Z), \qquad \frac{d}{dZ}\log L_{X-N}(\pi^{\vee} \times \pi''^{\vee}, Z)$$

do not have poles at $|Z| < q^{-1}$. This implies that they have a pole at $Z = q^{-1-s}$ and q^{-1+s} , respectively, for some $s \in \mathbb{C}$ such that $\operatorname{Re}(s) = 0$. Otherwise, the series

$$\frac{d}{dZ}\log L_{U_{\pi}}\left(\mathcal{H}_{\pi}\otimes (q'^{+}\mathcal{E}'^{\vee}\otimes q''^{+}\mathcal{E}''^{\vee})\right) = \frac{d}{dZ}\log L_{U_{\pi}}\left(\mathcal{H}_{\pi}\otimes \mathcal{H}_{\pi}^{\vee}\right)$$

would not have a pole at q^{-2} . This shows that $\mathcal{E}' \cong \mathcal{E}''^{\vee}$, and $\mathcal{E}_{\pi} = \mathcal{E}'(s)$ as requested, and $\mathcal{H}_{\pi} \cong q'^+ \mathcal{E}_{\pi} \otimes q''^+ \mathcal{E}_{\pi}^{\vee}$. \Box

4.3.23. Conclusion of the proof. By Theorems 4.3.22 and 4.2.3, 4.3.8 (1) holds for n = r. Let us check 4.3.8 (2). Theorem 4.3.22 combined with Proposition 4.3.14 (ii) shows that the average $(r^{2}!)^{-1} \sum_{n=1}^{r^{2}!} (\operatorname{Frob}_{X}^{n} \times \operatorname{id}_{X})^{+} \mathcal{H}_{c}^{2r-2} (\cdots)^{\mathrm{ss}}$ is (r + 1)-negligible. Since the averaging involves only positive coefficients, $\mathcal{H}_{c}^{2r-2} (\cdots)$ is (r+1)-negligible. Combining with Proposition 4.3.14 (i), 4.3.8 (2) holds for n = r, and $(S)_{r}$ is shown. Thus, we conclude the proof of Theorem 4.2.2 by induction. \Box

4.4. A few applications. To conclude this paper, let us collect some applications of the Langlands correspondence.

4.4.1. **Theorem** ([De1, 1.2.10 (vi)]). Let X be a smooth curve over a finite field k of characteristic p. Let ℓ be a prime number different from p. Then for any irreducible smooth $\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_{\ell}$ -sheaf whose determinant is of finite order, there exists a petit camarade cristallin.

Proof. Use Lafforgue's result and Theorem 4.2.2.

4.4.2. In *p*-adic cohomology theory, Bertini-type results do not seem to be known, as pointed out in [Ke2]. We consider the situation and notation in 2.4.14 exclusively in this paragraph. In particular, k does not need to be finite in the following conjecture.

Conjecture (Bertini-type conjecture). Let X be a smooth scheme over k, and let \mathcal{E} be an irreducible L-isocrystal. Then there exists a dense Zariski open subset U of X such that the following holds: for any $x \in |U|$, there exists an immersion (not necessarily closed) from a smooth curve $i: C \hookrightarrow U$ passing through x such that $i^+\mathcal{E}$ remains irreducible.

4.4.3. **Theorem.** Assume we are in the situation of 4.2.1. Let X be a scheme of finite type over k. Then any complex in $D^{\rm b}_{\rm hol}(X/\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_{p,F})$ is mixed if X is of dimension 1. If Conjecture 4.4.2 is true, we do not need to assume X to be of dimension 1.

Proof. See [A2, 6.3].

4.4.4. **Corollary.** The Čebotarev density theorem for smooth curves holds for overconvergent F-isocrystals. If Conjecture 4.4.2 is true, it holds for any smooth variety.

Proof. Apply Proposition A.4.1 and Theorem 4.4.3.

4.4.5. **Theorem.** Let X be a smooth scheme of finite type over a finite field k. Let \mathcal{E} be an irreducible $\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p$ -isocrystal with Frobenius structure on X such that the determinant is of finite order. Assume that Conjecture 4.4.2 holds.

(i) There exists a number field E/\mathbb{Q} such that, for any $x \in |X|$, all the coefficients of the Frobenius eigenpolynomial of \mathcal{E} at x are in E.

(ii) For any prime $\ell \neq p$, there exists an $\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_{\ell}$ -adic smooth sheaf \mathscr{F} corresponding to \mathcal{E} such that the sets of Frobenius eigenvalues coincide for any closed point of X.

Proof. Let us show (i). We denote by $\mathcal{I}_r(X)$ the set of $\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p$ -isocrystals of rank r on X up to isomorphism and semisimplification. We use the notation of [EK, §2]. We prove this by induction on the dimension of X. Let \overline{X} be a normal compactification of X, and let $\overline{X} \setminus X$ be a Cartier divisor. Then there exists a map $\mathcal{I}_r(X) \to \mathcal{V}_r(X)$ using the Langlands correspondence. This is injective by the Čebotarev density. We show the following: Let $\mathcal{E} \in \mathcal{I}_r(X)$. Then there exists an dense open subscheme $U \subset X$ and Cartier divisor D of \overline{X} contained in $\overline{X} \setminus U$ such that $\mathcal{E}_U \in \mathcal{V}_r(U, D)$ where \mathcal{E}_U is the restriction of \mathcal{E} on U. Once this is shown, Conjecture 4.4.2 implies that \mathcal{E}_U is irreducible, and we get (i) of the theorem for \mathcal{E}_U by [EK, 8.2], and by the induction hypothesis, we conclude.

When \overline{X} is proper smooth, $\overline{X} \setminus X$ is a simple normal crossing divisor, and \mathcal{E} is log-extendable to \overline{X} , then we may take D = 0. Indeed, for a smooth curve, let \mathcal{E} be an $\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p$ -isocrystal whose determinant is finite, and let \mathscr{F} be its ℓ -adic companion. Then the ramification of \mathcal{E} and \mathscr{F} at the boundary are the same by Theorem 4.2.2 (2). In general, take a semistable reduction $\overline{Y} \to \overline{X}$ of \mathcal{E} (cf. [Ke5]). We take $U \subset X$ so that $p: V := U \times_{\overline{X}} \overline{Y} \to U$ is finite étale. There exists a Cartier divisor D such that the ramification of $p_* \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_\ell$ is in $\mathcal{V}_d(U, D)$ where $d = \deg(V/U)$. Then we can check easily that $\mathcal{E} \in \mathcal{V}_r(X, D)$.

For (ii), copy the proof of Drinfeld [Dr, §2.3].

4.4.6. **Remark.** Using the main results of this paper, K. S. Kedlaya recently proved Theorem 4.4.3 as well as Theorem 4.4.5 without assuming Conjecture 4.4.2

in [Ke6]. His argument reduces to the curve case using an ingenious induction. By proving Conjecture 4.4.2 when k is finite, Abe and H. Esnault gave another proof of this Kedlaya's result in [AE]. The existence of crystalline companions on smooth schemes of finite type over k is still an open problem.

Appendix A

A.1. Beilinson–Drinfeld gluing of the derived category. In this subsection, we briefly recall the construction and some results of Beilinson and Drinfeld [BD, 7.4], which are used in the main text.

A.1.1. Let $\mathcal{M} \to \Delta^+$ be a cofibered category such that its fiber \mathcal{M}_i over $[i] \in \Delta^+$ is an abelian category, and for $\phi: [i] \to [j]$, the pushforward ϕ_* is exact. We denote by \mathcal{M}_{tot} the abelian category of cartesian sections; the category of collections $\{M_n, \alpha_\phi\}$ such that $M_n \in \mathcal{M}_n$ and for $\phi: [i] \to [j], \alpha_\phi: \phi_*M_i \xrightarrow{\sim} M_j$ satisfying the cocycle condition. Now, we want to construct a suitable triangulated category associated to \mathcal{M} whose heart is \mathcal{M}_{tot} . For this, we consider the category sec₊(\mathcal{M}). The objects consist of collections $\{M_n, \alpha_\phi\}$ where $M_n \in \mathcal{M}_n$, and for $\phi: [i] \to [j], \alpha_\phi: \phi_*M_i \to M_j$, satisfying the condition $\alpha_{\phi\circ\psi} = \alpha_\phi \circ \phi_*(\alpha_\psi)$ for composable morphisms ϕ and ψ in Δ^+ , and $\alpha_{id} = id$. We put sec_ := (sec_+(\mathcal{M}°))°. A profound observation of Beilinson and Drinfeld is that there are functors

$$c_+ \colon C(\operatorname{sec}_-(\mathcal{M})) \to C(\operatorname{sec}_+(\mathcal{M})), \qquad c_- \colon C(\operatorname{sec}_+(\mathcal{M})) \to C(\operatorname{sec}_-(\mathcal{M}))$$

such that (c_+, c_-) is an adjoint pair, and the adjunction homomorphisms $c_+c_- \to \mathrm{id}$ and $\mathrm{id} \to c_-c_+$ are quasi-isomorphisms (cf. [BD, 7.4.4]). With these functors, we are able to identify $D(\mathrm{sec}_+(\mathcal{M}))$ and $D(\mathrm{sec}_-(\mathcal{M}))$. Now, let $C_{\mathrm{tot}\pm} \subset C(\mathrm{sec}_\pm(\mathcal{M}))$ be the full subcategory consisting of complexes \mathcal{M} such that $\mathscr{H}^i(\mathcal{M}) \in \mathcal{M}_{\mathrm{tot}}$. We denote by $K_{\mathrm{tot}\pm}(\mathcal{M})$ and $D_{\mathrm{tot}\pm}(\mathcal{M})$ the corresponding homotopy and derived categories. By means of c_{\pm} , we are able to identify $D_{\mathrm{tot}+}(\mathcal{M})$ and $D_{\mathrm{tot}-}(\mathcal{M})$, and we denote them by $D_{\mathrm{tot}}(\mathcal{M})$. The functors $\mathscr{H}^i \colon D_{\mathrm{tot}\pm} \to \mathcal{M}_{\mathrm{tot}}$ induce $D_{\mathrm{tot}}(\mathcal{M}) \to \mathcal{M}_{\mathrm{tot}}$.

A.1.2. Now, an important aspect of the theory is the existence of a spectral sequence connecting $\{\mathcal{M}_n\}$ and \mathcal{M} . For $N \in D^-(\sec_-(\mathcal{M}))$ and $M \in D^+(\sec_+(\mathcal{M}))$, we have the following spectral sequence by [BD, 7.4.8]:

(A.1.2.1)
$$E_1^{p,q} = \operatorname{Ext}_{\mathcal{M}_p}^q(N_p, M_p) \Rightarrow \operatorname{Hom}_{D(\mathcal{M})}(c_+(N), M[p+q])$$
$$\cong \operatorname{Hom}_{D(\mathcal{M})}(N, c_-(M)[p+q]).$$

Remark. Since the proof of [BD] is rather sketchy, it might be hard to follow their argument in some cases. Let us add a short explanation. When $\sec_+(\mathcal{M})$ has enough injectives, then we can take the right derived functors of the functor $\operatorname{Hom}(N, -) \colon K^+ \sec_+(\mathcal{M}) \to DF$, where DF denotes the derived category of filtered modules, in a usual way, and we get the spectral sequence as written in [BD]. However, there might be a situation in which the functor does not admit a right derived functor. Even in this case, we can define the derived functor $\mathbb{R}\operatorname{Hom}(N, -) \colon D^+(\sec_+(\mathcal{M})) \to \operatorname{Ind}(DF)$ as in [SGA4, XVII, 1.2]. We have a functor

$$\widetilde{\mathscr{H}^{i}} \colon \mathrm{Ind}(DF) \xrightarrow{\mathscr{H}^{i}} \mathrm{Ind}(F\mathrm{Ab}) \xrightarrow{\varinjlim} F\mathrm{Ab}.$$

Using this, we have $\mathscr{H}^{i}\mathrm{gr}_{F}^{n}\mathbb{R}\mathrm{Hom}(N,M) \cong \mathrm{Hom}_{D(\mathcal{M}_{n})}(N_{n},M_{n}[i-n])$. This follows from the fact that we have $\mathrm{gr}_{F}^{n}\mathrm{Hom}(N,M) \cong \mathrm{Hom}_{K(\mathcal{M}_{n})}(N_{n},M_{n})[-n]$ by construction of the functor $\operatorname{Hom}(N, -)$, and the functor $M \mapsto M_n$ has an exact right adjoint as in 2.1.6 which implies the existence of g and h in [SGA4]. Since the category of spectral sequences of abelian groups admits inductive limits, we get the desired result.

A.2. Some properties of algebraic stacks. The results of this subsection are used implicitly in Lafforgue's proof of Langlands correspondence. Even though we believe that the results are well known to experts, since we are not able to find references, we decided to write down the details.

A.2.1. **Lemma.** Let $f: \mathfrak{X} \to \mathfrak{Y}$ be a gerb-like morphism [Beh, 5.1.3] such that the structural group is flat. Then there exists a presentation $Y \to \mathfrak{Y}$ such that $\mathfrak{X} \times_{\mathfrak{Y}} Y \to Y$ is a neutral gerb.

Proof. First, we note that f is smooth surjective. Indeed, since the verification is fppf-local, we may assume that f is neutral, and thus $\mathfrak{Y} =: Y$ is a scheme and $\mathfrak{X} = B(G/Y)$. Since G is assumed flat, f is smooth by [Beh, 5.1.2].

Let $P: Y \to \mathfrak{X}$ be a presentation, and consider the smooth morphism $Q := f \circ P: Y \to \mathfrak{Y}$, which is a presentation of \mathfrak{Y} since f is smooth surjective. We have the morphism $(P, \mathrm{id}): Y \to \mathfrak{X} \times_{\mathfrak{Y}} Y$. This defines a section of the second projection $\mathfrak{X} \times_{\mathfrak{Y}} Y \to Y$.

A.2.2. Lemma. Let $f: \mathfrak{X} \to \mathfrak{Y}$ be a representable morphism of algebraic stacks over an integral scheme S. For the generic point $\eta \in S$, if f_{η} is separated, then there exists an open subscheme $U \subset S$ such that $f_U: \mathfrak{X} \times_S U \to \mathfrak{Y} \times_S U$ is separated.

Proof. Let $\mathcal{Y} \to \mathfrak{Y}$ be a presentation, and let $\mathcal{X} \to \mathfrak{X}$ be the induced presentation. Let $f' \colon \mathcal{X} \to \mathcal{Y}$ be the induced morphism. The morphism f being separated is equivalent to f' being separated, and thus by [EGAIV, 8.10.5], the lemma follows.

A.2.3. **Lemma.** Let $f: \mathfrak{X} \to \mathfrak{Y}$ be a representable morphism of locally noetherian algebraic stacks. Then there exists an open dense substack \mathfrak{U} of \mathfrak{X} such that $f|_{\mathfrak{U}}$ is separated.

Proof. By [EGAI, 5.5.1 (vi)], we may assume that \mathfrak{X} and \mathfrak{Y} are reduced. By shrinking \mathfrak{X} and \mathfrak{Y} , we may assume that $\mathfrak{X} \to \mathcal{X}$ and $\mathfrak{Y} \to \mathcal{Y}$ are gerbs over algebraic spaces by [LM, 11.5]. By shrinking \mathfrak{X} and \mathfrak{Y} , we may assume that \mathcal{X} is a separated scheme and $\mathcal{X} \to \mathcal{Y}$ is separated. Consider the following diagram:



Note that α is representable by [LM, 3.12 (c)]. Let η be a generic point of \mathcal{X} . By Lemma A.2.2, it suffices to show that α_{η} is separated. So the statement is reduced to the following special case of the lemma:

Claim. Let \mathfrak{X} and \mathfrak{X}' be gerbs over $\operatorname{Spec}(K)$, and let $\alpha \colon \mathfrak{X} \to \mathfrak{X}'$ be a representable morphism. Then this is separated.

Proof. Since there exists a scheme $X \to \text{Spec}(K)$ such that \mathfrak{X} and \mathfrak{X}' are neutral over X, by taking a closed point of X, \mathfrak{X} and \mathfrak{X}' are neutral over a finite extension

of K. Since the claim is stable under finite extension, we may assume that \mathfrak{X} and \mathfrak{X}' are neutral gerbs over $\operatorname{Spec}(K)$. Thus, by taking the automorphism groups G and G' of $\mathfrak{X}(K)$ and $\mathfrak{X}'(K)$, we have a homomorphism of K-group spaces $\rho: G \to G'$ over \mathcal{X} , which induces α . We have the cartesian diagram

$$\begin{array}{c} G \xrightarrow{\rho} G' \\ \downarrow & \Box \\ BG \xrightarrow{} BG \times_{BG'} BG. \end{array}$$

Since the diagonal morphism Δ is quasi-compact by [LM, 7.7], ρ is quasi-compact. By [SGA3, VI_A, Cor 6.7], ρ decomposes as $G \twoheadrightarrow G/N \hookrightarrow G'$. This induces a morphism $BG \to B(G/N) \to BG'$. Since α is assumed representable, the morphism $BG \to B(G/N)$ is representable as well. This can only happen when N is trivial. Thus, ρ is a closed immersion by the same corollary of [SGA3]. This shows that Δ is a closed immersion, and thus α is separated.

A.2.4. Lemma. Let $f: \mathfrak{X} \to \mathfrak{Y}$ be a morphism locally of finite type between reduced algebraic stacks such that

$$\dim(\mathfrak{A}ut_{\mathfrak{Y}}\mathfrak{X}) = \dim(\mathfrak{Y}) - \dim(\mathfrak{X}).$$

Then there exists a dense open substack $\mathfrak{V} \subset \mathfrak{Y}$ such that $f|_{f^{-1}(\mathfrak{V})}$ can be factorized as $\mathfrak{X} \xrightarrow{p} \mathfrak{X}' \xrightarrow{g} \mathfrak{Z} \xrightarrow{h} \mathfrak{Y}$, where p is a gerb-like morphism with the structure group space $\mathfrak{Aut}_{\mathfrak{Y}} \mathfrak{X}$, g is a representable universal homeomorphism, and h is a representable finite étale morphism.

Proof. Locally on \mathfrak{X} , f factors as $\mathfrak{X} \xrightarrow{p} \mathfrak{X}' \xrightarrow{\alpha} \mathfrak{Y}$ such that p is gerb-like and α is a representable morphism [Beh, 5.1.13, 5.1.14]. By the assumption on the dimension, α is a representable quasi-finite morphism. By shrinking \mathfrak{X} , and by using Lemma A.2.2, we may assume that α is separated. By using Zariski's main theorem (cf. [LM, 16.5]), by shrinking if \mathfrak{Y} necessary, we may assume that α is a finite morphism.

Let $f: X \to Y$ be a finite morphism between integral schemes such that X is normal. The finite extension K(X)/K(Y) of fields can be factorized canonically as K(X)/M/K(Y) such that K(X)/M is purely inseparable and M/K(Y) is separable. Let Z be the normalization of Y in Spec(M). The morphism f factors as the composition of finite morphisms $X \to Z \to Y$. This construction is compatible with smooth base change $Y' \to Y$ by [LM, 16.2]. Thus, given a finite morphism $\mathfrak{X} \to \mathfrak{Y}$ of reduced algebraic stacks, by shrinking \mathfrak{Y} if necessary, we have a factorization $\mathfrak{X} \to \mathfrak{Z} \to \mathfrak{Y}$ such that the first morphism is generically purely inseparable and the second is generically finite étale by [LM, 14.2.4].

Apply this factorization to α , and we get a factorization $\mathfrak{X}' \xrightarrow{g} \mathfrak{Z} \xrightarrow{h} \mathfrak{Y}$ satisfying the condition above. Take a presentation $Z \to \mathfrak{Z}$, and let $X' \to \mathfrak{X}'$ be the pullback. Then by construction, $\tilde{g} \colon X' \to Z$ is generically purely inseparable. By [EGAIV, 1.8.7], by shrinking Z, we may assume that \tilde{g} is radicial and surjective for any fiber of Z. Thus \tilde{g} is radicial and surjective as well, and moreover since \tilde{g} is finite, it is a universal homeomorphism by [EGAIV, 2.4.5]. By replacing \mathfrak{Z} by the image of Z and \mathfrak{X}' by the pullback of newly constructed \mathfrak{Z} , g can be made universally homeomorphic. By removing the ramification locus of h from \mathfrak{Y} , we may assume that h is finite étale. A.3. Lefschetz fixed point theorem. In this subsection, we prove a Lefschetz fixed point theorem for arithmetic \mathscr{D} -modules. In the case of realizable schemes, the theorem has already been proven in [AC1]. This can be generalized to the case of a separated scheme of finite type in an obvious manner, but we present it here for the convenience of the reader and for the future reference.

A.3.1. We consider a similar situation as in 4.2.1: Let k be a finite field with $q = p^s$ elements, and fix an algebraic closure $\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p$ of K. We denote by \overline{k} the residue field of $\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p$ which is algebraically closed as well. We put $\mathfrak{T}_k := (k, R := W(k), K := \operatorname{Frac}(R), L, s, \sigma := \operatorname{id})$ to be an arithmetic base tuple (cf. 1.4.10, 2.4.14). Let X be a scheme over k, and let $i_x : x \hookrightarrow X$ be a closed point of X. Choose a geometric point $\overline{x} \in X(\overline{k})$ lying above x. This defines an embedding $K_x := \operatorname{Frac}(W(k(x))) \hookrightarrow \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p$. Let L_x be the field generated by K_x and L in $\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p$. Put $\mathfrak{T}_{x,k} := (k, R, K, L_x, s, \operatorname{id}), \mathfrak{T}_{k(x)} := (k(x), R_x, K_x, L_x, [k(x) : k] \cdot s, \operatorname{id})$, and we have the functor

$$\mu_{\overline{x}} \colon D^{\mathrm{b}}_{\mathrm{hol}}(X/\mathfrak{T}_k) \xrightarrow{i_{\overline{x}}^*} D^{\mathrm{b}}_{\mathrm{hol}}(k(x)/\mathfrak{T}_k) \xrightarrow{\otimes_L L_x} D^{\mathrm{b}}_{\mathrm{hol}}(k(x)/\mathfrak{T}_{x,k}) \cong D^{\mathrm{b}}_{\mathrm{hol}}(k(x)/\mathfrak{T}_{k(x)}),$$

where the equivalence follows by Corollary 1.4.11 using the embedding. For $\mathscr{E} \in D^{\mathrm{b}}_{\mathrm{hol}}(X/\mathfrak{T}_k)$, the automorphism on $\iota_{\overline{x}}(\mathscr{E})$ is denoted by F_x . We note that the eigenpolynomial of F_x , which is a priori in $L_x[t]$, only depends on x not on \overline{x} and belongs in fact to L[t]. Indeed, the independence of \overline{x} follows from the construction of the equivalence in Corollary 1.4.11. Let us check that the eigenpolynomial, which we denote by $\chi(\iota_{\overline{x}}\mathscr{E}, t)$ for the moment, is in L[t]. We may replace L_x by the Galois closure, and we may assume that L_x is a Galois extension. Take an automorphism γ of L_x over L. This induces an endofunctor γ^* on $D^{\mathrm{b}}_{\mathrm{hol}}(k(x)/\mathfrak{T}_{k(x)})$, and $\chi(\gamma^* \iota \mathscr{E}, t) = \gamma(\chi(\iota \mathscr{E}, t))$. However, we have a canonical isomorphism $\gamma^* \iota \mathscr{E} \cong \iota \mathscr{E}$ since we are taking $\otimes_L L_x$ in the definition of $\iota_{\overline{x}}$, which implies that $\gamma(\chi(\iota \mathscr{E}, t)) = \chi(\iota \mathscr{E}, t)$.

Let X be a separated scheme of finite type over k, and let $\mathscr{E} \in D^{\mathrm{bol}}_{\mathrm{hol}}(X/\mathfrak{T}_k)$. We put $\mathbb{R}\Gamma_{\mathrm{c}}(X,\mathscr{E}) := f_!(\mathscr{E})$ where f is the structural morphism of X, and $H^{\nu}_{\mathrm{c}}(X,\mathscr{E}) :=$ $\mathscr{H}^{\nu}\mathbb{R}\Gamma_{\mathrm{c}}(X,\mathscr{E})$ as usual. The object $\mathbb{R}\Gamma_{\mathrm{c}}(X,\mathscr{E})$ is equipped with an automorphism, and we denote this automorphism by Frob_X . For an extension L' of K and $\mathscr{F} \in D^{\mathrm{b}}_{\mathrm{fin}}(\mathrm{Vec}_{L'})$ equipped with automorphism φ , we put $\mathrm{Tr}_{L'}(\varphi;\mathscr{F}) :=$ $\sum_{\nu \in \mathbb{Z}} (-1)^{\nu} \mathrm{Tr}_{L'}(\varphi; \mathscr{H}^{\nu}(\mathscr{F}))$, and similarly for the determinant except that we take an alternating product instead of sum. By using the same argument as [AC1, 4.3.9], we have the following theorem:

A.3.2. **Theorem** (Essetially due to [EL]). Let X be a separated scheme of finite type over k, and let $\mathscr{E} \in D^{\mathrm{b}}_{\mathrm{hol}}(X/L_F)$. Let k_n be the extension of k of degree n. Then we have the following identity in $\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p$:

$$\operatorname{Tr}_{L}(\operatorname{Frob}_{X}^{n}; \mathbb{R}\Gamma_{c}(X, \mathscr{E})) = \sum_{x \in X(k_{n})} \operatorname{Tr}_{L_{x}}(F_{x}^{n}; \iota_{\overline{x}}(\mathscr{E})).$$

Proof. First of all, let us show the theorem in the case L = K. We argue by induction on the dimension of X. Since both sides of the formula are multiplicative with respect to exact triangles, we may assume that X is affine by using the localization exact sequence 2.2.9. By the Noether normalization lemma, we may find a finite dominant morphism $f: X \to \mathbb{A}^d$. Thus, we may assume that $X = \mathbb{A}^d$. By the induction hypothesis, we may shrink X and assume that X is affine and \mathscr{E} is smooth on $X \subset \mathbb{A}^d$. In this case, we know that $H_c^{c}(X, \mathscr{E})$ is isomorphic to the rigid cohomology by 2.4.15, thus the formula is a result of Etesse and Le Stum [EL].

Now, we show the general case. We may assume that the extension L/K is finite. By *dévissage*, we may assume that $X(k_n) = \emptyset$, and we only need to show that the left-hand side of the equality vanishes. Replacing L by its finite extension, we may assume that an *n*-th root of $\alpha := \operatorname{Tr}_L(\operatorname{Frob}_X^n; \mathbb{R}\Gamma_c(X, \mathscr{E}))$ is contained in L. We denote by β an *n*-th root. Our goal is to show $\alpha = 0$. We assume the contrary, so $\beta \neq 0$. Let $\mathscr{E} = (\mathscr{F}, \Phi_{\mathscr{F}})$, where \mathscr{F} is the underlying object in $\operatorname{Hol}(X/L_{\emptyset})$ and $\Phi_{\mathscr{F}}$ is the Frobenius structure. We define $\mathscr{E}^{(1/\beta)}$ to be an object in $\operatorname{Hol}(X/L_F)$ such that the underlying object is the same as \mathscr{F} , and the Frobenius structure is the composition

$$\mathscr{F} \xrightarrow{\cdot (1/\beta)}{\sim} \mathscr{F} \xrightarrow{\Phi_{\mathscr{F}}}{\sim} F^*\mathscr{F}.$$

Then $\operatorname{Tr}_L(\operatorname{Frob}_X^n; \mathbb{R}\Gamma_c(X, \mathscr{E}^{(1/\beta)})) = (1/\beta)^n \times \operatorname{Tr}_L(\operatorname{Frob}_X^n; \mathbb{R}\Gamma_c(X, \mathscr{E})) = 1$. For any *L*-vector space *V* with automorphism ϕ , we have $\operatorname{Tr}_{L/K}(\operatorname{Tr}_L(\phi; V)) = \operatorname{Tr}_K(\phi; V)$, where $\operatorname{Tr}_{L/K}$ denotes the field trace. Combining these, we have

$$0 = \operatorname{Tr}_{K}(\operatorname{Frob}_{X}; \mathbb{R}\Gamma_{c}(X, \mathscr{F}^{(1/\beta)})) = \operatorname{Tr}_{L/K}(\operatorname{Tr}_{L}(\operatorname{Frob}_{X}; \mathbb{R}\Gamma_{c}(X, \mathscr{E}^{(1/\beta)})))$$
$$= \operatorname{Tr}_{L/K}(1) = [L:K],$$

where the first equality holds by the case L = K. This is a contradiction and implies that $\alpha = 0$.

A.3.3. Now, let \mathscr{E} be an object in $D^{\mathrm{b}}_{\mathrm{hol}}(X/L_F)$. We define series in $L[\![Z]\!]$

$$L_x(\mathscr{E}, Z) := \det \left(1 - Z^{\deg(x)} F_x; \iota_{\overline{x}}(\mathscr{E}) \right)^{-1}, \qquad L_X(\mathscr{E}, Z) := \prod_{x \in |X|} L_x(\mathscr{E}, Z).$$

Since the first one does not depend on the choice of \overline{x} , these are well-defined. The first one (resp. second one) is called the *local L-function* (resp. global *L-function*). By a standard argument (cf. for example, [SGA4 $\frac{1}{2}$, Rapport, §3]), we have a cohomological interpretation of an *L*-function as a consequence of the Lefschetz fixed point theorem.

Corollary. Let X be a separated scheme of finite type over k, and let $\mathscr{E} \in D^{\mathrm{b}}_{\mathrm{hol}}(X/L_F)$. Then we have an identity of formal power series:

$$L_X(\mathscr{E}, Z) = \prod_{\nu \in \mathbb{Z}} \det \left(1 - Z \cdot \operatorname{Frob}_X; H_c^{\nu}(X, \mathscr{E}) \right)^{(-1)^{\nu+1}}.$$

A.4. Čebotarev density (after N. Tsuzuki). The Čebotarev density theorem for curves and mixed isocrystals is proven in [A2]. We need the Čebotarev density for surfaces and mixed isocrystals, which we show in this appendix. We could have included it in the main text, but since the author learned the proof from N. Tsuzuki before writing this paper, it has been kept separate. We consider the situation of $\S A.3$.

A.4.1. **Proposition.** Let X be a smooth variety over a finite field k. Let \mathcal{E} and \mathcal{E}' be ι -mixed overconvergent F-isocrystals in $\operatorname{Isoc}^{\dagger}(X/L_F)$ such that the sets of Frobenius eigenvalues are the same for any closed point of X. Then $\mathcal{E}^{ss} = \mathcal{E}'^{ss}$ where the semisimplification is taken in $\operatorname{Isoc}^{\dagger}(X/L_F)$.

Proof. Since we have weight filtration on \mathcal{E} and \mathcal{E}' by [AC1, 4.3.4], we may assume that \mathcal{E} and \mathcal{E}' are ι -pure. Let \mathcal{F} be an irreducible overconvergent F-isocrystal. Since Frobenius eigenvalues of \mathcal{E} and \mathcal{E}' are the same, we have

$$L(\mathcal{E} \otimes \mathcal{F}^{\vee}, Z) = L(\mathcal{E}' \otimes \mathcal{F}^{\vee}, Z).$$

If μ is the multiplicity of \mathcal{F} in \mathcal{E}^{ss} , Proposition 4.3.3 implies that $L(\mathcal{E} \otimes \mathcal{F}, Z)$ has a pole of order μ at $Z = q^{-\dim(X)}$. The equality tells us that $L(\mathcal{E}' \otimes \mathcal{F}^{\vee}, Z)$ has a pole of the same order at the same point, and using the proposition again, we get that \mathcal{E}'^{ss} contains \mathcal{F} with multiplicity μ . Note that Proposition 4.3.3 is stated for $\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p$ -coefficients, but the proof goes through also for *L*-coefficients with obvious changes.

A.5. Gabber–Fujiwara ℓ -independence. We generalize the Gabber–Fujiwara ℓ -independence results (cf. [F]) to admissible stacks. For a category C, we denote by [C] the set of isomorphism classes of C.

A.5.1. **Theorem** (Trace formula). Let \mathfrak{X} be a c-admissible stack over finite field \mathbb{F}_q . Let \mathscr{M} be a complex in $D^{\mathrm{b}}_{\mathrm{hol}}(\mathfrak{X}/\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_{p,F})$. For $x \in [\mathfrak{X}(\mathbb{F}_q)]$, we denote by $i_x: \operatorname{Spec}(\mathbb{F}_q) \to \mathfrak{X}$ the corresponding morphism. Then, for any n > 0, we have

$$\sum_{i \in \mathbb{Z}} (-1)^i \cdot \operatorname{Tr} \left(F^n : H^i_{c}(\mathfrak{X}, \mathscr{M}) \right) = \sum_{x \in [\mathfrak{X}(\mathbb{F}_q)]} \frac{1}{\# \operatorname{Aut}(x)} \cdot \operatorname{Tr} \left(F^n : i^+_x(\mathscr{M}) \right)$$

Remark. Note that both sides of the equality are finite sums since we are dealing with c-admissible stacks, contrary to the case of more general algebraic stacks. This prevents us from struggling with the convergence issues as in [Beh], which makes it much easier to formulate and prove.

Proof. Since we can prove this similarly to [La2, A.14] or [Beh, 6.4.10], we only sketch the proof here. Let us denote the right-hand side of the equality by $L(\mathfrak{X}, \mathscr{M})$. For a morphism $f: \mathfrak{X} \to \mathfrak{Y}$ of c-admissible stacks, it suffices to show the equality $L(\mathfrak{X}, \mathscr{M}) = L(\mathfrak{Y}, f_!(\mathscr{M}))$ since the theorem is the particular case where $\mathfrak{Y} =$ Spec(\mathbb{F}_q). When f is a morphism between schemes, then this equality is already known by Theorem A.3.2. Now, by the localization triangle, the verification is local with respect to \mathfrak{X} . By using [LM, 11.5] and some standard *dévissage* argument, it suffices to treat the case where f is gerb-like. By definition of L(-,-)combining with [Beh, 6.4.2], it is reduced to showing the theorem in the case $\mathfrak{X} = BG$ with a finite flat group scheme G over $\operatorname{Spec}(\mathbb{F}_q)$, and \mathscr{M} is $\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p$. Since the morphism $BG_{\operatorname{red}} \to BG$ is a representable universal homeomorphism, we have $H^i(BG, \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p) \xrightarrow{\sim} H^i(BG_{\operatorname{red}}, \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p)$, and we may assume G to be smooth. By considering the universal torsor $\operatorname{Spec}(\mathbb{F}_q) \to BG$, which is finite since G is, we get $H^i(BG, \overline{\mathbb{Q}}_p) = 0$ for $i \neq 0$. The calculation of H^0 is left to the reader.

A.5.2. **Definition.** Let \mathfrak{X} be an algebraic stack over \mathbb{F}_q , and let \mathscr{E} (resp. \mathcal{F}) be an object in $D^{\mathrm{b}}_{\mathrm{hol}}(\mathfrak{X}/\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_{p,F})$ (resp. $D^{\mathrm{b}}_{\mathrm{c}}(X/\overline{\mathbb{Q}}_{\ell})$). For $x \in [\mathfrak{X}(\mathbb{F}_{q^d})]$, we denote by $i_x: \operatorname{Spec}(\mathbb{F}_{q^d}) \to \mathfrak{X}$ and $\rho: \operatorname{Spec}(\mathbb{F}_{q^d}) \to \operatorname{Spec}(\mathbb{F}_q)$ the canonical morphisms. We say that \mathscr{E} and \mathcal{F} are *compatible* if for any point $x \in [\mathfrak{X}(\mathbb{F}_{q^d})]$, the Frobenius trace of $\rho_+ \circ i^+_x(\mathscr{E})$ and $\rho_* \circ i^*_x(\mathcal{F})$ are equal.

A.5.3. **Lemma.** The couple $(\mathscr{E}, \mathcal{F})$ are compatible if and only if for any $X \in \mathfrak{X}_{sm}$, the pullbacks \mathscr{E}_X and \mathcal{F}_X are compatible.

Proof. Use [LM, 6.3].

A.5.4. **Theorem.** (i) Let $f: \mathfrak{X} \to \mathfrak{Y}$ be a morphism between c-admissible stacks. Then f_+ , $f_!$, f^+ , $f_!$, \mathbb{D} , and \otimes preserve compatible systems.

(ii) When $j: \mathfrak{U} \hookrightarrow \mathfrak{X}$ is an immersion of c-admissible stacks, $j_{!+}$ preserves compatible systems.

Proof. By Lemma A.5.3, the theorem for f^+ , \mathbb{D} , $j_{!+}$ follows from [AC1, 4.3.11]. We only need to show the theorem for $f_!$. For this, use the trace formula A.5.1.

Acknowledgments

This project started from a comment of T. Saito suggesting the possibility of proving the *petits camarades* conjecture when the author explained his work with Marmora to Saito. This work would have never appeared without his advice, and the author is greatly indebted to him.

The author would like to thank D. Caro, O. Gabber, L. Lafforgue, A. Shiho, N. Tsuzuki, and S. Yasuda for various discussions. He also thanks Y. Mieda for spending a lot of time for the author and checking the proofs in the seminar, and Y. Toda for valuable discussions in which the idea of using Ind-categories came up. He is also grateful to D. Patel for numerous linguistic advice improving the paper, and to A. Abbes and S. Saito for continuous support and encouragement. Last but not least, he thanks three referees of the *Journal of AMS* for reading the manuscript very carefully and giving him a number of invaluable comments.

References

- [A1] T. Abe, Explicit calculation of Frobenius isomorphisms and Poincaré duality in the theory of arithmetic D-modules, Rend. Semin. Mat. Univ. Padova 131 (2014), 89–149, DOI 10.4171/RSMUP/131-7. MR3217753
- [A2] T. Abe, Langlands program for p-adic coefficients and the petits camarades conjecture, J. Reine Angew. Math. **734** (2018), 59–69, DOI 10.1515/crelle-2015-0045. MR3739313

[AC1] T. Abe and D. Caro, Theory of weights in p-adic cohomology, Amer. J. Math. (to appear), available at http://arxiv.org/abs/1303.0662.

- [AC2] T. Abe and D. Caro, On Beilinson's equivalence for p-adic cohomology, Selecta Math. (to appear), available at http://arxiv.org/abs/1309.4517.
- [AE] T. Abe and H. Esnault, A Lefschetz theorem for overconvergent isocrystals with Frobenius structure, Ann. ENS. (to appear), available at http://arxiv.org/abs/1607.07112.
- [AM] T. Abe and A. Marmora, Product formula for p-adic epsilon factors, J. Inst. Math. Jussieu 14 (2015), no. 2, 275–377, DOI 10.1017/S1474748014000024. MR3315058
- [Beh] K. A. Behrend, Derived l-adic categories for algebraic stacks, Mem. Amer. Math. Soc. 163 (2003), no. 774, viii+93, DOI 10.1090/memo/0774. MR1963494
- [Bei] A. A. Beilinson, On the derived category of perverse sheaves, K-theory, arithmetic and geometry (Moscow, 1984), Lecture Notes in Math., vol. 1289, Springer, Berlin, 1987, pp. 27–41, DOI 10.1007/BFb0078365. MR923133
- [BBD] A. A. Beïlinson, J. Bernstein, and P. Deligne, *Faisceaux pervers* (French), Analysis and topology on singular spaces, I (Luminy, 1981), Astérisque, vol. 100, Soc. Math. France, Paris, 1982, pp. 5–171. MR751966
- [BD] A. Beilinson and V. Drinfeld, Quantization of Hitchin's integrable system and Hecke eigensheaves, preprint available at http://www.math.uchicago.edu/~mitya/langlands/ hitchin/BD-hitchin.pdf.
- [Ber1] P. Berthelot, Cohomologie rigide et cohomologie rigide à supports propres. Premiére partie (version provisoire 1991), Prépublication IRMR 96-03 (1996), available at https://perso.univ-rennes1.fr/pierre.berthelot/publis/Cohomologie_Rigide_ I.pdf.
- [Ber2] P. Berthelot, *D*-modules arithmétiques. I. Opérateurs différentiels de niveau fini (French, with English summary), Ann. Sci. École Norm. Sup. (4) 29 (1996), no. 2, 185–272. MR1373933
- [Ber3] P. Berthelot, *D*-modules arithmétiques. II. Descente par Frobenius (French, with English and French summaries), Mém. Soc. Math. Fr. (N.S.) 81 (2000), vi+136. MR1775613
- [Ber4] P. Berthelot, Introduction à la théorie arithmétique des D-modules (French, with French summary), Astérisque 279 (2002), 1–80. Cohomologies p-adiques et applications arithmétiques, II. MR1922828

TOMOYUKI ABE

- [Ca1] D. Caro, Comparaison des foncteurs duaux des isocristaux surconvergents (French, with English summary), Rend. Sem. Mat. Univ. Padova 114 (2005), 131–211 (2006). MR2207865
- [Ca2] D. Caro, *D*-modules arithmétiques surholonomes (French, with English and French summaries), Ann. Sci. Éc. Norm. Supér. (4) **42** (2009), no. 1, 141–192, DOI 10.24033/asens.2092. MR2518895
- [Ca3] D. Caro, *D*-modules arithmétiques associés aux isocristaux surconvergents. Cas lisse (French, with English and French summaries), Bull. Soc. Math. France **137** (2009), no. 4, 453–543. MR2572180
- [Ca4] D. Caro, Sur la compatibilité à Frobenius de l'isomorphisme de dualité relative (French, with English summary), Rend. Semin. Mat. Univ. Padova 122 (2009), 235–286, DOI 10.4171/RSMUP/122-14. MR2582839
- [Ca5] D. Caro, Pleine fidélité sans structure de Frobenius et isocristaux partiellement surconvergents (French, with French summary), Math. Ann. 349 (2011), no. 4, 747–805, DOI 10.1007/s00208-010-0539-x. MR2777033
- [Ca6] D. Caro, Sur la stabilité par produit tensoriel de complexes de D-modules arithmétiques (French, with English summary), Manuscripta Math. 147 (2015), no. 1-2, 1–41, DOI 10.1007/s00229-014-0716-4. MR3336937
- [CT] D. Caro and N. Tsuzuki, Overholonomicity of overconvergent F-isocrystals over smooth varieties, Ann. of Math. (2) 176 (2012), no. 2, 747–813, DOI 10.4007/annals.2012.176.2.2. MR2950764
- [Ch] B. Chiarellotto, Weights in rigid cohomology applications to unipotent F-isocrystals (English, with English and French summaries), Ann. Sci. École Norm. Sup. (4) 31 (1998), no. 5, 683–715, DOI 10.1016/S0012-9593(98)80004-9. MR1643966
- [Co1] B. Conrad, Cohomological descent, available at http://math.stanford.edu/~conrad/ papers/hypercover.pdf.
- [Co2] B. Conrad, Keel-Mori theorem via stacks, available at http://math.stanford.edu/ ~conrad/papers/coarsespace.pdf.
- [CLO] B. Conrad, M. Lieblich, and M. Olsson, Nagata compactification for algebraic spaces, J. Inst. Math. Jussieu 11 (2012), no. 4, 747–814, DOI 10.1017/S1474748011000223. MR2979821
- [Cr] R. Crew, F-isocrystals and their monodromy groups, Ann. Sci. École Norm. Sup. (4)
 25 (1992), no. 4, 429–464. MR1186910
- [De1] P. Deligne, La conjecture de Weil. II (French), Inst. Hautes Études Sci. Publ. Math. 52 (1980), 137–252. MR601520
- [De2] P. Deligne, Le groupe fondamental de la droite projective moins trois points (French), Galois groups over Q (Berkeley, CA, 1987), Math. Sci. Res. Inst. Publ., vol. 16, Springer, New York, 1989, pp. 79–297, DOI 10.1007/978-1-4613-9649-9-3. MR1012168
- [DM] P. Deligne and J. Milne, Tannakian categories, Lecture Notes in Math. 900, Springer, pp. 101–228 (1982).
- [Dr] V. Drinfeld, On a conjecture of Deligne (English, with English and Russian summaries), Mosc. Math. J. 12 (2012), no. 3, 515–542, 668. MR3024821
- [EK] H. Esnault and M. Kerz, A finiteness theorem for Galois representations of function fields over finite fields (after Deligne), Acta Math. Vietnam. 37 (2012), no. 4, 531–562. MR3058662
- [EL] J.-Y. Étesse and B. Le Stum, Fonctions L associées aux F-isocristaux surconvergents. I. Interprétation cohomologique (French), Math. Ann. 296 (1993), no. 3, 557–576, DOI 10.1007/BF01445120. MR1225991
- [EG] P. Etingof, S. Gelaki, D. Nikshych, and V. Ostrik, *Tensor categories*, Mathematical Surveys and Monographs, vol. 205, American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, 2015. MR3242743
- [EGAI] A. Grothendieck, Éléments de géométrie algébrique. I. Le langage des schémas, Inst. Hautes Études Sci. Publ. Math. 4 (1960), 228 pp. MR0217083
- [EGAII] A. Grothendieck, Éléments de géométrie algébrique. II. Étude globale élémentaire de quelques classes de morphismes, Inst. Hautes Études Sci. Publ. Math. 8 (1961), 222 pp. MR0217084

- [EGAIV] A. Grothendieck, Éléments de géométrie algébrique. IV. Étude locale des schémas et des morphismes de schémas. I, Inst. Hautes Études Sci. Publ. Math. 20 (1964), 259 pp.; Éléments de géométrie algébrique. IV. Étude locale des schémas et des morphismes de schémas. II, Inst. Hautes Études Sci. Publ. Math. 24 (1965), 231 pp.; Éléments de géométrie algébrique. IV. Étude locale des schémas et des morphismes de schémas. III, Inst. Hautes Études Sci. Publ. Math. 28 (1966), 255 pp.; Éléments de géométrie algébrique. IV. Étude locale des schémas et des morphismes de schémas. III, Inst. Hautes Études Sci. Publ. Math. 28 (1966), 255 pp.; Éléments de géométrie algébrique. IV. Étude locale des schémas et des morphismes de schémas. III, Inst. Hautes Études Sci. Publ. Math. 28 (1966), 255 pp.; Éléments de géométrie algébrique. IV. Étude locale des schémas et des morphismes de schémas. III, Inst. Hautes Études Sci. Publ. Math. 28 (1966), 255 pp.; Éléments de géométrie algébrique. IV. Étude locale des schémas et des morphismes de schémas. III, Inst. Hautes Études Sci. Publ. Math. 32 (1967), 361 pp. MR0173675; MR0199181; MR0217086; MR0238860
- [F] K. Fujiwara, Independence of l for intersection cohomology (after Gabber), Algebraic geometry 2000, Azumino (Hotaka), Adv. Stud. Pure Math., vol. 36, Math. Soc. Japan, Tokyo, 2002, pp. 145–151. MR1971515
- [Fu] W. Fulton, Intersection theory, Ergebnisse der Mathematik und ihrer Grenzgebiete (3)
 [Results in Mathematics and Related Areas (3)], vol. 2, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1984. MR732620
- [Ga] P. Gabriel, Des catégories abéliennes (French), Bull. Soc. Math. France 90 (1962), 323– 448. MR0232821
- [Gil] H. Gillet, Riemann-Roch theorems for higher algebraic K-theory, Adv. in Math. 40 (1981), no. 3, 203–289, DOI 10.1016/S0001-8708(81)80006-0. MR624666
- [Gir] J. Giraud, Méthode de la descente (French), Bull. Soc. Math. France Mém. 2 (1964), viii+150. MR0190142
- [Gr] A. Grothendieck, Sur quelques points d'algèbre homologique (French), Tôhoku Math. J.
 (2) 9 (1957), 119–221, DOI 10.2748/tmj/1178244839. MR0102537
- [Ha] R. Hartshorne, *Residues and duality*, Lecture notes of a seminar on the work of A. Grothendieck, given at Harvard 1963/64. With an appendix by P. Deligne. Lecture Notes in Mathematics, No. 20, Springer-Verlag, Berlin-New York, 1966. MR0222093
- [Hu] C. Huyghe, $\mathcal{D}^{\dagger}(\infty)$ -affinité des schémas projectifs (French, with English and French summaries), Ann. Inst. Fourier (Grenoble) **48** (1998), no. 4, 913–956. MR1656002
- [I] L. Illusie, Crystalline cohomology, Motives (Seattle, WA, 1991), Proc. Sympos. Pure Math., vol. 55, Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 1994, pp. 43–70, DOI 10.1090/pspum/055.1/1265522. MR1265522
- [Ka] M. Kashiwara, t-structures on the derived categories of holonomic D-modules and coherent O-modules (English, with English and Russian summaries), Mosc. Math. J. 4 (2004), no. 4, 847–868, 981. MR2124169
- [KSc] M. Kashiwara and P. Schapira, *Categories and sheaves*, Grundlehren der Mathematischen Wissenschaften [Fundamental Principles of Mathematical Sciences], vol. 332, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 2006. MR2182076
- [KS] K. Kato and T. Saito, Ramification theory for varieties over a perfect field, Ann. of Math. (2) 168 (2008), no. 1, 33–96, DOI 10.4007/annals.2008.168.33. MR2415398
- [Ke1] K. S. Kedlaya, Full faithfulness for overconvergent F-isocrystals, Geometric aspects of Dwork theory. Vol. I, II, Walter de Gruyter, Berlin, 2004, pp. 819–835. MR2099088
- [Ke2] K. S. Kedlaya, Fourier transforms and p-adic "Weil II", Compos. Math. 142 (2006), no. 6, 1426–1450, DOI 10.1112/S0010437X06002338. MR2278753
- [Ke3] K. S. Kedlaya, p-adic cohomology, Algebraic geometry—Seattle 2005. Part 2, Proc. Sympos. Pure Math., vol. 80, Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 2009, pp. 667–684, DOI 10.1090/pspum/080.2/2483951. MR2483951
- [Ke4] K. S. Kedlaya, Semistable reduction for overconvergent F-isocrystals. I. Unipotence and logarithmic extensions, Compos. Math. 143 (2007), no. 5, 1164–1212, DOI 10.1112/S0010437X07002886. MR2360314
- [Ke5] K. S. Kedlaya, Semistable reduction for overconvergent F-isocrystals, IV: local semistable reduction at nonmonomial valuations, Compos. Math. 147 (2011), no. 2, 467–523, DOI 10.1112/S0010437X10005142. MR2776611
- [Ke6] K. S. Kedlaya, Notes on isocrystals, preprint, available at http://kskedlaya.org/ papers/isocrystals.pdf.
- [KW] R. Kiehl and R. Weissauer, Weil conjectures, perverse sheaves and l'adic Fourier transform, Ergebnisse der Mathematik und ihrer Grenzgebiete. 3. Folge. A Series of Modern Surveys in Mathematics [Results in Mathematics and Related Areas. 3rd Series. A Series of Modern Surveys in Mathematics], vol. 42, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 2001. MR1855066

TOMOYUKI ABE

- [Kr] A. Kresch, Cycle groups for Artin stacks, Invent. Math. 138 (1999), no. 3, 495–536, DOI 10.1007/s002220050351. MR1719823
- [La1] L. Lafforgue, Chtoucas de Drinfeld et conjecture de Ramanujan-Petersson (French), Astérisque 243 (1997), ii+329. MR1600006
- [La2] L. Lafforgue, Chtoucas de Drinfeld et correspondance de Langlands (French, with English and French summaries), Invent. Math. 147 (2002), no. 1, 1–241, DOI 10.1007/s002220100174. MR1875184
- [LO] Y. Laszlo and M. Olsson, The six operations for sheaves on Artin stacks. I. Finite coefficients, Publ. Math. Inst. Hautes Études Sci. 107 (2008), 109–168, DOI 10.1007/s10240-008-0011-6. MR2434692
- [LM] G. Laumon and L. Moret-Bailly, *Champs algébriques* (French), Ergebnisse der Mathematik und ihrer Grenzgebiete. 3. Folge. A Series of Modern Surveys in Mathematics [Results in Mathematics and Related Areas. 3rd Series. A Series of Modern Surveys in Mathematics], vol. 39, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 2000. MR1771927
- M. V. Nori, Constructible sheaves, Algebra, arithmetic and geometry, Part I, II (Mumbai, 2000), Tata Inst. Fund. Res. Stud. Math., vol. 16, Tata Inst. Fund. Res., Bombay, 2002, pp. 471–491. MR1940678
- [O1] M. C. Olsson, Logarithmic geometry and algebraic stacks (English, with English and French summaries), Ann. Sci. École Norm. Sup. (4) 36 (2003), no. 5, 747–791, DOI 10.1016/j.ansens.2002.11.001. MR2032986
- [O2] M. C. Olsson, On proper coverings of Artin stacks, Adv. Math. 198 (2005), no. 1, 93–106, DOI 10.1016/j.aim.2004.08.017. MR2183251
- [O3] M. Olsson, Sheaves on Artin stacks, J. Reine Angew. Math. 603 (2007), 55–112, DOI 10.1515/CRELLE.2007.012. MR2312554
- [S] A. Shiho, Cut-by-curves criterion for the log extendability of overconvergent isocrystals, Math. Z. 269 (2011), no. 1-2, 59–82, DOI 10.1007/s00209-010-0716-3. MR2836060
- [SGA1] Revêtements étales et groupe fondamental (SGA 1), Documents Mathématiques (Paris) [Mathematical Documents (Paris)], Séminaire de géométrie algébrique du Bois Marie 1960–61. [Algebraic Geometry Seminar of Bois Marie 1960-61]; Directed by A. Grothendieck; With two papers by M. Raynaud; Updated and annotated reprint of the 1971 original [Lecture Notes in Math., 224, Springer, Berlin], 3, Société Mathématique de France, Paris, 2003, xviii+327 pp. MR2017446
- [SGA3] Schémas en groupes. I: Propriétés générales des schémas en groupes, Séminaire de Géométrie Algébrique du Bois Marie 1962/64 (SGA 3). Dirigé par M. Demazure et A. Grothendieck. Lecture Notes in Mathematics, Vol. 151, Springer-Verlag, Berlin–New York, 1970, xv+564 pp.; Schémas en groupes. II: Groupes de type multiplicatif, et structure des schémas en groupes généraux, Séminaire de Géométrie Algébrique du Bois Marie 1962/64 (SGA 3). Dirigé par M. Demazure et A. Grothendieck. Lecture Notes in Mathematics, Vol. 152, Springer-Verlag, Berlin–New York, 1970, ix+654 pp.; Schémas en groupes. III: Structure des schémas en groupes réductifs, Séminaire de Géométrie Algébrique du Bois Marie 1962/64 (SGA 3). Dirigé par M. Demazure et A. Grothendieck. Lecture Notes in Mathematics, Vol. 153, Springer-Verlag, Berlin–New York, 1970, viii+529 pp. MR0274458; MR0274459; MR0274460
- [SGA4] Théorie des topos et cohomologie étale des schémas. Tome 1: Théorie des topos, Lecture Notes in Mathematics, Vol. 269, Séminaire de Géométrie Algébrique du Bois-Marie 1963–1964 (SGA 4); Dirigé par M. Artin, A. Grothendieck, et J. L. Verdier. Avec la collaboration de N. Bourbaki, P. Deligne et B. Saint-Donat, Springer-Verlag, Berlin-New York, 1972, xix+525 pp.; Théorie des topos et cohomologie étale des schémas. Tome 2, Lecture Notes in Mathematics, Vol. 270, Séminaire de Géométrie Algébrique du Bois-Marie 1963–1964 (SGA 4); Dirigé par M. Artin, A. Grothendieck et J. L. Verdier. Avec la collaboration de N. Bourbaki, P. Deligne et B. Saint-Donat, Springer-Verlag, Berlin-New York, 1972, iv+418 pp.; Théorie des topos et cohomologie étale des schémas. Tome 3, Lecture Notes in Mathematics, Vol. 305, Séminaire de Géométrie Algébrique du Bois-Marie 1963–1964 (SGA 4); Dirigé par M. Artin, A. Grothendieck et J. L. Verdier. Avec la collaboration de P. Deligne et B. Saint-Donat, Springer-Verlag, Berlin-New York, 1973, vi+640 pp. MR0354652; MR0354653; MR0354654

- $[{\rm SGA4}\frac{1}{2}]$ P. Deligne, Cohomologie étale, Lecture Notes in Mathematics, **569**, Séminaire de géométrie algébrique du Bois-Marie SGA $4\frac{1}{2}$, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1977, iv+312 pp. MR463174
- [T] N. Tsuzuki, Morphisms of F-isocrystals and the finite monodromy theorem for unit-root F-isocrystals, Duke Math. J. 111 (2002), no. 3, 385–418, DOI 10.1215/S0012-7094-02-11131-4. MR1885826
- [V1] A. Virrion, Trace et dualité relative pour les D-modules arithmétiques (French), Geometric aspects of Dwork theory. Vol. I, II, Walter de Gruyter, Berlin, 2004, pp. 1039–1112. MR2099095
- [V2] A. Virrion, Dualité locale et holonomie pour les D-modules arithmétiques (French, with English and French summaries), Bull. Soc. Math. France 128 (2000), no. 1, 1– 68. MR1765829

KAVLI INSTITUTE FOR THE PHYSICS AND MATHEMATICS OF THE UNIVERSE (WPI), UNIVERSITY OF TOKYO, 5-1-5 KASHIWANOHA, KASHIWA, CHIBA, 277-8583, JAPAN Email address: tomoyuki.abe@ipmu.jp